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ANNUAL MEETING
October 8, 1979
Seattle, Washington

MR. DALE R. GUSTAFSON (President): First, a quick review of our agenda. I'm
going to make a very few brief orientation and introductory remarks. Kevin
Ryan will give a Treasurer’s report. We'll have a brief report from our
Executive Director and the report of the Nominating Committee. After the
election of Directors, Rom Bornhuetter and I will chat back and forth a little
bit.

Right now I want to remind you of some of our history. The Academy was formed
in 1965, jointly sponsored by four Actuarial bodfes. A procedure was set up
then that has been followed ever since - that the Academy's Annual Meeting
would take place in rotation in connection with the Annual Meetings of each of
the sponsoring bodies. And this year we are pleased to be with the
Conference. The purpose of the rotation has been twofold. One purpese has
been to give the Academy hierarchy, particularly the Board, Executive
Committee, and Committee Chairmen, real live experience with each of the
co-gponsoring groups. That way we life insurance actuaries can find out what
the Conference i1s about and so on. This year it is your turn and you have a
chance to share the other part of the purpose, which is that each of the
constituent bodies gets an exposure to what the Academy 1s and what it is
about. And, over the vears, these purposes have been served very well.

S0 that is why we're here and that is why we're going to go through this
business meeting, which will be as brief as we can make it . . . but I think
you will find it of interest. And Kevin, now tell us the bad news.



BUSINESS SESSION
REPORT OF THE TREASURER
KEVIN M. RYAN

The Bylaws of the American Academy specify that the duties of the Treasurer
ineclude the maintenance of a register of members, the publication and
preparation of the yearbook, and the general supervision of the funds,
including collection of dues and payment of bills of the American Academy.
I would like to report to you briefly on those functions for 1979.

The Academy membership has increased from 4,137 at the end of December, 1976
to an estimated 5,000 as of December 30, 1979. It is anticipated that a year
from now this number will climb to 5,700. These large increases are due to
the change in the membership requirements.,

Associated with this increase in membership is the anticipated increase in
income, to be realized in 1980. The processing of new applications for
membership has been a difficult task due to the slow response of the
potential members, the number of applicants, and the diligence with which the
Membership Committee reviews the prospective members. As a result, an
anticipated increase in revenues for 1979 over 1978 has not been realized.
The actual increase in income {s now anticipated to be approximately $26,000.

Expenses have exceeded income for the first nine months by $25,000. The
remaining three months of 1979 should show a deficit amcunt of approximately
$85,000, As a result, the fund balance of the Academy will stand at
approximately 463,000 at the end of 1979. The balance was $173,000 at the
close of 1978.

Heightened communications, a majer goal of the Academy's Board in 1979,
resulted 1in these anticipated cost increases. The increased publications
directed to the members, as well as increased statments to the public, have
fulfilled the goals established by the Board. On the other hand, it is
anticipated that costs will be curtailed in several areas in 1980, primarily
because of two items. One, the employment of in—house counsel will lessen the
need for external legal assistance, and, two, 1979 was a catch-up year as far
as publications were concerned. With the normal publication schedule, costs
for printing should be less than in 1979.

Detailed financial reports of the Academy are reviewed regularly by the Board
in a certified audit conducted annually at the close of the fiscal year.

Farlier this vear an Investment Committee was formed to establish a policy for
investing the funds ¢f the American Academy. That committee has recommended
to, and received approval from, the Board for a new system which involves the
closing of several savings accounts and placing the Academy funds in money
market securities. As a result of this action, we expect the Academy to
realize a greater investment income.

MR. GUSTAFSON: Thank you, Kevin. Now I'll call on Steve with a few remarks
from his point of wview.
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BUSINESS SESSION
REPORT OF THE EXECUTIVE DIRECTOR
STEPHEN G. KELLISON

Thank you, Gus, This ‘report 1s designed to provide a brief summary of
developments in the Academy offices and of other Academy activities mnot
covered elsewhere in this program since the 1978 annual meeting. The scope
and volume of Academy activities has grown substantially during the past year,
both internally within the " actuarial profession and extermally with the
Academy's public interface activities.

The Academy maintains offices in both Washington, D.C., and Chicage. Routine
membership services are provided by the administrative office in Chicago,
jointly for the Academy, the Conference of Actuaries in Public Practice, and
the Society of Actuaries. The Washington office serves as a focal point for
other Academy Activities.

The past year has witnessed a number of 1important developments in both
offices. In the Chicago office a number of administrative changes have
occurred as a result of a conversion from a manual records system to a
computerized system. The new system shows promise of strengthening and
improving administrative services being provided in Chicago, once the
conversion is completed. Most of you are also aware of the appointment of
John O'Connor as the head of the Chicago office during the past year. John
has had extensive experience as an association administrator and has a number
of ideas on the drawing boards for administrative changes in Chicago.

The year in the Washington office was highlighted with the addition of William
D. Hager as General Counsel for the Academy on September 1. Bill has an ideal
background for the Academy, having both federal and state governmental
experience. The former was as a chief staff aide for an Iowa Congressman,
while the latter was as First Deputy Commissioner for the lowa Insurance
Department . The creation of the new position of General Counsel will provide
an important new resource for a number of Academy committees and will
strengthen the Academy's government relations program. The addition of a
General Counsel brings the staff size in the Washinmgton office to six.

Another development in the Washington office is the design and implementation
of a reference center for the Academy. The first phase of this reference
center is a legislative monitoring system which has become operational during
the past vyear. The system is designed to track more efficiently a number of
legislative 1ssues in which actuaries are interested and should be a valuable
resource to Academy committees and others working with these issues for the
profession. We are hopeful of adding other phases to the Reference Center
during the next year.

The Washington office also provides staff support for certain activities
within the profession which are not confined to the Academy. Among these are
staff support for the Council of Presidents, for the Annual Meeting for
Enrolled Actuaries in Washington, D.C., which is cosponsored by the Academy
and the Cornference, and for the governmental contract which the Actuarial
Education and Research fund has undertaken for the Department of Health,
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4 BUSINESS SESSION—REPORT OF THE EXECUTIVE DIRECTOR

Education and Welfare concerning wuniversal coverage under Social Security.
You will be hearing more about the universal coverage project later this
morning.

The past year has witnessed an extensive overhaul of the Academy committee
structure. Since the listing in your 1979 Year Book , six new committees
were formed, one was disbanded, and four were substantially restructured.

The one committee disbanded is the Committee on Federal Relations and
Accreditation. This committee has been replaced by three new committees, the
Committee on Life Insurance, the Committee on Health Insurance, and the
Committee on Property and Liability Insurance. This change was made te
reflect the fact that the Committee on Federal Relations and Accreditation had
become obsolete. The scope of federal issues in which the actuarial
profession is interested is far too broad to be effectively handled by one
committee. It also became apparent that the greatest weakness in the former
structure was 1in the Insurance area, since active committees were already in
existence for pensions and social insurance. The three new insurance
committees should provide a greatly expanded capacity to deal with issues
confronting life, health, and casualty actuaries, respectively. These new
committees will monitor WNAIC activities, as well as those at the federal
level.

Another new committee 1s the Committee on Life Qualifications which will
develop proposed strandards of qualification to be applicable to those
actuaries signing statements of opinion om the annuval statement. This
committee  parallels an existing Committee on Property and Liability
Qualifications. As mentioned in the Treasurer's Report, the Iavestment
Committee has been appointed to develop and monitor an Investment program to
improve the yield on invested funds. The final new committee is the Committee
on Long Range Planning, and you will hear more about this committee later im
the program.

Two committees were vrestructured by the creation of permanent subcommittees
and task forces to more effectively deal with a growing multiplicity of
iesues. These committees are the Pension Committee and the Committee on Risk
Classification. The Committee on Guides to Professional Conduct has been
reorganized to reflect the greater degree of cooperation and ccordination
among the various actuarial organlzations that has developed in this most
important area. The former structure, in which each organization maintained a
separate committee, has been replaced with one committee for all, which should
significantly reduce the duplication of effort and confusion created by
multiple committees. It 1s Important to mote that the governing board of each
organization retains the right to accept or reject any proposed new or
modified Guide or Opinion, but hopefully the number of discrepancies among the
Guides and Opinions of the various organizations will be minimized. The final
committee to be restructured is the Committee on State Relations and
Accreditation. A special ad hoe task force is now developing a proposed
restructuring of this committee, so that the Academy can more effectively deal
with state-by-state issues,

A number of strides have been made in connection with Academy publicatilions
during the past year. The most significant of these has been the
incorporation of Academy statements into the Journal . By now you should
have received two new hard-bound Journals , a retroactive issue for 1977 and
a regular issue for 1978. It dis intended to continue to publish the new,
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expanded Journal on a annual basis. Altheugh many of these Academy
statements have been the subject of Newsletter articles and all of them are
listed In the Newsletter , we believe that the inclusion of the statements in
the Journal 1is necessary to keep the membership more fully informed about
Academy activity in filing statements and position papers to external
audiences and is also important in building a permanent historical record of
this important activity.

We have also tried to improve the Newsletter as a vehicle to keep membership
better informed =&bout Academy activities. In addition to the obviocus
aesthetic changes you may have noticed, a number of new features have been
added. Among these are the table of contents, periodic reports of the
President, Editor and Executive Director, checklists of statements, interviews
with leading public figures, and special subject supplements on topics of
particular interest in greater depth.

One final item to note in connection with Academy publications is that the
popular List of Members by Business Connection , which has not been produced
since July 1, 1977, will again be available with a new edition in early 1980.
Consideration 1s also being given to the possibility of including a
geographical breakdown along with the breakdown by business connection.

In summary, it has been an exciting and busy year for the Academy. On behalf
of myself and the staff, I would like to express our gratitude to the officers
and directors of the Academy, to the committees and task forcee, and to the
general membership for the outstanding support which we have been afforded
during the past year. The staff always welcomes your comments and thoughts zas
to how we can better serve the neceds of the membership in the years ahead.

MR. GUSTAFSON: Thank you, Steve. Before proceeding to the next report, 1
want to thank the Conference for allowing the Academy to be a part of this
meeting, and especially to thank the Conference Board for the very fine joint
soclal meeting of the two Boards last evening. A speclal thanks to Larry
Mitchell as the formal host of that affair and to Jim Curtis as the one who
actually did the work in setting it up. It was a fine occasion and enabled
the Members of these two Boards to engage in informal dialogue and get to know
each other better, These affairs do help to build a repoire, to emable us to
deal better with the inter-relationships between the organizations.

The next item on the program is going to be the Academy's Nominating Committee
report, Your function in this formal meeting is to deal with the election of
new Directors. Let me take this occasion, just before I introduce Ed Boynton
to  conduct that part of the meeting, to thank the Officers and members of the
Board for their help and support during this past year. And a special thanks
to the six Members of the Board who are retiring. I also want to thank Staff,
especially Steve...he works hard. Fred Hunt and Cindy in the Washington
office have also been a great help, and Madeline Madden, who is the Academy's
full-time employee in Chicago, carries gquite a burden for us., She does a fine
job for us. Now Ed Boynton will take over for the Nominating Committee's
report.
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NOMINATION AND ELECTION OF DIRECTORS

MR EDWIN F. BOYNTON: Thank you, Gus. The structure of the Academy election
process... as Gus indicated... 1is that the membership elects the Board of
Directors, in groups of six at each Annual Meeting, for three-year terms. The
Board, immediately following this Meeting, will meet and will elect the
officers for the coming year. The Nominating Committee's function is to first
make up a slate of nominees for the Board and then to make up a slate of
nominees £for the officers who will be elected by the Board. The committee
includes the twe immediate past presidents... Bob Winters is chairman, I am
vice-chairman, and because Bob isn't here, I'm standing in for him. There are
fifteen other members, selected with great care to represent évery cross
current that might exist within the Academy by occupation, by employer, by
geography, by area speclalty. Similarly, we try to achieve that same kind of
breadth on the Board. Generally, I think we've done a very adequate job.

With that background, let me present to you the slate of six Directors
selected by the Nominating Committee to be considered by you for election to
three-year terms.

Raymond A. Bierschbach, Fellow of the Society of Actuaries.

Charles Greeley, Fellow of the Society of Actuaries.

David G. Hartman, Fellow of the Casualty Actuarial Society.

Robert Pollack, Fellow of the Casualty Actuarial Society.

Elizabeth C. ©Poston, Fellow of the Conference of Actuaries in Public
Practice.

David M., Reade, Fellow of the Conference of Actuaries and Fellow of the
Society of Actuaries.

Are there any nominations from the floor? Hearing ncne, I call for a motion
that nominations be closed. (It was moved, seconded and carried that the
nominations be closed. It was moved, seconded and carried that the Secretary
cast a unanimous ballet in favor of the six nominees, and they were declared
elected.)
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Next, 1I'11 read to you the recommendations that the Neminating Committee will
make to the Board immediately following this meeting.

MR,

As Treasurer, Kevin M. Ryan.
As Secretary, Charles B.H. Watson.
As Vice President, for one-year term, Mary H. Adams.

As Vice Presidents for two-year terms, Robertson 5. Richards and P.
Adger Williams.

As President-Elect, Walter L. Grace.

GUSTAFSON: Thank you, Ed.



REPORT OF THE SECRETARY
DWIGHT K. BARTLETT, III

NOTE: The Annual Report of the Secretary was not presented at the Annual
Meeting, but is included in the Journal to complete the record.

Since the annual meeting last year the Board of Directors has held three
full-day sessions. Following are items of nonroutine business considered
and/or acted upon at these sessions.

1. It was voted to discharge the Joint Committee on Review of Education and
Examinations, contingent wpon the taking of similar action by the other
sponsors of the Joint Committee, and further to authorize the President to
appeint a liaison representative to the Education Policy Committee of
other actuarial organizations when requested.

2. It was voted to authorize the creation of a joint committee toc coordinate
meeting dates, the locations, etc. and to encourage co—sponsorship of
meetings contingent upon the taking of similar action by other sponsoring
actuarial organizations. ’

3. It was voted to discharge the Joint Committee on Professional Conduct,
contingent upon the taking of similar action by the other sponsoring
actuarial organizations.

4, It was voted tc adopt a resolution stating that the Board of Directors of
the American Academy of Actuaries believes that for the property and
casualty annual statement, instructions should be adopted that are
esgentially the same as the current Instructions adopted by the NAIC
Blanks Subcommittee for the Life, Accident and Health annual statement.

5, It was voted to endorse the following statements on casualty loss
reserves.

a. Summary and complete statements to the NATC (A-5) Subcommittee, dated
November 10, 1978

b. - Statement of Stephen G. Kellison at the NAIC Semi-Annual Meeting,
December 6, 1978.

c. Position paper of the Academy to be presented to the NAIC Blanks (A-1)
Subcommittee, March 1979.

6. It was voted to create a full-time position on the Academy staff for an
attorney.

7. It was voted to discharge the Academy's Coordinating Committee for
Pensions and to authorize the President to appoint representatives to a
Joint Coordimating Committee on Pensions with a similar charge, contingent
upon the taking of similar action by other sponsoring actuarial
organizations. It was also voted to create an Academy Committee on
Pensions to develop technical material 'needed for public statements,
testimony, or other needs.
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8. It was voted to authorize the President tc appoint a joint committee in
conjunction with the Conference of Actuaries in Public Practice to handle
the annual enrolled actuaries meeting.

9, It was voted to conduct a study on behalf of the Academy to find out what
persons with what type of professional qualifications were determining the
loss reserves of the larger casualty insurance companies.

10. It was voted to dinstruct the Executive Committee to consider in
conjuction with the Casualty Actuarial Society what steps the Academy or
others should take in developing and implementing a program to educate and
certify those persons setting loss reserves who are not members of the
American Academy of Actuaries.

11. It was voted to discharge the Committee on Federal Relations and
Accreditation, It was voted to autherize the President to appoint three
committees to monitor governmental regulatory and legislative activities
in the fields of life insurance, health insurance and casualty insurance
respectively.

12. It was voted to authorize the President to appoint a committee to study
the long-range goals, directions, and operations of the Academy.

13. It was voted to authorize the Committee on Rigk Classification to respond
to a draft gtatement of the principles of risk classification to the
membership.

14. It was voted to adopt the following three resolutions:

a. That the Board of Directors receives the report of the Speclalty
Designations Committee and endorses the concept of indentifying
publicly, as an ald to regulatory authorities, those members who have
demonstrated their qualifications to

(1} Sign the actuarial opinion of the statutory “"life and accident and
health insurance” annual statement, or

(2) Sign any required opinion on loss reserves in the statutory "fire
and cagualty Insurance” annual statement.

b. That the President be authorized to appoint a Committee on Life and
Health Qualifications.

¢, That the Committees on Property and Liability Qualifications and Life
and Health Qualifications be directed to recommend to the Board
standards of qualification 1in thelr respective domains. These
recommendations should be prepared in time for the Spring 1980 meeting
of the Board.

15. It was voted to adopt a section d concerning advertising as an addition to
Opinion A-1 on professional conduct as recommended by the Committee on
Guides to Professional Conduct.

In accordance with the recommendations of the Board of Directors, the
membership adopted two changes 1in the bylaws, the first eliminating the
gseparate affiliate membership status previously provided for under Article I,
Section 2: and the second, providinmg for certain changes in administrative
procedures with reapect to the discipline of members provided for under
Article VII, Section 2.



BUSINESS SESSION
DIALOGUE BETWEEN THE PRESIDENT AND
THE PRESIDENT-ELECT
DALE R. GUSTAFSON AND RONALD L. BORNHUETTER

MR, GUSTAFSON: Several years ago we introduced a change from the usual format
at Annual Meetings of the President's address by substituting a dialogue
between the President and the President-Elect. My term of office as president
will end at the brief Academy Board Meeting that will take place ar lumch
today. The new President will be my partner here, Ron Bornhuetter. However,
at this moment I am still the President and he i1s still the President-Elect.

I want to start off with a few words of very high praise for the Academy's
Committee on Admissions. As you know, just about a year age, the Academy
membership requirements were changed to admit enrolled actuaries to full
membership rather than affiliate status, and to change the education
requirements otherwise to associateship in the Society of Actuaries and the
Casualty Actuarial Society. There 1s also now a three-year experience
requirement. As a result of this change in membership requirements, we have
received something considerably in excess of 1,000 new applications . The
process of considering applications is not just mere routine, but requires a
considerable amount of work on the part of the members of the Admissions
Committee, as well as the Academy staff, especially the Chicago office, and
even some regular detailed involvement on the part of each member of the
Executive Committee. However, the chief burden falls directly on the
Admissions Committee, and especially its chairman. In the spring of this year
just as the deluge of applications was getting really underway, the chairman
of our Admissions Committee, Mr. Thomas Chamberlain, suffered a heart attack.
Tom is well-known, to most of you, as he is a long-time member of the
Conference. For those of you who don't already know, he is recovering very
nicely and is now back at work almost fulltime. However, it was immediately
seen last spring that the Admissions Committee burden simply had to be taken
off of Tom's Dback. Mr. Earl Petz, a member of the Committee, was asked to
step in and take over for Tom and deal with the massive number of applications
pouring in. He accepted the challenge, and he and his staff have done a
marvelous job of dealing with this very large number of applications. Of
course, he had considerable help, from the other members of the committee, the
Academy's Chicago office staff and especially Tom Chamberlain's secretary.
The other members of the Committee who have helped deal with this crisis are
Dan Macken and Robert G. Bolton. I wanted you to know about this for twe
reasons. It should be of interest to you to be aware of the very strong
response that has come from those eligible for membership in the Academy with
the change in Bylaws about a year ago. The other reason was to publicly
recognize and thank the four members of the Admissions Committee whom I have
named and, of course, the various staff people who have helped them through
this very important piece of work for the Academy.

The word that identifies the next area that T am going to remark briefly about
is Independence. Actually, it involves a great deal more than simply the
concept of Independence, but that is the word we generally use to identify the
area. It has to do, to a large extent, with interrelationships between the
actuarial profession and the accounting profession. The roots go back te the
beginning development of the Audit Guide for Stock Life Insurance Companies,
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now about 12 years agos A critically important part of that inrerrelationship
is the relationship between actuaries and accountants in the preparation of
audits of life insurance company finmancfal statemente. A most sensitive part
of that relationship is the fact that certain public accounting firms have
consulting actuarial arms and audit the financial statements of life insurance
companies which utilize the actuarial services of the auditing firm.

Another area, somewhat more recent in development, but also quite complex, is
the relationship between the actuary, especially the enrolled actuary, who is
engaged by a pension plan and/or its sponsor, and, again, the accounting firm
which audits either the financial statement of the plan or the financial
statement of the employer, or both.

The American Institute of Certified Public Accountants, itself, a year or so
ago appointed a high level body called the Public Oversight Board to examine
some very broad areas of management advisory services, including actuarial
services, provided by public accounting firms.

The Financial Accounting Standards Board, established as an independently
financed, free-standing body charged with the responsibility for developing
accomting principles, is also involved with the relations between actuaries
and accountants. Finally, the Securities and Exchange Commission is also
involved and quite concerned about certain aspects of the providing of
management advisory services by public accounting firms.

Our time is much too brief on this occasion to even try to paint In general
terms the nature of the lssues and current state of their progress. Suffice
it for the moment to say that the Academy has been actively involved with all
of the bodies named. For seven years now, we have had a committee meeting
jointly with a counterpart committee of the American Institute of Certified
Public Accountants at least four times a year to deal with interprofessional
issues. We have made written statements and presented oral testimony before
the Public Oversight Board, the Financial Accounting Standards Board, the SEC,
and certain pertinent committees of Congress.

It may be something of an oversimplicatiom, but what we are invelved in is
working out definitions of turf between the accountants and the actuaries so
that we both may responsibly aznd effectively go about doing our work. Even
from my rather vague and general remarks, it 1s quite clear that this area is
one of significant interest to consulting actuaries. It must be added,
however, that actuaries employed by companies are also concerned. I will
simply conclude my remarks on this subject by assuring you that all that can
be reasonably done in this area is being done and to say that in no
significant way 1s there any significant conflict between various groups of
actuaries.

I have spoken for a few minutes on the general subject of Independence
without wmentioning casualty loss Teserves, even though the relationship
between the actuarial profession and the accounting profession is also a
significant part of this area. The reason 1s simply that Ron Bormhuetter 1s
golng to spend a few moments bringing you up to date on the current status of
the loss reserve situation.
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MR. BORNHUETTER: So much of the past activities of the Academy have
concentrated on pensions and pension related areas that I am pleased to
discuss ancother area where the Academy was able to respond effectively. That
is: the rendering of an opinion on property/liability loss reserves-—cemmonly
referred to as "certification”. The work im this arena is far from over. In
fact, the ultimate battle lies in the future...just two short months ahead in
Los Apgeles.

For those of you who have not followed the events over the past two years, 1
will briefly summarize this activity.

It all started when Fletcher Bell, Insurance Commissioner for the State of
Kansas and Chairman of the NAIC (A5) Subcommittee, decided to advocate a
required certification program for property and liability statements. The
near collapse of GEICO and the demise of other property/liability companies
was the impetus behind his effort.

The first draft was not very pood, and included all members of the AICPA on an
equal footing with Academy members as “"qualified loss reserve specialists.”
After a public hearing, matters got worse. The second draft also required
independence and still left in all 10,000 members of the AICPA. This draft
was approved by the NAIC (A5) Subcommittee last December, and sent to the
Blanks Committee for I1mplementation. At this nadir, matters fimally turned
for the better. The Academy discussed its position with each and every member
of the Blanks Committee and last April this Committee approved the program,
but asked the (A5) Subcommitttee to reconsider 1ts original approach.
Politics was at its thickest. By a split vote, the (A5) Subcommittee last
June agreed to ask its own task force to reconsider the approved program. An
integral part of the pause was & joint agreement reached between the Academy
and the AICPA. This was summarized in a letter from Larry Jones, Chairman of
the American Insurance Association. Two programs were advocated...one, an
"in-house” actuarial certification similar to the current life program, and
second, a mandatory audit requirement, thus hopefully separating the two
i1ssues that kept becoming intermingled.

To shorten the story, the (A5) task force has now provided a new draft which,
first, does not require Independence and, second, does not specifically
mention the AICPA. It also relies heavily on the Casualty Actuarial Society
and the Academy for administration, both among actuaries as well as other
“"gualified loss reserve specialists.” In addition, a parallel proposal
concerning audits is alsoc moving forward.

At this moment, there appears to be two alternatives--adopt the revised
version, which is quite satisfactory to the Academy, or, do nothing. There is
strong pressure in the NATC to do nothing. Right now, it is a toss up, and
the issue well oprobably be settled on the floor of the NAIC plenary session
this December.

Whatever the outcome, both answers are far more satisfactory than what we had
one year ago. You can be proud of your Academy. Everyone pitched in and
worked hard. Without the help of the “"life™ side, we would not be where we
are today. Watch for the outcome of the December NAIC meeting...it will be
interesting.

This program has aspects that cover all disciplines. Another “"hot"™ topic
affecting us all is risk classification and Dale will discuss this activity.




BUSINESS SESSION—DIALOGUE OF PRESIDENT AND PRESIDENT-ELECT 13

MR, GUSTAFSON: It is my personal opinion that = the current controversy
gurrounding the general subject of risk classification, which seems to be
impinging with equal force on all branches of the actuarial profession, is the
most serious matter before the profession at this time. One of the most
difficult, and yet most important, aspects of risk classification is sorting
out what 18 social policy, what are actuarial principles, and what is
political preference.

The American Academy of Actuaries 1is charged with dealing with public
interfaces for the actuarial profession. We must be extremely careful that we
don't unknowingly take positions that are not essentlally actuarial in their
nature. Because I have only a very few minutes, I will try to make this point
by an analogy. Several hundred years ago, a legislature in a European country
passed a law that proclaimed that the mathematical congtant pli would
henceforth be 3. The aim, of course, was to make mathematical calculations
simpler. {That could be identified as accomplishing a broad social purpose.)
Proper actuarial testimony at the time would have forcefully and clearly
pointed out that such legislation would not and could not change the actual
circumference and area of a circle.

The Academy Committee on Risk Classification and a number of task forces or
subcommittees are very hard at work trying to deal effectively with those who
would have pli equal 3. A statement of general principles is in process of
preparation, and in fact may be already on its way to the members. Needed
testimony is being prepared in a number of areas, and in general a rather high
level of activity is going on in the area of risk classification.

There are several quite iImportant lawsuits underway. The Academy may well
seck Lo enter certain of these cases as amicus curiae. It is & matter of
policy that we will not do so at any level lower than the Federal appellate
court.

I have tried to give you a hint of an extremely complex subject in a few
minutes, Next, Rom will try to cover an even more complex area in an even
shorter period of time, that is, the general area of pensions.

MR. BORNHUETTIER: Pensions are even more complex when a casualty actuary
starts talking about this subject to an aundience of mainly pension experts. In
the vernacular, its called suicide.

Pensions and related activities continue to be a major activity for the
Academy, and I will just mention a few.

I will start with a related area...The SAS #11 Task Force. It is an area
where we have not done well, but we are still trylng. It goes to the heart of
the "reliance" issue. Our Task Force, formed about a year ago, had been
meeting with a comparable group from the AICPA as the latter group appeared to
be reexamining the entire issue. Without warning, the ATICPA “"closed the door”
without a full hearing from our side of the table. This turn of events is
very discouraging. However, we have just requested, through this Auditing
Standards Board, that the AICPA reopen the issue. We are not too hopeful, but
will keep trying.

The second area of interest is the effort expended on the FASB exposure draft
on defined benefit pension plans, which is probably the most significant
pension item we have golng. As you all know, the April 1979 exposure draft
had many unacceptable areas, and the Academy commented extensively both orally
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and with written statements. The July 1979 exposure draft was vastly
improved. In fact, the FASB explicitly recognized the Academy's views in
explaining the changes between the two drafts. This was a major
accomplishment of many hardworking Academy members, many of whom are in this
room today.

The second draft still has some problems from our point of view, and we have
recently filed another major statement with the FASB...just two weeks ago.

Other pension activities this past year included a complete restructuring of
the Pension Committee in order to minimize the duplication of effort and,
hopefully, to expedite important projects. Another is the most successful
Enrolled Actuaries meeting, a joint Conference and Academy project, certainly
the largest and most successful meeting yet held.

Lastly, a related pension item Is the Universal Coverage project sponsored by
AERF. The Academy has expended a considerable amount of effert im order to
make it happen.

While I have the floor, I would alsc like to comment briefly onm the overall
topic of our relations with the AICPA...one of our most crucial assignments.
As you know, we have a joint committee with the AICPA which, I must admit, has
performed admirably.

I would 1like to read you one of the agendas some time, but time will not
permit. Let me Jjust vrelate a project just completed which could not have
happened without the help of the AICPA members of the joint committee. 1In
mid-September we had the opportunity to make a presentatiom to the full FASB
Board about the actuarial profession. This lasted over three hours and we
also had lunch and dinner with the Board...in all, over ten hours.
Considering the demands of their time, this was nc mean accomplishment on our
part.

Encugh said in this area. Let me turn you back to Dale to talk a bit more
about the future.

MR, GUSTAFSON: My final part of this dialogue will be quite brief, although
the subject 1s also of considerable importance. The Academy's Board, officers
and staff have on numerous occasions discussed the Academy's purpose and how
it was going about meeting its purpose. Qur conception of purpose has changed
gradually but rather dramatically as the vyears have gone by and we have
learned. At its June meeting, the Board of the Academy authorized the
appointment of a high level, Long-Range Planning Committee. The purpese of
this Committee will be to take a very hard look at where the Academy has come
from, where it 1is, and where it ought to be headed. The chalirman of that
Committee is Mr. Thomas P. Bowles. The membership of the Committee will be
listed in the 1980 Year Book of the Academy. At the same time that the
Board authorized the appointment of the Long~Range Planning Committee, it also
asked staff to begin looking at how the Academy's statment of purpose might be
revised and what the technical problems were in revising it. The technical
prcblems arise because it is part of the Academy’s Articles of Incorporation.
The purpose was to enable staff to get a head start on what is expected to be
one of the important areas to be considered by the Long—-Range Planning
Committee. 1 am perhaps blased because of the intimate involvement I have had
with Academy affairs for these past several years, but I de not look for any
dramatic changes 1n our current activities to come from this Long-Range
Planning Committee. I believe it is an extremely important activity, but not
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because I fear that we have gone off in the wrong direction. Rather, it is
very important that we chart carefully our course for the future from where we
are now.

I will now turn to Ron for his final section in these remarks. He has the
clean-up spot to cover any other important subjects that we think should be
brought to your attention.

MR. BORNHUETTER: Gus has just begun a commentary about the Academy's future.
Let me briefly comment on a few issues the Academy will face in the next
twelve months (in no particular order):
First--Independence--gsomething will happen.
Second--Qualification Standards——a perplexing problem for the minorities.
Third-—Rendering an Opinion on Property and Liability Reserves—-if it
goes, do we bring in all non-actuary "loss reserve specialists” under the
Academy umbrella——as members?

Fourth--Reorganization--what happens with the Society of Actuaries turn
down of the Fraternal consolidation?

Fifth--Risk Classification——a very "wolatile" issue.

S8ixth~-Ten issues I haven't thought of,
Finally, my part in the program would be remiss without acknowledging to each
of you the major contribution to our profession of Dale Gustafsen. His
leadership has been outstanding, and we are all the benefactors of his
efforts. The Academy has flourished under his guidance, and really is a tough
act to follow.

MR. GUSTAFSON: Thank you very much. The Meeting ies adjourned.



CONCURRENT SESSION
SPECIALTY DESIGNATIONS

Moderator: FREDERICK W. KILBOURNE. Panelists: DAVID R. CARPENTER,
GEQRGE D. MORISON

MR, FREDERICK W. KILBOURNE: This is the Specialty Designations panel, which
will conclude at 12:15 pem. I am Fred Kilbourne, moderator of the panel and
chairman of the Specialty Designations Committee. The panelist on my right is
George Morison. George is a Fellow and Past President of the Casualty
Actuarial Society, and is a member of the Academy Specialty Designations
Committee as well as the Chairman of the Academy Committee on
Property-Liability Qualifications. The panelist on my left is Dave Carpenter.
Dave is a member of the Conference, a Fellow and Board member of the Society
of Actuaries, and is a member of the Society's Committee on Reorganization.

We plan to use a slightly different format for this panel. Most actuarial
panels assail the listener with several long, boring speeches. We plan to
break our presentation wup into more, but shorter, boring speeches. Short,
specific topics will be discussed in about a minute each. When we're through
talking we'll convert to a workshop format, with questions and answers from
the audience encouraged.,

It's worth noting that the description of this panel is taken almost verbatim
from the Academy statement of purpose for the Speclalty Designation Committee.
This will be a review of issues relating to specialized areas of practice.
What are suitable standards for qualificatlon to practice in a specialized
area? Under what circumstances, if any, should public acknowledgement of such
qualification be made?

I think a good starting point would be a brief description of what our
Committee has done. Would you like to take your minute on that, George?

MR. GEORGE D. MORISON: What would you do if I said ne?
MR, KILBOURNE: 1I'd probably do it myself.

MR, MORISON: OCh, in that case L'd be glad to. (Laughter.) The Committee met
twice and developed two quite different plans. The second one was presented
to the Academy Board last week. What it bells down to is a recommendation
that we concern ourselves with only three areas of practice at this time,
while recognizing the possibility that cthers may emerge as time goes by. The
first area, pension plan liabilities, is easy because the Government has
identified qualified actuaries for us. The second area, casualty insurance
claim reserves, is the subject of activity as was reported earlier today. The
third area, 1life insurance policy reserves, already has requirements at the
state level.

MR. XKILBOURNE: Good. One important thing about this Committee is its makeup
in terms of cross—sections of Academy membership. Dale Gustafson and others
made every effort to construct a Committee that would be representative of
every faction, every member. I'm sure that wasn't perfectly realized, but it
certainly is a representative Committee. The Committee was established less

16
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than a year ago, and last wmonth submitted its final report, as George
mentioned and as we will discuss further. But first, Dave, perhaps you could
comment on Society of Actuaries activities in this area or reorganization or
something else pertingnt to this panel.

MR, DAVID R. CARPENTER: Well, I got out all my old notes on reorganization.
I've been involved in Society efforts on the subject for nearly three years (I
see Anna Rappaport in the audience; she certainly has been similarly involved)
and I'm particulary interested in whether Fred's Committee report conforms to
or conflicts with early reorganization discussions, particularly as they
relate to professional designations and specialties. There can easily be
confusion between this Committee report, with its emphasis on the needs of the
public, and the reorganization discussions over the past two years, which
basically are more directed at the egos and needs of actuaries themselves.
For instance, what if (remember, I said "what if") the Academy were to become
the main United States actuarial organization, with the Conference and the
other bodies brought in cn some basis under the Academy umbrella. This would
never £ly without specialty sections which would retain a high degree of
automony, and perhaps even senatorial representaticn on the Academy Board.
What would the professional designations of actuaries be under this
circumstance? It seems it would be best to have us all be identified as
Member, American Academy of Actuaries without further qualification at that
point (such as "L" for 1life insurance). There would be lists prepared of
actuaries presumptively qualified to practice in a given areaz, but this would
not be confused with the Membership designation itself. The lists might be in
the yearbook, of course, to serve as a research tool. I hope I haven't
confused anyone, but we can respond to questions when the time comes.

MR. KILBOURNE: Let me comment about our Committee, which is, I guess,
inextricably interwoven with the subject of this panel. It is the wrong
Committee, this is the wrong topic, and all of you are at the wrong meeting.
The issue is not speciglty designations; it is qualification standards, and
the name of the Committee has been changed, by Board action last month, to the
Qualification Standards Committee. Our large and broadly-representative
Committee has never wanted to designate everyone as a specialist in one or two
particular areas of practice. Rather, we see the need to establish minimum
qualification when - and only when - there is a compelling public need for
such professional standards to be established. Would you agtee, George?

MR. MORISON: Yes., Where there is a need to identify qualified actuaries in a
specialty, we feel the Academy should step forward with the identificatiom.
The new Committee on Property-Liability Qualifications, of whichk I am
chairman, is charged with identifying the requirements of those wishing to be
deemed presumptively qualified to sign the property-liability statement. Fred
and I will have to talk later as to how our respective Committees should
dovetail, if at all.

MR, KILBOURNE: In a way, I expect our Committee to fall intec a stupor for a
while. We're being continued, and we've been renamed, but I can't see that
the Qualification Standards Committee should be active until someomne can
assume the burden of proof that we should go beyond the three areas already
identified. 1'1]l comment in a minute on this concept of presumptive evidence
and burden of proof, because this has been a tool that we've used throughout
our Committee work. The list that would be prepared as a result of the charge
to George's committee would be a list of people who have, in the opinion of
the Academy, presumptively met standards to render expert opinions for the
casualty blank, period. This is clearly quite narrow, going back to what 1



18 CONCURRENT SESSION—SPECIALTY DESIGNATIONS

was saying about the 1limited focus of this Committee. Our Committee early
took the stand that no one has the right te limit any actuary in his practice
unless he can assume the burden of proof that the public Interest requires
that there be minimum standards for this particular area. Looking at the
Academy as a whole, I think that's what we have said to the public with regard
to what it means to be an actuary, To be a member of the American Academy of
Actuaries 1is, we've claimed, presumptive evidence of at least meeting minimum
standards to call yourself an actuary. What we would like, and what has
happened in many areas, is for the regulatory authorities and legislators to
accept Academy membership as presumptive evidence of qualification to be an
actuarye. That 1is mnot to say that someone else does not qualify, but merely
shifts the burden of proof onto the person claiming teo be qualified. Our
Committee said we do not want to establish any internal limits at all unless a
burden of proof can be satisfied that the public interest requires it. We
concluded that this burden has been met in three areas and three areas only:
the particular statements that require actuarial opinions in the pension, life
and casualty areas.

MR. CARPENTER: Dees this mean, Fred, that if a Member of the Academy
undertakes one of these three speclific functions without being on the list,
then the burdern of proof is on him to prove that he is innocent?

MR. KILBOURNE: In answer to your questlion, as I understand the Committee's
intent as reflected in its report (which was received by the Board and which
will be published in the next issue of the Newsletter), why, ves, the
intention is to have the casualty and life committees come up with lists of
people who are presumptively (not conclusively) qualified to sign the
particular statement with the burden of proof of qualification falling on an
unlisted wmember who signs the statement. We can get into how the 1list should
be prepared, but once you're on the 1list you are deemed to have met the
presumptive (not conclusive) standards of qualification. If you're not on the
list, the burden of proof shifts to you - but it is an assumable burden, if
you're qualified. If you can bring forth sufficient evidence that you are
gualified, so be it, that's fine. That's the underlying theory; the doors are
left open, or at least ajar.

MR. CARPENTER: You know, I imagine that the public will demand something from
us as to which actuaries are or are not qualified to practice in certain
areas, and 1'd 1like to get some reaction from the people here as to how
they see it.

MR, KILBOURNE: The concept of lists is one, of course, that could take many
different forms. It could be special identification in the yearbook, it could
be an actual 1list, it could be by some other means. The concept ¢f tattoo was
discussed and we came out strongly in favor, but it hasn't been adopted as
Academy policy yet. (Laughter.) 1 do want to comment that the public interest
question 1is one that is significant, and maybe even to the point of reading a
paragraph out of the report: "The Committee avers that public interest alone
should be the criterion for identification of a specialty area and for the
establishment of minimum standards to qualify for inclusion on the
corresponding list. Only the public interest should justify limitation of an
actuary im his practice, but that 1interest demands strict enforcement of
reasonable minimum standards of qualification.” This is one paragraph out of
our Committee report which will be available, as I mentioned, when the next
Newsletter comes out. Let's see, did we miss anything as to Academy Board or
officer action at the meeting last month?
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MR. CARPENTER: 1 was there and I applauded Fred's effoxrts. He kept an active
discussion going for at least two hours at the Board meeting. No one else
could have possibly come close to that. But in general 1 think the Academy
Board reaction to the report was favorable. The report was recelved rather
than accepted by the Board, but I think that was cautious wording more than
anything else. There was a lot of discussion because it is a serious topic
and even those on the Board who were supportive of the Committee raport just
wanted to have time to discuss it thoroughly to make sure they understood it.
I don't think there was any strong dissent.

MR. MORISON: I'm not sure that there is umanimous opinion that this Committee
should continue to limit its attention to those three areas where there is now
strong public demand. I think there are some on the Board and certainly in
the Academy who would like to see this concept expanded, but among the members
of the Committee most wanted te take this rather modest step only, for now.

MR. CARPENTER: You know, Fred, 1 was wondering if you'd comment on how your
Committee report lines up with opinlon A5 with regard to professional conduct.
Do you believe it Fits in pretty well?

MR. KILBOURNE: Well, I do. Members of the Academy will soon receive a letter
sent by Dale Gustafson with an article, on the back, on the subject of opinion
AS. It says that there will be a 1life qualification committee established.
It says that it is the opinion of two Academy committees that the only set of
examinations which presumptively demonstrates the required study and training
for life policy reserves is the set of examinations required for Fellowship in
the Society of Actuaries. It then goes on to say that Members who are not
Felliows of the Society of Actuaries but who nonetheless have been
appropriately signing 1life blanks in the past should feel free to continue to
do so. The article on the back of Dale's letter is one that I generally agree
with but I do have a problem with opinlon 5 as it varies among the
professional bodies. One way in which opinion 5 varies is that the casualty
opinion says "the actuary should decline any assignment for which his
qualifications are insufficient”. The Academy opinion no longer says that,
and I feel the chenge was ill-advised. The article goes on to say that
many people felt that the "insufficient qualifications” limitation was too
restrictive and that an actuary was thereby not free to venture into a new and
unexplored field. Opinion A5 goes on to say that the actuary should accept an
assignment only after disclosure to his client of limitations in his education
or experience, and undertaking, in the course of the aassignment, research and
professional consultation sufficient to overcome these limitations. I feel
and have seen that the end result of this is often tokenism, so I feel there's
a problem with that. The Society of Actuarles has a set of examinations which
is extensive ae far as qualifying people to know about life insurance policy
reserves, and Academy members should recognize that fact. The same is true of
the casualty exams. I think maybe to wrap up what I have on my notes, the
recommendations that were made in the committee report had several purposes.
The main committee recommendation was that there be lists established of
Academy members who presumptively have met minimum qualifications to practice
in a particular area. We felt that the value of the recommendation was that
this would be an ald to regulators and legislators as to which Academy members
are qualified in a particular area. Further, the lists and also the process
by which the lists would be developed would be an aid ro Members, who might
wonder whether their qualifications were sufficient, as to how they might
bolster their qualifications in order to meet the minimum standards for a
particular area. Finally, the recommendations were intended as an aild to
discipline committees which in the past have worked hard and for reasons
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beyend their control have not been very effective. The problem has been the
fact that the burden has always been on the discipline committee to establish
that a particular actuary was working outside of his area of qualificationm.
All that the 1list concept would do is to aid the discipline committee by
shifting that burden, and it should be a reascnable burden, to the actuary who
is not on the list but who nonetheless operates in a particular area. I'm
talking here, of course, only of professional sanctions. We're hopeful that
the regulators and legislators will adopt this concept as far as admitting
people to practice before them or sign statements before them within these
particular limited and narrow areas. George or Dave, is there something else
that we should say before we are drowned cut by the din from the people before
us? .

MR, MORISON: I don't know of anything further that I need to say now.
MR. CARPENTER: Why don't we leave then. (Laughter.)
MR, KILBOURNE: Ckay. Why don't we move on to an open discussion.

MEMBER OF THE AUDIENCE: I'm not so sure I'm understanding what you're saying.
You have three areas where the burden is on the actuary to prove that he is
qualified. Take medical malpractice, something else like that, is the burden
then on other actuaries to prove that this person isn't qualified? Is that
the way the burden goes?

MR. KILBOURNE: The Committee did not change anything, of course, and did not
intend to have the Board change anything with regard to practice other than
signing these three particular statements. In other words, we were not
intending to liberalize mnor tighten any of the existing constraints as
expressed in the professional guides. These contraints do now permit the
actuary to practice outside his competency and then the burden is on a
discipline committee or some other actuary to prove that he wasn't qualified.
What do you think, Dave?

MR. CARPENTER: Well, I was just looking at opinion A5 and it seems to me that
for any area outside those three, the following short paragraph is
appropriate: “The actuary, bearing in mind the responsibility to his clients,
his profession and the public, will have to judge whether or not his training
and experience qualify him to give advice on a particular assigmment. He must
also be prepared to accept the opinion of his peers on the validity of that
judgement.” That doesn't completely answer the burden of proof thing but it
almost certainly shows it's up for grabs. I mean, he could be questioned and
legitimately so. Do you agree with that?

MR, KILBOURNE: Yes, I do. I think what's being proposed does not change the
existing situaticon except with regard to the three identified statements that
are to be signed. The burden of proof identified continues to be on the
discipline committee with regard to everything else. I wonder if Lou Garfin
might comment.

MR. LOU GARFIN: I think the basic responsibility is on the individual actuary
himself to make that determination. If another actuary belleves he's mot
qualified, then it becomes a matter for the committee on discipline to handle.

MR. CARPENTER: At that point, isn't it really a matter , Lou, of peer review
rather than of proving guilt?
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MR, KILBOURNE: The practical effect has been to have the burden fall more on
the accuser than on the accused. This sounds appropriate at first, but
suppose actuaries in general agree that actuary B is not qualified in a
particular area, and actuary B says that he is. Why I think that the
practical effect 1is to limit the discipline committee greatly by imposing an
almost impossible burden of proof.

MR. LARRY MITCHELL: Now 1 don't have to prove that I'm qualified because
there's a 1list which says I'm presumptively qualified. And now the burden
changes slightly. Now when I think you're doing a lousy job, I can refer to
the list...

MR. KILBOURNE: Remember presumption is only that.

MR. MITCHELL: I agree that presumption is only that, but I'm net quite sure
who the public is. There are times when I think the public is being defined
as different groups. The actuarial groups, for exzample, rather than the
public of John Jones, XYZ Cerporation, or somebody such as that.

MR, KILBOURNE: When I use public, I mean only the total public.

MR. MITCHELL: Well, only the total public doesn't care, I think. You have a
designation of simple clearly defined areas. Pension plan liabilities,
casualty claim reserves, life insurance policy reserves. I assume the pension
statement referred to is schedule B. A lot of people who do pension work are
not involved in this schedule and doun't claim to be enrolled actuaries. You
bave life insurance actuaries who have to sign the casualty statement because
his company is doing medical and disability insurance as a casualty Insurer.
Or vyou have, say, medical insurance which is obviously a life insurance line.
Unless it happens to be for animals, in which case it goes into casualty
miscellanecus, because that's the only place the insurance departments have
for it. They couldn't put it in life miscellanecus, since life doesn't have a
miscellaneous lime. So you may have a life actuary who's better qualified to
handle medical than a casualty actuary and you have, suddenly, gradatiomns of
definition, and I'm not quite sure why. I'm not quite sure why there's this
reluctance to  accept opinion AS5. If you do not accept A5, then you find
yourself in the position of saying you cannot do anything for the first time,
which is ridiculous, but it's what it says. Because if you're not qualified
to do dit, you can't do it. And if you haven't previously demonstrated that
you're qualified to do it, then you're mever qualified to do it. I wonder if
this is what the public really wants.

MR. KILBOURNE: The Committee report, as I understand the deliberations that
went into it, speaks in a contrary way to some of that. It says that there is
a public interest even though there is not, at least as far as I know, a wmob
armed with bricks and bats outside this door. We find that there is a public
interest in these particular areas. We find further that it is possible to
become qualified te act in a particular area, even a new area. Inclusion on
the 1list means only that your peers within the Academy believe that you are
qualified to some minimum extent. We're not saying that you're not qualified
if you're not on the list, but just would expect you then to be able to
‘establish that you are qualified.

MEMBER OF THE AUDIENCE: One Scciety committee did something that's unusual.
It polled the membership and said, "What do you want us to do?" We got back
an enormously high percentage of the membership responding. There were over
500 people who gave comments. And we discovered a lot of things that those
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of us on the Committee did not really know beforehand. And one of the
things we discovered was a tremendous fear that the Society would become
factionalized into specialties, that people could not move from life to
pension to health, etc, This was an enormous fear, especially among the
younger members of the Society who felt that they wanted to have their optionms
open to them. They did not want to be designated or classified. This report
is being presented to the Society Board later this month and I think that the
work that your Committee is doing should have some input from the people you
are attempting to designate or classify to find out exactly how they want to
be designated or classified. T think, for example, the areas that you have
mentioned, signing statements for reserves, exclude what is perhaps the
greatest area of public interest, and that is monopolistic ratemaking. Rates
are being made by actuaries to be used in workers' compensation or automobile
insurance.

MR. KILBOURNE: I'd 1like to defer to George Morison, currently President of
the Workers' Compensation Rating and Inspection Bureau and the Automobile
Rating and Accident Prevention Bureau of the State of Massachusetts.

MR. MORILISON: Sure, there's a great deal of public interest in rates and the
way they deal with that in a place like Massachusetts is to conduct a public
hearing. The current one has already lasted two weeks and will go for another
twe weeks starting tomorrow. That's an isclated instance of course. I'm not
sure the members of Fred's Committee feel very strongly that we ought to
identify people who are especially qualified to take part in rate setting.
Some people think it would help, but it is seen to be too restrictive. They
feel a concern that we not unnecessarily deprive anyone of his or her means of
livelihood. It might be that only a small number of actuaries is qualified to
put together a rate filing, but this would be considered by many people unduly
restrictive.

MR. KILBOURNE: I am aware of public statements that have been made by
actuaries who present themselves as experts expressing opinions as te workers'
compensation and/or automobile insurance tatemaking who have no training
whatsoever in the lines of insurance that are involved. They may have had
generalized actuarial training in ratemaking, they may have had specific
actuarial training in life insurance and health insurance premium rates, but
they are speaking from considerable ignorance when it comes to werkers'
compensation or automcbile insurance ratemaking and they are nonstheless
presenting themselves as experts for this purpose. I think that is a matter
of concern to our profession and to the public. A question 1in the back...

MEMBER OF THE AUDIENCE: The question is this. If this is in the public
interest, 1 assume that list will include enrclled actuaries who are not in
the Academy.

MR, KILBOURNE: The Academy list I would expect would include only Academy
members .

MEMBER OF THE AUDIENCE: Well then how can this be something you're justifying
as being 1in the public interest?

MR, KILBCURNE: I would consider it to be in the public interest to show
members ¢f the Academy who are enrolled actuaries te someone who may wish teo
come Lo the Academy to find out who the enrolled actuaries in our membership
are. But, I have mo problem with the Academy's 1list going beyond and
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including enrolled actuaries who are not members. I don't see any problem
with that. Anna?

M5, ANNA RAPPAPORT: I'm deeply troubled by what I see as a basic conflict in
the roles, in the multiple roles, of the Academy and I think that this
discussion this morning and the questions in a way really brings it to light
very well. Your Committee has basically, then, acted “to protect the public
interest™, but there's also a need to protect the interest of the Academy's
members. Really maybe the Academy is here to protect the interest of the
Academy's members. I don't think the Academy can effectively serve as a
lobbying organization to protect the interests of actuaries with other
professions and Government and then turn around and say, "Hey public, we're
here to protect youl” In terms of the purposes of this list, as an aid to
legislatore and regulators, 1 think really what we're trying to do is to
protect the interests of our members again. And that's very comsistent with
the lobbying role. In terms of, for example, the aid to the discipline
committee, 1 think that's very dangercus from a legal point of view. I feel
what we're doing by going around and telling the public we're trying to
protect the public interest and at the same time lobbylng is destroying our
credibility on both sides. That's why I'm so concerned about it. We're
coercing a lot of people into paying Academy dues, which is fine 1f we're
acting In the public interest, but then if we are lobbying, we've taken away
from people the option of being able to disagree with us effectively. So I
see very fundamental problems with what your Committee is trying to do as it
relates te what other activities of the Academy are trying to do and as it
relates to the Academy as something that has viable public credibility.

MR, KILBOURNE: If the Academy 1s taking positions that are designed to
further the interests of the profession, or the interests of the Academy, and
those positione are contrary to the public interest, then we should stop. The
positioms of the Academy should be indeed to further the public interest and
perhaps, secondarily, the interests of the Academy or the actuarisl
profession, but only if it is clear that this is not contrary to the public
interest. I personally don't see any conflict between the recommendations of
this Committee and the actions of the Academy.

MR. CARPENTER: I'm not so sure the primary interest of your report is to
protect the public interest. 1 see it more as responding to the public
interest. I think there's a big difference.

MR. MORISON: We anticipate that the NAIC will ask the Academy for a list of
its members who are qualified to sign 2 casualty reserve opinion. We're
anticipating a public need.

MEMBER OF THE AUDIENCE: 1'd be very interested to hear a response from the
panel on one of the issues that Larry raised. Question: In the area of
casualty loss reserves, with respect to a life actuary who is qualified to do
reserves for those lines which a casualty company can write and for which a
life actwary is traimed, will he be (A) not presumptively qualified; (B)
presumptively qualified for casualty 1loss reserves in general, or (C)
presumptively qualified for a subset of casualty reserves?

MR. MORISCN: I think not () unless we are really nailed to the wall. We
would 1ike to keep this as simple as possible. I can't really answer your
question because our Committee hasn't given an awful lot of thought yet to its
assignment; however, I'll go ahead anyway. The Academy has gone on record, I
think about two years ago, by a letter from Bob Winters saying hey, folks,
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this thing is off in the distance and it may happen one of these days and you
might think about taking some examinations of the Casualty Actuarial Society
if you want to sign those statements. 1 think at the time he suggested parts
five, six and seven of our exams. So that's on the record already. We don't
know yet what the qualification standards are going to be but the exams are
there and that's certainly one way to go.

MEMBER OF THE AUDIENCE: May I just go on the record along with what Larry
said. I feel personally that I'm well qualified tc sign statments regarding
the reserves for disability income insurance and medical iusurance regardless
of whether it is written by a casualty company or not and I know damn well I'm
not qualified to sign anything with regard to automobile insurance or other
perscnal lines. I would resent very strongly, oppose very strongly, any
position of the Academy that said that if I were to work for a life insurance
company that had a casualty insurance subsidiary in the medical area that I
could not be on that 1ist for the company unless 1 sat down and took a
casualty exam.

MR. KILBOURNE: - If I could respond to that, I certainly understand your point
and I think you have a valid point and that the committee that George heads
will need to address that. That will be important. I think the decision on
qualification is going to be made ultimately outside our profession and it
will be made by the insurance commissioner of State X. And the insurance
comnissioner of that state may well want to make provision for you as a Fellow
of the Society of Actuaries who has had adequate training and experience in
disability income reserving and who is clearly well qualified in that line.
As to whether he wants to make provision in his acceptance of qualified loss
reserve specialists for the distinction between different types of casuvalty
lines, 1 suspect that it may well prove Impracticable considering the thirty
or 8o different lines of casualty insurance but rather just say that this
person is or 1s not qualified to sign the yellew blank, period. But it may
well be, especially given a shortage of qualified loss reserve specialists,
that the NAIC might want to make that kind of distinction.

MR, CARPENTER: I'm not sure I -follow Larry. I envision that certain
insurance departments would think 1t a legitimate question to point to the
Academy and say, we went along with qualifying MAAA's to sign the life blank.

‘What's going on? Which of these MAAA's are qualified to sign the life blank

anymore? 1 mean, they're the ones looking at these reserve statements that
we're signing. And I think we owe that public, in this case the insurance
commissioner, an answer to that question.

MR. MITCHELL: I disagree. Maybe we could 1list instead the specialty groups
to which each actuary belongs. And maybe that's a much more reasonable
approach, rather than to be a licensing body.

MR. KILBOURNE: This isn't a licensing body. The conclusion of the Committee
was that we should indeed establish minimum standards of qualification for
just these three statements, and that the Academy should be ready to provide
lists of members who have met these presumptive gualifications. We have to
conclude this. It's 12:15 and George has a plane to catch. Thank you very
much.

(Applause.)
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MR. ROY R. ANDERSON: During the business session earlier this morning,
retiring President Dale Gustafson described the issue of rigk classification
as the most serious matter before the actuarial profession at this time. I
don't quite share that copinion. Risk classification i1s vitally important, but
in nwy judgement, there 1s an even more important challenge that confronts our
profession: That 1is, the need to recognize — and to understand the
implications of -—- some of the deep and fundamental developments that are
occurring in our society.

I'li mention two such developments -- firat, ecomomic inflation and, second,
changes in societal values. I chose these two because it is they -~ operating
in combination ~— that have precipiteted the risk clagsification issue itself.

Let's consider first ecomomic Inflation. I doubt that our practices of risk
classification would have become a major issue had it not been for inflation.
For example, ten years agc, there were relatively few objections to the system
of auto classification. Young men were being charged much higher rates -- but
everyone know that young men caused more than their fair share of accidents.
The same was true with premiums in the cities., But as inflation made its
effects felt, the premiums for the high risk classes and the central cities
became excessive. As a result, some insurance commissioners —-- especially in
some states with the highest premium levels —- came to the conclusion that
some kind of action had to be taken. In this context, it was. inflation that
precipitated the risk classification issue.

Let's now consider changes in societal values. From another perspective, it
could be claimed that the issue of risk classification emerged primarily
because of the substantial changes that have been occurring in sccietal
values.

What do I mean by societal values? These include a great range of diverse
concepts. For ezample: they include the value that soclety places on the
rights of individuals, such as the right to personal security and the right to
privacy. They include the attitude the public has about institutions —— such
as business, or the professions, or government. They include the value
society places on a clean environment =-- or the need to conserve natural
resources for Ybenefit of future generations. One of the most fundamental
values that 1s now In a state of flux is society's artitude toward sex, toward
the respective rights of men and women and toward the role of the nuclear
family.

*Mr. Latto, not a member of the Academy, is an attorney with the firm of Shea
& Gardner, Washington, D. C. Because Mr. Latto participated in the Concurrent
Session on Independence of the Actuary, his paper on Risk Classification was
presented by Steve Kellison. :
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This changing attitude with respect to the classification of risk by sex has
impacted virtually all lines of insurance: auto insurance, health insurance,

l1ife insurance, the pension business =-- and the underwriting of property
insurance.

I have touched briefly on these two major societal developments -— economic
inflation and changing values —- to underscore the point that the roots of the

issue of risk classification go deep. It's only academic as to which of these
forces precipitated the issue. But it is clear that there will be no quick
and easy solutions to the problems of risk classification as the forces
continue to impact the various lines of insurance —— because neither the
forces of inflation nor changing societal values have run their course. And
these forces themselves are a part of an even broader development: our
gociety itself dis in the process of an historicl transformation ~-~ a period
during which we are developing new beliefs, new values and new institutioms.

Now to return to the risk classification issue itself. One lesson our
committee on Risk Classification has learned during its first year-and-a-half

of operation 1is that this issue is highly ecumenical in nature -- in several
ways . First, it is impacting all of the various systems of insurance, from
Governmental or Social Systems -- to Group or mass merchandising systems --— to

the individual 1lines of Life and Health and Property and Casualty. Second,
within each system of insurance, it 1is ecumenical in that it impacts all
functions -- from marketing and product development, to underwriting and
actuarial, to claim handling and general administration. You cannot study the
workings of risk classification for any one of these functions without
considering its impact on the others.

lastly, and perhaps most Importantly, risk classification is ecumenical in
that it affects many different disciplines: the insurance professions, such
as actuaries, underwriters and salesman; economists; academicians;
consumerists; legislators and regulators; lawyers —— including the members of
the judiciary.

I close on this mnote =-- that the risk classification issue has become of
in¢reasing interest to other professions -~ to underscore the fact that risk
classification is no longer an arcane function that is the peculiar interest
and province of the actuary. We must be prepared to listen to and to
understand the viewpoints of those from other disciplines. And, hopefully,
they will listen to us.

MS. MAVIS A. WALTERS: From the perspective of auto insurance, some of you may
or may not know that this discussion centers primarily around the use of the
rating variables of age, sex, marital status of drivers and to some extent,
the use of geographical territories, that is, the place where the auto is
garaged. These are the rating variables which are under attack., We've tried
to take a look at the controversy from two perspectives; the first being that
of consumers or the public, if wou will. I'm not really sure that any of us
know what the consumers or the general public thinks about this issue hecause
I don't think that they totally understand it. We have, however, heard from
those we might term the consumerist regulators. Their objections to the use
of the traditional rating variables seem to be based on two concerns: first,
the idea of using social stereotypes; that is, these folks seem to believe
that insurers and actuaries have some preconceived notions of behavorial
patterns and inherent traits that beloung to groups of people and that we've
never verified these notions, but simply continue to adhere to them.
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The second objection seems to be that somehow it is inherently unfair to the
individual in this day and age of civil rights and equal rights opportunities
to apply averages to individuals and to consider individuals as members of a
group rather than as unique persons. On the other hand, to insurers and to
actuaries who perform a rate-making function for insurers, we see thie issue
as quite a serious challenge to the basic, fundamental principle upon which
our pricing system 1is founded; namely, that price should be determined as a
function of cost; a very basic, very elementary, fundamental economic
principle as well as the foundation of actuarial pricing practices. A fair
price in an actuarial and economic sense, in my opinion, 1s simply a price
that is equal to the individual's expected costs plus a provision for expenses
profit and contingencies. It follows from this that individuals with the same
expected costs should pay the same premium. All individuals with different
expected costs should pay different prices. In remarks which you will be
hearing a 1little later, from larry Latto, he makes the same point -— that we
should, we need to, look at groups; but bear in mind the individuals. A key
element in this concept that I just described of equals being treated equally
and unequals, unequally, we call homogeneity, but an awfully important
component is that you do have a homogeneous group, unless there is a clearly
identifiable subset with different expected costs. T think too many of us too
often lose sight of that element and it may come up later in the discussion.

So, let's take a closer look at the popular misconception of socilal
stereotypes. Is 1t or is it not true that our auto classifications systems
are, in fact, based on these social stereotypes? Quite simply, it is not
true. The current variables that we use —— age, sex, and marital status.--
are supported by extensive statistical studies, investigations and a weaith of
data, both internal and external to the insurance industry. Those data are
very well presented, in fact, in a rather extensive report of the advisory
committee to the NAIC D(3) Subcommittee which was dated May 1978. The facts
are, as presented in the report, that young drivers cost more to insure than
older drivers. Young male drivers c¢ost more to insure than young female
drivers. And young single drivers cost more to insure than young married
drivers. And, by the way, in that report, we alsc thoroughly analyzed the
most commonly suggested alternatives to age, sex, and marital status; and we
were  able to demonstrate, I believe rather conclusively, that these
substitutes were mnot as effective, not as predictive, as the ones that are
currently being used. They simply will not work as substitutes.
Specifically, I'm talking about the use of variables such as mileage, years
licensed, and driving record. They simply do not explain as much variance as
does the total system of risk classification which includes the use to some
degree of some of these other variables.

There are some today, we might call them our critics, whe will maintain that
even though these rating variables are statistically supportable, they should
still be rejected because they are neither causal nor controllable. Those of
you who are familiar with the auto sceme will pick up those words immediately.
These seem to be the new catch words: causality and controllability. Those
notions, which at first blush are noble sounding and rather simple, I believe
are based on a fundamental misunderstanding of the purpose of risk
classification as well as being without actuarial, economic, or logical
foundaticn. The purpose of risk classification, in my opinicn (and by the
way, this discussion took place within the Committee, and I'm not sure that
our Committee fully agreed with me, but as I see it), the fundamental purpose
is to assist in the estimation of the Individual's expected losses. That
quantity is not directly knowable or measurable. I don't believe that there
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are many people who would question, at least from an actuarial sense, that a
fair premium is equal to the individual's expected loss, plus a provision for
expenses, profit, and contingency. However, again 1 emphasize the
individual's expected loss 1s not, nor can it ever be, precisely know. It
must be inferred from available information.

Some people beliewve that we can use an individual driver's past driving record
alone for premium determination, but they incorrectly equate an individual's
past losses with expected losses. That 1s, of course, fundamentally unsound.
Further discussion will show the basic problems with this concept of
causality. Consider first, having- had a number of auto accidents in the past
one, two, three, five years, what have you, dvesn't cause a driver to have an
accident in the current period. Auto accidents may be caused by any number of
factors: bad weather, poorly maintained roadways, careless driving, defective
autos, excessive drinking, bad 1luck, or any combination of these and other
factors. In fact, the U.s. Department of Transporation in their
study Causation, Culpability and Deterrence in Highway C(rashes states,
"driver responsibility for «crashes 1is rarely wunilateral and is often
impossible +to isolate from the multiplicity of cause invelved in almost any
crash.” Obviously then, past losses and past claims experience alone are not
and can never be a precise measure of an individual's true expected losses.

Secondly, in trying to determine the individual's expected losses, remember
that any individual, over a period of time, may have and, in fact, probably
doe¢s have, a changing distribution of expected losses so that even observing
one individual over a significantly long period of time, if that were possible
(let's say ten or fifteen years), would still not be a valid means of
estimating that dindividual's expected losses. Since, however, a single
individual's expected loss cannot be directly known, some people suggest that
insurers ignore all other evidence and charge all drivers equally. I don't
know how popular that would be 1in the real world, but I believe that the
fundamental principles of dinscrance equity which are consistemnt with the
regulatory requirements that rates not be unfairly discriminatory require that
we not ignore the strong evidence which demomstrates that some drivers are
more likely to have accidents than others.

I believe it 1s through the use of classifications which estimate the
individual's expected loss by the observation of similar individuals over a
reasonably short peried of time that we do the best possible job for the
individuals. Placing 1like drivers into risk classes on the basis of their
commen characteristics 1s clearly more equitable than totally ignoring all
individual differences and charging all insureds the same amount. The current
risk classification process in auto insurance uses variables which
statistically correlate with future accident involvement. I believe this is
far more objective, more scientific than simple trying to determine causality.

There's one other example that 1s given by Dr. Plotkin which also speaks to
the causality argument and T think it's a very good one. Take a look at
smoking and the relationship between smoking end a variety of illnesses. It
is certainly true, as spokesmen and P.R. people for the tobacco industry point
out, that the precise physiclogical mechanisms linking smoking to death and
illnesses are not fully kngwn, yet no scientist, physician, or respomsible
person can or should ignore the overwhelming statistical evidence in providing
personal or professional advice or in making personal decisions. Again, if
you think of the objection ta applying averages to individuals, think of the
smoking analogy: mnot every smoker will die prematurely, or develop some
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serious  1llness; but  remember that the statistical evidence remains
overwhelming for the group of smokers versus non-smokers. I don't believe
that one can or should ignore that evidence.

I have the same difficulty with the concept of controllability. It sounds so
simple: do mot charge me more because of a factor that I cannot control.
Well, I will simply point out that that standard is a very difficult ome, and
we use the example of age in 1life insurance. Obviously, it's essential, yet
it's not controllable.

So, where are we? I believe that the current private passenger auto
classification variables are valid from an actuarial and econcmic perspective.
Classifying drivers on the basis of age, sex, marital status, and place of
garaging an auto is a good means statistically of separating those drivers
into homogeneous risk classes so that we can predict, with some confidence,
the 1ikely losses for those groups. This then means that we can price those
rigks fairly in an economic and actuvarial sense so that the higher risk
drivers pay mere than these of lower risk,

Where are we going? I don’t know for sure, but I believe strongly before any
changes are made in the name of public policy or for social consideratioms,
that 1t 1s extremely important that the economic consequences be understood
before public policy dis made and that those consequences be accepted. Two

important points mneed to be understood: eliminating some or all of the
current variables which seem to give people some problems, with or without
substitutes, will not lower the overall cost —-— the overall need for premiums

to cover the expected losses iIn auto insurance or all drivers in a state. It
simply redistributes that premium, and many critics seem to forget that.
Also, obubstitute variables will not solve the problem of high rates for some
drivers. In fact, to the extent that substitute variables are effective in
identifying the high risk drivers, the price disparities are going to continue
to exist, so that problem won't be solved. And finally, if the current
predicted variables are eliminated before other substitutes can be found which
measure the differences among these drivers (the high risk versus the low
risk) as well or better than the current ones, then significant governmental
intervention will be necessary to alleviate the inevitable wmarket
consequences.

MR. LAWRENCE J. LATTO: When I agreed to participate in this panel discussion
I had the uwmetaphorical "little learning” about the subject, but I was not
really aware of the dangerous thing I had dome to accept. What I had in mind
at the time was an elaboration of the thesis that actuaries had not wholly
succeeded in persvading the public, legislators and regulators of the
soundness of their views about the role of risk classification in various
contexts, in part because, although the subject called primarily for the
expertise of actuaries, it alsoc required the expertise of lawyers and
economists. Of course, all three professious have participated actively in
the debate. Too often, however, this has been done without the prior
consultations and exchange of views that is essential to the most effective
presentation. And on more than one occasion I have seen papers written by
actuaries in which, consciously or unconsciously, the author has turned to the
practice of law. While I would never contend that lawyers are the only ones
that have 1msight into difficult legal issues, they have long dealt with
concepts of “fairness," "equity,” and "discrimination,” and I am sure that a
happy combination of the expertise of the actuary and the lawyer would provide
a more persuasive csuse than the skills of either.
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I have mnow read extensively 1in this area over the past months and learned
enough to be aware that there has been a tremendous amount of thoughtful,
careful, scholarly consideration of the issues and that much of the
foolishness and inconsistencies that have occasionally characterized the
debate over the use of sex in connectlon with the clasgification of risks has
been on the part of non-actuaries who have not even tried to understand the
arguments that have been advanced. This does not mean, however, that
actuaries -- or, at least, some actuaries —— are without blemish. Assuming,
therefore, that one of the objects of this discussion is to explore the ways
in which the profession can make an even better case, I have decided that,
instead of attempting any analysis or synthesls, from a lawyer's point of
view, of the current issues in this area, I would offer a number of
essentially unrelated examples of instances in which I believe actuaries --
or, at Jleast, some actuaries —— have fallen intc error. To save time, I
propose to be blunt and undiplomatic, and in order to make a point, I may
occasionally be guilty of overstatement., My object is mot to persuade but to
stimulate discussiomn.

A. Has the Profession Shown the Impartiality and Objectivity 1t Professes?

In the August 1977 report of the Academy Task Force on Risk Classificatiom, a
key recommendation was that a Task Foree be established which "without
assuming an adversary or an advocacy position,” would "determine the best way
to communicate to legislatures, lawyers, jurists and the public at large, the
consequences of any effort to limit or prohibit the classification process.”
Q0f course, there is a certain inconsistency in this statement; it was surely
not envisioned that the Academy should not cppose inappropriate restrictions
upon the risk classification processes. A major recommendation of the report,
hovever, seemed to be that when responsible questions were raised about
aspects of the risk classification process, they should be responded to with
patience and understanding and, above all, with the recognition that many
advances, 1in scientific and other scholarly pursults, have often been made or
stimulated by “"laymen", by persons who did not have the requisite professional
qualifications, Nevertheless, throughout the Task Force report itself, and in
many papers 1 have seen which seek to establish the validity of gender as a
classification, there is an unfortunate lack of patience, a sense of annovance
and irritation, over what the writer perceives as a stubborn refusal on the
part of the wuninformed to accept the evident correctness and necessity of
employing this factor in classifying risks. The promise held out in the Task
Force report 1is mnot, I fear, being adequately met. And this is unfortunate
because it not only deprives the public of the education that the actuarial
profession can offer, but it also weakens the case presented on behalf of the
profession.

All of wus, I believe, men and women alike, wmust admit that, as our
consciousnesses have been raised, we have gained helpful insights into the
errors of our former behavior. We have unthinkingly and unfairly attributed
to individuals, characteristics that may have been accurate of a substantial
majority of the group to which those individuals belonged. We now perceive
==as many of us did not ten years ago—-that it is unfair to deny a woman, who
has all the qualifications, the opportunity to compete for a job, or for a
place on a team, not only when women, generally, are as well qualified as men,
generally, but also when it is true that only 1 out of 10 women do have the
necessary qualifications. We have a deeper understanding of the dignity and
uniqueness of the individual , of the desirability of treating people, so far
as possible, on the basis only of characteristics relevant to them
individually, rather than on the basis of characteristics that many or even
most of them may share with a readily identifiable group.
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It is hardly surprising that persons who have in other contexts successfully
established the error of treating women as members of a class rather than as
individuals should iInsist that there must be something wrong in treating them
as a class for risk classification purposes. And, I suppose, it is not
gsurprising to find that actuaries, who have spent much of their professional
lives in identifying wvalid classifications in order to treat persons as
members of a class rather than as individuals for the very same objective of
treating persons as fairly as possible, should resent the. assertiom that they
are guilty of invidious discrimination. This is particularly so when the
assertions are based upon principles which, if applied generally, amount to
attacks not only on the validity of a particular classification but upon the
risk classification process itself.

Having said this, I think it is incumbent upon the actuarial profession, made
up as it is of the more mature, more intelligent and better informed of the
persons involved in the debate, to consider sympathetically the arguments that
have been advanced to recognize that they are not wholly without merit, I

think that the profession must avoid extravagant rhetoric =- and I have
encountered predictions of chaos and devastation and of an end to trhe system
of free enterprise that have been far from adequately supported —— im favor of

a reasoned explanation of why and how valid risk elassification serves the
objective of being fair to individuals as well as to classes of individuals.

This point deserves to be emphasized. I believe that many defenders of the
present system of risk classification have limited themselves to arguing that
the focus must be upon classes rather than individuals, and this has led
them into overstatement that is not wholly accurate and also unnecessary to a
convincing defense of the need generally for tiek classification and for the
validity 4in particular of classification on the basis of sex. Which leads me
te my next ropic.

B.  "Actuvarial Equity”

I am glad to start with the axiom — to use , from among several equally
acceptable phrasings, one in the 1977 Task Force Report —- that “a particular
group should be subdivided by class for determining the amount of price of
benefit so that the expected experience for each person in a class is close to
the expected averages for the class as a whole.” I am not so sure I can agree
with the very next sentence. "Hence equitable benefits are paid within each
claes while different but equitable benefits are paid to other classes.”

I do not believe that this conclusion is sufficiently self-evident to make
unnecessary a deeper explanation, in arithmetical terms if at all possible, of
why all the members of a specific class, particularly one that intuitively
does Tmot appear to be subject to a higher risk than the complementary class,
should appropriately be asked to contribute a commensurately higher portion of
the total cost. One stumbling point may be the unfortunate adoption of the
term Tactuarial equity.” Everyone 1in this room is fully aware of the faet
that every class that can be feasibly employed in the real world must
necessarily include some persons who are not subject to the higher risk that
is characteristic of a majority of the other persoms in the class. Tt is
troublesome to gay to those “low-risk" persons, in the light of our new,
enhanced concern for the Individual, that it is "equitable™ for them to pay a
higher premium. My four grandparents lived a total of 380 years. My parents
are still alive and well and have mow lived 172 years. I think it is grossly
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inequitable for me to pay the same amount for life insurance as my healthy
neighbor whose ancestors were short-lived. I would be less offended if I were
told that it was "actuwarially sound” rather than "actuarially equitable” for
me to pay the same premium and, more important, if it were carefully explained
to me why the objective of being fair to each and every person was beyond our
reach.

The advantage that 1 see in this kind of explanation is that it shows a
willingness to look at the individual within a group as well as at the group.
While I suggest Dbelow fthat the Manhart case had absolutely nothing to do
with risk classification, it is lmportant to recognize that at the center of
the Supreme Court's decision in that case was a strong preference to treat
persons as individuals rather than as part of a class whose characteristics,
while generally applicable to most members of the class, are not in fact
applicable to all members . The actuarial profession should not
underestimate the ~attractiveness of this argument to those who have not
thought carefully about its consequences. In the extreme, it would permit
risk classification only if perfect risk categories could be developed, which
we know to be an impossible task.

I think accordingly, more should be done to provide simple and easily
understood charts and tables comparing the results —-- under a hypothetical or
actual set of facts —— of using a particular classification with the results
of not wusing it. This would provide a more comprehensible showing of the
nature and extent of the disadvantage imposed upon the low-risk individuals
who must, unfortunately, be placed in a high-risk class, so that it can be
compared with the somewhat smaller disadvantage that would be imposed upon a
much larger number of individuals if use of the class is proscribed. This
would enable policy makers to make more rational decisions ahout whether other
non-actuarial considerations that make the use of the class socially or
politically undesirable are sufficiently weighty to carry the day. To
illustrate what I mean, I have attached te this paper a chart, which 1s based
upon one found at page 226 of the May 1979 report of the NAIC D(3) Advisory
Committee, that tries to make such an explanation. I submit that this kind of
thing needs to be done more often and with more helpful marrative explanation
than is found in the Advisory Committee report. In any classification that
the actuarial prefession could adopt, some disadvantage 1s going to be imposed
upon the low risk individuals who must, unfortunately, be placed in a
high-risk class. But at the same time this process does provide substantial
benefits to the vast majority of those persons obtaining insurance coverage.
The problem dig that the non-actuarial participants in the dialogue on risk
classification do not seem to understand fully the mature and extent of this
trade-off.

C. Establishing the Validity of a Particular Classification

While actuaries know that the validity of particular classifications requires
that certain standards be met -- homogeneity, practicality, absence of
ambiguity, to mname a few -— much of what I have seen written for popular
consumption, or even for policy makers, has neglected to disclose candidly
that we are working in an area where there is no escape from the fact that it
is mnever possible to accumulate all the relevant data and that it is better
to employ the reliable data that is available rather than reject it because it
is not wholly complete. The case would be stronger, I believe, if the
inherent deficiencies and inexactitudes of the process were fully exposed
and an explanation given of why the wuse of available classifications is
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nonetheless sound, rather than leaving the reader with a nagging discomfort
that she is not being told the whole story.

In many of the papers and comments I have seen, the assertion appears to be
made that 1f empiricdl studies show that a readily identifiable class will
receive a larger share of the total benefits than the complementary class,
then 1f ‘“actuarial equity” is to be achieved, it 1s always appropriate to
require the first class to pay a larger premium. Sometimes. there are
qualifying phrases added but so briefly as not to impress their significance
upon the 1lay reader. Moreover, some of those papers, or at least it seems
that way to me, resist the suggestion that if several classifications satisfy
this test, some may be preferred over the others, and more important, that
more intensive analysis and the accumulation of more data may show that it is
actually unsound to use a classification as a rating factor even though it
meets this test.

The problem raised by this attitude on the part of some actuaries is shown
again 1in the Supreme Court’'s opinion in the Manhart case. There the
majority opinion notes that "(s)eparate mortality tables are easily
interpreted as reflecting innate differences between the sexes; but a
significant part of the longevity differential may be explained by the social
fact that men are heavier smokers than women." What this suggests is a belief
by the Court that gender 1s merely a surrogate for other factors which, if
they could feasibly be employed, would make unnecessary, and even improper,
clagsification on the basis of sex.

Now there may be a mumber of you who at this very moment are running quickly
in your mind through a long list of arguments that explain why this belief is
erroneous. But the point i1s that judges and other social groups do not fully
understand these arguments and can legitimately ask the question why the
actuarlal profession cannot identify the faectors for which gender is a
surrogate and use those factors in the risk classification process. The brief
which the Academy and the Soclety filed in the Manhart case, Jespite the
deficiencies noted below, was an initial effort to educate a broader public in
these issues. More needs to be done. And these efforts must include some
real consideration and soul-searching by the actuarial profession to insure
that in fact some of the alternmative approaches that are now being suggested
might not be superior even from an actuarial standpoint.

Let me illustrate by describing a hypothetical example of the kind that I
think the actuarial profession should be providing to the public. I am aware
that the assumptions employed below are contrary to fact, but they serve to
pose the question, in terms of the principle involved, of whether a
classification that correlates with incidence of loss may still be invalid.

Suppose  first that the only data available with respect to 20,000
policyholders are those shown in Table 1.
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Table 1
Class Expected Apgregate Claims
10,000 Men $1,250,000
10,000 Women $ 750,000

At this point all should agree that it is actuarially sound for men te pay a
pure premium of $125 and women a pure premium of $75.

Suppose the additional information shown in Table 2 becomes available.

Table 2
Class Expected Aggregate Claims
Persons who drive more 1,350,000
than 10,000 miles/year
(8000 men, 2000 women)
Persons who drive less $650,000

than 10,000 mliles/year
(2000 men, 8000 women)

If these data are all that are available, the appropriate pure premiums would
be as follows:

Men who drive more tham 10,000 miles Mm §138.30
Men who drive less than 10,000 miles Ml $ 71.80
Women who drive more than 10,000 miles Wi §121.80
Women who drive less than 10,000 miles W $ 63.30

=

Suppose, however, that instead of the data shown in Table 2 the following data
is obtained:

Table 3

Class Expected Aggregate Loss

Persons who drive more
than 10,000 miles/year
{8,000 men, 2000 women) $1,415,000

Persons who drive less
than 10,000 miles/year
(2,000 men, 8,000 women) $ 585,000

Now, if apparently bizarre results are to be aveoided, the Appropriate pure
premiums should be:

M $141.5625
Ml $ 58,75
Wm §141.25

Wl $ 58.4375
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At this point, many persons would say, intuitively, that a complete
explanation for the data in Table 1 has been found. Since experience and
common Sense tell wus that persons who drive more miles have a greater
potential to be involved in accldents, it can now be said, on the basis of the
data we have In hand, that it would be grossly unfair and inequitable to the
2000 men who drive less than 10,000 miles per year to use sex as a rating
factor to any extent whatever. Perhaps this would not be sound, and the
additional data establish only that the classifications of men and women are
not homogeneous; that there is a4 subset of each with significantly different
expected losses than the rest of the class. It may be that we have not
estblished that classification on the basis of sex is necessarily unsound;
that more data relating to other factors, such as age or marital status, might
once again make it appropriate to classify on the basis of sex. But upon the
assumption that our knowledge 1is limited to the data in Tables 1 and 3, it
seems plainly unsound to contlnue to use sex as a rating factor even though
the data in Table I remain wholly accurate.

There is nothing in this simple demonstration that is novel or instructive to
actuaries. In submissions directed to non-actuaries, however, the argument
too ofter includes an assertion that a rating variable 1s always appropriate
unless it can be demonstrated that it does not differentiate among classes
based upon expected costs. It would be more persuasive, I submit, if the
explanation went a little deeper and included 2 candid admission that it was
pessible that such a wvariable could be inappropriate but that efforts had
been made to identify more satisfactory variables and that those efforts had
been unsucessful. The explanation, to be complete, would then have to
continue in the manner similar to that shown in Appendix A, so that it weould
not only be shown that prohibiting a valid rating variable in favor of one
that 1s less satisfactory introduces a disparity between the cost and prices
applicable to the prohibited class, but also how the prohibition affects
both the persons who are properly classified and those who, while falling
within the class, actually exhibit different risks than the majority.

The Report of the D(3) Advisory Committee of May 1979 comes closest to the
kind of analysis I suggest is desirable, but even that report frequently is
written in conclusory terms that may leave its message not fully
comprehensible even to the more knowledgeable audience to which it is
addressed.

D. The Need for More Detailed Submissions

I am aware that the constraints of inadequate time and resources, applicable
particularly to actuaries who prepare papere on behalf of professional
assocfations 1in thelr Iimited spare time, are severe. This results in
shorter, more tightly written and hence less understandable papers. But if
the effort to persuade is to be made at all, a way must be found to do it with
the depth and length necessary to carry the message adequately to the reader.

I believe that three recent submissions, one of which I feel free to criticize
since I participated actively in 1ts preparation, would have been more
effective if they had been less conclusory. They are (i) the Statement of the
Risk Classification Committee of the Academy on the Labor Department's
proposed amendment to its Interpretive Bulletin abandoning its equal benefits
or equal contribution rule in favor of am equal benefits requirement; (ii) the
Committee's Statement to the NAIC (D3) Subcommittee on June 4, 1979; and {(iil)
the brief amicus filed in the Manhart case by the Academy and the Society
of Actuaries., In each case preparation of the comment or the brief was
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undertaken too close to the date, but that is one of the failures that can be
easlly remedied in the future. It is an unfortunate fact of life that
legislators, regulators and particularly judges are often intimidated by
anything that looks like mathematics. They must be taken tenderly by the hand
and led patiently into a full understanding of the applicable concepts. The
Manhart amicus brief, for example, asserted that prohibiting differences
in pension benefits on the basis of sex under trusteed plans would not cause
overwhelming  difficulties but that "monumental" and almost insuperable
problems would be created for insured plans. Since the necessary details of
what these problems were and how they would be created were not adequately
furnished (a deficiency for which I must assume major responsibility), the
assertion could not have been very persuasive to judges unfamiliar with the
subject. Similarly, the two comments by the Academy's Risk Classification
Committee would, I believe, have been far more persuasive if they had been
expanded to explain why the conclusions expressed were sound. The Department
of Llabor's statement of the reasons supporting its proposed changes was
distressingly superficial, and a detailed rebuttal, which evidently was
needed, was not offered by the persons who were best qualified to do so.

E. Pensions, Title VIIL and Equal Pay

Let me close with some observations in this area. First, I wonder whether the
risk classification process is involved at all. The questions, rather,
involve the appropriate design of retirement programs, the application of
actuarial expertise in that design and in the operation of the plans, and the
essentially legal questions of what is meant by “equal pay” and
"discriminaticn in compensation on the basis of sex" in this context. These
are legal questions, because they are going to be answered by judges,
empleying the toecls of their trade —- determining the “intent" of Congress by
resorting to legislative history, interpreting language in the light of
legislative purpecse and reliance upon precedent and analogy. Analytically,
the principles of 1risk classification and the reasons why the process is an
integral part of the ©business of insurance are wholly irrelevant to these
issues. To be sure, if it is suggested that insurers should employ, or be
required to employ, unisex tables, then the validity of risk classification
becomes highly relevant. But it is wholly appropriate to insist that Title
VII and the Equal Pay Act must be interpreted, at least in 1979 and 1980,
upon the assumption, which can be accepted without having to defend its
validity, that insurance companiles may lawfully charge and do charge different
Annuity rates for men and women. FEmployers do not classify risks. They
decide how te fund their plans and try to comply with the law. That does not
mean, however, that actuaries cannot be enormously helpful in helping judges
to understand the concepts that are critically relevant to the issue of what
is meant by "discrimination in compensation” in this context. And, as an
aside, it might be noted that however these questions are decided, the
maintenance and operation of pension plans will oot be possible without
actuaries.

In this area also I find that the help contributed by actuaries is often
incomplete and for the reason inadeguate. I have seen vigorous explanation of
why it is "unfair” and "inequitable” to ask employers who have adopted defined
contribution plans to increase their contributions so as to equalize benefits
for men and women. But the actuarial profession has been notabley reluctant
about making what seems to me an equally and perhaps more persuasive
argument, namely that the defined benefit plans of thousands of significant
corporations are, if Manhart principles are rigidly applied, in violation of
Title VII because employexrs contribute more for women employees than for
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similarly situated men. Indeed, I believe a strong case can be made that,
even if the Manhart approach of focussing on the individual rather than on
the pgroup is followed, there is an apparent invidious discrimination against
men employees.

The argument would run that any individual employee's compensation is made up
of the take-home pay, amounts withheld and the promise that if certain
contigencies are met a pension will be paid in the future., The latter element
of the compensation has a definite ascertainable present market value. It is
capable of belng assigned. It is often valued for tax and other purposes.
The amount is greater for a woman than it is for e similarly situated male.
This loocks 1like unequal “compensation” to me, without getting into the group
versus individual debate. Yet I wonder whether judges would be willng to find
that Congress iIntended to declare that these popular, widely adopted defined
benefit plans were all in violation of law. If I am right, then, in
principle, the Manhart and the recemt Sprit cases are wrongly decided.

§till, a reconciliation may be possible. Lawyers are fond of quoting Justice
Holmes' famous remark: "The 1ife of the law has not been logic but
experience.” The answer may lie in an interpretation of the Act that adopts
a more refined version of the Department of Labor's "Equal contribution or
equal benefits” rule. Since the focus and structure of defined-benefit plans
make benefits the significant aspect of such plans, they should be held valid
whenever the benefits are equal for men and women. Defined contribution
plans, for similar reasons, should be held valid only when employer
contributions do not depend upon the sex of the employees. How elections to
obtain different forms of benefits under both types of plans should be treated
under Title VII will require further analysis and consideration, and the
answers may be different for defined benefit and defined contribution plans.
This will also be necessary for plans funded partially with life insurance
policies and for certain types of "cafeteria” plams. Medical plans would be
treated in the same way as defined benefit plans. It seems to me most
unlikely that any court would uphold, as consistent with Title VII, a medical
that excluded coverage only for uterine cancer, or that set maximum benefits
for women at eleven percent less than the maximum for men, for the expressed
purpose of making the aggregate cost of the benefits for women equal to that
for men -- or, arguabley, to make the value of the medical coverage provided
tc any given woman employee equal to that provided for a similarly situated
man.

My point here 41s that determining whether there is discrimination in
compensation, in the case of both defined benefit and defined contribution
plans, by ascertaining, in every case, whether the present value of all the
compensation received by a male employee and a similarly situated woman
employee is substantially the same would lead to a major upheaval in the
manner in which pensions are provided in this country. The same result would
follow from a requirement that all plans must provide equal monthly benefits
under all circumstances. The sensible solution can be found onily by
abandoning the effort to find a principle that can be uniformly applied and
recognizing that Congress probably did not intend to make a revolutionary
change in the manner in which private pensions have been provided in this
country but may well have intended to make unlawful differences in treatment
that were highiy visible, where the impact was direct and immediate, and which
were not central to the vretirement plan, On this analysis Manhart was
correctly decided, even though it would mnot have been under the old DOL
"equal-oxr”™ rule. A non-contributory defined benefit plan that provided
identical pensions is valid. 8o, too, would be a contributory plan providing
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for equal employee contributions. In that case a plan calling for unequal
employee contributions is mnot lawful. If 1logic is not to be abandoned
entirely, only bent a little, it is necessary to invalidate defined benefit
plans that ask women to contribute more than men.

This, of course, 1s only the beginning of a comprehensive analysis, but I
think it is worth exploring. I recommend that those of you who have the time
consider it further and determine whether it will withstand closer analysis.
1f it does, it may not be too late to inject a proposal of this kind into the
continuing public debate.




Assumptions

1) 10,000 insureds; total cost $5 million.
2) 2,000 are men under 25 years of age; made up of 1,250 high-risk drivers
and 750 low-risk drivers, but we cannot identify which persons fall into

each category.
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Appendix A

3) The remaining 8,000 include 7,000 low-risk and 1,000 high-risk drivers.
4) The men under 25, as a group, produce three times the cost per capita as
Thus, total cost for men under 25 is $2,142,860.

the "all others" group.

1. One Combined Class

10,000
10,000
risks
8,000_
6,000 ]
4,000 |
2,000

Should
pay
$178.57

74150
low
risks

Should

pay
$1,607.15

2,250
high
risks

Class Average Rate $500.00/yr.

2, High-rated class - men under 25

2,000
1 000
under}
25

1,000_

Should

pay
$1,607.15  Should

1,250
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risks

pay
$178.57

0
low
risk

Class Average Rate $1071.U43/yr.,

3. Low-Rated Class - All Others

8,000 |

6,000_|

4,000

2,000 |

5,000
over
25

Should

pay
$178.57

7,000
low
risks

Should

pay
$1,607.15

|1,ooq

high risks

Class Average Rate $357.14/yr.
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MR, BARTLEY MUNSON: I would like to quickly cover four topics with you. One
is the Committee of the Academy that's functioning with this subject.
Secondly, two hot items that you've heard of , just to share a few insights on
those with you. Thirdly, to talk briefly about our Statement of Principles.
And then, fourth, some concluding comments.

The Committee has been functioning for something over a year with Roy as
Chairman. We have five subcommittees, along product lines: one for auto,
which is chaired by Mavis; one for health; one for life; one for pensions; and
one for property insurance. There are a total of thirty-four actuaries in
this structure, twelve on the parent Committee and twenty-twoe additional
members of the subcommittees. It is an ecumenical effort, as Roy indicated;
we represent a&all six actuarial bodies. All of us, of course, are memhers of
the Academy. We, as an Interesting footnote maybe, represent fifty-five
memberships in the six various actuarial organizations. One thing we have in
commmon, I think, from what I've seen in my brief service, is the desire to
work. We are meeting monthly. A couple of items I'11 talk about in a second
are consuming a great deal of effort. We'wve had a great deal of support from
Steve, as Roy indicated, and T would also want to identify the great amount of
help we're receiving from the Academy's General Counsel, Bill Hager. Bill was
only recently hired by the Academy and, particularly on a task such as ours,
is already proving a valuable addition to staff,

I'd like now to speak of the two particularly hot items before us. One is the
bundle of three alleged sex discrimmination cases that are in the federal
courts. You've heard the mnames, but I think I should mention a couple of
things about them.

You recognize the names of Spirt vs TIAA/CREF/Long Island University. A
second case is EEOC vs TIAA/CREF/Colby College. And the third would be Peters
ve TIAA/CREF/Wayne State. These are all quite similar, at least for
discussion this morning, in that they are charges against TIAA/CREF and the
respective university for providing equal contributions but different periodic
pension benefits to males and females, and this is alleged to be improper
under Title VII of the 1964 Civil Rights Act.

In Spirt wvs Long Island, the judge ruled on August 9th in favor of the
plaintiffs, stating that CREF can no longer use sex-based mortality tables and
that Long Island University can no longer require its employees to contribute
to any pension plan which uses sex-based tables. Anybody retiring after May
1st cannot retire with benefits based on that type of table. The defendents
will definitely be appealing to the Federal Appellate Court,

The second case, Colby College, was begun 1In 1975 when EEOC filed their
complaint. The district court found for the defendent Colby College. The
First Circuit Court of Appeals, however, at the time when the Supreme Court
decision on Manhart came down, remanded the Colby Collge case to the district
court, saying we think you ought to take another look at this. It is
scheduled for a two week trial starting tomorrow, October 9th.

In the third case, Peters vs Wayne State, the Federal District Court of
Michigan, Southern division, has heard the case some time ago and we are
awaiting the ruling.
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We might note in passing that members of the American Academy of Actuaries
appeared as expert witnesses in the Wayne State case. It's interesting to
keep in mind that two members of the Academy appeared for the plaintiff and
one member of the Academy appeared as an expert witness for the defense. The
point for wus to remember is that in anything we do, as a committee or as a
profession, we must recognize the fact that we have people in our preofession
who are testiffying as experts on both sides of this issue.

In summary, we have one case being appealed to the Appellate level, one going
to trial tomorrow and one awaiting the judge's decision. The committee has
decided to file an amicus brief, either at the Appellate Court level or the
Supreme Court level. it is quite likely that one of these cases will
ultimately get to the Supreme Court. Our purpose simply is (and I say
"simply” in quotes) to educate the court on the principles of risk
classification and on the implications of the judge’s possible decision. We
need to be ready by early next year; we don't know the dates of that yet. The
Committee and Bill Hager in our Washington office are hard at work trying to
develop our amicus brief. We just decided at our meeting a week aga to file
this brief, so we don't have anything to share with you on that yet.

The second hot item is the HR 1100 Dingell Bill. It was introduced January
15th in the Congress by Representative Dingell from Michigan. It was covered
in the special Academy Newsletter Supplement last July. It was reintroduced
August lst with 61 additional sponsors, so there are 62 people in the House
who are willing to put their name on this bill. It's been referred to the
Committee on Interstate and Foreign Commerce and specifically its Subcommittee
on Consumer Protection, headed by Representative Scheuer of New York, who is
one of the co—sponsors of the bill. There is mo bill yet on the Senate side.

The bill would prohibit diserimination 1in insurance on the basis of race,
color, religion, national origin or sex, the latter being a significant
addition to what already exist as prohibitions in many states. And secondly,
very disturbingly, it would prohibit any insurance from using those factors to
discriminate on premiums of benefits for any insurance already in force; that
is, it has a- retrospective reach to it, which is an interesting development.

The Subcommittee intends to have hearings this year. Our Committee decided
that we will prepare testimony and testify at those hearings. The member of
the committee who has been assigned and willing to takeé that indtial stab at
the draft is Charlie Hewitt, sitting here in the front of the room and still
smiling in. spite of the big challenge that represents. We have indications
from Representative Scheuer's staff that they strongly desire factual input
from the actuarial profession.

We recognize 1in both these issues, the pension court cases and the Dingell
Bill, that there are difficulties and dangers and it's a careful road we must
walk. But the Committee believes, and the Board agreed at its most recent
Board meeting, that if our profession has a purpose and if our Committee has a
purpose —=-— and we think we do, of course —— this is the place we must stand
up and say something in a careful, constructive, and properly structured way.
We should not sit silently on the sidelines.
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The third item I want to touch on 1s the Statement of Principles. You will
have it very soon. It is in the Academy office, being printed right now, and
with some luck it will be mailed to you in a week or two. We had hoped that
it would be to you prioxr to this meeting, but it hasn't been an easy process,
as Roy indicated. It's gone through seven or eight drafts. We hope you will
chew on it very actively. It's an exposure draft for the members of the
Academy, and each page is labeled 1in exactly that fashion. We truly want the
input of all the actuarial profession. Some have warned me that we'll be
sorry we asked for that because we'll have more than we can handle. That
would be a very pleasant problem and we invite that very sincerely.

My concluding remarks have two parts. One is the very brief but sincere tip
of the hat to Roy; I'm saying it now because I'm not sure he'll give me the
floor later. He has been serving as Chairman since the creationm of this
Committee and understandably sought a Vice Chairman with the understanding
that his role might cease as of the Board meeting today.

My belief, and certainly those of the Committee members who have served in
this a lot longer than I, is that we owe him a sincere vote of thanks. He's
an FSA who, interestingly, has devoted half of his career to property and
liability actuarial work. We'll miss his foresight and his feelng for the
environment in which we're functioning. Actuaries would make a grave mistake
i1f we think we have all the answers and if we make the mistake of talking only
to ourselves, in our own language; and I think Roy has brought that warning to
us very thoroughly. We'll miss his direct involvement, but I'm glad to say
that he's promised to read our minutes and our Committee mailings and he'll
feel free to comment on those to the Committee as time permits.

My second final comment is merely to indicate that the Board, as you heard
this morning, gives our effort wvisibility, much support and a label of
importance., I view that as good news and bad news. The good news, of course,
is that we appreciate the Academy Board support and we need it; we appreciate
that very sincerely. The bad news, I think, is that we may fail to satisfy
the Board or others who would expect us to have a nice, tidy, definitive piece
of work done at some point in time. I personally suspect that won't be
possible. That doesn't mean that we won't continue to try with your help to
get there, and we'll need all the help you can give us.



STATEMENTS OF THE ACADEMY
RELEASED IN 1979

INTRODUCTION

Each year's Journal includes the full text of the Statements released by the
Academy iIn that year. Although most of the Statements are self-explanatory,
knowledge of the circumstances pgiving rise to the Statement helps provide
perspective, The following Summary of Statements section provides background
information, including any cross-references to previous Statements. For
purposes of cross-referencing and indexing, Statements have been assigned
numbers by calendar year and by order of release in that year, e.g., 1979-1
was the first statement released during 1979, The summary also gives the page
number on which the full text begins.

Statements made before 1977 were not compliled, but copies of such statements
may be requested from the Executive Office of the Academy, Suite 515, 1835 K
Street, N. W., Washington, D. C. 20006.

* k &k % k &k & %

Statements of the Academy are not expressions of official positions embraced
by the membership as a whole., Rather, they are intended as relevant responses
to situations which appear to require a professional statement on actuarial
matters,

SUMMARY OF 1979 STATEMENTS

Index Code: 1979-1

To: Advisory Council on Social Security
Date: January 5, 1679
Length: 37 pages beginning on page 56

Concerning: Social Security

Background: This statement was presented at a public hearing of the Advisory
Council on Social Security. The statement specifically addressed
11 questions on which the Advisory Council was soliciting
comments .

Drafters: The Committee on Social Insurance, chaired by Robert F, Link.
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Drafters:
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Drafters:
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To:

Date:

Length:

SUMMARY OF 1979 STATEMENTS

1979-2

Financial Accounting Standards Board
January 9, 1979

2 pages beginning on page 93
Establishment of accounting standards

This statement was submitted to the FASB in response to a
"Request for Written Comments on an FASB Proposal for Dealing
with Industry Accounting Matters and Accounting Questions of
Limited Application” dated November 7, 1978. This proposal would
transfer from the AICPA to the FASB authority for standard
setting on industry accounting matters and accounting questions
of limited application. The FASB has possessed general
standard-setting authority since its inception in 1973, but the
AICPA did retain limited standard-setting authority in the areas
mentioned above. This proposal would also transfer these to the
FASB,

The Committee on Financial Reporting Principles, chaired by
Richard S. Robertson.

1979-3
American Institute of Certified Public Accountants
Januvary 16, 1979

24 pages beginning on page 95
Using the work of a specialist
This statement was presented to the AICPA Task Force on Using the
Work of Specialists in connection with the AICPA Statement on
Auditing Standards No, 11 (SAS No. 11) entitled "Using the Work
of a Specialist.” The AICPA Task Farce was reexamining SAS No.
11 for possible vrevision and had invited comment from the

Acadeny.

A special task force, chaired by Robert H. McMillen.

1979-4
Senate Committee on Labor and Human Resources
February 8§, 1979

25 pages beginning on page 119
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(Cont.)

Pension legislation (S.209)

This statement was presented at a legislative hearing on 5.209,
the ERISA Improvements Act of 1979, jointly sponsored by Senator
Harrison A, Williams and Senator Jacob K. Javits. This bill is
an omnibus ERISA~revision bill which is an outgrowth of S.3017
introduced in 1978. The Academy also testified on this earlier
bill (see statement 1978-18).

This statement was the joint work product of Donald S. Grubbs,
Jr., Chairman of the ERISA Revisions Subcommittee of the Pensiomn
Committee, Edwin F. Boynton, Immediate Past President, and

Stephen G. Kellison, Executive Director.
the earlier submission on S$.3017.

It was largely based on

1979-5

Senate Committee on Agriculture, Nutrition and Forestry
March 20, 1979

3 pages beginning on page l44

Crop insurance

This statement was presented at a public hearing held by the
Subcommittee on Agricultural Production, Marketing, and
Stabilizarion of Prices of the Senate Committee on Agriculture,
Nutrition, and Ferestry. The hearing addressed various proposals
to amend the Federal Crop Insurance Act, This statement derives
from previous statements on crop insurance in 1977 (see

statements 1%77-4, 1977-17, and 1977-20).

Executive Director Stephen G. Kellison

1979-

NAIC Blanks (Al) Subcommittee

March 21, 1979

7 pages beginning on page 147

Statements of opinlon on casualty loss reserves

This position paper was submitted to the NAIC (Al) Subcommittee
in connection with proposals to require statements of opinion on

casualty loss reserves on the Fire and Casualty Blank and to
reconsider the current statement of opinion on the Life and
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SUMMARY OF 1979 STATEMENTS

1979-6 (Cont.)
Accident and Health Blank. The Academy has wmade numerous
statements on this matter previously (see statements 1978-9,

Drafters:

Index Code:
To:

Date:
Length:
Concerning:

Background:

Drafters:

Index Code:
To:

Date:
Length:
Concerning:

Background:

Drafters:

1978-10, 1978-25, 1978-31, and 1978-35).

The position paper was written by Executive Director Stephen G.
Kellison with the assistance of selected members of the Academy
Board of Directors. The statement was ultimately endorsed by the
Board as a statement of the Board (statements 1978-31 and 1978-35
were similarly endorsed).

1979-7
President's Commission on Pension Policy
Mareh 23, 1979
4 pages beginning on page 154
Actuarial involvement with Commission

This statement was submitted to the President's Commission on
Pension Policy at its inltial public hearing. This statement was
accompanied with the roster of the actuarial adviscry group
appointed by the Academy to work with the Commission.

Executive Director Stephen G. Kellison.

1979-8
Financial Accounting Standards Board
March 27, 1979
12 pages beginmning on page 158
Accounting and reporting by defined benefit pension plans

were submitted to the FASB in response to the
1979 draft released by the FASB in connection with
the continuing FASB project on accounting and reporting by
defined benefit pension plans. The Academy had filed three

previous statements with the FASB (see statements 1977-6, 1978-1,
and 1978-26).

These comments
February 14,

These comments were jointly developed by the Committee on Pension
Actuarial Principles and Practices, chaired by Douglas C. Borten,
and the Subcommittee on Pension Accounting Matters of the Pension
Committee, chaired by Edwin F. Boynton.
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1979-9

Financial Accounting Standards Board
March 29, 1979

4 pages beginning on page 170

FASB study on accounting for interest costs

This statement was submitted Iin response to the FASB Exposure
Draft on Capitalization of Interest Costs dated December 15,
1978, The Academy had previously submitted a statement on a

previcus Discussion Memorandum on Accounting for Interest Costs
dated December 16, 1977 (see statement 1978-4).

The Committee on Life Insurance Financial Reporting Principles,
chaired by Jack E. Wood.

1979-10
Financial Accounting Standards Board
May 1, 1979
4 pages beginning on page 174
Financial reporting and changing prices
This statement was submitted in response to the FASB Exposure
Draft on VFinancial Reporting and Changing Prices dated December
28, 1978 and a supplementary Exposure Draft on Constant Dollar

Accounting dated March 2, 1979.

The Committee on Life Insurance Financial Reporting Principles,
chaired by Jack E. Wood.

1979-;1

Senate Committee on Finance

May 17, 1979

2 pages beginning on page 178

National health insurance

was sent to the staff of the Senate Committee on
Finance 1in connection with 8.760, a biil on catastrophic health

insurance introduced by Senator Long. The letter was confined to
comments on the definition of qualifications for actuaries to

This letter
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1979-11 (Cont.)
serve on the Actuarial Committee which would be created by the
bill.

Drafters: This letter was prepared by Donald S. Grubbs, Jr., Chairman of
the Committee on Federal Relations and Accreditatiom,

Index Code:  1979-12

To: Securities and Exchange Commission

Date: May 22, 1979

Length: 16 pages beginning on page 180

Concerning: Independence/self-review

Background: This statement was submitted to the Securities and Exchange
Commission In reaction to the Public Oversight Board Report on
Scope of Services by CPA Firms released on March 9, 1979. The
Academy had previously submitted a major statement to the Public
Oversight Board at their public hearing on August 17, 1978 (see
statement 1978-19). The Academy has also filed several other
statements on independence/self-review (see statements 1977-12,
1977-23, 1978-2, and 1978-7).

Drafters: The statement was developed by the law firm of Shea and Gardner
and reviewed by certain members of the Academy Executive
Committee:

Index Code: 1879-13

To: NAIC Accounting Practices and Procedures (A6) Subcommittee

Date: May 25, 1979

Length: 3 pages beginning on page 196

Concerning: Statutory accounting practices for insurance companies

Background: This letter was sent to the NAIC (A6) Subcommittee in response to
a revised Exposure Draft of the Life and Accident and Health
Accounting Practices and Procedures Manual being developed by the
Subcommittee. The Academy had also commented om the previous
Exposure Draft (see statement 1978-32).

Drafters: The letter was drafted by Jack E. Wood, Chairman of the Committee

on Life Insurance Fimancial Reporting Principles.
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1979-14

MAIC Life Insurance (C3) Subcommittee

May 29, 1979

2 pages beginning on page 199

Dividend principles and practices

49

This letter was sent to the Life Insurance Cost Disclosure Task
Force of the NAIC Life Insurance (C3) Subcommittee concerning the
activities of the Committee on Dividend Principles and Practices.

The letter was

1979-15

NAIC Automobile Insurance (D3) Subcommittee

June 4, 1979

4 pages beginning on page 201

Risk classification in automobile insurance

drafted by John H.
Committee on Dividend Principles and Practices.

Harding, Chairman of the

This statement was presented at a public meeting of the NAIC (D3)

Subcommittee.
tion of one

Subcommittee was considering the recommenda-
Task Forces to eliminate sex and marital

status as classification criteria in automebile insurance rating.

The statement was

developed by the Automobile Insurance Task

Force under the auspices of the Committee on Risk Classification.

The chairman of
chairman of the Committee was Roy R. Anderson.

1979-16

Advisory Council on Social Security

July 13, 1979

4 pages beginning on page 205
Social Security

This statement was

Security to

in the previcus submission

Task Force

was Mavis A. Walters and the

submitted to the Advisory Council on Social
provide supplementary information to that contained

of - January 5, (see statement
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1979-16 (Cont.)
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1979-1), The statement addresses ways to reduce or eliminate the
inequities created by the lack of universal coverage under Social
Security

The Committee on Social Insurance, chaired by Robert F. Link.

1979-17
Department of the Treasury
July 18, 1979

3 pages beginning on page 209
Establishment of pension actuarial principles and practices

This letter was sent to the Department of the Treasury in
connection with potential regulations on actuarial cost methods
under pension plans. The 1letter is concerned with the
establishment of pension actuarial principles and practices in
the private vs., public sector.

The letter was prepared by the Committee on Pension Actuarial

Principles and Practices, chaired by Douglas C. Borton, and was
sent over the signature of President Dale R. Gustafson.

1979-18
Advisory Council on Social Security
July 27, 1979

5 pages beginning on page 212

Social Security
This statement was submitted to the Advisiory Council on Sccial
Security to provide supplementary information to that contained
in the previous submission of January 5, 1979 (see statement
1979-1). The statement addresses ways to redesign the earnings
test under Social Security to make it more palatable to its

critics.

The Committee on Social Insurance, chaired by Robert F, Link.
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1979-19

Senate Committee on Governmental Affairs
August 1, 1979

25 pages beginning on page 217

Independence/self-review

This  statement was presented at a public hearing of the
Subcommittee on Govermmental Efficiency and the District of
Columbia of the Senate Committee on Governmental Affairs. The
subject of the hearing was oversight of the accounting profession
with particular emphasis on the independence issue. The Academy
has also filed numerous other statements on independence/self-
review (see statements 1977-12, 1977-23, 1978-2, 1978-7, 1978-19,
and 1979-12).

The statement was developed by the law firm of Shea and Gardner
and presented by President Dale R. Gustafson.

1979-20

NAIC Financial Condition Examination (AS5) Subcommittee

August 13, 1979

12 pages beginning on page 242

Statements of opinion on casualty loss reserves

This statement was presented at a public meeting of a special
task force of the NAIC (A5) Subcommittee considering revisions to
the proposal previously adopted to require statements of opinion
on casualty loss reserves. Also presented at the meeting were
the results of a survey of the larger property-liability
insurance companies that had been commissioned by the Board of
Directore.

The survey was conducted by the staff of the Washington office of

the Academy and the statement was presented by Executive Director
Stephen G. Kellison.

1979-21
Financial Accounting Standards Board
August 17, 1%79

2 pages beginning on page 254
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(Cont.)

Financial reporting and changing prices

This statement contains comments on the Interim Report of the
Insurance Task Group in response to the two FASB Exposure Drafts
on Financial Reporting and Changing Prices and on Constant Dollar
Accounting. The Insurance Task Group was on of six Task Groups
appointed by the FASB to respond to the FASB proposals as they
would impact six special industries. The Academy had previously
submitted comments directly in response to the Exposure Drafts
themselves (see statement 1979-10).

The Committee on Life Insurance Financial Reporting Principles,
chaired by Jack E. Wood.

1979-22

Internal Revenue Service

August 20, 1979

2 pages beginning on page 256

Regulations on annual reports under ERISA

This letter was submitted to the Internal Revenue Service in
connection with proposed regulations on annual reports under
ERISA that appeared 1in the June 26, 1979 issue of the Federal
Register.

The letter was prepared by the Task Force on ERISA Regulations. of

the Subcommittee on ERISA of the Pension Committee. The
respective chairmen of the above groups are Gerald Richmond,
Donald 8. Grubbs, Jr., and Preston C. Bassett. The letter was
sent over the signature of Executive Director Stephen G.
Kellison.

1979-23

Financial Accounting Standards Board

September 21, 1979

17 pages beginning on page 258

Accounting and reporting by defined benefit pemsion plans

This statement was submitted to the FASB in response to three
documents released by the FASB, The first was entitled “An
Overview of Proposed Accounting and Reporting Standards for

Defined Benefit Pension Plans” dated July 9, 1979; the second was
an Exposure Draft on "Accounting and Reporting by Defined Benefit
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1979-23 (Cont.)

Drafters:
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Pension Plans"” dated July 9, 1979; while the third wag an
Exposure Draft on  "Disclosure .of Pension and Other
Post~Retirement Benefit Information" (an amendment of APB Opinion
No. &) dated July 12, 1979. The Academy had filed several
previous statements with the FASB on this subject (see statements
1977-6, 1978-1, 1978-26, and 1979-8).

This statement was developed by a special task force composed of
membere from the Committee on Pension Actuarial Principles and
Practices, chaired by Douglas C, Borton, and the Subcommittee on

Pension Accounting Matters of the Pension Committee, chaired by
Edwin F. Boynton.

1979-24
Pension Benefit Guaranty Corporation

September 24, 1979

2 pages beginning on page 275
Contingent employer liablility insurance
This statement was submitted to the Pension Benefit Guaranty
Corporation iIn response to their report entitled "Contingent
Employer 1iability Insurance: Status Report to the Congress”
dated July 1, 1978.
This statement was prepared by the Task Force on CELL of the
Subcommittee om PBGC of the Pension Committee. The respective

chairmen of the above groups are Bruce D. Moore, Martin J. Frank,
and Preston C. Bassett.

1979-25
Securities and Exchange Commission
November 7, 1979
46 pages beginning on page 277
Independence/self-review
This request for ruling was submitted to the Securities and
Exchange Commission. The Academy has also filed several other
statements on independence/self-treview (see statements 1977-12,

1977-23, 1978-2, 1978-7, 1978-19, 1979~12, and 1979-19).

The statement was developed by the law firm of Shea and Gardner
and was approved by the Academy Executive Committee.
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1979-26

Senate Committee on Finance

Senate Committee on Labor and Human Resources
House Committee on Educationr and Labor

House Committee on Ways and Means

November 7, 1979
6 pages beginning on page 323
Pension Legislation (HR 3094 and S51076)

This statement was distributed to the members and staffs of the
four above-named committees in connection with HR3094 and 51076,
which is proposed legislation on the multiemployer termination
insurance program.

This statement was prepared by the Task Force on Multiemployer
Plans of the Subcommittee on PBEGC of the Pension Committee. The
respective chairmen of the above groups are Fenton R. Isaacson,
Martin J. Frank, and Mary H. Adams.

1979-27

President of the NAIC
November 27, 1979

1l page on page 329

State regulation of insurance

This letter was sent to the Honorable Wesley J. Kinder,
Commissioner of Insurance of the State of California and
President of the NALC, in reaction to the report of the General
Accounting Office entitled “Issues and Needed Improvements in
State Regulation of the Insurance Business” dated October 9,
1979. This report contains several references to actuaries and
the regulation of the insurance business which prompted the
letter.

President Ronald L. Bornhuetter.
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1979-28

Internal Revenue Service

December 3, 1979

7 pages beginning on page 330
Regulations on reasonable funding methods mmder ERISA

This statement was submitted to the Internal Revenue Service in
connection with proposed regulations on reasonable funding
methods under ERISA that appeared in the October 5, 1979 issue of
the Federal Register.

This statement was prepared by the Task Force on ERISA
Regulations of the Subcommittee on ERISA of the Pension Committee
with input from the Committee on Pension Actuarial Principles and
Practices. The respective chairmen of the above groups are
Gerald Richmond, Donald 8. Grubbs, Jr., Mary H. Adams, and
Leonard Mactoss The letter was sent over the signature of
Executlve Director Stephen G. Kellison.
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STATEMENT TO THE 1378 ADVISORY COUNCIL. ON SCCIAL SECURITY
ON BEHALF OF THE AMERICAN ACADEMY OF ACTUARIES

Robert P. Link

Washington, D. ¢,, January 5, 1979

Introducticn

My name is Robert F. Link. I am a Member of the American Academy of
Rotuaries and Chairman of its Committee on Social Insurance. The Academy
is a professiocnal organization of actuaries. It was formed in 1963 by the
four actuarial organizations in the United States to foster the accredita-
tion and public recognition of actuaries with various areas of specializa-
tion. At the end of 1977 there were 4,418 mewbers in a variety of types of
empioyment including insurance companies, consulting organizaticns, govern—
ment, and academiaz. Membership can be attained only by satisfying demanding
axamination and experience requirements. Members are subject to rigorous
guides to professional conduct.

The Academy welcomes this opportunity to present views concarning the
many important guestions that the Advisory Council is called upon to consider.
We are not here to advocate courses of action with respect to particular issues.
Instead, we wish to offer what we hope will be helpful comments based on our

expertise, as actuaries, with respect to financial enterprises involving life,

death, disability and on other contingencies and our broad acquaintance with bene-
£it plans. In particular, these comments do not represent an official view of

the Academy but are the views of its Committee on Social Insurance.
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Background - the Present Situation

It has been said that the Social Security system is in serious financial
trouble. This is not a simple issue, Congress has always had the resolution
in the past to take the necessary actions to match revenues and costs. This,
rather than some technical concept of “actuarial soundness” is the €inancial
backbone of the system. We beliex}e that Congress axpects to continue as it
has in the past in this respect. We note, however, that the present scheduled
tax rates will be inadequate according to current projections, starting some-
time after the year 2000. Congress will find it a challenge tc close this gap.

In any event, there are other serious problems with the system. Some of
these problems, which I will now enumerata, form the broad backdrecp for our
comments on specific issupes.

The public's view of the system. The public probably unduly analogizes

Social Security to other systems with somewhat similar purposes, such as private
insurance or pensicns. There is a supposition, somewhat natural in the light of
the structure of the System and much of the writing about it, that an individual's
contributions to the systam ares being accumulated in an account somewhere to

fund that individual's benefits. This perception, to the extent that it exists,
is clearly at variance with the true situation. We join with those who believe
that there is a major need to improve public understanding of the true nature of
Social Security.

"Fairness”" and "money's-worth". In terms of value, the raelation ©of benefits

to contributions varies widely, reflecting different family compositions, pay
levels, etc.. As nearly as a comparison can be made, Social Security is likely
to be a favorable deal for some and an unfavorable deal for cthers, if measured

against any criterion of "money's worth." This would be true whether or not
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employer taxes are included in the comparison. These variations, which reflect
an orientation toward social objectives, are inherent in the design of our

Social Security system. Getting one's money's worth is not a valid design
criterion of such a system. This is fundamental: the public must be helped to
understand that individual "money's worth" is not a relavant issue for Social
Security.

In any event, concerns about fairmess and, “money's worth” currently exist,
and they are exacerbated by some other aspects of the system. The retirement
test is a perennial and painful example. Also, population dynamics mean that
the system will produce cost differences for different generations of workers
that do not correspond to differences in expected benefits.

Tax levels. Since the 1977 Act was passed, there have hbeen cries of
serious dissatisfaction with the level of Sogial Security taxes. We should

note that it's not entirely clear who is dissatisfied. A recent (BS - New York

Times survey failed to f£ind major dissatisfaction among individual taxpayers. And
a recent survey of employers by the consulting firm of William M. Mercer, Inc.
indicates that employers generally oppose innovative changes in the financing system
but do favor cutting benefits and thereby lowering future costs. In any event,
Congress has been considering various ways of redistributing the tax burden so
as to make it more palatable., However, there has been little consideration of
ways of reducing the total tax burden, which in the end may mean reducing bene-
fits.

This situation is really a scramble over the goods-and-services pie. To
the extent that the expectations of the respective groups - beneficiaries and
producérs - exceed the total pie, there is a problem, identified as insufficient
benefits or excessive taxes. Any such problem can be solved only by reducing
benefits, by increasing taxes, or by increasing the size of the pie. The last

is an important aspect of the continuing debate over the relative role of public
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programs and private programs. Private programs, by accumulating capital, both

defer consumption to a later time (improving fairness among generations) and also

increase the size of the pie through capital formation.
With this background, I will now comment on the variocus topics that you
have sugygested. These comments will relate in general to OASDI and will not

specifically address Medicare isgues.

Comments on the Advisory Council's Specific Questions

1. How should the responsibility for supporting retirement
incomes be divided among the Social Security program,
programs of income assistance, (mainly the Supplemental
Security Income program) and private retirement income
support programs? Should Social Security bear more
or less of the responsibility for supporting the retire-
ment incomes of higher income househclds or lower income
households?

The issues raised by this question are primarily political or philscphi-
cal., While individual actuaries may have strong feelings on them, there can
be no authoritative actuarial viewpoint. To the extent that there is concern
with issues of fairness or money's worth, particularly as between succeeding
generations of workers, these problems will be larger if the role of Social
Security is larger and smaller if the role of Social Security is smaller.
Stresses that would be tolerable in a true floor-of-protection system may not

be tolerable in a system that meets a higher proportion of the income replace-

ment needs of the American public. Attachment A presents seme data to illustrate

what has been happening in this respect.

2. The Social Security preogram has always been structured
to serve the sccial objective of assuring lower wage
workers a more adequate retirement income than would
be produced if all benefits were strictly proporticnal
to praeretirement earnings. Should this policy be
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continued? Under this policy, are higher wage workers
getting a fair return on their Social Security contri-
butions?

The "tilt" of benefits in favor of lower wage workers is a social issue,
rather than an actuarial one. There is no persuasive actuarial reasén to
eliminate the tilt. However, we note that thexe are responsible proposals for
fundamental change in the system {e.g., ideas recently put forward by Haewcrth
Robertson) that would effectively convert the system into a dual system consist-
ing of a basic flat benefit (the maximum tilt) and a benefit based directly on
contributions (no tilt). Such a change would narrow the area in which the issue
of tilt arises. We encourage serious study of such proposals.

There is very good reascn to suppose that higher wage earners are getting
a lesser return on their contributicns than others. However, I emphasize again
that the issue of fairmess or "money's worth" is largely irrelevant to a social

security system.

3. Should the present Social Security earmings test be modified
or abolished? Should heneficiaries who are over age 65 be
treated differently than beneficiaries under age 652

4. Shoeuld the normal retirement age in Social Security, now set
at age €5, be changed?

5. At what age should Social Security benefits first be made
available? Should early retirement benefits be reduced by
the full actuarial amount? Should the size of the credit
given pecple who delay their retirement beyond age 65 be
changed?
Thé questions under items 3, 4, and 5 deal with diffsrent facets of the
definition of Social Security old age benefits. I'll deal with them as a unit.
The arquments for and against an earnings test are familiar. Those who

favor the test point out that it reduces the cost of the system. They also

pelieve that such a test is appropriate in an income replacement system. On
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the other side, many chservers see the test as grossly ineguitable. Some
observers say it involves sericus work disincentives. These issues are political
rather than actuarial. Mevar, it is clear that elimination of the earnings
test would lead to higher costs and a2 consequent sxacerbation of the general
stresses that the system is now subject to.

Regardless of the merits of these arguments, it may be that adverse re-~
actions to the present retirement test will ultimately override all other con-
siderations. 1If the tast is to be preserved, some redesign or repackaging may
be needed to overcome these reactions. If the Advisory Council wishes; the
Academy's Committee on Sccial Insurance would be happy to develop some suggestions
along these linas for your consideration.

In view of the striking changes in the age distribution and life expec-
tancies in the United States during the last forty years, as well as the signi-
ficant financial stresses that will impact the system as these changes continue,
it makes sense to consider an increase in the normal retirement age under
Sccial Security. Such a change could ease the financial pressures on the system
cauaed by falling fertility rates and the retirement cof the post-World War II
"baby boom" generation.

While conceptually simple, an increase in the Social Security retirement
age might present difficulties of implementation. Scme of the issues and problems
in this connection have baen noted in a brief paper by George E. Bell III, a
Member of the Academy {Attachment B). The Advisory Council could make an immense
contribution by developing a practical mechanism to increase the normal retirement
age s© as tQ capture for the system the long term savings that should result.

One tactical peoint in this connection. We should all be particularly wary
of proposals for further liberalization of the reatirement test at this time, what-
ever their general merits. One reason is that liberalizing the retirement test

might confer benefits that would need to be withdrawn agzin if the retirement age
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is raised. Better not to create the problem in the first place.

A second reason relates to the recent elimination of mandatory retirement
at age 65 in business generally and private pensions in particular. To the
extent that more individuals than formerly continue in full employment beyond
age 65, they would draw full Social Security benefits if the retirement test
were eliminated., This seems a questionable use of the financially tight
resources ¢f the system.

We have no specific proposals for change with regard to benefit adjust-
ment factors that apply to early eor late retirement. However, we are struck by
the relationship of this gquestion to other issues, particularly the retirement
test and the normal retirement age. For example, if an increased retirement age
wera seen as desirablae, it would seem incongruous to encourage early retirements
by limiting reduction cof early retirement benefits or by making benefits avail-
able at a still earlier age. Similarly, it would seem inconsistent to "undo"
the cost savings of an increase in the retirement age by increasing the benefit

credit for delayed retiremsnt.

We urge that the Advisory Council explore all the interrelationships of
these issues hafore settling on specific recommendations with respect to any
one of them; and we urge consistency of objectives and recommendaticns,
whatever the final decisions &f the Council.

6. Doas the present system treat fairly both the partners of
a marriage when both are working? When one works for pay
and the other remains in the home to care for children?
When a marriage is dissolved through divorce?

Cur Committee has naever actively addressed the specific issues relating

to marital status that are raised by this questicn. However, we would like to

comment on the relation of benefits to family compeosition in general. These

thoughts are grounded in our belief that fairness is an unproductive issue in a
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social security system.

There are two seeming objectives that are relevant to the issue of bene-
fits and family composition. These are (i) to prevent a descent into poverty
at the time of entitlement and (ii) beyond this, to preserve some portion of
pra-entitlament purchasing power. Variations of benefits by family compositioA
are consistent with the first; they are largely inconsistant with the second.
In the latter connection, I’atta:h a copy of a paper by Harrison Giwens, Jr.
and Morton D. Miller that was presented in 1976 at the meeting of the Internaticnal
Congress of Actuaries in Tokyo (Attachment C). A key finding of the paper is
that the praservation of purchasing power after a change in status such as retire-
ment calls for a replacement income that is largely independent of family composi-
tion.

Again, scome of the proposals for fundamental restructuring of the system

would do away with the kinds of issues that are raised in this question.

7. How important is exclusive reliance on the payroll tax as
the method of financing retirement and surviver benefits
or disability insurance benefits? Should general révenues
be usad to finance all or a portion of the benefits paid
under these two programs?

Actuaries have ample opportunity to observe the financing of benefit
plans, including benefit plans in the public sector. Everybody wants higher
banefits, Costs are a deterrent. There is a natural human tendency to want
to minimize the impact of costs, either by exercising options to have lower
rathar than higher cost figures, or by adopting financing approaches that make
the costs less visible. The virtue of the payroll tax is that it does keep the
costs visible. Putting some of the costs in general revenues would make them
less visible. Also, it's worth noting what general revenue financing really

means. The money has to come from somewhere: (i) higher taxes - most

likely higher Federal in-ome taxes, or (ii) reduced spending on other government
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programs, or (iii) a matching increase in the na;ional debt. Attached is an
article by Haewerth Robertson, commenting on general revenue financing propesals
(Attachment D).

The visibility issue relates to some of the other financing approaches.
Raising the tax on employers is a dewvice to get additional funds without much
voter impact. Likewise raising the maximum taxable earnings base,because it
affects only those abeve the 0ld maximum. (Also, raising the maximum raises
benefits and is thus partially self-defeating.) A "value added" tax has low
visibility. These devices effectively insulate most voters from what is

really happening to benefit costs and how they are being paid for.

8. Should the general revenues be used to finance a greater
portion of the hospital insurance program or should it
continue to be financed virtually entirely from the
payroll tax?

We have no special comments on the financing of the hospital insurance

program as such. Howevar, our sarlier comments on the visibility of costs

apply here also.

9. Should those employees of Federal, stata and local
government and cof private nonprefit firms who are not
now covered by the Social Security program be brought
into the program?

Actuaries are acutely aware of the many problems which arise in connec-
cion with (i) employee groups that are excluded from coverage and (ii) groups
where coverage is opticnal and opting cut is a possibility. These problems
would be eliminated if the excluded groups were instead brought into the

system. We see no reason why these groups should not be brought in, other

than the admitted formidable politieal and transiticnal procblems of kringing
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this about.

One.aspect of the universal coverage issne is the windfall benefits
cbtained by members of excluded groups, such as government employees, who get
short periods of coverage under Socjal Security. The system treats them as
low-wage workers and gives them penefits that are disproportionately high in
relation to their contrikbutions. If universal coverage is not enacted, this
anomaly should be fixed., We'd be glad toc offer suggestions in this connecticn

if desired.

10. Is the present definition of disability too restrictive?
Are disability benefits too high, too low, or at roughly
appropriate levels? Is sufficient effort made to rehabi-
litate disabled beneficiaries?

We suggest several areas for study by the Advisory Council. First would
be steps to achieve greater uniformity of treatment among different geographical
areas. The prasent treatment is significantly variable. Second would be to
improve the incentives for disabled workers to rehabilitate themselves and
reenter the labor force. These two topics are amplified in the attached brief
paper by James L. Cowen, a Member of the Academy (Attachment E).

Third is the issue of overinsurance -- benefits that are so large as to
encourage claims and discourage reccvery. OCne authority has estimated that at

least 44% of covered workers are currently overinsured for disability. (John

H. Miller: Disability Insurance, an Assessment of its Social Value, CLU Journal,

Vol. XXXII, No. 3, July 1978, page 12). In private insurance, avoidance of
overinsurance is considered essential to the sound financial cperation of dis-

ability coverage.
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11. Are there significant areas {(e.g., typas of benefits or types
of events) in which Social Security could and should offer
wage replacement protection not now offered? Are there parts
of the current package which are no longer necessary given
their cost and the alternative sources of income support
currently available? i

We have no specific comments in this area, though some comment is

implied in the answers to the preceding questions.

Actuarial Services for Social Security

Over the more than four decades of operation of the Social Security program,
the Social Security Administration and the Department of Health, Education, and
Welfare have recognized the necaessity of having the highest gquality actuarial
services available. This has been accomplished by the éstablishment of a
separate Office of the Actuary, with the Chief Actuary reporting directly to
the Commissioner of Social Security.

Recently, the responsibilities for the Medicare program were transferred
away from the SSA to the Health Care Financing Administration (another component
of DHEW). We note, with sericus concern, that the actuarial functions in HCFA
are to be substantially downgraded by being assigned to the COffice of Financial
and Actuarial Analysis. This Office is a division of HCFA's COffice of Policy,
Planning, and Research, and it is headed by a non-actuary. We believe that, at
such a low organizational level, it will not be possible to recruit and maintain
the top-flight actuarial staff that is essential to carry out the actuarial
responsibilities for a program as important to the naticnal economy as is
Medicare.

This change also reduces the scope and influence of the job of Chief
Actuary in the Social Security Administration. We think that there should be
one actuary with the duty to pull together the financial picture of the inevitably

interrelated OASDI and HI systems. Lack of coordination here just doesn't make
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Sumag

OASDI has significant problems arising from the discontinuity between
the actual system and the public's perception of it and from increasing aware-
ness of the system's high cost and many elements of inequity as among groups in
varying circumstances. The pressures of the situation make the time ripe for a

fundamental re-examination of purposes and scope.
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ATTACHMENT A

THE INCOME REPLACEMENT ROLE OF SOCTIAL SECURITY

The following tables were prepared to illustrate (i) trends in the
income replacement role of Social Security and (ii) the degree to which
the Social Security system as amended in 1277 meets the real income
replacement needs of individuals in varying circumstances. They are
based on work done at The Equitable Life Assurance Society during 1978,

Table I illustrates trands in replacement ratios. The replacement
ratio is (i) the total benefit income in the first full year of antitle-
ment (assuming entitlement on January 1), divided by (ii) covered income
in the year preceeding the year of entitlement. The calculation methods
used are consistent with those used in the Office of the Actuary in the
Social Security Administration.

Three income levels are used. They are average (covered pay in
sach calendar year assumed to be the national average for covered pay in
the year): 85th percentile (covered pay assumed to be 187.5% of average):;
and 95th percentile (covered pay assumed to be 239.0% of average).

Table II relates future (1990) income benefits to need. Need, or
"target income” is defined as the level of tax-free income needed to
maintain net family purchasing power after allowing for elimination of
Federal income and F.I.C.A. taxes, work-ralated expenses, and the need to
save (but not recognizing the effect of state and local taxes). Target
income is taken as 80%, 70%, and 60% of pre-entitlement income for the
average, 85th percentile, and 95th percentile cases respectively. This
represents an update of the calculations in the Givens-Miller paper
refarred to in the accompanying statement.



Year
1955
1965
1970
1975
1978
1979
1930
2000

2020

1
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Table T

Selected Replacement Ratios For Average,
B5th Percentile, and 95th Percentile Wage Earners

peath or Disability at Age 45

Retirement At Age 651 Maximum Benefit2 Low Benefit3

Aver. 85th 95th Aver. 8S5th 95th Aver., B85th 95th
47 30 21 68 44 31 no applicable case
43 ‘ 28 19 70 435 32 3 20 14
47 3] 22 81 42 30 34 23 16
61 43 30 8l 54 38 43 a0 21
64 48 33 86 61 43 47 35 25
64 48 34 78 56 39 3 312 2
57 44 33 79 61 47 43 35 27
7 45 35 79 61 50 43 35 29
57 46 38 79 6l 50 43 35 29

ASSumes Spouse three years younger, calling for a benefit of 137.5% of the

Primary Insurance Amount.

2assumes family maximum benefit (typical for a family with children).

ansumes only Primary Insurance Emount (e.g., disability, no children).
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Tabhle IT 1
Social Security Income as a pPercent of "Target” Income
at Various Ages and Inccme Levels
(Entitlament in 1990)

Percent of Target Income

Cage Benefit Average 85th Pctl. 95th Petl.
Retirement at 65 1.375 p1a? n 63 55
Disability/Death 3

at 25 FMB 100 89 gs
at 35 FMB 93 87 83
at 45 EMB o9 87 78
at 55 FMB 99 83 72

lTarget income taken as 80% of pre-entitlement income for average, 70% for
85th, and 60% for 35th percentile cases.

2Assu:mas spouse aged 62.

3Assumes family becomes entitled te a family maximum benefit at the worker's
indicated age.
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ATTACHMENT B

THE NEWSLETTER (a periodic
publication of the Rmerican
Academy of Actuaries),
September, 1978.

REVISING THE SOCIAL SECURITY
RAETIREMENT AGE

by George E. Beil, 11

1. Introduction

If there are any actuarial certainties that apply to Social Security,

there are at least these twor

(1) Even with passage of the 1977 Amendments, the Sccial
Security System's long runge funding problems have. not
been solved.

(2) Nearly evary observer has one — or more — proposzls to
solve the problems that still exist.

Qne proposal that has received wide publicity is fo raise the
Social Security retirement age; or, more precisely, 10 raise the
age of initial eligibility for unreduced Socml Security old age

A ber of arg are g ty offered in sup-
port of this view:
(1) Demographics - the ratio of covered employees to ail Socm!

is argued that **old age,™ for purposes of old age social
insurunce benefizs, cught o be redafined.

(3) Consistency - with passage of the new mundatory retirement
amendments 1o the Age Discrimination in Ernpinyment Al.'l
(ADEA)—which, in I, raise the
sory retirement age for thoss in private employment lo age
70—it is argued chat it would be inconsistent to continue to
use age 63 as the rr.un:mcnt age fac Socinl Sa:ucity. More

impor pecially in light of p for | of the
ings test—he i Y would sllow *double dip-
ping by everyone.*’

There are other cogent arguments as well; but it is not the
purpose of this paper to argue for revisions in the retivement age.
Rather, it is to cxaminc how feasible those revisions might
be—or, more pointedly, to cile some examples of the implemen-
tation pmbhms they might face—and to pfomp! thought and
comment o0 the inue within the profession.

II. Stumbling Blocks

A. Social/Polltical—Probably the most important consideration
to be kept in mind in examining any deliberatizing **re-
form'* of Social Security is that such changes are made, nov
in an actuarial environment, bt in a political one. And the
mast_important palitical problem facing any snch
*“reform’*—be it increasing the retirement age, tightening
the carnings test, ot whatever—is the public perception of
Social Security as an camed retirement annuity due an indi-
vidual by virtue of his contributions, and due at the stated
recirement age regardiess of marital statuy, other eamings, ar

the System's financial troubles.
To be sute, dnal xs a mzsperceptlon—ih: benefits, at least
i , Were o meet the social
tnsurancc mk of oid age desmuuon and many have found
that marital status and other eamings do affect benefit
levels—but the misperceprions will ke much undoing, and
will probably require undoing before a change in retirement

age can be made.

Adding to the problem is hy ion——the
papulas mlsmdins of current life =xp=:mm:y at birth as
average age at death for those now at retirement age: try
convincing a 65 year old, if male life expectancy is 72, that
he won't be “*robbed"” of 3/7ths of his benefit if rerirement
age is reised 1o 63.

Another secial/political difficulty is the imponderable fu-
tre trend in work force retirement age, and the problems
I!m would resulx if it rlui not Piﬂllel changes in the Social

age. 5 questions: will the trend 10
early leumnem continue; or “will the ADEA amendments,
oouphd with a lesser number of future young entrants lo the
work force, combine to move the average retirement age
hvghe‘:" i wly uunmems continua, but Social Secarity

ageis i d, will an undue burden be placed
on private pension plans to provide larger Social Security

Security bencficiaries is declining steadily as the p
ages, and is expected to reach a low of about 21 nthe 21st
censury. Raising the retirement age, some say, would al-
leviate this problem and the funding difficulties it
introduces—and, further, would ease the labor shortages
foreseen when the *‘baby boom’” generation retires.

(2) Longevity - at inception of Social Security, age 63 was
chosen, fairly arbitrarily, as the retirement age: since then,
life cxpectancy ot age 65 has increased significantly, and it

I ts for longer penods of time?

Finally, the current environmant suggests another
problem: unempioyment, particularly among the young.
How, it would be argucd, could it be mtional to **force™
lates retirement and thereby only intensify the unempioy-
ment pmbiern" (Some of this same sentiment was expressed
in opposition to the ADEA amendments.)

Naturzlly, there are other social/political problems — the
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foregoing is nol meant to be an exhaustive list. For the

moment, however, let us assume tha the political problems

can be dealt with—more on that at the conclusion of this
paper—and address the tect probl we actuaries are
probably more suited to solve.

B. Technical—Technical difficulties in revising the retirement
age would arise in four general areas: )

(1) Establishment of an appropriate revised retirsment age,
and creation of a transition arrangement—for *‘equity””
purposes—ito prevent ‘‘loss’” to retirees at or just after
revision.

(2) Interplay with other potential revisions—a retirement
age revision probably Ildn't prove satisfactory if

made in 2 vacuum; the interplay with other possible

revisions would have to be considersd. For example; the
cost reductions of raising the retirement age might well
disappear if the eamings test were abalished or the de-
layed retirement credit increased.
(3) Interplay with other Social Security benefits—many
other benefits provided by the System—for example,
dependent spouse and widows' benefits, and Medicare
benefits—are tied at least in part 1o the current retire-
ment age. How, if at all, should these benefits be af-
‘fected by a revision in retirement age?
Interplay with the private sector - the possibility of an
additional burden on private pensions, in the form of
increased Secial Security supplements payable for a
longer period of time, has already besn mentioned.
Another potential problem could be the gaps in health
insurance coverage that would result if the age for Medi-
care eligibility were raised while most private coverage.
as at present, ceased at age 65.

{4]

=

111, Possible Revision Approaches
A challenge that comes immediately to mind in reviewing these
problems is the design of an appropriate revision **formutfa.’’
For purposes of stimulating creative impulses within the profes-
sion, jet us talk of a number of passible approaches—and, to
demonstrate that nothing is as simpie as it seems, find some
difficulties with each one.
A few possible approaches, and their more obvious pitfalls,
are as foilows:
[$3] One ume mcrease m rcuremcm age - simple, but the
“‘equity " probi are probably insuc-
mounmble
(2) Index retirement age to current age 63 life expectancy - this
is attractive actuarially, but whose life expecrancy do we use
{white males is asking for trouble), how do we keep it
adeguately updated, and, possibly most important, how do
we deal with the discontinuity if, say, a cure for cancer is
suddenly found?
Phase in by gradual increases in retirement age - an ap-
proach that would, say, start in 1990 by increasing retire-
ment age to 65-% and add !4 year to retirement age each
year thereafter until, say, age 68 were reached in 200i. This
has a cerrain appeal, but would probably create administra-
tive problems, as people would seek counseling on the exact
timing of retiremeat, and pension actuaries and plan admin-
istrators would wrestle with 1 ion and suppi
problems.

(3

(4) Phase in by temporary suspension of indexing - this ap-
proach would introduce the actuarial reduction in benefits,
for retirements before the new revised retirement age,
through a temporary suspension of the automatic CPI/
benefit increases in the current law. Problems: an adminis-
trative nightmare, coupled with the difficulty in introducing
a *“takeaway'' feature,

IV. Conclusion

So much for easy solutions. If this issues paper has proved

anything, it is that increasing the Social Security retirement age

is not—cannat—be the *quick fix'* many seem to have implied.

So the question becomes: ** where do we go from here?''—and it

applies to many issues, including retirement age, the earnings

test, mandatory universal coverage, and the l:.ke
The path which the Social C can fe

has threes basic steps:

(1) First, present this series of issues papers ta the profession to
help provoke the thought, comment and creativity we know
exists,

(2) Recognize, as a profession, that these deliberalizing *‘re-
forms’* many advocate are fraught with political problems,
mast of them ing from the wid d lack of public
understanding of Social Security—and then help to promote
a better understanding.

(3) Bring to bear the actuarial expertise to deal with afl the
issues in an integrated manner, and to solve the mydad
technical problems that arise with each **simple reform.””

Enough, for now, of calls to action. This paper has been, we
hape, the first part of the first step. We on the Committee wel-
€OMme your comments.
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ATTACHEMENT C

Determination of adequate
income benefit levels
in the United States of America
by

Harrison Givens, Jr. and Morton D. Miller
U.S.A.

prepared for

The 20th International Congress of Actuaries
October 25 - November |, 1976

Tokyo, Japan

ADVISORY COUNCIL: Note particularly
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This paper deals with income maintenance: for employees and their families alter retire-
ment or disability, and for survivors after death of the employee. The paper offers a stan-
dard for judging the adequacy of income benefits in each of these three circumstances,
and thus for designing rational benefit objectives for each of the thres principal sources.

Tlustrations are then given on how such a standard may be usefully applied in the design
and evaluation of employee benefit plans.

Résumé

L'assistance financiére dont bénéficient aux Etats-Unis les individus et les familles en
cas d'invalidité, de décés et de retraite provient de leurs programmes individuels d'assu-
rance, des programmes d'assurance collective offerts par leursemployeursetdu Programme
Feédéral de Sécurité Sociale.

Cette communication traite de la garantie des revenus: pour les employés et leur famiile
apres {a retraite ou en cas d'invalidité et, pour les survivants, en cas de décés de femployé.
La communication propese une norme pour établir dans quelle mesure les prestations
de revenu dans chacune de ces trois circonstances sont satisfaisantes et ainsi pour établir
des objectif’s rationnels de prestations pour chacune des trois sources principales.

Des exemples sont alors donnés pour illustrer comment ces doanées peuvent étre utile-
ment appliquées 3 la mise en ceuvre et 4 I'évaluation de régimes de prestations des em-

ployés.

Zusammenfassung

In den Vereinigten Staaten von Amerika besteht im Falle von Invaliditat, Tod und
Pensionierung die finanzielle Basis fiir Einzelpersonen und Faniilien aus Yorsorgemag-
nahmen der Einzelpersonen selbst, aus Mapnahmen auf Grund von Unternehmern
geschaffenen Plinen fiir Gruppen von Angestellten und aus Leistungen auf Grund des
Bundessozialversicherungsprogramms.

Die Studic hier behandelt die Frage der Aufrechterhaitung des Einkommens fur An-
gesteilte und deren Familien nach der Pensionierung und im Faile der [nvaliditat, und
fir die Hinterbliebenen nach dem Tod des Angessteliten. Sie schligt einen Magtab
fir die Beurteilung der Angemessenheit der in diesen drei Fallen zu erbringenden
Leistungen vor und damit auch fiir die Festsetzung von verniinftigen Leistungszielen
fiir jede dieser drei hauptsichlichen Basen.

An Beispiclen wird gezeigt, wie diese Daten in geeigneter Weise bei dem Entwurf und
der Beurteilung von Piinen, die von Unternehmern fir Angestellte geschaffen werden
sollen, verwendet werden kdnnen.
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" Determination of adequate
income benefit levels
in the United States of America

by
Harrison Givens, Jr. and Morton D, Miller
U.S.A.

Introduction

In the United States of America, financial support for individuals and families in the
event of disability, death and retirement comes from the measures taken by the individuals
themselves on their own behalf, by employer-sponsored benefit plans for groups of em~
ployees, and by the federal government’s Social Security program. This tripartite approach
may-be described in the following way.

Each of these measures—individual, group and government—has a special and neces-
sary function of its own, which need not, and should not, compete with or overlap the
others. Each should derive mutual support from the others and perform its role better
because of their existence. When properly cocrdinated, they may be pictured as a three-
legged stool affording firm and well rounded support for the citizens. A major strength
of this triple support is its wide scope and diversity.

Benefit programs of all varieties have expanded tremendously in recent years and have
become vastly more complex. Coordination of benefits from these three major sources
is thus more difficult, but highly desirable in order to avoid overlap and to see that the
huge amounts spent in aggregate are most effectively and economically applied to achieve
their common purpose.

This paper deals with income maintenance: for employees and their families after retire-
ment or disability, and for survivors after death of the employee. The paper offers a stand-
ard for judging the adequacy of income benefits in each of these three circumstances,
and thus for designing rational benefit objectives for each of the three principal sources.

Benefit Sources

The pluralistic society of the United States of America gives rise to a wide variety of
income security provisions. In addition to conventional savings and investments, home
purchases and the like, individuals may coatract with insurance companies for:

(1) life insurance—either induszrial (smaller amounts, weekly or monthly premium
collection at home), or ordinary, and credir (for installment loans);
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(2) individual annuities—including, under (974 legislation, retirement plans with tax
advantages; and

(3) disability income insurance.

In addition, individual life insurance is available from fraternal associations, from savings
banks in several states, and 10 veterans from the federal government.
Employment-related plans are primarily:

(1) group life insurance—normally a single-sum payment, but income plans have re-
cently become popular;

(2) disability income insurance for non-occupational disability, and mandatory Work-
men’s Compensation benefits in case of job-related death or disability; and

(3) pension plans—the bulk of the funds traditionally with banks, but with larger
life insurance companies increasingly competitive.

The federal Social Security system provides income benefits in the event of death, dis.
ability, and retirement for nearly all employed persons, including the self-employed, and
their families. The system is financed on a pay-as-you-go basis; that is, revenues are ap-
proximately equal to aggregate benefits year by year. Special taxes are levied as a percentage
of covered earnings, shared by employees and employers equally and somewhat less
than one and one-half times the employee rate for the seif-empioyed. Benefits are based
on average covered earnings over the career of the individual, adjusted for changes in the
Consumer Price Index. The benefit formula is weighted significantly in favor of those
with lower earnings. Eligible beneficiaries, besides the covered employee, are primarily
the spouse and minor children.

The level of payments to finance these security provisions gives an overall measure of
their value, using the premiums for insurance plans, the current contributions for unin-
sured plans, and the total taxes for Social Security cash benefils, exclusive of the taxes
for the Hospital Insurance portion of Medicare (sce Table I).

Table 1
Aggregate expenditures
(in billions)
1973
As
Percentage of
1963 1968 1973 1563 1963
Individual Plans S$13.5 28.35% 5174 2.4 $23.5 18.3% 135% 174%;
Group Plans 18.1 384 208 302 532 413 179 294
Sociai Security 15.6 13.1 27.0 364 519 404 192 333
Total $47.2  100.0% $74.2 100,0%; $138.6 100.0% 173%, IN%

The aggregate of $128.6 billion for 1973 is 2722, of that for 1963 or, on a constant pur-
chasing power basis, about 187 %,

From the point of view of the three-legged security stool, expenditures in 1963 were
fairly evenly distributed. Since then, our stool has become somewhat lopsided, with indi-
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vidual plans growing least rapidly, employer group plans somewhat faster than the aggre-
gate, and Social Security most of all. Individual plans would, of course, be more equal
if savings in the form of home ownership, securities, etc., were taken into account, but
they would still decline in relative importance.

Benefit payments {Table 1) provide another comparative measure.

Table 1
Aggregate benefits
(in billions)
1973
As
Percentage of
1963 19568 1973 1968 1963
Individual Plans $ 9.1 2649 $12.3  22.09% S17.9 174Y% 1467, 197%
Group Plans 99 283 18.7 335 335 326 179 18
Social Security 154 448 249 45 5.5 3500 207 334
Total $344 100.0% $559 100.0% $1029 100.09% 18497 2999,

Benefus tripled from 1963 to 1973 in terms of dollars, but were anly double in constant
purchasing power. Social Security is more dominant by this measure than by current
contributions because it is financed on a pay-as-you-go basis, whereas much of the private
expenditures for individual and group programs is reserved for future benefits.

Standard of Adequacy

How much incorne maintenance should there be ? There is a legislatively pre-determined
tower bound; the adoption of the Social Security program over 40 years ago marked the
establishment in the United States of America of the basic philosophical principle that
the federal government should provide a levet of income maintenance at least sufficient
to keep the wage earner and family from becoming a public charge. This concept of “social
adequacy,” which continues to the present day, leaves the provision of additional benefits
to the individual, alone or through group action. The principie justifies the more generous
treatment of lower income wage earners and their families under the Social Security benefit
formula.

The precise level of Social Security benefits is a function of the political process. The
apgregate amount of earnings recognized for tax and benetit purposes was roughly 809
of total earnings in covered employment during the period from 1951 through 1972 but
is about 869, currently. The worker's own benefit for retirement at age 65 has averaged
roughly 35% of his covered earnings near retirement, and this benefit is increased by
$0°%; if there is a spouse age 65 or over, Table [11 relates this benefit level to those of cer-
tain other countries.

A naturai upper bound for the aggregate income needed from all sources is the ievel
of spendable income received by the employee in a representative period shortly before
his death, disability, or retirement. This leaves to the combination of employer and em-
ployee actions the provision of income {0 meet some, or all, of the margin by which this
upper bound exceeds Social Security.



* Table It

Replucement rate of old-age pension for a mule worker with average earnings in mansfocturing, !
retiring at the end of 1972, and pension formula, selecied countries

Pension as percent of
carnings in year

before retirement Pension formula
Years Single Retirement age
Country worked worker  Couple? Type of formula for full pension Compulation provisions
Ausicia®....ccciiaanan 40 61 61 Percent of average earnings in 65 30 percent of “basis of assessment™ (aver-
last 5 years (or age 45-50), age covered earnings of last 5 years) plus
time-related, indexed. 0.6 percent per vear for 1-10 ycars, 0.9
reent for 11-20 years, 1.2 percent for
1-30 years, and 1.5 percent per year for
31 years and over.
Belgiun  ........... . 45 3 41 60 peroent (Singlc) OF 75 PENCENt 65.......cvevieee ceeiieimiisisties ittt esste e ressserssnna

{couple) of lifctime avera
covered carnings, indexed,

Camada? ............ 4o 13 51 Universal pensions plus 25 per-  65........... «o  Earnings-related Canada Pension Plan

8L

cent of average covered
earnings, highest 10 ycars,
indexed.

began with 2.5 percent for retirement in
1967, increasing 2.5 percentage points per
year to 25 percent in 1976.

T1-6.61 INIWILV.LS

440 3t 44 Universal old-age pension plus  67............... Supplecmentary pension, 100 kroner a year
time-related supplementary times years of coverage.
pension.
Franced.s ........... M 47 62 22.6 percent of average credited 633 ............ 4.5-percent increment per year of deferral
earnings of highest 10 years, after age 60.
indexed.
Germany, Federal 35 “ 44 Percent of average lifetime 5. ST 1.S percent of “assessed wages" times years
Republic of ...... 40 50 50  carnings. of coverage, “Assessed wages”™ is the ratio
of the individual's carnings to the national
average earnings, multiplied by the na-
tional average during the 3 years preced-
ing the year before retirement.
laly? .......ooiinninane 40 68 68 74 percent of average eamnings  60........... corr un ertrserestsersapenrassinsanissiseinn . orernes
of last 3 years.

Netherlands ......... =50 k) 48 Flat-rate,

L U NN reeresreenes




NOIWEY 11ecrvevroeases 440 39 53 Universal on, plus supple- 67............... 45 percent of a base amount tied to both
y ment ; mted to ;ovemm carg- price and wauelindu_es, times number of

ings of highest 20 years. avernge annual pension points. Pension

‘ points arc derived by J’.?'.am snnual

earnings (between the base amount and
the celing) by the base amount.
amount is roughly ounc-third of the na-

E

: tional average wage.
Sweden .....oiavnnns 530 49 62 Universal pension, plus supple- &7............... 60 percent of & base amount tied to a price
~ ment related to average cam- index, times number of average annual
ings of highest 15 years. pension points, Pension points are de-

rived by dividing annual carnings (be-
tween the base amouni and the ceiling) by
the basec amount. Base amount is roughly
onc-third of the national average wage.

Switzerland® ...... Years 19 28 Percent of average camings 65..iiriennnene 128 francs a month plus 1.25 percent per
) since since 1948, indexed. month of average carnings.
1948,
United Kingdom... (%) 29 40 Flat-rate plus graduated pen- 65.iiiinrieanne Graduated pension refated to total contribu-
sion based on percent of con- tion paid,
tribution.
ited States? ..... L 38 57 Weighted formula based on 65.cnineennnse.  108.01 percent of first $110 plus 39.29 per-
Uni ® average earnings after 1950, ’ cent of next $290 plus 36.71 percent of
with Jowest § ycars omitted. next 3150 plus 43.15 percent of next $100
plus 24.00 percent of next $100 plus 20
percent of next §250,

1Based on earnings data from International Labor Organization, Yearbook of Labor Statistics, 1973.

2includes supplement for spouse in countries,with’such a provision.

IData relate 10 all adult workers; comparable data for male worker not available.

4“Number of years worked” is smallest number required 10 receive full pension when system is mature, but because the system is somewhat new the
carnings-related component is still relatively small and covers few years,

3Suatutory retirement at age 60 (30 years of work required), with 22.6-percent replacement rate; under the law retirecs with 35 or 40 years of work would
also have a 22,6-percent replacement rate at age 60. Age shown in “retirement age”™ column is “normal™ retirement age, and computations here are for
that age.

SWith gzmributions cach year from ages 16 (0 64 inclusive; 2-percent decrement for each uncxcused year of noncontribution, but system is in effect
virtually universal

TFor nni{rersal part of program, contributions in all years since attainment of age 18; for wage-related part, contributions in all years afser 1962,

sWith | calendar quarter of coverage for each year afier 1950 and up to year worker reached age 65,

o Social Security Bulletin, December 1974, page 45.

I-6461 LNIWILV.LS
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The gross income received by the employee is, of course, not his spendabile income,
Deductions must be made to recognize federal income taxes, Social Security taxes, and
often state and local income taxes. Also, there is no need to replace the component of
income spent before death, disability or retirement on work-related expenses, e.g., the
costs of commuting to work. Finally, the share of earned income allocated to savings,
¢.2., to build up funds for future income maintenance, is no longer required. The portion
of gross income remaining after these adjustments represents the income actually con-
sumed by the individual or family; it is this net income that supports and measures their
standard of living.

Standard-of-Living Measure

Table 1V shows how these considerations may be quantified in the case of employees
from age 55 to 65. This age range, close to retirement, is also where the deaths and dis-
abilities of the working span are concentrated.

Table (V%

Spending parterns while working
Jor ages 55 10 65 as of July 1, 1973

) (2a) b @ @) )]

Gross Federal Social Work- Standard-
Annual Income % Security %, |Reclated ¢, Personal %, of-Living %
Earnings  Taxes of (1) Taxes of(l) Expenses of (1) Savings of(1) Measure of(l)

Single
$ 5,000 $ 490 9.87, $290 58% $ 260 52% S O 0% 53,90 719.2%
7,500 1,000 13.3 40 5.3 400 5.3 100 1.3 5,560 4.1
10,000 1,530 153 580 5.8 560 5.6 400 40 6,930 653
15.000 2,630 17.5 770 5.1 930 6.2 1,500 10,0 9,170 61.1

25,000 5,420 217 70 3.1 1,480 59 4,250 17.0 13,080 523
50,000 15,350 30.7 770 1.5 2,280 4.6 8,850 17,7 22,750 455

Married, hushand and wife of equal age with no other dependents
$ 5,000 $ 330 6.67% 8290 58% § 260 S52% § O 0% $4,120 824

7,500 760 10,1 40 53 400 5.3 100 13 580 773
10,000 1,190 11.9 580 5.8 560 5.6 400 4.0 7,210 727
15,000 2,100 140 770 5.1 930 6.2 1,500 10.0 9,700 64.7
25,000 4,310 172 770 1.1 1,480 5.9 4,250 17.0 14,190 563

50,000 12,620 25.2 770 1.5 32380 4.6 8,350 177 25480 510
8} See Notes on Page 120

The calculations are as of mid-1974. Much of the raw material for this type of analysis
is available from government sources., While judgmental modifications are necessary in
adapting the data, the reliability of the results is not impaired as long as they are taken,
as intended, 10 measure relative magnitudes rather than the precise circumstances of
particular individuals. For example, Table 1V says that, on the average, a married em-
ployee with annual earnings of $15,000 pays $2,100 in federal income taxes, and $770 in
Social Security taxes, has $930 of work-related expenses, and saves $1,500, leaving $9,700
for current consumption, which we are designating as the standard-of-living measure.
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Retirement

This leads us to the question of how much gross income is necessary at age 65 to main-
tain pre-retirement living standards. As mentioned earlier, work-related expenses have
ceased and savings need no longer be added to. Also, substantial Social Security payments
are received, which are not subject to income taxes, and larger exemptions are available
for federal income tax purposes.

After allowing for all these factors, the question becomes how much pre-tax income will
provide a total after-tax income, along with Social Security, equal to the standard-of-
living measure before retirement? Table V provides this analysis.

_ Table ¥~
Spending patterns after retirement /-'-\
0] @ @) @ ) \

Pre- Federal Standard-

Retirement Social Taxable Income Income of-Living

Earnings Security Supplement® Taxes Measure®

Single
$ 5,000 $2,540 $ 1,420 $ 0 $ 3,960
7,500 3,300 2,260 0 5,500
10,000 3,660 3,350 80 6,930
15,000 3,720 5,980 530 92,170
25,000 3,840 10,740 1,500 13,080
50,000 3,840 23,630 4,720 23,750
Married, husband and wife of equal age with no other dependerfts

S 5.000 $3,810 $ 3o $ o $4120
7,500 4,950 850 0 5,800
10,000 5,490 1,780 0 7,270
15,000 5,580 4,120 0 9,700
25,000 5,760 9,210 730 14,190
50,000 5,760 23,180 3,480 25.480

» See Notes on Page 120
b Column (5) minus Column (2) plus Column (4)
% From Table [V

The taxable income supplement is the balancing item, sclved for as the amount that,
after reduction for federal income taxes, will equal the standard-of-living measure when
added to Social Security. At the $£50,000 earnings level, for instance, the standard-of-
living measure for a couple is $25,480. Since Social Security provides $5,760 tax free, a
taxable income supplement is needed which will provide $19,720 after taxes. At that level
of income, on average, $23,180 of taxable income will be reduced by $3,460 in federal
income taxes, leaving $19,720 of after-tax income.

Disability

Now consider the case of an employee who becomes disabled in his 50°s or early 60's
for an extended period or permanently. What income should be continued if he and his
family are to maintain their pre-disability standard of living? Their need for continued
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Table VIV
Spending pasterns afier disability
0 @ @ @ f ®
Pre- Taxabile Federal Standard.
Disability Social Income Income of-Living
Earnings Security Supplement® Taxes Measures
Single

$ 5,000 $2,340 $ 1,420 5 o0 $ 3,960

7,500 3,300 2,260 0 3,560

10,000 3,660 3270 0 6,930

15,000 3,720 5,450 0 9,170

25,000 3,840 9,620 330 13,080

30,000 3,840 21,980 3,070 22,750

Married, husband and wife with no other dependents

$ 5,000 . $2,540 $ 1,580 s 0 $ 4,120

7,500 3,300 2,500 0 5,800

10,000 3,660 3,610 0 7,210

15,000 3,720 5,980 0 9,700

25,000 3,840 10,760 410 14,190

50,000 3,840 24,660 3,020 25,480

Married, husband and wife with one dependent child, age 18 to 21 and§in school

$ 5,000 $3,810 $ 430 $ O $ 4,240
1,500 4,950 1,000 0 5,950
10,000 5,490 1,960 0 71,450

15,000 5,580 4,440 0 10,020

25,000 5,760 9,610 120 15,250
50,000 5,760 24,650 2,340 27,610

wSee Notes on Page 120
»®Column (5) minus Column (2) plus Column (4)
2 From Table 1V, with adjustment in the third tier for lesser federal income taxes and savings

support is analyzed in Table VI, The calculation of the taxabie income supplement pro-
ceeds in the manner described for Table V, recognizing that the first $100 per week of
employer-financed disability income is not taxabie.

Two special and opposing considerations apply to disability income benefits. Under-
writing caution would set the maximum income during disability somewhat below that
required to maintain pre-disability living standards in order to leave a financial incentive
for the wage earner to seek to return to work. On the other hand, extended disability
sometimes results in continuing, substantial medical expenses, creating an income need
not recognized by the standard-of-living measure,

Death

Similarly, Table VII brings out the income maintenance required to preserve the living
standard of the family of a wage earner who dies before retirement.

Social Security benefits are available to a surviving spouse without dependent children
only after age 65 {or age 60 in a reduced amount?). If there are dependent children, the age
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Table VII®
Spending patterns after death m

K @ ® @ [ & ]
Federal Standard-
Death Social Taxable Income Income of-Living
Earnings Security Suppiement® Taxes Measures!
Widow, uander 65, with no dependent children
$ 5,000 $ 0 $ 3,50 s 20 $ 3,300
7,500 0 4,810 460 4,350
10,000 0 5,720 630 5,000
15,000 o 7,240 240 6,300
25,000 0 10,060 1,540 8,520
50,000 0 18,930 3,630 15,300
Widow, with two dependent childien
$ 5,000 .15 5 200 $ 0 § 4,350
7,500 6,160 10 0 6,170
10,000 6,690 190 Q 6,380
15,000 6,790 2,000 0 8,790
25,000 6,960 5570 300 12,20
50,000 6,960 18,080 2,740 22,300 )

) Sec Notes on Page 120 v

b Column (5) minus Column (2) plus Column (4)
¢! From Table 1V, adjusted to remove employee expenses, lower federal income taxes, and elimi-
nate savings

of the widow is not a factor, and the amount of the benefit depends on whether thereis
one child, or two or more. The table does not show two iatermediate situations: (i) the
surviving spouse without dependent children becomes elig.ble at age 65 for about four-
sevenths the Social Security benefits shown for the two-dependent-children case, and (ii)
the surviving spouse with one dependent child is eligible for about six-sevenths of that
shown,

Benefit Plan Design

These analyses of spending patterns of wage eamers and their families are useful as
quantitative tools in designing new income benefit plans and evaluating the effectiveness
of existing plans.

Using the simpler retirement situation for illustration, Iet us look first at Social Security.
What proportion of the standard-of-living measure dees Social Security provide? This is
shown in Table V1I1.

The benefits are seen 10 be weighted strongly in favor of those at lower income levels,
At $5,000 of earnings, which is at the lowest end of wage levels now, the Social Security
percentage is 64%, for a retired individual and 92%; for the more typical case of a retired
couple. Broadly speaking, the System appears to be working weil at the lower income
levels in assuring the maintenance of living standards. Furthermore, with rising earnings,
the benefits as a percentage of standard-of-living requirements diminish progressively
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Table VIII
Social security refated 10 standard of living

1) ) @) @)
Pre- Standard- % of
Retirement Social of-Living Siandard-of-Living
Earnings Securitys Measured! Measures!
Single
S 5,000 $2,540 $ 3,960 64%
7,500 3,300 5,560 59
10,000 3,660 6,930 53
15,000 3,720 9,170 41
25,000 3,840 13,080 29
50,000 3,840 22,750 17
Married, husband and wife of equal age with no other dependents
$ 5,000 33,810 $ 4,12 92%
7,500 4,9%0 5,800 85
10,000 5,490 7,270 76
15,000 5,580 9,700 53
25,000 5,760 14,190 41
50,000 5,760 25,480 23
» Column (2} of Table V

» Column (5) of Table IV
& Column (2} divided by Column (3)

to 179 for an individual and 239 for a couple when p.e¢-retirement earnings become
$50,000. This is consistent with the philosophy of providing only a floor of pratection,

An employer seeking to evalyate his owrt retirement plar: starts with the almost univer-
sal Social Security program as a given. In general, these plans are paid for whoily by the
employer, and so their benefits are fuily taxable to the emgloyees.

Table V sets forth the amount of taxable income supplement required in addition to
Social Security for the employees' standard of living to be maintained into retirement.
The adequacy of the employer's plan can therefure be measured by expressing the benefit,
i.e., the company plan supplement, as a percentage of this taxable income supplement,

How well the standard-of-living measure, itself, is met can be judged by expressing the
sum of Social Security and the company supplement as a percentage of the sum of Social
Security and the taxable income supplement. (Strictly speaking, the federal income taxes
should be calculated for the employee's benefit so that after-tax comparisons c¢an be made,
but these calculations are tedious and the results would not be materially different for
most plans.)

As a useful example, consider a plan providing for the carecer employee an income
equal to 509 of his average earnings near retirement, reduced by 83 1/3 % of the primary
(single employee) Social Security retirement benefit, with benefits proportionately lower
for shorter service employees.

The use of final average earnings and a direct offset of the Social Security benefit is
representative of modern benefit design in the United States of America. The levei of offser
allowed must comply with complex rules of the Treasury Department if the plan is 1o
qualify for favorable tax status, The reduction of five-sixths of the primary benefit is the
largest permitied and somewhat higher than usual practice.



STATEMENT 1979-1 85

The evaluation of this company plan appears in Table 1X. For each of the comparisons,
the plan does less well for the single employee than for the married empioyee. The reason
is that in the United States of America single individuals are taxed more heavily than mar-
ried persons. Consequently, for single individuals the amount of the faxable income sup-
plement is significantly more. The company income supplement, therefore, becomes
proportionately less, and to a greater degree at the lower income levels, and the percentage
of the standard-of-living measure suffers as well.

The plan does a good job for married employees, the situation of most employees at
retirement and, therefore, normally the one given the most weight. The company plan
supplement is somewhat larger than the taxable income supplement except for the highest
earnings and, correspondingly, the plan provides for a little more than the maintenance of
living standards. The excess could be reduced if an increase in the offset of Social Security
were allowable under Treasury rules, or if the 50%; of earnings in the benefit formula
were reduced by 1%, or so, but either of these would worsen the plan for single empioyvees,
Benefits under private plans are not customarily varied by marital status.

Table I1X
Company plan evaluarion
H ] {3) (4) {5 6)
o of o of
Pre. Company Taxable Taxable Standard-
Retirement Social Plan Income Income of-Living
Earnings Security Supplement Supplementt! Supplement®  Measures!
. Single
§ 5,000 $2,540 5 38 S 1,420 27% 142
7,500 3,300 1,000 2,260 44 7
10,000 3,660 1,930 3,330 38 80
15,000 3,720 4,400 5,980 ke 84
25,000 3,840 9,300 10,740 87 %0
50,000 3,30 21,800 23,630 92 93
Married, husband and wife of equal age with no other dependents
S 5,000 $3,810 S 33 $ 310 1245, 102%
7,500 4,950 1,000 850 118 103
10,000 5,490 1,950 1,730 110 102
15,000 5,580 4,400 4,120 107 103
25,000 5,760 9,300 9,210 01 101
50,000 5,760 21,800 23,180 94 95

» From Tabie V
» Column (3) divided by Column (4)
¢ {Column (2) plus Column (3)} divided by [Column (2} plus Column (4)]

By contrast, we may consider a plan that does nort offser Social Security. Under the pre-
sent plan for public employees in a prominent industrial siate, career employees are en-
titled to 609} of final pay up to 512,000, and 5094 of final pay in excess thereof in addition
1o Social Security. The results are shown in Table X.

In this instance, the state plan supplesent provides much more than the amount of the
taxable income supplement, and the combination of Social Security and the state plan
supplement provides income far in excess of that needed to maintain pre-retirement living
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Table X
Public employee plen evaluation
v Q) Q) 1)) 16)] (6)
’ % af %ol
Pre- State Taxable Taxable Standard-
Retirement Social Plan Income Income of-Living
Earnings Security Suppiement Supplement® Supplement®  Measure?
Single
$ 5,000 52,540 $ 3,000 $ 1,420 241% 140%
7,500 3,300 4,500 2,260 199 140
10,000 3,660 6,000 3,3% 1m 138
15,000 3,720 8,700 5,980 145 128
25,000 3,840 13,700 10,740 128 120
350,000 3,840 26,200 23,630 111 109
Married, husband and wife with no other dependents
$ 5,000 $3,810 $ 3,000 s o 9689, 165%
7,500 4,950 4,500 850 529 163
10,000 5,4% 6,000 1,730 3 158
15,000 5,580 8,700 4,120 211 147
25,000 5,760 13,700 9,210 149 130
50,000 5,760 26,200 23,180 13 110

» From Table V
® Columa (3) divided by Column (4)
@ [Column (2) plus Column (3)] divided by [Column (2) plus Column (4)]

standards. It would appear that this kind of analysis played little part in the pragmatic
political process which shaped the state plan’s benefit formula.

Retirement plans different from those illustrated can be tested in a similar way. Dis-
ability plans can be designed or evaluated similarly, using the data in Table VI. Disability

Chart 1
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plans are free to take full account of Social Security benefits, and frequently do by defining
benefits as a percentage of earnings reduced by whatever Social Security benefit may be-
come payable regardiess of family status.

Death benefit plans can be analyzed with the data in Table Vil. The typical death benefit
plan presents a complication because, uniike Social Security benefits and private disability
benefits, the predominant form of individual and group fife insurance provides asingle-sum
payment at death. This makes comparison and evaluation somewhat more difficult, not
because income must be converted to its single-sum equivalent but because employer
plans customarily vary benefits only with earmings rather than with the age of the wage
earner and his family situation. Hence, the usual single-sum plan is relatively least ade-
quate at the younger ages and most adequate at the older ages because the insurance
need is largest at the younger ages and then gradually diminishes as the family grows
older.

Chart 1 illustrates the pattern of variation with age in the single-sum equivalent of sur-
vivoer income maintenance requirements for a typical family. Expressed as a multiple of
earnings, the example shows that the need starts at about five times earnings when the
employee gets married, rises above six times and then begins to diminish at about age 40.

Maintenance of Purchasing Power

The standard-of-living measure was derived in terms of the economic circumstances
of the individual shortly before cessation of earnings because of retirement, disability, or
death. How long into the income period will these measures remain vatid? The recent
sharp rises in the rate of inflation have rmade this a major concern.

Social Security was amended in 1972 to adjust benefits annually in proportion to changes
in the Consumer Price Index and to adjust covered earnings in proportion to an index
of wages in covered employment. Periodic but sporadic updating of benefits for existing
retired empioyees has become far more common and a few plans, including those for
retired military personnel and federat civil service employees as well as some in industry,
have introduced a regular plan mechanism for periodic adjustment. In a major develop-
ment in private union-negotiated benefits, the aluminum, can and steel industries intro-
duced a limited experimental indexing in 1974 which will be watched closely by students
of private benefit design.

Conclusion

Some employers find this quantitative approach to income benefits immediately appeal-
ing, both in evaluating present plans and in designing new ones. This is true mainly in
connection with plans for salaried employees where there are no union employess, or
where negotiated and salaried benefit programs are designed independently.

Other employers feel constrained to keep in line with the benefit patterns of employers
in their locality or industry. Still others must bargain benefit costs directly, e.g., on a
cents-per-hour basis; often the translation of costs into specified benefits is done by others
on an industry-wide basis or in a negotiating atmasphere that subordinates such plan
design considerations to more pressing objectives. Even so, employers and unicns in the
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private sector have responded to this type of quantitative examination when benefits
were shown to be reaching excessive levels. A significant recent example is the reintroduc-
tion into the negotiated pension plans of the aluminum, can and steel industries of “cap”
provisions that limit the sum of the primary Social Security benefit and the company
plan supplement to a specified percentage of earnings near retirement.

The authors hope that the analyses presented here will be useful to others invalved with
pension and welfare plans. They are offered only as guides to overall patterns and average
situations, and leave ample room for the exercise of individual judgment. Nevertheless,
the concept of a quantitative approach to the design and evaluation of income benefits
should lead to a more useful and realistic allocation of benefit plan resources,

Notes io Tables [V, V, V1, and Vil

{1] Federal income taxes are based on the 1974 income tax schedules with personal and depen-
dent exemptions of $750 each. For annual incomes under §10,000, the low income allowance was
taken into account. For annual incomes of 310,000 ocr more, deductions totaling 159 of income
were assumed.

{2} Social Security taxes equal 5.85% of taxable wages, with a maximum taxable carnings base
of $13,200, Social Security benefits are those that would have commenced July 1, 1974, assuming
that prior earnings had increased at the rate of § % each year and do not reflect changes in benefit
levels since that time.

[3] Work-related expenses are based on the 1960—61 Consummer Expenditures and Income
Survey, adjusted to refiect the rise in such expenses through early 1974,

[4] Personal savings estimates are derived from the Survey of Changes in Family Finances.

(5] The estimated standard-of-living incomes in the case of survivor spending paticins in Tabie
VII have been modified from those presented in Tables V and VI to reflect reduced consumption
following the death of the wage earner. The reduction factors are consistent with the findings
presented in The Widows Study: Adjustment to Widowhood.
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Summary

In the United States of America, financial support for individuals and families in the
event of disability, death, and retirement comes from the measures taken by the indi-
viduals themselves on their own behalf, by employer-sponsored benefit pians for groups
of employees, and by the federal Social Security program.



LETTERS

Soclal Securily

Sir:

Mr. Bayo's artiele in the Juns issue
summarizes the 1978 reports on the
Social Security Trust Funds. I would Jike
to emphasize the importance of these re-
ports which does not terminate with
their publication. These reports on the
program’s finarcial condition were re-
leased by Sccial Security’s Bosxd of
Trustees with as little fanfare a3 posaible.
To do otherwise would have been to
risk publicizing that, despite recent assur.
arces to the public that the 1977 Amend-
ments placed the Social Security pro-
gram in sound financial condition for
the next 50 years, the facta (aceording
to projections prepared by the Social
bty St i) are

as follows:

# The Hospital Insuranes program will
begin operating at a deficit in 1985
aud the Hospital Insurance trast fund
will be exhausted i abont 1990—just
12 years from now.

o To finance the benefits provided under
the present Socisl Security program
(Old-Age, Survivors, Disability acd
Hospital Insurance combined) will
require current tax rate of 6.05 per-
cetit 0 be increxsed steadily to ap-
proximatsly 8 percent by the year
2000 and 12 percent by the year 2025,
Ia other wozds, the tax rate will have
to increase, on the average, by 0.13
percent each yeer for the next 46
years at which 1ime it will ba some 12
pe of bi {Current
law provides for the tax rate to io-
crease to 7.65 percent by the year 1990
and to remain level thereafter.)

Publicity of this type coyld have been
considered to be inappropriate at a time
when the public wes balking at a sche-
duled tax rate increase in 1979 of 2
mere 0.08 percent {from 6.05 percent to
6.13 percent) and when the Congress
was considering “rolling back™ the tex
rate to 5.05 percent and “using general
revenue” to mest the deficits thus created,
For those not familiar with government
jargon, it may be useful to point out
that to “use general revenue™ can mesn
any one of these three things:
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ATTACHMENT D

(1) Reduce government spending o
that 2 portivn of the general taxes
aiready being collected will be
available to pay Social Security
benefits,

(2) Increase the general tases so thot
additional funds wilt be availsble
to pay Social Secusity benefits.

(3) Do neither {1} nor (2), but io-
crease the nstioms! debt by the
amount needed to pay the pertion
of the Social Security benefits which
cannot be financed by Social Secu-
rity payroll taxes, ie, ecgoge in
deficit spending.

Proposals the past fow months to use
g i 1o fi Social Seeu.
rity benefits have contemplated defini-
tion (3) 30 as “lo minimize the impact
on the y.” This is specious rea-
soning 1o say the least. Suth action
would be tantemount te continuing bene-
St payments at ever-increasing levels but
refusing to collect the taxes necessary to
pay for such benefits. This first small
dose of deficit spending “to pay for”
Secial Security would undoubtedly ro
sult in contineing and larger doses unl,ﬂ

89

TEE ACTUARY 1a
periodic news
puablication of the.
Society of Actuariesl,
Saptember, 1978,

Once the public knows what Social
Security is and what it costs, they will
be in a position to reafficm the program
ore&le.ct & revision which strikes an ac.

the public Ily b hopel
addicted to the illusion of petting some-
thing for nothing. Congress has an awe-
some responsibility in deciding whether
to be the pusher for euphoric deficit
spending for Social Security.

In addition to this responsibility, Con-
gress has a golden opportunity to regain
some of the public confidence it has Tost
in Tecent years. Jost becanse the Trustess
{ssued theiz financial reports te the Con-
gress without fanfare, that doesn’t mean
the Congress has to keep quiet. Congress
should communicats the rasults of these
financial reports to the public so they
will bave a full understanding of the
probable cost of Social Security, now
and in the future Attempts to conceal
the cost, or minimize the significance of
the cost, or apologize for the cost will
not chenge the cost in any way. Further-
more, Congress should explain to the
public the rationale of the Social Seca-
zity program so that people will know
what role they should expect Social Se-
curity to play in meeting their income
maintenance nceds.

D p what the
public wants and what it is williag to
pay for. In either event, evervone will
be the winner, If the public is not given
more information, cveryone will be the
lager.

4. Baewarth Robertson
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ATTACHMENT E

THE SOCTAL SECURTTY DEFINITICN OF DISABILITY

For purposes of disabled worker's benefits under the Soccial Security
Act, disability is defined as the jinability to engage in any substantial
gainful activity because of a medically determinable physical or mental
disorder which is expected to result in death or last for at least 12
consecutive months. Not oaly must the worker be unsble to perform his
regular job but he must be unable to perform any kind of substantial work
that exists in the nationai economy,

The disability determinations are made by appropriate state agencies
according to standards'se‘b by the Social Security Administration and a
gelected sample is reviewed by the Social Security Administration.

However, in spite of this attempt to assure uniformity, & study made several
years ago indicated that there are significant differences between the states
in the application of the standards.

If the agency making the determination feels that the worker might be
rehabilitated, the worker may be referred to a state vocational rehabilita-
tion agency and the costs of these services may be paid from the Social
Security trust funds. However, there are wesknesses in this which will be
explained later when substantial gainful activity ia discussed.

The key items in the definition of disability are {a) medically
determinable mental or physical disorder and (b) substantial gainful
activity available in the national economy, Each of these is discussed
below.

Medicelly Determinable Mental or Physical Disorder - This is interpreted

to mean that the disability must be able to be shown by medically acceptable
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elinicsl a.nd. diagnostic techniques, Thus, the statement of aldn'ctor that

a worker is disabled is not sufficient to demonstrate that a worker is
disabled and this is necessary to avoid vast differences in the application of
the standards especially since few doctors know what the Social Security
standards are. However, non-medical factors such as age, education and past
work experience are alszo taken into account in determining if an employee
could perform any work that exists in the national economy as defined below.

Substantial Geinful Activity Availsble in the National Economy
Under this criteria all that is necessary is to show that there are a

significent pumber of jobs in existence somewhere in the nation that tha
disabled workers could perform. It is not neceasary to show that the
employee would be hired if he appliad for them or that there are vacancies
for these jobs. To do otherwise would make the application of the standards
sugceptiible to changes in the economy and other non-medical factors. How-
ever, the courtzs have been taking the position that the employee need only
prove he cannot perform his regular job and that after he has done that
the burden of proof shifts to the Social Security Administration to show
what other jobs exist that the worker could perform. The services of
vocational consultants are used for this purpcse but here again there iz a
lack of uniformity especially if the medical evidence might be conflicting
since the consultant mekes an evaluation of the medlcal evidence on his own.
Angther major probiem is in defining what congtitutes substantial
gainful activity, This ls not Qefined in the Act but in regulations put
out by the Sccial Security Administration. If an employee earns more than
the exempt amount applicable to non-dissbled beneficiaries for purpoSes of
the earnings test (in 1977 this amount was $3,000), he ia deemed able to

perform substantial gainiul activity.
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The above definition of substantial gainful sctivity is also used
to terminate benefits after a trial work period. Since the earnings are
taxable and frequently less thea the non-taxable Social Security bvenefit
which the worker stands to lose by engaging in employment, this definition
acts as a deterrent to an employee trying to rehabilitete himself. It is
possible that if employees were encouraged to try to work and maks substantial
earnings without risking the complete loss of benefits worth more than the
earnings, the coats of the program might be reduced, HNo doubt many disahled
workers intentionally limit their earnings so that they do not exceed the
exempt amount in order to avold losing their Social Security benefita
completely, Bacause of the above, the conscientious individuzl who tries
%o help himself is frequently put at a disegdvantage, Furthermore, the
disabled employee is in an ell or nothing position as far as his benefit
is concerned but the non-diasbled retired worker can retain part of his
benefit if he works and earns above the exempt amount because of the way
the earningz test works. There is a question as to why the restrictions
on the disabled worker whose medical impairment is continuing should be
more severe than on the non-disabled beneficiary under the age of 72,

The standards above apply to disabled workers and disabled children
beneficiaries, A different standard applies to disabled widows primarily
because of the difficulties involved in showing the ability to work for a
woman who may have been out of the labor force for many years before she
became a widow.

Based on the above, any changes contemplated in the definition of
disebility should take into account two arsas {a) more uniformity and
(b) an incentive to disebled workers to rehebllitate themselves and %o

reenter the labor force.



STATEMENT 1979-2 93

AMERICAN ACADEMY OF ACTUARIES
208 South La Salle Street = (.'hif-:q.;n, {Hinois 60608

2i2/T82-1201

January 9, 197%

Director of Research and Technical Activities
Financial Accounting $Standards Board

file Reference No. 1056

High Ridge Park

Stamford, Conmnecticut 06905

Dear Sir:

The American Academy of Actuaries Committee on Fimanclal Reparting
Principles welcomes and supports your "Proposal for Dealing with
Industry Accounting Matters and Accounting Questions of Limited
Application''. We share the concerns expressed by others over the
difficuities which are certain to arise when more than one organiza-
tion is determining accounting standards. For the reasons listed

in your ‘letter, we agree that it is reasonable that the FASB should
have exclusive responsibility for determining accounting standards.

Two aspects of the proposal concern us.

tn the past, the FASB has recognized the difficulties in applying
accounting principles to employee benefit plans, insurance companies,
and other entities for which actuaries are especially concerned. The
FASB also recognized the necessity of taking actuarial principles into
consideration in developing accounting standards. As more specific
accounting principles are developed, it becomes even more important
that the FASB sclicit and seek to understand the contribution which
actuaries can make. We ask that you continue this effort and, to

the extent possible, increase it. We slso recommend that the FASB
strengthen its staff to include individuals with specialized knowladge
and experience in accounting for employee benefit plans and insurance
companies including, if possible, one or more actuaries.

More generally, there are certain activities which are so dependent
on actuarial considerations that an understanding of those actuarial
considerations is necessary in order to develop proper accounting
standards. Such activities include complex discounting functions
of all kinds and activities dependent upon the occurrence {or ltack
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Director of Research and Technical Activities
January 9, 1979
Page Two

thereof) of future events (such as insurance or annuity functions).

When an issue involving actuarial considerations is under study, we

very strongly urge that the actuarial profession be directly involved

in the developmental stages of the work., |In particular, FASB committees
or task farces for such issues should include appropriate actuarial
representation,

Our second concern is with the propesed ''technical bulletins''. We

are concerned that many of the issues of special importance to actuaries
may be the subjects of these technical bulletins. In some cases, the
concern of actuaries may not even be apparent to the FASB staff. In

the past, we have observed that some FASB positions have been issued
without fully recognizing informed opinion--~for example, [nterpretation 15
to Statement 8. We believe that the process for issuing technical bulletins
will need to include greater opportunity for public participation than is
contemplated. One specific suggestion we have is that the FASB regularly
publish lists of Tssues on which technical bulletins are beaing developed.
Interested parties would then be able to alert the FASB of possible pit-
falls or interrelated special concerns and, where appropriate, could

offer to provide knowledgeable assistance or advice.

finally, we wish to assure you that the Academy of Actuaries Is always
available to provide assistance in matters involving actuarial concerns.

Sincerely,

/Z,Gl&wf 5 ﬂfi“)t;

Richard $. Robertson, Chairman
American Academy of Actuaries Committee
on Financial Reporting Principies

RSR:co
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MATERIALS RE SAS 11
INSURANCE

CONTENTS

Preliminary Corment
1. Pertinent Portions of AICPA Professional Standards

2. SAS 11 (Revised) (Section 336) Using The Work of An Actuary
Specialist - Life and Health Insurance

384. Sections 509.09, 509.16 Revised - Draft
5. Recommendation 2 Revised - Oraft (see 6)
. Recommendation 2 Current (Information only)

6

7. Recommendation 3 Current (Infonnation only)

8. Inquiries Which Might Be Made of Actuary Specialist (to be written)
9

Sources of Information Regarding Actuarial Matters {barely started)
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PRELIMINARY COMMENT

This material was prepared as if there would be a separate 3AS to cover cnly
1ife and health insurance {which will not cover casualty insurance, nor
pensions, nor other industries). The reason for selecting this format was
simply to make it easier to put something together. The selection of this
format does not imply that it is the format which shculd be used. Eventually,
hopefully, the SAS from 1ife and health insurance would be expanded to include
casualty insurance to make one SAS for all insurance and also further ex-
panded to include pensions to make one SAS for actuarial work. Such- expan-
sion would take into account specific needs in the other areas such as the ERISA
requirements that the Enrolled Actuary be retained on behalf of plan
particivants and that he render an opinion regarding the actuarial assumptions
and methods. Having made the simplifying assumption that the material covered
only 1ife and health insurance, 1% was natural to label it SAS #1, Section
336, as if the present SAS did not exist.

The final product will read much easier if some thinking now going forward
about the definition of types of actuarial communications reaches fruition.
Specifically, we are distinguishing betwzen two distinct types of communi-
cations. In an “actuarial opinion® an actuary states an opinion on a matter
with respect to whieh he had the responsibility for the work. In an “actuarial
review" an actuary states an opinicn based on & review of actuarial work he

did not himsel¥ do. An actuarial review could be rendered only by an actuary
who was not involved in the original work and was not invelved organizationally
or financially with any person or firm who did the work.

In the material as drafted, there are certain implicit and/or explicit
perceptions concerning the roles unique to the auditor and the actuarial
specialist which we trust will be clear to the infarmed reader.

This material is simply a starting draft for discussion. We hope that it
will be a useful vehicle enabling use to progress toward a meaningful product.

The Recommendation 2 draft, especially, needs more wo}k on clarity, syntax
and organization.
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Pertinent Portions of AICPA
Professional Standards

sas#
11 Using the Work of a Specialist
12 Inquiry of a Client's Lawyer
19 Client Representations
2 Reports on Audited Financial Statements
Internal Control ’
1 Part of Examination Made by Other Auditors

1. Interpretations af Above.
2. Industry Audit Guide: Audits of Stock Life Insurance Companies
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AU Section 336

USING THE WORK OF AN ACTUARY -
LIFE AND ACCIDENT AND HEALTH INSURANCE

.01 The purpose of this section is to provide guidance to the auditor with
respect to his ysing the work of an actuary in performing an examination of
financial statements of a 1ife and accident and health insurance company in
accordance with generally accepted auditing standards.

DECISION TO USE THE WORK OF AN ACTUARY -

.02 The auditor's education and experience enable him to be knowledgeable
about business matters in general, but he is not expected to have the exper-
tise of 2 persaon trained for and qualified to engage in the practice of the
actuarial professian.

.03 The life and accident and health insurance business is characterized by
Tong term obligations and is based upon probabilities, risks, and the time

value of money. Hence, financial statements are based on probabilistic eval-
vations of future events with appropriate recognition of the time value of
money. In general, actuarial liabilities reflecting these considerations amcunt

to 70-90% of total liabilities, and assets reflecting these considerations amcunt
to 10-40% of total assets. The provisian for future pelicy benefits, unamortized

acouisition costs, and ralated items ars examples of such liabilities and assets,
The necessary preparation to practice in the actuarial profession involves ex-
tensive training and experience in the determination of such items. Their
determination requires professional actuarial judgment. These {tems are ex-
tremely material to the financial statements, usually being the dominant

element.

.04 Hence, an auditor should, unless his judgment dictates otherwise due %o
exceptional and unusual circumstances, make use of an agtuary as a specialist
during his examination. Such actuary is referred to hereaftar in this section
as the "specialist®.

QUALIFICATIONS OF THE ACTUARY - _

.05 The auditor should satisfy himself as to the professional qualificiations
and reputation of the specialist by inguiry or other procedures as appropriate.
The auditor should consider the following:

.
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{a) The professional designatidn of the specialist. Membership in the
American Academy of Actuaries (the Canadian Institute of Actuaries with
respect to Canada) is generally considered evidence of qualification to
practice in the actuarial profession.

{b) The professional reputation and standing of the specialist in view
of his peers, especially other actuaries and CPA's. The auditor should
make inquiries in this regard of other practitioners (actuaries and CPA's),
responsible sources in the insurance industry, and other appropriate
sources. ,

{c) The professional standards enunciated by the American Academy of
Actuaries govern the tynes of assignments an actuary should accept.

.06 The auditor must also consider the relationship of the specialist to the

parties and to the preparation of items for the financial statements.
(a) The auditor may use the services of a specialist who is an employee
of the client, including a specialist who prepared items for the financial
statements.
(b) The auditor may use the services of a specialist who is inderendent
(financially and organizationally) of the client and of the auditor whether
or not the specialist or a member of his firm has supplied advice or has
otherwise been involved regarding elements of the financial statements.
(c) The auditor may use the services of a specialist who 1s not indepen-
dent (financially and organizationally) of the auditor but neither the
specialist, nor a member of his firm, has supplied advice or otherwise
been involved regarding elements of the financial statements, (Use of
the services of a specfalist who is nat independent £financially and
organizationallx;Fof the auditor where the specialist or a member of his
firm has supplied advice or has otherwise bean involved regarding elements
of the financial statements is not appropriate. This is because of the
independence and objectivity recuired to apply audit considerations and
arocedures to the gqualifications of, and use of the findings of, the
specialist.)

Ir a1l cases, it is good practice to learn in advance of such relationships.

(1) For example, the AAA Opinion A-5 as to professional conduct revised 1978
states "... A special responsibility rests on every actuary to undertake only
those assignments which he is oualified to do...There may be some situations
where,... an actuary is invited to give adivee in a field where he has had in-
adequate training or experience. The actuary should accept an assignment for
which his qualifications are so limited only after he has disclosed the limita-
tions to his client, and should undertake in the course of the assignment re-
search and professional consultation sufficient to overcome these limitations."
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AUDITING CONSIDERATIONS AND PROCEDURES - QUALIFICATIONS OF THE ACTUARY

.07 1n addition to the considerations and procedures mentioned above, the
auditor should satisfy himself that: L)the specialist has sufficient under-
standing of the requirements of generally accepted accounting principles as
they apply to life insurance company financial reporting and the roles of the
actuary and the auditor, and 2)the specialist is thoroughly familiar with
professional standards of the actuarial profession, especially as regards the
engagement.(z) The importance of this procedure cannot be averemphasized. The
auditor should take special pains to assure that there is good coemmunication
between the specialist and himself with regard to such matters as “matching”
revenue and expense, “consistency”, and "materiality”. These concepts are of
fundamental importance to the auditor and have specific meanings to him. The
auditor's procedure of satisfying himself concerning qualifications of the
actuary - whose professional judgment will lead to results the auditor plans
to use - should be performed and the results of the procedure documented in
the auditor's files before the work has commenced, and not when the time to
use the findings of this specialist has arrived.

.08 Planning:
{a) The auditor and the specialist should determine in advance: 1)the items,
if any, with respect to which the auditor will exoress reliance an the actuary
in his report, 2)the items with respect to which the specialist will render an
opinion and, 3) the items with respect to which the specialist will provide
assistance to the auditor.
(b} The auditor and specialist should determine the extent to which the auditor
is assuming responsihility for audit forspecific items which will be used by
the specialist in his work.
{c) The auditor shguld assure himself that the specialist has a clear under-
standing as to the use to which the specialist's findings will be put.
(d) The results of the planning procedures should be put in writing.

AUDITING CONSIDERATIONS AND PROCEDURES -~ USE OF THE FINDINGS-OF THE ACTUARY

.09 All cases:
(a) The auditor is entitled to rely on the professional judgment of the
specialist. The auditor is entitled to use the work of the specialist unless

(2} The American Academy of Actuaries Committee on Life Insurance Company Finan-
cial Reporting Principlies has approved "Recommendation 2: Relations With the

Auditor® and "Recommendation 3: Actuarial Report and Statement of Actuarial Opinicn".

These Recommendations are reprinted as Exhibit II (Section 326A) for the con-
venience of readers, but are not an integral part of this statement.
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the findings are unreasonable in the circumstances. The statement of opinion
of a specialist (selected according to the above considerations and procedures)
is sufficient, competent, evidential matter with respect to the items on
which the opinion is rendered unless the findings appear unreasonable. The
standard "unless the findings appear unreasonable" is quite different than
"if the findings appear reasonable”. Inquiry concerning the actuarial items
need be made only if the jtems in question appear unreasonable on their sur-
face compared to the statement taken as a whole.

(b} Although it §s not intended to expand this standard, the auditor should
be aware that other significant sources of information are available to him
from the specialist and/or his own tests of the financial statements taken as
a whole, The first such source of infarmation is the rezport of the specialist.
It should be of such form and content that it can be followed by ancther
actuary. The auditor should carefully read this report to determine whether
the areas addressed by the specialist are in accordance with the plan for

the engagement and whether its content satisfies the auditor's needs. He
should inquire of the specialist concerning any apparent inconsistencies in
the report. Second, the auditor will generally have available the results

of the application of guantitative analyses to the financial statements as

a whole, These are analyses which show the relationship between numerous
items in the financial statements (as opposed to analyses of *he component
parts of each item). Such analyses are freguently prepared by actuaries and
it is entirely appropriate for the auditor to discuss with the specialist the
results of his review of them; any indication of inconsistency between the
ftems supplied by the actuarial specialist and the other items in the finan-
cial statements should lead to inquiry of the specialist. The disciplining of
actuarial assumptions is the responsibility of the actuary and the auditor
should not substitute his judgment fdr the professional judgment of the
specialist. However, the auditor's review of these sources ¢f information

{s fmportant to his understanding of common practices regarding actuarial
assumptions in GAAP financial statements, and he should inguire of the
specialist about any apparent inconsistencies.

(c) If the findings of the specialist appear unreasonable to the auditor he
should not substitute his judgment for that of the specialist. He should
discuss the results with the specialist, and if necessary, obtain the advice
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of a second actuary specialist. Inquiry of the specialist should be most
productive of explanations for the apparent unreasonableness since the
specialist is more familiar with the circumstances. Hence, such fnquiry will
usually resolve any questions. However, if the results of this discussion

are not completely satisfactory, the auditor should seriously consider obtain-
ing the opinion of a second actuary specialist who should be independent with
respect to both the first specialist and the client. In the unlikely case of
a conflicting professional specialists’ opinfons the ultimate decision must

be made by the auditor as to which values, derived from apparently conflicting
sets of competent evidenital matter are to be utilfzed in the financial state-
ments. Lf the auditor cannot make such judgment, he must consider rendering

a qualified opinion.

(d) The auditor will find the professional standards of the American Academy
of Actuaries helpful in determining whether or not ali items which should be
addressed in the actuarial report have been addressed. The auditor should
determine whether or not the actuarial report has considered all items of

the statement which are interrelated. Where the actuarial report has not
considered all interrelated items, he will take special care to assure that
all such items which are not contained in the actuarial report are treated in
a manner consistent with the treatment such items which are contained in the
actuarial report. The auditor will usually find his purposes are best served
if he makes available to the specialist, on a basis which gives due regard to
matters concerning confidentiality,a copy of his consolidating work papers so
that the specialist will have an opportunity to judge whether his findings
appear reasonable to him in light of the financial statements taken as a whole,
(e} Additional considerations and procedures apply if: 1)the specialist is
an empioyee of the client (see paragraph .10}, or 2)the sgecfalist is fnde-
pendent of the client and of the auditor and has contributed elements to the
financial statements or lacks independence with respect to a person who has
contributed elements to the firancial statements (paragraph .11).

.10 Specialist is an employee of the client: The auditor should consider
_additional factors and perform additional procedures as follaws:

{2) The professfonal requirements and standards of the actuarial profession
are the same whether the actuary is empioyed by the client or is independent
of the client, except with regard to the format of the reports the actuary
renders. The auditor must satisfy himself as to the objectivity of the
specialist. The auditor should take into account the organization level
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to which the specialist reports. This frequentiy is an indication of the
extent of his ability to act objectively and knowledgeably. Anather methed
for determining objectivity of the employed specialist is to review the
recommendations made in his reports.

{b) With respect to ¢lements of actuarial judgment reflected in the special-
ist's report, the auditor (as in the case of the independent specialist)
shoeld not substitute his judgment for the professional judgment of the
specialist. If the results produced by the specialist appear unreasonable,
the auditor should discuss the results with the specialist, and if necessary,
obtain the opinion of a second actuary specialist. Again, inquiry of the
specialist should be most productive. A part of the actuary's exercise of
professional judgment is the selection of methods of approximation in per-
forming calculations.

{¢) The caiculations and working papers which carry out the specialist's
Judgments are often prepared by other employees of the client other than

the specialist. In such cases the auditor should consider the need for
planning with the specialist procedures including: 1)reviewing the wark
papers: i)to determine their scope, 1ii)to compare for consistency on a

test basis the results shown on the work papers with the results indicated

in the specialist's actuarial report and, i1i) to verify on a test basis
that the work papers suppert the information presented in the report and,
2)}verifying on a test basis some of the calculations exhibited in the work
papers. Where the auditor has established that the work has been dene ynder
appropriate supervision by the specialist and the auditor's preliminary review
indicates a high degree of control over the wark product, the review and tests
just menticned may be limited {n nature and extent. The same is trye where
the work product has been assembled by peonle not closely supervised by the
specialist, but where either the specialist or peopie directly supervised by
him have reviewed and testad the work product and wihere ohjective evidence of
these measures is available to the auditor.

.11 Specialist is independent of the client and af the auditor, and has con=-
tributed elements to the financial statements or lacks independence with respect
to 2 person who has contributed elements to the financial statements:
{a) The auditor sheuid consider the circumstances of the case and apply his
Judgment to determine the advisability of using some or all of the auditing
considerations and procedures in paragraphs .10{a) and (b}.
(b) Also, if significant elements of the actuarial work were contributed by
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employees of the client other than the specialist or if the auditor feels the
specialist is acting in the role of a member of management or as an employee
of the client, then the auditor should consider the circumstances of the case
and apoiy his judgment to determine the advisability of using some or all of
the auditing considerations and pracedures of paragraph .10(c).

EFFECT ON AUDITOR'S REPORT -

.12 The auditor may express reliance on the specialist with the consent of the
specialist if: 1)the specialist is independent {organizationally and financially)
of the client and of the auditor or, 2)the specialist is not independent of the
auditor (organizationally and financially} but neither he nor any member of his
firm has supplied advice or has otherwise been involved regarding elements of

the financial statements. The auditor should appreciate that the specialist can
only consent to such public expression of reliance on his opinion’'in accordance
with his own orofessional standards.

.13 An example of appropriate reporting by the auditor indicating the division
of responsibility when he makes reference to the work of the specialist follows:
We have examined the consolidated balance sheet of X Company and subsidiaries

as of December 31, 19.., and the related consolidated statements of income

and retained earnings and changes in financial position for the year then
ended. OQur examination was made in accordance with generally accepted auditing
standards and accordingly included such tasts of the accounting records and
such other auditing procedures as we considered necessary in the circumstances.
We did not examine the provision for future policy benefits aor unamortized
acquisition costs which represent 80% of the total liabilities and 30% of the
total assets, respectively. These items were examined by Jahn Doe, M.A.A.A.
(insert employment affiliations), whose report thereon has teen furnished to
us, and our opinion expressed herein, insofar as it relates to such amounts is
based solely upon the report of John Ooe, M.A.A.A.

In our opinion, based upon our examination and the opinion of John Doe, M.A.A.A.,
the accompanying consolidated balance sheet and consolidated statements of
income and retained earnings and changes in financial position present fairly...

.14 An actuarial opinion on which reliance is exprassed should appear with the
financial statements, immediately following the auditor's report; the client
should be encouraged to follow this practice in publication of the statements.
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An actuarial opinion on which reliance is not expressed should accompany the
auditor's report; and the client should be encouraged to include such opinion

in publicaticn of the statements. The form and customary wording of the
actuarial opinion reflects whether the specialist performed the work himself

or reviewed the work of another actuary. Where, in addition to the specialist's
opinion on which the auditor expresses reliance a statement of actuarial
opinion 1s provided by an actuary empioyed by the client, it is recommended
that the iatter opinion be published as well.

.15 1If the actuarial opinfon is not included in the published statements, the

footnotes to the financial statements should indicate that the auditor obtained
the findings of an actuary specfaiist, should identify the actuary and his em-

ployment affiliation, and should indicated the items with respect to which the

actuary expressed an opinion.

.16 If the opinion of the speciaiist is oualified, the auditor should decide
whether the subject of the quaiification is of such nature and significance -

in relation to the financial statements on which the auditor is remorting -

that it would require qualification of his own report. If the subject of the
gualification is not material in relation to such financial statements, and

the specialist's ooinion is not presented, the auditor need not make reference

in his renort to the qualification; if the specialist's opinion is presented,

the auditor may wish to make reference to such qualification and its disposition.

.17 The footnotes to the financial statemant should in any event provide data
concerning actuarial assumptions and matters pertinent to the financial statement.



o fourth standard ot reporting is as follows:

» report shall elther In sn expression of opinion regardipg
wanclal statements, taken as o whole, or 8o n3sertion te the elfeet

n opiulon cannot be expressed. When'an overall oplnfon éaiinot
pressed, the reasons should @EMNSM whereln an
s name is iated with fi Ial stat ts, the report

1 contain a cleat=cut indlcation of the character of tho puditor’s
nation, I any,-and the degres: of responsibility.he is taking.”

e objective of the fourth standard Is to prevent misinterpre-
£ the degree of responsibility the auditer iy assuriing when
¢ is assoclated with financlal statements. Reference In the
eporling standard to the financial statements “laken as a
wpplies equally to a complete set of financial statements and
lividual financial statement, Tor examgle, to a balanee sheet.
itor may express an unqualilied oplnion on one of the finan-
:ments and express a qualified or adverse opinlon or disclaim
on on angther if the circumstinces call for this treatment.

r's Standard Report

2 auditor’s report customarily is used n connection with the
ancial statements — balance sheet, statement of income, state-
retalned camings and statement of changes in financial posi-
these financial statements are accompanled by a sepwate
wof changes in stockholders” equily accounls, it should be
1 in the scope paragraph of the report but need not be re-.
@ separately in the opinign pargraplusiace such changes are
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|

» auditor’s standard report consists of a statement describing
‘¢ of the examinat igléﬁgnn"y in an opening or “scope” para-
1d an expression of the auditor's opinton, usually in a closing
an” paragraph. The form of the standard report is as follows:

{Scope paragraph}
have cxamined the balance sheet of X Company as of [at]
ber 31, 19XX, and the related statements of income, retained
1s and changes in Bnancial position for the year then ended.
amination was made In accordance with generally accepled
g standards and, accordingly, included such tests of the ac-

4 Capyright © 1377, Amesican Inalliute of Cortifiod Fublic Accounteats, Ine.

AICPA Prulessional Standards

counting records and such other auditing procedures ns we considered
necessary in the clreumstances.

{ Opinton paragraph}

In our opinion, the fnancinl statements referred to above present
fadtly (he Tirancinl position of X Company as of [at] December 31,
19X X, aud the results of its operations and the changes In its financial
position far the year then ended, in conformity with gencrally ac-
cepted accounting principles applicd on a basis consistent with that
of the preceding year.

08 The report may be addressed to the company whose financial

statements mie being examined or to its board of dircetors or stock-
Iders. A ieport on the Tianclal statements of an unincorporaied
ity should be addressed as clrenmstances dictate, for example, to
the partners, ta the gencral partner, or to the proprictor. Occasiun-
ally, an auditor is jetained to examine the financia! slatements of a_
company_that Is not his clipnt; in sucha. case, e seportcustormagily
i nehdressedd to the client and not to the directors or stockholdys of

the company whese financial statements are being examined.
#acls 334 of
Circumstances Resulting'iy Depurture From
Auditor’s Standurd Report

A8 The circu&stuuccs that result in a depar
standard report¥are as lollows:

)

e from the anditor’s

a. The seope of the anditor’s examination is alfected hy conditions
that preclude the npplication of one or more auditing rocedures
he considers necessary in the circumstances. E

h. The auditor’s opinion is basced in part on the report f}l_n her
hyy

anditar, 8L W

¢ The Onancial statements are afected by a departure from a
generally aceepted accounting principle.

. The financial statements are alfected hy a ‘Mﬁ‘ﬂ
anccounting principle promulgated Dy the budy designafed by
the ATCPA Council to establish such principles.

o8 Accounling principles have not been applicd gonsistently.

@I\S to choumstances fn which the mdtor is not independent, see scetion 517,
—

AU § 509.09

201
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1 stalemenls are affected by uncertainties concern-
yents, the outeome of which is vof_susceplible of
stiwation at the date of the auditor's report.

wishes o emphasize a matter regarding the financial

r can determine that he is able to express an unguali-
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dly accepted auditing standards and if he therefore

apply alt the procedures he considers uecessary fn

. _Jlestrictions an the scope of his examination,
\m:

Iy the client or stanges such as Uhe timing
* nabilily to abtain safliclent itenlial

dequacy in the accounting records, may reguire him
inion or to dischim an opinion. In such instances,
1 audituc’s qualification of opinion-ee-disclalwer of
= described in his report.

o's_decision tu gualily_lis.opinion_or_disclaim an

of a scope limitation depends on his t of
[ thg omitied pracedine(s ahility-toform an
nancial statemoents 1. This t will

e nature and magnitude of the potential cffcets of
2stion and by their significance to the financial state-
nlial eflects relate to many financial statement items,
s fikcly te be greater than if only & limited number
d.

2slrictions on the scope of the auditor’s examination

dying to the abservation of physi ;entorics and

f accounts receivable by direct communication with
rictions may concem other phases of the audit (for
dion 142.06). Restriclions on the appliention of
widif Jrrocedures to important elenonts of the

v a5 the ticning of his wotk may make it impracticable or
widitor te accomplish these procedures. In such case, I he is
51 a5 ba inventories or accounls receivable Ty applying alter-
mwzimniwimﬁirmmm__.r is Work, pd
include referente 1o the omissivn of the procedutes or to the
occdurcs.

Conyrighe {9 1FI4. Amevican Insthvte ol Certlfivd Public Accouniania, Inc,

finnncial stalements reguire the auditor 1o decide whether he has
examined suficient compelent evidentinl maller 16 FEmit him

=P

FCRS N ungnalined o

v quelilicd upinion, or wiellier Tid

sIdTRTAEeT i O opinign. W Iion res[Ficuons Tt Sgniheantly
Niiiii {The seopc ol the nulit ave imposed by Hie eliepl Lhe anditor
géuerally shonld discloim an opivion on the financin? statements,

A3 The anditar may be asked to report on one basic Bnancial state-

went and not on the olhers. For cxample, he may be asked ta report
P e e PREI)

an the balunce sheet and not on the statements of inconie; Tetainerd

earnings or changes in Inaucial position. These engagrmentd do not
involve scope limitations if the nuditor’s actoss toifiimation witler-
Iying the basic Tnancial statements is not limited and if he applies
all the procedures he cunsiders necessary in the circumstances; rather,
such engagements involve limited reporting ubjectives.

(S, Ascliy,. r @ ﬁriul&m Based in Parton

port of Anather Auditor

Maﬁ_

ecides to make refevence lo the repot of

A,
whasgont
Sl

\’.liw:a auditor
PRy r - P el
another auditoras a basis, m,_L,.Hn.ioLhu,nhminn,hc.:.hmthdj:-Qcic_
fe

this Tact in slating the scape of his cxam
the repart ol the atlier avditor v expressing | :
ences indicale division 6f responsibility for performance of the exam-

ination. Although théy are departmes from the standard vepost

language, they do not constitute o qualification of the auditor’s opin-

ion: {Seq_section 543.)

Departure from a Generally
Accepled Accounting Principle
A5 Cencral. When financial statements are materially aflceted by

a departure from generally accepted accounting principles and the
anditor has examined the statements in accordance with generally

accepled auditing standards, Jigshould express & gualified vr an_ad-

,verse epinlon (sce paragraphs

and A1} The basis for such opinion

“should be stated in his report.

accepled accounting principles are sufficiently

A6 In deciding whether the effects of a departy \Q;)m generally
@cn o require
or

gither 2 qualificd or an adverse opinion, one facl

o-te-Considered

is the dollar magnitnde of the effects. However, materinlity does not

depend entirely on relative size: the concept involves qualitative as

AICPA Prolessional Standards
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RECOMMENDATION 2: RELATIONS WITH THE AUDITOR

(Published May, 1979 by the Committee on Life Insurance Company Financial
Reporting Principles)

1. This Recommendation supplements Opinion A-6 in giving advice concerning
the actuary's relations with the auditor in connection with the pre-
paration and review of financial statements of a stock life insurance
company to be presented as having been prepared in accordance with

"generally accepted accounting principles” as that term is understood
in the United Statas.

2, The actuary will appreciate that if the results of the information fur-
nished by the actuary appear unreasonable to the auditor, the auditor
will make further inquiry. In these cases the auditor may review the
actuary's findings with the actuary and/or submit the actuary's findings
to another qualified actuary for review. In such case the actuary should
make his material available to the other actuary and should himself be
available for suppiemental advice and explanation.

3. When a CPA audits financial statements of a company which
are intended for publicaticn or for filing with a reguiator authority
such as the Securities and Exchange Commission, the auditor is required
by the tenents of his profession to form and express an opinion as o
whether or not the statements fairly reflect the operations and the conditions
of the company in accordance with generally accepted accounting principles.

INTERPRETATION 2-A: RELATIONS WITH THE AUDITGR

(Published May, 1379 by the Committee on Life Insurance Company Financial
Reporting Principles)

1. The meaning of generally accepted accounting princples as applied to
the financial reporting of a stock 1ife insurance company is described
tn "Audits of Stock Life Insurance Companies", published by the AICPA.

2. Generally accepted accounting principles differ in certain material
respects from accounting principles prescribed by state regulatory

authorities and from those prescribed for 1ife insurance companies by
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federal tax law., The Audit Guide's definitions of generally accepted
accounting principles do not apply to financial statements prepared
for such purposes, and an auditor who audits financial statements which
are based on such other accounting requirements will be required to
qualify his opinion appropriately.

3. Pages 63 and 64 of the Audit Guide comment on background material which
is of concern to both actuaries and auditors. Pages 97 to 99 of the
Audit Guide contain advice to the auditor on utilization of actuaries,

4. In particular, the actuary should appreciate that concepts such as “con-
sistency” and "materiality" are uniquely important to generally accepted
accounting principles and have greater importance and different meaning
than they have traditionally had in 1ife insurance accounting. The words

“consistent”, "consistently”, and “generally accepted accounting principles”

all appear in the standard wording of the opinion which the actuary
renders.,

5. The actuary should appreciate that the auditor in fulfilling his respon-
sibitity will use the work of an actuary specialist. The designation
“specialist" has a specific meaning as regards audit work performed by
a~CPA in accordance with AICPA auditing standards for the purpose of
the CPA expressing his opinion. 1) The actuary should understand %hat
care, including rigerous inquiries, in the selection of 2 specialist is
a very significant part of the auditor's procedures.

6. An actuary who is engaged by 2n auditor as a specialist should pian with
the auditor the items and areas on which he will express an opinicn as an
actuarial specialist, any other items and areas to be addressed in his

report as well as other matters on which he will advise the CPA. The planning

process should culminate in preparation of a written plan of coardination
clearly setting forth the nature and scope of the actuary's work with
respect to the audit.

(1) The auditing Standards Executive Committee has published Statement of
Auditing Standards 11 concerning the use by the CPA of the work of an
actuary specialist. The actuary serving as specialist will find this
document helpful in giving the needed understanding of the auditor's
needs. Copies thereof can be obtained from the AICPA and the AMA.
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Advice concerning the form and content of the actuarial report and actuarial
opinion are set forth elsewhere in professional literature. The actuary
should clearly identify in writing to the auditor the basic records upon
which he has relied in the course of his work., He should also describe

any interpretations relied upon (e.q. "valuation amount” for a decreasing
term plan is the initial amount, "age" for a renewable term plan is the
original age, etc.). The actuary should clearly document his work. He
should either reconcile his figures with those appearing in published
financial statements or submit a letter to the auditor setting forth details
of the figures he has reviewed and ask the auditor for a copy of his recon-
cifliation with published financial statements. The actuary's purpose will
be well served if he makes available to the auditor on 2 confidential basis
preliminary drafts of his report and of his opinion which the auditor can
consider in Tight of the auditor's other findings. The actuary's purpose
will also be well served if he makes available to the auditor on a basis
which gives due regard to matters concerning confidentiality any analyses

he orepares of the relationship of the items on which he is expressing his
opinion to the financial statements as a whole and other pertinent analyses.
Discussion with the auditor by the actuary of his findings from such analyses
1s encouraged.

Although the disciplining of actuarial assumptions is the respensibility
of the actuary, and the auditor dges not substitute his judgment for the
professional judgment af the actuary specialist, the auditor does have the
responsiblity of further review and inquiry if the findings of the actuary
appear to him to be unreasecnable. In such event the acutary may receive
inquiries from the auditor as ta why the assumptions and/or findings of
the actuary have values which appear to the auditor to be unreasonatle.
The actuary should respond fully and in a professional manner and understand
that such fnguiries are in the interest of achieving a mutual objective.
They may provide the actuary with the only refvew he can obtain based on
mytual interest. The actuary should understand that the auditor may seek
the advice of another actuary specialist.

The auditor may -choose to express reliance upon the findings of the actuary
specialist, if the actuary consents to such expression, when: 1)the actuary
is independent (organizationally and financially) of the client and of the
auditer or, 2)the actuary is not independent (organizationally and finan-
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clally) of the auditor but neither he nor a member of his firm has given
advice or contributed elements to the financial statements, It is con-
sidered good actuarial practice for the actuary to consent to such expres-
sior provided that he feels such expression is justified (if he felt other-
wise there 1s serfous question as to whether or not the actuary's report
and/or opinion should be submitted to the auditor as it stands). Expres-
sion of reliance on the actuary's findings in the published financial
statements represents a sharing of responsibility for the review of such
financial statements between the auditor and the actuary. In this event,
the actuary should ynderstand that his assumption of full personal respon-
sibiiity for the findings is clearly evident to the public (indeed the
willingness to assume such responsibility is a creiteria on that the actuary
may well use in deciding whether ar not to render a given report and/or
gpinion regardless of its intended distribution),

The actuary would not consent to such public expression of reliance if

he: 1)were not independent {organizationally and financially) of the client
or, 2)were not independent {organizationaily and financiaily) of the auditor
and aiso, either he or a member of his firm rendered advice or contributed
elements to the financial statements. Further advice for the actuary is
contained elsewhere in the professional literature.

The actuary's opinion will generally be contained immediately after the
auditor's report in the published financial statements.

[f the actuary specialist is not independent of the client, then the auditor
i% under obligation to considering perfarming additional auditing procedures.
Such additional procedures do not involve substitution of the auditor's
Jjudgment for the actuary specialist’s professional judgment, but they do
include procedures to provide further assurance to the audtior with respect
to the apniication of professional judgment to the determination of the
financial statement items. These procedures invoive, generally speaking,
either working with the actuary or arranging for certain reviews and/or
tests of the work product and the work papers. Also, if the actuary is
independent of the client but contributed elements to the financial state-
ments, then the auditor may, depending on his judgment, perform additiona}
procedures depending on the circumstances of the case.
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INTERPRETATION 2-B: DOCUMENTATION

No change.
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RECOMMENDATION 2: RELATIONS WITH THE AUDITOR

(Published April, 1974 by the G ictee on Lile < Financiai Re.
porting Principhes)
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L. ‘This Recommendasion supplements Qpinion A-Gin giving importanc
advice concerning the acauary's relacions wich the auditor in conaection
with review of financial statements of a stock life insurance company
0 be presenced 2s having been prepared in accordance with "gencrally
accepted accourtting principles” as that term is undersrood in che Uniced
Staces.

2. The actuary will appreciate that if the auditor is unable w0 form an
opinion on the basis of information furnished by the acruary the auditor
may submit the actuary's findings ro anoth lified actuary for review, \3

and in such case the actuary should make his material available w the ; f

othet actuary and should himself be available for supplemental advice .

!g:f\ and explanation.

3. A consulting acruary who is engaged with an auditor in the same audit
- should prepare a written plan of coordination clearly setting forth the na«
ture and scope of the actuary’s tesponsibilities with respect o che audic.
The actuzey should clearly wdentify in writing to the audicor the basic
records he has relied upon in the course of his work and should describe
any interpretations selied upon (e.g., “valuation amouncs™ for decreasing
term plans is initial amounr, “age™ far renewable term plans is original
age, erc.) The actuary should clearly document bis work and should
cither reconcile his figures wich those appearing in published financial
statemenss or should submiz a letter 1o the audicor serring foreh details of

the figures he has reviewed and ask the audicor far 2 capy of his seconcil-
iation to published financial starements.

INTERPRETATION 2.A: RELATIONS WITH THE AUDITOR

{Published April, 1974 by the C i on Life I Lo B ial Re.
porging Principles)

C.'When a public accountanc audits financial scacements of a life insur-

2. Genenally zccepted sccounting prir}.'iples differ in cerazin macerial

ance company which aze intended for publication or for filing with a

] regu!atgzy :ythoriry such as the Securities and Exchange Commission,

! che audicar is required by the renets of his profession 1 form and ex- | o
press an opinion a3 to whether the statemerts fairly reflece the oper- |
adons and the caadition of the compaay_in accordance with generally T
accepted accouncing principles; The meaning oF “gerceallysccept
aZeounting principies” 33 applied ta the Anancial reparting of 2 stock ¢
life insurance company is described in ~Audits of Scock Life Insurance =
Carnpanies.” published by the AICPA.

respeces from accounting principles prescribed by stace regulatory an-

thoridies and from those prescribed for life imzmce c:rsnupmg by
federal ux law. The Audic Guide's definitiom of generally accepeed
accounting principles do nae apply o financial scatemenes prepared for %)
such putposes, and an auditor wha audirs financial statemencs which are "’\

based on such ocher g reg es will be required to qualify
his opinion appropriately.

3. Pages 63 and 64 of the Audit Guide comment on background material

which is of concern to both acuwaries and auditars. Pages 97 to 99 of
the Audic Guide contain advice o che audicor cn utiliuxsloc; of ac:uari::. ?-
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INTERPRETATION 2-B: DOCUMENTATION

(Published Ocrober, 1975 by the Commiteee on Life | G r Finaacial Re-
porting Principles)

1. A consulting actuary engaged with an auditor o audic or review a.
Bnancial statement of a stock life insurance company, or specified ele-
ments thereo, shall cleasly document his work (Recommendatioa 2).
It is prudenc and reasonable tw prepare documenaation which both
1ids the actuary in his work and provides support for the acwuarial
teport or apinion rendered pursuanc 1o his audit or review.

2. Documentation should include an adequace and complete descripeion of
the narure and scope of the actuary’s engagement and shouid be so
clearly and systematically prepared thac it will be possible ac any time
to detezmine from-such documencation the procedures followed, che
teses performed, the evidential marrer collected, the condicions found,
and the conciusions reached. Accordingly, documentacion may include
work programs, analyses, memoranda, leuers of confitmation and rep-

resencation, complete copies of or excerpes from company documenes,
and schedules or commentaries prepared or obuined by the actuary.

3. Documenation should fit the circumstances and the acuary’s needs
on the engagement to which iz applies, The factars affecting the acruary's
judgment as to quancity, type. and contenc of the documentation de-
sirable for s particular engagemenc include () the nacure and scope
of the work undenaken aad the repore or npinion required pursuant
therewo. (4) the nature and <ondition of the actuary’s and/or com-
pany's records he reviews, and (¢) the reeds in the pacticular circum-

taance far supervisioa and review of the work perfocmed by any assisi-
ants,

4. Although cthe quancity, type and content will vary wich the circum-
sances, documentation should generally inchide or show:

a) Informatign sufficient (o demonstrate thar the items audiced or re-
viewed weee in agreement with (ot reconciled with) the company's
records.

b) Thae the actuary’s acrivities bad been planned and coordinaced wich
audiroe engaged in the audit or review,

¢) The procedures followred, tests perfarmed. and documentary evidence
collected ro suppart Andings and conclusions.

d) The resolution of exceptional or unysual macrers.

3. Such documenration shall be the property of the actuary. He should
adopr teasonabie procedures for irs safe custody with particular regard
Jor the provisions of item 2(5) of the Academy’s Cuide 1o Professional
Conduce. The actuary should retain his documentation for a period of
rime sufficient to meer the needs of his work and 1o saxisfy aay pertinent
legal requirements for record retention. While such documentation shall
be the property of the actuary, he is, of course, subject (o all applicable
Iey i s. The ion of these is beyond the scope of

this lme}prmtion.
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RECOMMENDATION 3: ACTUARIAL REPORT AND
STATEMENT OF ACTUARIAL OPINION
(Published April, 1972 by the C ittee ont Life | G Financial Re-
poring Prinaple)

1. This Recormnendation applies 1o the wark of an acnwacy who acts for
2 stock life insurance company in the preparation of its fimancial scate-
ments, who contributes clements for inclusion in any such ﬁ_nanclai sate-
ment, or who audits or zeviews elemnents of such a financial statement,
when such financial sitement is to be presented as having been prepated
in accordance with ~generally accepeed accounting principles” s that
term is underscood in the United Scates.

2 As used in This Recommendation and related Incerprerations, “Ac-
tuarial Report™ means the 2ctuary’s zeport to management and audicor
referred (0 in Number 4 of Opinion A-G on the Academy's Guide to
Professional Conduce, and “Stacoment of Actuarial Opinion”™ means a
staremens of the 2cuary’s opinion prepared for publicacion with financial
statements, refecsed to in Numbers 2 and § of Opinion A-G. A written
plan of coordination or other working « ication of 3 lking
actuary <o an auditoe as referred o in paragraph 3 of Recommendation
2 is not an “Actuarial Report” or 2 “Scatement of Actuarial Qpinica™
within the meaning of this Recommendation,

5. Any jmdgment as to the appropriaceness of the acwarial assumptions
in prepating data for financial starements muse be formed in che
fighe of the purpose for which the statements are being prepaced, Fi-
nancial scacements which are primarily intended ro reflect 2 matching of
revenues and coses in accordance with generally accepred accouating
principles may require the use of acruarial assumptions which differ
from those which would be used in, for exampie, financial stacements
which give primary emphasis w0 solvency for the procection of policy-
holders, as is the case with statements based on standards preseribed by
stare regulatory authoriticz.

4, Guide 4(d} provides, in pare, thac "When 2 member characrerizes re-
serves as adequarc, he shall either (i) assure himself chat they meet any
applicable Y at regulatory Jards or {ii) clearly qualify his
charactesization in this respecr, tncluding 2n explicit statemenc as o
whethee the reserves meer such staturory or regulacory standards.”

Acinarial Repors

3. Opinion A-G provides (No. 4), "When an acruary's wark relates to
financial stazements preparcd in aconrdance with generally accepted
accounting principles, i¢ is the apinion of the (Professional Conduct)
Commitcee thae Guide 2{c) requires 35 a minimum that an actuasial
zepore should be fumished to the company and to the company's inde-
pendent auditor, if any,” and (No. ), "It is che opinion of the (Profes-
siona] Conducr} Commitcee that Guide 4 () as applied 0 the actuary’s
work in connecrinn with financial stements prepazed in accordance
with generally accepred accounting principles requires char the actuary
disciose o the audicor the actuarial assumprions and metheds, including,
where appropriate, an appraisal of cheir suicabilicy for the purposes at
hand and reterence to factors which have noc been considered.”

6. An Actuarial Report shoukd conain descriprions of the scope of the
actuary’s wotk znd of the actuarial assumpcions and methods used.

7. An A ial Reporr should contain expressions of the actuary’s opinion
43 to whether the reserves and ocher actuarizi items in the statemencs
ase based on assumptions which arc appropriace 1o the puzpose fot which
the yratemencs were prepured, whéther the methods employed ase con-
fastent with sound actuarial principles, and whether provision has been
made for all actuatial reserves and related starement items which oughe
o be established. An Actuarial Report should also include a statement of
the actuary’s opinion as ta whether any amount carried in the balance
sheet on account of unamortized acquisition expenses and (he amounr of
liabilitics carried on account of other furure policy obligations and ex-
penses are faitly stated (e, neither marerially undersrared noc materially
overscared) in accordance with sound actuasial principies (c.f, Recom
mendarica 1).

8. If the actuary is unable to form an opinion in any respect defined in
parageaph 7, or if his opinion in any such repott is advetse or qualified,
the Actuarial Report should specificaily state the reason,
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4 The scope paragraph should also contin a searence such 25 the follow-

ing:

T have examined the Actuarial assumprions and acruarial methods used
in determining futute policy obiigations and expenscs, deferred
acquisition expenses, and related actuarial items (lisc other marerial
icems) in the financial statements of the Campany, as prepared by
the Company to accord to generally accepted accounting principles,
as of December 31, 19—, and December 31, 19—, and for the years
then ended.”

$. If the actuary has examined the underlying records the scope paragraph

of a2 Stacement of Actuarial Opinion might include a sentence such as
the following:

*My examination included such review of the acruarial assumptions and
actuarial methods and of the underlying basi¢ records and such tests
of the acruarial calculztions as [ considezed necessary.”

If the actuary has relied upon an independent auditoc's review of basic
in-lorce records cthe foregoing sentence mighe be preceded by a sentence
suchas che following:

"1 relied upon the auditor's verification of basic in-force records.”
Tn such case the sentence as first suggested above might commence:
“In other respects my examination {etc.).”

6. The expressions of opinioa described in patagraph 7 of Recommenda-
tion 3 might be expressed as follows:

“In my opinion the amounts carried in the balance sheet on account of
unamortized acquisition expenses and on account of other fucure
policy obligations and expenses are compured by sound acruarial
methods consiscently applied and are fairly stated in accordance with
sound actuarial principles, and are based on actuarial assumprions
which are appropriate to fnancial statements of the Company pee-
pared in accordance with generally accepted accounting principles
and which are consistenc with the assumptinns previously employed;
and provision has been made for all actuarial reserves and related
statement items which otight to be established.”

1f there has been any change in the actuariai assumprions ot merhods
from those previously emploved, that change should be described in a
foornote to the financial statements or in 2 previous paragraph of the
Staternenc of Actuariad Opinion, and the reference above o consistency
should be modified by inserting a phrase such as:

", .. with the exception of the change described in the preceding par-
agraph (arin footnote__) . .."

7. The comparison of ner liabilities referred to in paragraph 10 of Rec-
ommendation 3 might be stated as in one of the following cxampies, or
in such other way as meets che cizcumstances of 2 patticulac ¢ase:

4) The amcunt of nec fiability for future policy obligations and ex-
penscs, less the amounc of unamartized acquisition sxpenses is,
$ less than the amcunt of net liability for future policy obliga-
ticas reported in financial stacements filed with the Insurance Com-
missioner of the Scate of.

%) The amount of ner Jiability for fueure policy abligntions and ex-
penses, less the amoune of unamortized acquisition expenses, plus
an amount of $_____ pravided for in restricted surplus, is ar izast
equal to the amount of nee lizbility for .future policy obiigations
zeported in financial scatemenss filed with the Insurance Commis-
sionezof e Seatenf

£} The amount of ner fiability for fucure policy obligations and ex-
penses, less the amount of unamortized acquisition expenses, is at
leasc equal 1o the amounr of nec liabHity far future policy obligations
reported in financial siacements filed wich che lasucance Commis-
sioncr of the Scate of

8. The text of an Actuarial Report is likely to be much more detailed and
mote extensive than the texe of a Statemene of Actuarial Opinion, and
the form is likely to be controiled by the nacute and extent of che in-
formarion ta be recorded.
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9. Matetial changes in actuarial assumpcions from those previously used

should be disclosed in an Actuatial Repore and ¢heir effects nored. Such
disclosures should not be limited to factors explicitly assumed but should
include ref ¢ to the handling, or absence of handling, of such othet
faczors as the actuary in his judgment deems to have pertinence. The
adoption for new issues of an actuarial assumption which differs from
a corresponding assumption used for any prior issues is not a change in
acruarial assumptions within the mezniog of this paragraph.

10. The reporr should 2iso compare (a) the amount of ner liabiliry for

fucuce policy obligations and expenscs, less any amount of unamortized
acquisition expenses, with (b) the amounc of nct liabilicy for furure
policy obligations reported in financial statements filed wich state regu-
latory authorities; and if (a) is less than (5) the repore should state
the amount of the difference. The “nec liabilicy™ refeered to in (a) and
(b) above should teflect adjustments for deferred premiums ind other
related items.

Statement of Actuarial Opinion
11. Opinian A-G states (No. 4) thar the objecrive of Guide 2(¢) wiil be

morse fully sarisfied if the sudiror's opinien identifies the actuary or if
published financial stacements inciude a formal Stacement of Actuarial

Opinion.

12. A written Statement of Acruatial Opinion prepared for publication

wizh financial statements of a fife insuzance company will normally in-
clude staccments as to the sco‘pc of the acruary's participation in the
preparation and the appraisal of che financial stacements, his professional
apinion as to the actuarial elements in the stacements. 1ad 2 stazement
of his relationship to the company. Such Statement of Actuarial Opinion
should cover the subjects referred to in parageaphs 6, 7, 8, 9, and 10.
above, although normally withous the supporting detail which would
be appropriate inan Actuazial Repore,

Oiher Actnarial Statemenss
13. In preparing any starcment or report relating to a life insurance com-

pany,other than an Actuarial Repore or Statement nf Acruazial Opinion
described in this Recommendation, the acruary should be avare of the
Guides to Professional Conduct as interpreted by Opinions of thie
Professional Conduct Commirree,
INTERPRETATION 3.A: ILLUSTRATIVE STATEMENTS
OF ACTUARIAL CPINION

{Published April, 1974 by the C i on Life 1 C Fi ial Re-
porting Principles)

1. A Statemenc of Actuarial Opinion wil noemall ist of a scope par-

agraph, describing the scope of the actuary's work and his relationship
with the company, and an opinion paragraph identifying the subjeces
oa which an opinion is to be expressed, and expressing such opinion. One
or more additional paragraphs may be needed in individual cases if the
actuary considers it necessary to state a qualification of his opinion or
10 explain some aspect of the financial scatements which is aot already
sufficiently explained in a footnote.

The following zre cxamples. for illustracive purposes, of language which
in typical circumstances mighe be included in 2 Stacement of Actuarial
Opinion in conneciion with finzncial stacements of a stock life insure
ance company prepared in accardance with genesally acezprad account.
ing principles as that teem is understood in the United Saates. The iilus-
erative [anguage should be modified as needed ro meer the circumstances
of a pacdicular case, and the acttsary should in any case wse language
which ciearly expresses his professional judgment,

The scope paragraph of 2 Scacement of Actuarial Opinion should con-
rin a sentence which describes the faces of the actual situation, such 2s
one of the following:

#) “1am the Vice President of the X Life Insurance Company and am
a Member of the Ametican Academy of Actuacies.”

&) "1 am assaciated with the firm of A & B, Coasulting Actuaries, and -
am a Member of the American Academy of Actuaries, [ have (have
not) been involved in the preparation of the financial scxtements of
the X Life Insurance Company,”

117
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SOURCES OF INFORMATION REGARDING ACTUARIAL MATTERS

1. Survey of Actuarial Assumptions - American Academy of Actuaries.

2. Auditors own files.

3. Inquiry of other auditors, actuaries.
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STATEMENT OF THE AMERICAN ACADFMY OF ACTUARIES
HEABRINGS ON ERISA IMPROVEMENTS ACT OF 1979 (S. 209)

SENATE COMMITTEE ON HUMAN RESOURCES
February 8, 1979

Stephen G. Kellison, Executive Director
Donald S. Grubbs, Chairman of ERISA Revisions Subcommittee
Edwin F, Boynton, Immediate Past President

INTRODUCTION

The American Academy of Actuaries ("Academy") appreciates the
opportunity to present this statement on the ERISA Improvements Act
of 1979 (S. 209). The Academy is a professional organization of
actuaries whose members are deeply involved with the implementation
of ERISA and the private pension system in general. Appendix A
provides some background information on the Academy.

The membership of the Academy includes actuaries with a wide
range of views on the many lssues being discussed todgy in the
private pension field. Certain of the more controversial of these
{ssues are not primarily actuarial in nature. Accordingly, this
Academy statement is limited to commentary on items which have
actuarial implications. The views expressed in this statement are
those of the task force that prepared it, and are not necessarily
the viéws of 21l the members of the Academy.

Although the Academy statement will not specifically address
itself to several of the proposals involved in this bill, we are

supportive of the general thrust of most of them. ERISA was a
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most complex piece of legiglation which has produced implementation
problems. The Academy applauds the general intent to resolve such
problems as multiple-agency administration and the complex reporting
and disclosure requirements of ERISA. A worthwhile objective of
this bill is to extend the benefits of the private pension system

to a larger group of Americans, both by reducing the number of plan
terminations and increasing the number of new plan formations. The
disappeinting statistiecs invelving both plan terminations and new
plan formations since the passage of ERISA indicate that Congressional
attention to these problems is warranted. The intention of this
bill is compatible with these goals.

The Academy 1s particularly pleased to see the declaration of
policy contained in Section 101 of S. 209 which would add the
following to Section 2 of ERISA:

"It is hereby further declared to be

the policy of this Act to foster the

establishment and maintenance of

employee benefit plans sponsored by

employers, employee organizations, or

both."
This statement of public policy is vital, and is a most important
addition to ERISA.

One of the lessons ERISA has taught us is that efforts to
close lcopholes and prevent abuses also create complexity and extra
costs. At some point such efforts, worthy as they may be, become [
counterproductive 1f they result in increased plan terminations and |
decreased new plan formation. Thus, certain complex requirements

which do not have major significance for most plans may create more

negative than positive results, even though conceptually the
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requirements appear desirable. In considering simplifications to
ERISA Congress should thus evaluate proposals with the balance between
benefits and costs clearly in focus.

This Academy statement is directed toward the actuarial aspects
of S. 209. In view of the short advance notice for the hearing, we
have not attempted to develop a liat of other suggested amendments
to ERISA not contained im S. 209. A number of suggestions of this
type from individual actuaries were presented to the Committee in
connection with our previous submission on §. 3017 on August 17,
1978. 1In Section III we do propose some minor changes in the statute
in comnection with ambiguities that have arisen with respect to
"enrolled actuaries" and the Joint Board for the Enroliment of

Actuaries ("Joint Board"). '
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COMMENTARY ON S. 209

At the ERISA hearings on August 17, 1978 the Academy commented
on seven areas contained ia S. 3017, the predecessor bill to
8. 209. Three of these areas do not require any additional comment
at this time; namely, (1) disclosure‘nf accrued benefits, (2) pre-
emption of securities laws, and (3) deduction for employee contri-
’

butions. We would like to comment on the following four areas of

S. 209 at this time:

A. Opiniong of Actuaries and Accountants

8. Survivor Annuities

C. Funding Standard Account

D. Impact of Inflation on Retirement Benefits

A. Opinions of Actuaries and Accountants

Section 115 of 8. 209 would make some fundamental chenges in
the relative roles of actuaries and accountants in cennection with
annual reports for plans and the Academy strongly endorses this
Section of the bill. ERISA currently provides that the accountant
may (emphasis added) rely on the work of the actuary, and conversely.
S. 209 would change "may" to "shall,'" which would provide for
compulsory reliance (in both directionms, i.e. rellance on actuaries
by accountants, and conversely).

Section 103 of ERISA appears to create a division of
responsibility between actuaries and accountants. The actuarial
statement required by Section 103{d} 1is concerned with such items

as the determination of plan liabilities for future benefit
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payments and the various computations required to determine
whether the plan complies with minimum funding requirements. The
financial statement prepared by the accountant pursuant to Section
103(b) 1is concerned with a proper presentation of the finencial
status of the pension fund itself.

Despite this apparently clear division of responsibility
contemplated by ERISA, some differences of opinion have arisen
between actuaries and accountants concerning their relative roles
under the Act. It now appears quite likely that actuarial liabili-
ties will appear in the financial statement of the plan, as well as
in the actuarial statement, although nothing in ERISA indicates
that such dual reporting on two different bases was intended by
the Act. Extensive discussions involving the Financial Accounting
Standards Board, the U. §. Department of Labor, the American
Academy of Actuaries, and other interested parties have been held
over the past 21 months concerning the proper actuariél 1iabiiicy
to report in the plan's financial gtatement. Consaiderable
progress has been made in arriving at a mutually agreeable result.

A problem that remains will arise if the actuarial 1iabili-
ties are included within the scope of the auditor's opinion.

This creates a potential for friction between the auditor and the
enrolled actuary. If the auditor chooses te challenge the work

of the enrolled actuary, an ilmpasse may result. The enrolled
actuary cannot change his/her results, since he/she has already
certified them to the Federal government as his/her "best estimate

of anticipated experience under the plan."” Such an impasse, if it

123
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developed, would be most unfortunate for plan sponsors, plan
participants, and all others concerned.

The provisions of S. 209 to require reliance by each profession
on the work of the other in their respective defined areas of
practice would be quite beneficial in resolving such potential
difficulties.

As indicated at the outset the Academy strongly endorses
Section 115 of S. 209. We also feel that some additional amend-
ments could be made to further clarify the relative roles of the
two professionsi These amendments are consistent with the division
of responsibility between the twe professions which we believe was
contemplated by ERISA. These amendments are submitted for the
consideration of the Committee in Appendix B. These amendments,
coupled with Section 115 of S. 209, should resolve the differences
which have,arisen in this area.

The proposed amendments in Appendix B have been exposed to a
large number of actuaries representing a good cross—section of the
membership. A nearly unanimous consensus emerged supporting them.
These ameandments have also been submitted to the U. S. Department
of Laber Advisory Council on Employee Welfare and Pension Benefit

Plans.

B. Survivor Annuities

Section 205 of ERISA now makes survivor annuity protection
available for married participants who die while eligible for early

retirement. Section 127 of §. 209 would extend the availability
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of such protection to married participants with 10 or more years
of service, regardless of whether they are eligible for early
retirement benefits. This would increase the number of instances
in which survivor benefits are pald to widows and widowers of
deceased participants.

The cost of pre-retirement survivor annuity benefits may be
met in one of two methods. One method, used by many plans, is to
have the participants who elect to be covered by the protection
pay the cost through decreases in tﬁe pensions paid to them upon
retirement. In such plans, extending the survivor annuity pro—
tection for a longer period would result in reducing the retire-
ment incomes of those participants who elect to receive the pro-—
tection for a longer period of years. The amount of reduction
in pensions would depend upon factors applicable to the plan and
by the number of years the protection is provided.

The other method of meeting the cost of pre-retirement survivor
annuity protection, also used by many plaﬁs, is to have the cost
paid by the plan sponsor. For plans using this method, the pre-
retirement survivor annuity protection is provided automatically
for all eligible participants, with no reduction in their ultimate
retirement benefits. In plans other than Taft-Hartley plans,
the cost to employers would be increased, the increase in cost
varying from plan to plan. One actuary has egtimated the range
of increase in cost for most plans would be from 1% to 4% of
present plan costs. Correspondingly, the total value of benefits

provided by the plans would increase by roughly the same proportion.
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However, in many instances of such mandated changes, the addi-
tional costs generated may defer or eliminate consideration of
other plan changes which might otherwise have been made, so that
the total value of benefits and plan ¢osts may remain about the
same.

For multiemployer plans and .other Taft-Hartley plans, employer
contributions are fixed by the collective bargaining agreement.

In such plans, if the cost of the pre-retirement survivor annuity

is borne by the plan as a whole, rather than assessed against

those participants who elect the coverage, the plan assets available
to provide retirement benefits would be reduced by the amount of
survivor benefits paid. In the long rum the total benefits provided
by such plans would be the same, the increase in survivor benefits
being offset by decreasas in retirement benefits.

Employee death benefits are often provided under group insurance
programs, as well as under pension plans. Many plan sponsors take
a comprehensive view of all employee fringe benefit programs taken
together and attempt to coordinate the benefits provided by the
various components in the total package. It is likely that some
plan sponscrs would offset any inereases in survivor annuity
benefits under the pension plan be decreases in death benefits
under group insurance. To the extent that survivor income benefit
increases under the pension plan are offset by decreases in group
insurance, the net effect would be to increase neither death

benefits nor employer costs.
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c. Funding Standard Account

Section 131 of 5. 209 would add a new provision to Section
302(c) (1) of ERISA concerning computations in the funding standard
account., Specifically, it would require the actuary to:

", . take account . . . of all pro-

visions of the plan, including provisicns
which have not yet affected any participant
as to entitlement to, or accrual of, benefits."

Section 131 is intended to apply to a rather common situation
in negotiated plans; for example, a 3-year negotiated contract
in which the benefit formula was, say, $8 per month per year of
service for participants retiring in the first year of the
contract, $9 for the second, end $10 for the third.

Section 131 would require immediate recognition of the cost
of the 310 benefit, the ultimate amount payable for the third and
later years. 1In this event, the operation of the furnding standard
account would inveolve a level-dollar funding of these benefits
over the 3-year period. If the plan sponsor wished to use a
step-rate contribution schedule (a common practice in multiempleyer
and other collectively bargained plans), there would be a risk of
an accumulated funding deficiency at the end of the first and/or
second years.

Section 131 would overturn IRS Rev. Rul. 77-2. This Revenue
Ruling requires that only the initial benefit level ($8.00 in the
example) be considered in determining the minimum required contri-
bution and the maximum deductible limit for the first year. A
copy of Rev, Rul. 77-2 is attached as Appendix C (see particularly

Sec. 4, Ex. 1).
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ERISA requires the actuary to base the actuarial computa~
tions upon his "best estimate of the anticipated experience under
the plan." 1If a plan has already adopted an amendment requiring
that a1l benefits to those retiring after three years be $10.00
per year of service, the actuary's best estimate would ordinarily
be that such benefits will be paid. Ignoring the $10.00 benefit
ievel called for by the plan document is contrary to the best
estimate requirement of ERISA. By requiring that plans not recog-
nize the plan's provisions, Rev. Rul. 77-2 forces the plan's
actuary to ignore the law., The Academy supports the intent of
Section 131 to allow the actuary to recognlze plan provisions
relating te future benefit provisions.

However, we believe that Section 131 goes too far in requiring
that the ultimate benefit level always be recognized. Although
there 1s good theoretical justification for that positiom, it
ignores the very practical considerations which led the TInternal
Revenue Service to not require recognition of the ultimate benefit
level, No law should be passed which contains a gaping loophole
for its evasion. If the law required recognition of the ultimate
benefir level, it could easily be evaded by the plan sponsor
by passing a series of plan amendments rather than a single amend-
ment. Rather than a single amendment increasing benefits to
$8.00 this year, $9.00 next year and $10,00 the third year, plan
sponsors could agree to accomplish the same thing by making three
amendments in three successive years. The step-up of benefit

rates over the period of a collective bargaining agreement became
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more popular several years ago in a period of wage-price controls.
Since the wage increase limitations had to meet annual tests, it
was logical to have benefit improvements phase in over the period
of the contract to spread out the cost effect. In the current
environment of wage-price guidelines, this would seem to be a
valid reason not to overturn Rev. Rul. 77-2.

Therefore, the practical approach for the law to take is to
allow plans to recognize the ultimate rate of benefit, but not to
require it. Thus, we recommend deletion of the words, ", and for
any plan year beginning after December 31, 1980, shall take account.”

Section 131 should also be clarified to indicate that costs
for the year may be based upon the plan in effect as of the date
of the actuarial valuation, as allowed currently by the Internal
Revenue Service. ©Some multiemployer plans have man& benefit levels,
with hundreds of employers agreeing to change from one benefit
level to another at many different dates during the year. The
actuarial valuation to determine costs 1s ordinarily made as of
the beginning of the plan year, and it may not be feasible to do
otherwise.

Finally, we are also puzzled by the last sentence of Section 131:

"A provision adopted but contingent on a
future event shall be deemed not to ba in
effect as a provision of the plan prior
to the occurence of that event.”
This provision is quite perplexing and seems to be at odds with

the rest of the Section.
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Consider, for example, a plan with an automatic cost-of-living
feature. This is a benefit "contingent on a future event;" namely,
the rate of inflation in years hemce. Does this sentence prohibit
the actuary from assuming a cost-cf-living increase in future benefit
projections? If it could be interpreted in that manner, the results
would be most unfortunate. The possibility of masaive under—funding
for such a plan would be great, Also, it would essentially force an
actuary to violate Section 103(a) (4) (B)(1i) requiring him to make
his ". . . best estimate of anticipated experlence under the plan."

In general, the Academy believes considerable clarification
of Section 131 is needed. The last sentence is particularly dis-

turbing.

D, Impact of Inflation on Retirement Benefits

Section 152 of S. 209 provides that the Secretary of Labor
", ., . conduct a study of the feasibility of requiring employee
pensicn benefit plans to provide cost-of-living adjustments to
benefits payable under such plans."” This study would be conducted
during the 24-month period following the enactment of the bill.

Inflation greatly decreases the purchasing power of pensions,
reducing many retired workers to poverty. Adding a cost-of-living
adjustment provision to the typical defined benmefit pemsion plan
a3 a additional benefit solves the problem for retirees, but results
in 2 dramatic increase in benmefit costs. Ewven if limitations are
placed on the amount of increases (e.g. an annual limitation, a

cumulative 1id on total increases, etc.), substantial assistance
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can be provided to retirees but the cost impact can still be
large.

Mandating coat-of;living benefits involves profound philo~
sophical, economic, and actuarial considerations. Proper recog-
nition of future rates of inflation is one of the most difficult,
but important, chellenges facing the pemsion actuary today. Ob-
viously, cost-of-living benefits are extremely sensitive to future
rates of inflation.

The Academy believes that a cost-of-living requirement would
involve major actuarial considerations. Accordingly, if the study
contemplated by S. 209 is conducted by the Department of Labor,

the actuarial profession should be deeply involved in the study.
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PROPOSALS INVOLVING "ENROLLED ACTUARIES"

Sections 3041 and 3042 of ERISA created the Joint Board for
the Enrollment of Actuarles to enroll actuaries to perform
services required of actuaries under the Act. We weould like to
comment on two unintended developments which have occurred in-
volving "enrolled actuaries" since the passage of ERISA.

The first is the very name "enrolled actuary' itself.
Enrollment under ERISA involves rather narrow credentials to
perform certain specific functions, such as providing the actuarial
statement required by Section 103(d) of ERISA (contained in
IRS/DOL Form 5500 Schedule B). The regulations promulgated by the
Joint Board to implement Sections 3041 and 3042 have required
satisfaction'of certain examination and experience standards
involving basic actuarial mathematics and pension actuarial topics
related to ERISA. However, the Joint Board has not required
evidence of education and/or experience in a varlety of other
areas of actuarial practice not directly related to ERISA.

Unfortunately, since enrollment essentially involves licensing
of actuaries by the Federal government (albeit licensing in a
narrow area to perform only a small number of well-defined functions;
"enrolled actuary"” status has understandably been interpreted by
many non-actuaries as evidence of broad qualifications as an
actuary more generally. This is not to say that many eanrolled
actuaries do not possess broader credentials as an actuary, since
most do. However, nothing involved in becoming an enrolled actuary

is evidence of such broader training and experience per se.
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Accordingly, the Academy proposes that the term "enrolled
actuary"” be changed to "enrolled pension actuary" throughout ERISA.
This revised term is much more descriptive of the training and
experience inherent in the enrollment process and should lessen
the confusion and ambiguity which has occurred.

The second involves the performance of actuarial services
for welfare plans (see Section 3(1) of ERISA for a definition of
"welfare plan"). Although ERISA affects both welfare plans and
pension plans (the latter to a much greater extent), no actuarial
statements or reports for welfare plans are required by the Act
or subsequent regulations.

The Joint Board requires evidence of both education and
experlence in pension actuarial matters in order to meet the
standards for enrollment. The Joint Board does not require any
evidence of either education or experience on welfare plans in
order to meet these standards. The Joint Board does not require
such evidence in its enroliment regulations, understandably because
nothing is required by the govermment of an actuary on a welfare
plan.

This situation ipvolves potential problems of both inclusion
and exclusion. On the one hand, the designation "enrolled actuary"
does not provide any assurance that the individual in question has
competence to perform actuarial services on welfare plans. On the
other hand, a number of actuaries that are not enrolled because of
lack of education or experilence in pension matters may be highly

qualified to perform services on welfare plans. Certain problems
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may arise from this anomaly, since the users of actuarial services
are often not aware of these subtletles. For example, cases have
been called to the attention of the Academy in which auditors do
not rely on the work of an actuary on a welfare plan unless the
actuary is enrolled.
The confusion in this area has arisen from the language in

Section 3042(a):

"The Joint Board shall, by regulaticns,

establish reasonable standards and quali-

fications for persons performing actuarial

gervices with respect to plans to which
this Act applies . . ."

(emphasis added)

The Academy proposes an amendment to clarify that enrollment
involves only pension plans and not welfare plans. This proposal
is quite compatible with the first proposal to change the term

"enrolled actuary" to '

'enrolled pension actuary.'
Appendix D contains proposed amendments to implement these

two clarifications.
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SIMMARY AND CONCLUSIONS

In summary, the Academy commends the intention of §. 209
to resolve the difficulties created by ERISA. Many of the pro-
posals in this bill are highly constructive in this regard. The
comments preseénted in the Academy statement are being‘offered in
the same constructive spirit.

The Academy appreciates the opportunity to appear at these
hearings. Actuaries have & vital interest in the development of
amendments to ERISA and the Academy has a continued 1nterest in
this area. Representatives of the Academy are available to meet
with the Committee or staff at your convenience to discuss these,

or other, proposals in more detail.

13§



136

STATEMENT 1979-4

INDEX TO APPENDICES

Background Information on the American Academy of Actuaries
Proposed Amendment on Opinions of Actuaries and Accountants
Revenue Ruling 77-2

Proposed Amendment Involving "Enrolled Actuaries"
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APPENDIX A

BACKGROUND INFORMATION ON THE
AMERICAN ACADEMY OF ACTUARIES

The American Academy of Actuaries is a professional organization of
actuaries which was formed in 1965 to bring together into one organization
all actuaries in the United States and to seek accreditation and greater
public recognition for the profession., It includes members of four founding
organizations-~-the Casualty Actuarial Soclety, the Conference of Actuaries
in Public Practice, the Fraternal Actuarial Associaticn, and the Soclety of
Actuaries. These organizationa, or thelr predecessors, date back many vears,
one of them to the late 1800's, so that despite the relatively short duration
of its formal existence, the Academy, its founding organizations and their
predecessors have representad the actuarial profession in the United States for
about 90 years.

The Academy is unique as the nationgl accrediting actuarial organization
for actuaries in all areas of specialization. Requirements to become a member
of the Academy can be summarized under two broad headings: (1) education and
(2) experience; an Iindividual must satisfy both in order to be admitted. At the
present time, the education requirements for membership can be satisfied by pass~
ing certain professional examinations given either by the Casualty Actuarial Society
or the Society of Actuaries or by becoming an "enrolled actuary" under the Employee
Retirement Income Security Act of 1974 (ERISA). The experience requirement consists
of three years of responsible actuarial work.

As of December 31, 1978, Academy membership stood at 4,702. These actuaries
have a variety of types of employment, including insurance organlzations, comsulting
firms, academic institutions, and government. Well over 90% of those individuals
who have satisfied the rigorous education and experience requirements of the Academy
do, in fact, join the Academy. The entire Academy membership is subject to rigor-

ous guldes to professional conduct and standards of practice.
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APPENDIX B

PROPOSED AMENDMENT ON OPINIONS OF
ACTUARIES AND ACCOUNTANTS

Except as provided im subparagraph (C), the admini-
strator of an employee benefit plan shall engage,

on behalf of all plan participants, an independent
qualified public accountant, who shall conduct such
an examination of any financial statements of the
pian fund, and of other books and records ef-she
pien, as the accountant may deem necessary to enable
the accountant to form an opinion as to whether the
financial statements of the fund and related eand
schedules required to be inciuded in the annual
report by subsection (b) of this section are pre-
sented fairly in conformity with generally accepted
accounting principles applied on a basis consistent
with that of the preceding year. Such examination
shall be conducted in accordance with generally
accepted auditing standards, [except to the extent
required by subparagraph (B),] and shall involve
such tests of the books and records of the pian

fund as are considered necessary by the independent
qualified public accountant. The independent quali-
fied public accountant shall alsc offer his opinion
as to whether the geparate schedules specified in
subsection (b)(3) of this section and the summary
material required under section 104(b)(3) present
fairly, and in all marerial respects the information
contained in the annual report therein-when-censideved
in-comjuneeion-with—the-finaneial—otatements-teken
as-a-whete. The opinion by the independent qualified
public accountant shall be made a part of the annual
report. In a case where a plan is not required to
file an annual report, the requirements of this
paragraph shall not apply. In a case where by
reason of section 104(a)(2) a plan is required only
to file a simplified annual report, the Secretary
may waive the requirements of this paragraph.

In offering his opinion under this section the
accountant [mey shalll rely on the correctness of

any actuarial matter certified to by an enrolled
actuary [s4f-he-se-seares-his-relisnce]. The
opinion of the accountant under this secticn is
limited to the status and operations in resgpect to
the assets of the fund and excludes actuarial matters
certified to by the enrolled actuary. “Actuarial
matters” may be further defined by regulation by the
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Secretary and shall include, with respect to a
pension benefit plan, the items required to be
included in the actuarial statement under para-
graphs (3) through (11) of subsection (d) of this
gection.

In making a certification under this section the
enrolled actuary [may shall]l rely on the correctness
of any accounting matter under section 103(b) as to
which any qualified public accountant has expressed
an opinion [;4f-he-se—seacea-his-velisnee].

An annual report under this section shall include a
financial statement containing the following informa-
tion: .

{1} Wwith respect to an employee welfare benefit plan:
a statement of assets and non-actuarial liabili-
ties of the fund; a statement of changes in fund
balance; and a statement of changes in financial.
position. In the notes tao financial statements,
disclosures concerning the following items shall
be considered by the accountant: a descriprion
of the plan including any significant changes in
the plan made during the period and the impact of
such changes on benefits; a description of material
lease commitments, other commitments, and contin-
gent liabilities; a description of agreements and
transactions with persons known to be parties in
interest; a general description of priorities
upon termination of the plan; information concern-
ing whether or not a tax ruling or determination
letter has been obtained; and any other matters
necessary to fully and fairly present the financial
statements of the pien fund.

(2) With respect to an employee pension bemefit plan:

a statement of assets and non-actuarial liabilities
-of the fund; and a statement of changes in net

assets available for plan benefits which shall
include details of revenues and expenses and other
changes aggregated by general source and applica-
tion. 1In the notes to financial statements, dis-
closures concerning the following items shall be
considered by the accountant: a description of the
plan including any significant changes in the plan
made during the pericd and the impaect of such
changes on benefits; the funding policy (including
policy with respect to prior service cost), and
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any changes in such policies during the year; a
description of any significant changes in plan
benefits made during the period; a description

of material lease commitments, other commitments,
and contingent liabilities; a description of
agreements and transactions with persoms known to
be parties in interest; a general description of
priorities upon termination of the plan; informa-
tion concerning whether or not a tax ruling or
determination letter has been obtained; and any
other matters necessary to fully and fairly present
the financial statements of such pension piam fund.

(3) With respect to all employee benefit pians funds,
the statement required under paragraph (1) er (2)
shall have attached the following information in
separate schedules:

(A) a statement of the assets and non-actuarial
iiabilities of the pilsaam fund aggregated by~
categories and valued at their current value,
and the same data displayed in comparative
form for the end of the previous fiscal year
of the plan; ===

NOTE: Amendments contained in brackets are those contained in S. 3017.
All other amendments are proposed by the American Academy of Actuaries.
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APPENDIX C

Rev. Rul 77-2: 1. R B. 1977-1, 9.

Charges and credits to funding standard account for changes in benefits effective
after valuation date—A change in the benefit structure of a qualified pension plan that
becomes effective in a plan year subsequent to the plan year for which charges and

credits to the funding
in the computation.

Sectrow 1. Pukpose.

The purpose of this Revenue Rulmg is to
provide guidefines for determining the charges
and credits to be made to the fundmg
standard account to reflect changes in bene-

account are being computed shall not be considered

shall not reflect the change in such benefit
structure for the portion of such plan year
prior to the effective date of such change,
and (2) shall reflect the change in such
benefit structure for the portion of the plan

fits that become cfective after the val
date.

Sec. 2. Gewesar Rute.

.01 In the case of a change in the bene-
fit structure that becomes effective during
a plan vear subsequent to a given plan year
for which the charges and credits to the
funding standard account are being com-
puted, such change in benefit shall not be

counsidered in determining the charges or

dits to the funding standard for
such given plan year.

.02 g the case of a change in the benefit

structure that becomes effective as of a date

year sub t to the effective date of the
change,

03 TFor purposes of this section, the ef-
fective date of the change in benefit struc-
ture shall not be later than (1) in the case
of a collectively-bargained plan described
in section 413(a) of the Intermal Revenne
Code of 1954, and which includes more than
one collectively-bargaimed anit, the date such
change with respect to benefits of partici-
pants included within any unit becomnes ef-
fective with respect 1o any individual who
is or could be both a participant in the plan
and in such bargaining unit, and (2) in the
case of any other plan, the date such change

dmgaplanyar (but subseq to the
first day in such pla.n year], the charges and
credits to the § [¢)]
Sec. 3. CuaNces Nor Anorm As cF THE
Varuation Date

In the case of a change in benefit structure
that becomes effective in 2 plan year and
that is not adopted on or before the valua-
tion date in such plu yuar, in liew of usmg
the rule described in section 2.02 such chang

effective with respect to any in-
dividual who is or could be a participant in
the plan.

years 1, 2, and J, resp ly. In

the ch;rg:s and the crednts ta the hmdmg
standard account. for years 1, 2, and 3, benefit
structyres by, by, and by would be reflected
in the respective plan years during which
they become eﬂ'ectrre.

in benefit structure may not be considered
in determining the charges and the credits
to the fundi dard a t for such
plan year. Whichever method is adopted
may not be changed for such year once the
annual return described in section 6058 of the
Code is filed.

Sec. 4. Exameizs,
The guidelines provided in this revenue

ruling may be illustrated by the following -

examples:
Ezomple 1. An employer adopts an
ammdmwtouth:ﬁrstdayoirear] that
ides benefit str by by, and ba
wiuh becomes effective on the first day of

Ezumple 2. A collectively-bargained plan
provides for s single benefit structure for
years 1, 2, and 3 under an arrangement in
which the employer countributions to fund
such structure are increased in each of three
years, The charges and the credits to the
fi g standard must be
on the basis of such single benefit structure
using a funding method not designed to re-
flect such negotiated phase-in of ecatribu~
tion increases. If the contributions in year L
(determined without regard to the conmtri-
butions negotiated for years 2 and 3) are
insufficient to prw:nt an unmmlatcd {\md-

Gafiei #

quirtments are not satisfied.
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Sec, 3042(a)

Sec. 3042(b)

STATEMENT 1979-4

APPENDIX D

PROPOSED AMENDMENT INVOLVING "ENROLLED ACTUARIES"

The Joint Board shall, by regulations, establish reason-
able standards and qualifications for persons performing
actuarial services with respect to pension plans to which
this Act applies and, upon application by any individual,
shall enroll such individual if the Joint Board finds that
such individual satisfies such standards and qualifications.
The term "enrclled pension actuary' means an actuary thus
enrolled. With respect to individuals applying for emroll-
ment before January 1, 1976, such standards and qualifica-
tions shall include a requirement for an appropriate period
of responsible actuarial experlence relating tc pension
plang., With respect to individuals applying for enrellment
on or after January 1, 1976, such standards and qualifica-
tions shall include --

(1) education and training in actuarial mathematics and
methodology, as evidenced by ~-

(4A) a degree in actuarial mathematics or its
equivalent from an accredited college or
university,

(B) successful completion of an examination in
actuarial mathematics and methodology to be
given by the Joint Board, or

(C) successful completion of cther actuarial
examinations deemed adequate by the Joint
Board, and

(2) an appropriate period of reaponsible actuarial
experience,

Notwlthstanding the preceding provisions of this subsection,
the Joint Board may provide for the temporary enrollment

for the period ending on January 1, 1976, of actuaries under
such interim standards as it deems adequate.

The Joint Board may, after notice and an opportunity for a
hearing, suspend or terminate the enrollment of an individual
under this section if the Joint Board finds that such
individual —

(1) has failed to discharge his duties under this Act, or
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(2} does not satisfy the requirements for enrollment
ag in effect at the time of his enrollment.

The Joint Board may also, after notice and opportuanity for
hearing, suspend or terminate the temporary enrcllment of
an individual who fails to discharge his duties under this
Act or who does not satisfy the interim enrollment standards.

Conforming Amendments

All references to "enrolled actuary" in ERISA are changed to "enrolled
pension actuary",
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STATEMENT OF STEPHEN G. KELLISON
EXECUTIVE DIRECTOR, AMERICAN ACADEMY OF ACTUARIES
TO THE
SUBCOMMITTEE ON AGRICULTURAL PRODUCTION, MARKETING AND
STABILIZATION OF PRICES
OF THE

SENATE COMMITTEE ON AGRICULTURE, NUTRITLON AND FORESTRY

March 20, 1979

Mr. Chairman, wembers of the committee, my name is Stephen G.
Kellison and I am the Executive Director of the American Academy of
Actuaries. The Academy appreciates the invitation to present testi-
mony at this hearing.

During the last session of the Congress, the Academy presented
testimony to both houses of the Congress in comnection with hearings
on crop imsurance programs. Attached to this statement 1s a copy of
our previous statement to this Committee dated November 15, 1977.

We would request that both be entered in the record of this hearing.

The interests of the Academy as a professional assoclation
of actuaries in connection with crop insurance legislation have not
changed materially, since our prior statement. OQur primary interests
are to ensure: |

I. That actuarial activity is identified as such.

2. That actuarial techniques are being properly applied

where appropriate.

3. That actuarial work is being performed by qualified

actuaries.
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The Academy has consistently not taken a position on how
the costs of various crop insurance proposals should be borne by
various individuals and groups in the private or public sectors.
However, we do urge that these programs be funded according to sound
actuarial principles, that current costs be properly and clearly
identified as such, that appropriate reserve levels be established,
and that projections of costs for future years be made by professional
actuaries,

During the deliberations imvolving crop insurance proposals
in the last session of the Congress many references to the desirability
of an "actuarially sound" crop insurance program were made by
Secretary Bergland, Mr. Deal, various members of the Congress, and
others interested in crop insurance legislation. We are gratified
at these expressed intentions to establish an "actuarially scund"
program and hope that these intentions will continue in this Congreas.

We are aware that an Ad Hoc Crop Insurance Actuarial Committee
of leading actuaries in the crop Insurance area was formed in 1978
to review the cost estimates of the Farm Production Protectiom Act
being considered in the last Congress. This Committee met last
September with officials of the Federal Crop Insurance Corporation
concerning the cost estimates on last vear's bill.

We are encouraged by these developments since our last state-
ment. We feel that there is increased awareness of the need for
proper actuarial estimates of the cost of these programs and are
pleased that increased attention to these actuarial estimates is being

given.
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Since the Academy received the invitation to appear here
today only a few days ago, we have not had time to develop any more
detailed analyses of the proposals before you today. However, we do
appreciate the opportunity to enter these brief preliminary remarks
into the record and we do intend to enter more extensive cemments at
a later date if the opportunity becomes available.

The Academy stands ready to be of service to the Congress and
the Administration on matters of actuarial concern. If we can be of

further assistance to you, please do not hesitate to call upon us.
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STATEMENT 1979-6

POSITION PAPER
OF THE
AMERTCAN ACADEMY OF ACTUARTES

CONCERNING PROPOSALS

TO REQUIRE STATEMENTS OF OPINION ON CASUALTY LOSS RESERVES
ON THE FIRE AND CASUALTY BLANK

AND

TO RECONRSIDER THE CURRENT STATEMENT OF OPINION ON THE LIFE
AND ACCIDENT AND HEALTH BLANK

BY

NAIC BLANKS (Al) SUBCOMMITTEE

March 21, 1979
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Introduction

The agenda for the April, 1979 meeting of the NAIC Blanks (Al)
Subcommittee includes three separate proposals involving statements of
opinion on casualty loss and loss expense reserves on the Fire and
Casualty Blank. These three proposals have been sponsored by thé NAIC
/Financlal Condition Examination (AS5) Subcommittee, the American
Insurance Assoclation, and the National Association of Independent
Insurers. Although there are some similarities among these proposals,
major differences among them exist. It is assumed in thils position
paper that the details of these three proposals are kmown to the reader.

Also, on the agenda 1s the suggestion that the statement of
opinion required on the Life and Accident and Health Blank be reconsidered
to possibly include a requirement that the actuary rendering the opinion
be independent of the insurer. The current provision, which has been

in effect since 1975, does mot include an independence requirement.

Endorsement

The Academy endorses the general concept of requiring a statement
of opinion on casualty loss reserves. The existing requirement on the
Life and Accident and Health Blank has worked well and has produced
meaningful assurances on that blank. Recent experience indicates that
a similar program for the Fire and Casualty Blank is appropriate and

desirable.
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Nature af Actuarial Work

The determination of reserves for all lines of.insurance involves
the evaluation of current financial values for future contingent events.
The cornerstone of the discipline of actuarial science ilnvolves placing
financial values on future uncertainty. The training and experience
patterns for actuaries make them uniquely qualified to perform such
determinations. OQther, more extensive, submissions on this subject by

the Academy have fully documented the training received by actuaries.

Nature of Statement Being Sought by NAIC

Confusion currently exists about the nature of the statement being
sought by the NAIC on the Fire and Casualty Blank. There are fundamental
differences between a statement of professional opinion rendered in
connection with the original determination of the reserves and an opinion
by an independent auditor.

The former invelves a statement by a qualified professicnal‘who is
generally the preparer of the reserves concerning the adequacy of those
reserves and the professional standards used. In other words, the reserve
preparer is asked to "stand up and be counted” as to the quality of his
or her original work and to assume personal and professional responsi-
bility for it. On the other hand, a "review" or "audit" function involves
an appraiszal by an independent auditor as to the reasonableness of the
firm's financial statements, i.e. that certain accounting standards
were followed.

The threshold question that must be decided is which of these
very different kinds of opinion is more appropriate for the Fire and

Casualty Blank.
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We believe that the NAIC should require a statement of professional
opinion, rather than an audit on casualty loss reserves for the
following reasons:
. The history of the statement required on the Life and
Accident and Health Blank clearly shows that the
intention was to have a qualified professional who is
generally the preparer of the reserves sign off on
his or her original work. We believe that the
rationale on the Fire and Casualty Blank is no different.
. Such a statement provides mew and different assurances
to state regulatory officials. If the opinion involved
is to be an audit, then it overlaps much of the work
already dome by state examiners and CPA audits (where
in existence).

° The fact that an opinion is being sought concerning one
particular statement item of critical importance indicates
that a special opinion is intended. If an audit were

intended, it would be logical to apply it to cover the
entire financial statement.

Independence

Once the basic decision above is reached, the debate over inde-
pendence resolves itself. If a statement of professional opinion on
the original determination of the reserves is intended, then indepen-
dence is not necessary. If an audit is intended, then independence is
generally' acknowledged to be a requirement.

It should also be noted that independence is not a requirement
imposed in other areas of actuarial practice. The statement of opiniom
on the Life and Accident and Health Blank has already been cited. A
second example 1s the statement required of an enrolled actuary on a
private pensicm plan under the Employee Retirement Income Security
Act of 1974 (ERISA). The raquired actuarial statement must include an
opinion by an actuary, who may be an employee of the plan sponsors or

an outside consultant, but in neither event is it required that he/she
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be independent. In both of these cases, the lack of an independence
requirement has not resulted in any lessening of the cbjectivity and

professionalism of the actuarial statements provided.

Recognition of Accountants .

If the NAICVdecision is to have a statement of professional opinion
on casualty loss reserves, then direct recognition of the AICPA (as
contained in the (A5) proposal) is inappropriate. The training necessary
to become a CPA is not, in and of itself, sufficient to gualify an indivi-
dual to determine insurance reserves.

If the NAIC decision is to require an independent audit, then, of
course, the AICPA should be recognized. It should be noted that, in
auditing procedures, the AICPA itself recognizes that certain highly
technical and specialiﬁed financial values require special expertise
(see AICPA Statement on Auditing Standards No. 11 - "Using the Work of
a Specialist"}.

It should also be noted that a growing number of states are
requiring CPA audits of statutory statements. If the NAIC also requires

~an audit on casuvalty loss reserves, the net effect in many cases would
be to have two audits and no statement of professional opinion, a

result which 1s quite illogical.

Supply of Specialists

Concern has been expressed over the supply of qualified specialists
for casualty loss reserves. We believe thar the existing number of
Members of the American Academy of Actuaries, together with others

deemed qualified by the insurance commissioners, will be sufficient to

151
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meet the needs of any of the proposals. It should he noted that the
large majority (conceivably all) individuals who currently determine
cagsualty loss reserves (including CPA's with experience in this area)
will be able to render cpinions since provision is made for qualification
of any perscn who has demonstrated actuarial competence to the satis-—
faction of the insurance commissicners. Over time, the insurance
commissioners may choose to tighten requirements for those eligible to
become specialists in the future as the supply of more highly qualified

individuals increases.

Conclusions —~ Fire and Casualty Blank

AIA Proposal

Of the three proposals before the Subcommittee, this proposal
appears to be the best for the reasons cited above. The Academy
recommends its adoption.

{A5) Proposal
This proposal appears to confuse a statement of professional
opinion and an audit. The recognition of the AICPA and the inde-
pendence requirement are inappropriate for a statement of pro-
fessional opinion. The independence requirement will involve an
additional cost impact on companies.

NATI Proposal
We have no objection to this proposal, if the NAIC wants a much

more limited program than the others.



STATEMENT 1979-6 153

Conclusions - Life and Accident and Health Blank

The current program for the Life and Accident and Health Blank is
working well and no need for change has been demomstrated. The addition
of an independence requirement would be inappropriate for the reasons
cited above. The fact that the program has worked well for health
insurance, as well aa life insurance, indicates that the AIA proposal

is likely to succeed for other casualty lines as well.
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STATEMENT OF STEPHEN G. KELLISON
EXECUTIVE DIRECTOR, AMERICAN ACADEMY QF ACTUARIES
TO THE
PRESIDENT'S COMMISSION ON PENSION POLICY

March 23, 1979

Mr. Chairman, members of the Commission, my name is Stephen G.
Kellison and I am the Executive Director of the American Academy of
Actuaries. The Academy appreciates the opportunity to appear at this
initial meeting of the Commission.

By way of background, the American Academy of Actuaries is a
professional organization of actuaries which was formed in 1965 to bring
together into one organization all actuaries in the United States and to
seek accreditation and greater public recognition for the profession. It
includes members of four founding organizationa, so that despite the
relatively short duration of its formal existence, the Academy, its founding
organizations and their predecessors have represented the actuarial
profession in the United States for about 90 years.

The Academy is unique as the national accrediting actuarial organization

for actuaries in all areas of specialization. These actuaries have a variety
of types of employment, including insurance organizations, consulting firms,
academic institutioms, and government. As of December 31, 1978, the Academy
membership stood at 4702, which was over 90% of those who have satisfied the
education and experience requirements necessary to join the Academy. The entire
Academy membership is subject to rigorous guides to professional conduct and

standards of practice.
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The discipline of actuarial science invelves placing fimancisl values
on future uncertainty. The cornerstone of actuarial science involves the
estimation of the probabilities of uncertain future events, often over long
periods of time, and the financial impact which these events involve. The
computation of financiai values for insurance and pension programs is a
wmajor application of actuarial techniques.

The role of the actuary in comnection with retirement systems has long
been recognized for both public-sector and private-sector plans. Major
Federal programs such as Social Security and the Civil Service Retirement
Syatem have had extensive involvement of actuaries for many years.

The same is true for many state and local plans. In recent years there
has been a marked increase in the recognition of and concern about financlal
problems of certain state and local plams. As a result, a growing number
of state legislatures and other governing bodies are requiring actuarial
analyses and, in some cases, more substantial funding programs for plans
within their jurisdictions.

The role of the actuary was comsiderably heightened for private-sector
plans with the passage of the Employee Retirement Income Security Act of 1974,
commonly referred to as "ERISA," This Act created a class of actuaries known
as "enrolled actuaries" and charged them with specific and stringent
responsibilities. As a result of this legislation, it was made specific that
the enrolled actuary is engaged "on behalf of plan participants" and a detailed
statement as to the funding status of the plan is required each yesr by the

Department of Labor and the Internal Revenue Service. In providing this

actuarial statement the enrclled actuary 1s required to certify that the results

are his/her "best estimate of anticipated experience under the plan." It now
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appears likely, based on recent releases of the Financial Accounting
Standards Board, that the enrclled actuary will alse provide actuarial
liabilities for the financial statements of the plan,

Each year the Academy and the Conference of Actuaries in Public
Practice jointly sponsor a meeting in Washingten, D.C. for enrclled

actuaries to assist them in professionally discharging their responsibilities

under the Act. At this time I would like to publicly express our appreciation
go your Executive Director, Thomas Woodruff, for his talk at our most recent
meeting on January 25, 1979 about the important work of this Commission.
Mr. Woodruff's remarks were quite enlightening and stimulated considerable
interest among actuaries in the anticipated activities of the Commission. |

Subsequent to the announcement of the appointment of the Commission on
February 14, 1979 the Academy has appointed an Actuarial Advisory Group with
the specific charge of working with the Commission, This Advisory Group is
available to work with the Commission as your deliberations proceed.

The Actuarial Advisory Group is composed of ten senior actuaries with
a wide variety of backgrounds, representing expertise in large and small
corporate pension plans, insured and uninsured plans, social imsurance
programs, state and lpcal pension plans, Taft-Hartley multiemployer plans,
and demography. The Chairman of the Advisory Group is Edwin F. Boynton,
who is a leading consulting actuary with over twenty years experience in the
field. He is also the Chairman of the Board of Actuaries of the Civil Service
Retirement System and the Immediate Past President of the Academy. Other
members of the Advisory Group include comsultants, insurance company employees,
academicians, two former Chief Actuaries of the Social Security System and a
former demographer for the Census Bureau. Many of the members have been

extensive contributors to the actuarial literature.
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One of the areas to be Investigated by the Commission, that was listed
in Executive Order 12071 creating the Commission, was "the financial abilicy
of present private, Federal, State and local retirement, survivor, and
disability systems to meet their future obligations" (#1-203{(b)). We believe
that the Advisory Group can make major contributions in this area, since the
financial health of a retirement system in many respects is an actuarial
measurement. The Adviscory Group also hopes to make comntributions in other
areas as well, such as the impact of demographic trends.

In summary, we extend ocur best wishes to the Commissior as it
commences its monumental assignment. The development of a mational retirement
policy is a most important goal which could have major social and economic
ramifications. The actuarial profession is vitally interested in your
deliberations. As mentioned above, the Academy stands ready to provide
actuarial assistance to the Commission. Please let us know how we can help.

Thank you.
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Mareh 27, 1979

Mr. Jules M. Cassel

Project Director

Research and Technical Activities
Financial Accounting Standards Board
High Ridge Park

Stamford, Connecticut 06905

Dear Mr. Cassel:

As indicated in our letter of March 6, 1979, representatives of the American
Academy of Actuaries have reviewed the 2/14/79 draft of the FASB staff on
accounting and reperting standards for defined benefit pension plans. A

copy of that letter and the attached comments, which are mainly of a technical
nature, is enclosed with this letter as Exhibit A.

The Academy representatives were pleased to find that most of the objections

to the April 1977 Exposure Draft have been resolved in a manner which is
acceptable to the Academy. However, as discussed at the meeting on March 9

of Mrs. Kahn, Mr. West and you with Mr. Boynton, Mr. Biggs and me, there

still appears to be one important area of disagreement, namely the instructions
for setting appropriate actuarial assumptions, particularly with respect to the
rate of investment return, to calculate the present values of vested and non-
vested accrued benefits.

Paragraphs 22 and 23 of the draft would require the use of an interest rate which
reflects the currently available rate of return on the market value of the assets
over the expected payout period for the accrued benefits. Moreover, a separate
interest rate determination would have to be made for non-guaranteed benefits
which are expected to be paid from an insurance company contract which would ke
related to 1ts '‘contract value.'"

We have the following problems with this approach:

(1) varying the assumed interest rate to reflect market yields on new money can
produce wide fluctuations in the present value of accrued benefits. This is
illustrated by the hypothetical example In the attached Exhibit B, which
shows the sensitivity of the market value of the assets and the actuarial
value of accrued benefits to the rate of investment return on new money.

For simplicity, the example assumes all of the assets are invested in bonds.
Since most pension fund portfolios include a substantial amount of equity
investments, the comparison would be distorted even further by short term
fluctuations in common stock values. Although the example is simplified for
illustrative purposes, we believe it is representative of the types of swings
which couid occur.
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Mr. Jules M. Cassel
March 27, 1979
Page 2

(2) The sensitivity of actuarial values to changes in the assumed ylelds

(3)

bacomes even mors dramatic when one looks at two consecutive vaiuations
following the FASB recommendation to ''fine tune' the assumed yieid each
year. Exhibit C develops a simplified example of the swings that can
occur in the unfunded liability. The example is simple but not
exaggerated; in many situations the changes in unfunded liability would
be even larger. A brief summary of the pertinent results from Exhibit €
follows below.

If we follow the "actuarial" approach of keeping the assumed investment
yield relatively stable (changing it only when it appears long range yields
have changed), then the following illustrates the potential unfunded
liabilities in the second year of the analysis, depending on what the market
yield is:

Market Market Investment Unfunded Actuarial
Yield Value Gain {(Laoss) Liability Gain (Loss)
7% $6,850M $ oM $b,920M $ OM
6% 7,370 520 4,400 520
3% 6,390 (460) 5,380 {460)

Thus, ignoring gains and losses from other sources, the investment gain or
loss flows directly through to the change in the unfunded liabiTity of the
plan, and is explainable to the participants in logical fashion.

On the other hand, adopting the FASB approach of adjusting the assumed
actuaria! rate of return to reflect current market yields, the following
develops:

Market Market Investment Unfunded Actuarial
Yield Value Gain (Loss) Liability Gain (Loss)
7% $6,850M § oM §4,9204 s oM
6% 7,370 520 7,080 (2,160)
8% 6,390 (460) 3,240 1,680

This approach produces the anomalous result that a $520,000 gain in the
assets results in a net actuarial loss in the unfunded iiability of about
four times such gain. Similarly, a $460,000 Joss in the assets becomes a
$1,680,000 gain in the udfunded liasbility of the Plan. We doubt that
anyone could convince plan participants that such year-to-year variations
make any sense. it Is also doubtful that any qualified actuary would want
to be associsted with the development of such figures.

The proposed instructions ignore the fact that the value of the future benefits
will depend largely on the rates at which the Income on the present investments,
proceeds from the maturity or sale of these investments and future contribu-
tions can be reinvested. As an illustration, the actual rate of return on

an investment in a newly issued 30-year 9% bond whose income is reinvested

at 62 and which is held to maturity is only about 7.2%. If the effect of

future contributions invested at 6% also were taken into account the actual

rate of return would be less than 7.2%.
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Mr. Jules M. Cassel

March 27, 1979

Page 3

(4) It is important to recognize that it usually is not appropriate to compare

(5)

(7)

present value amounts which are based on investment prospects over a long
time span with the market value of assets which reflects investment con-
ditions on a single day. Therefore, the present value of vested and
nonvested accrued benefits should also be compared with the actuarial value
of assets, which may differ significantly from the market value since the
actuarial value usually is determined in a manner which is intended to
smooth out the effects of short term fluctuations. Paragraph 32 of Opinion
No. 8 of the AICPA states ""The Board believes unrealized appreciation and
depreciation should be recognized in the determination of the provision for
pension cost on a rational and systematic basis that avoids giving undue
weight to short-term market fluctuations.'" ERISA also provides that all
unreal ized appreciation and depreciation need not be taken into account for
minimum funding standards calculations. Therefore, we believe that the
actuarial value of assets, as well as the method of calculating this value,
shouid be reported and that the actuaria! value of accrued benefits should
be compared to the actuarial value of assets.

It usually is not possible toc differentiate between the portion of the
accrued benefits which will be paid by the trust fund and the insurance
company under a plan which uses both funding vehicles. Therefore, actuaries
almost universally treat an insurance contract as an investment of the pian
such as a stock or bond since it is impossible in most cases to relate the
value of any guarantees to a particular block of benefits.

The alternative in paragraph 23 would not be suitable for an ongoing plan,
except possibly in the case where future benefit accruals have been

suspended and the accrued benefits are fully vested. It is not possible

to obtain insurance company guarantees with respect to such factors as rates
of separation or retirement which are an integral part of the present value
calculations under a continuing plan. Moreover, the level of insurance
company guarantees varfies considerably among companies depending in large

part on the desire of the company to underwrite this type of business. Since
these types of contracts result in a drain on the insurance company's surplus,
this decision usually depends on the company's surplus position. Even for a
single company, the guarantees tend to be extremely volatile and subject to
change over a very short period with most proposals being offered for a period
of 90 days or less. We believe this alternative is suitable only for a
terminated pian and conflicts with the objective of reporting financial informa-
tion on an ongoing plan basis.

The proposed instructions are not consistent with the requirements of the
Department of Labor with respect to the entries on Schedule B of Form 5500,
which require the use of assumptions representing the actuary'’s best estimate
of future experience on an ongoing plan basis with respect to the totai
benefits of all participants. There can be no question but that the interests
of participants and other interested parties would be i11-served if different
present value amounts were reported on Schedule B and financial statements.

In addition, the preparation of the additional caiculations would expose the
plan sponsor to unnecessary actuarial fees.
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(8) The proposed instructions are not consistent with the concept of an ongoing
plan, perhaps best iTlustrated by Exhibit C. in selecting an appropriate
interast rate for the valuation of future obligaticns, the actuary takes
Into account nat only the rate of return which is available currently on
new investments but aiso the rate which may reasonably be expected over a
longer period of time than the pericd over which the accrued benefits will
be paid, including a margin for the risk of unfavorable variations which
may be expected over the future. In setting an interest rate the actuary
will be guided by the past performance and the overall investment policy
of the plan as well as the present asset mix. Gbviously this process
requires a considerable degree of professional judgment on the part of the
actuary.

In view of these concerns, we suggest that the draft be modified to specify that
the actuary should follow the Guidelines and interpretaticns of the American
Academy of Actuaries in selecting the actuarial assumptions to be used in
determining the present value of vested and nonvested accrued beneflits. |f the
Board feels it would not be acceptable to refer directly to these Guidelines

and Interpretations, we would be pleased to work with you and your staff in
developing instructions which are consistent with them. Any other approach
might place an actuary in the position of having to violate his professional
guidelines in order to provide information for plan financial statements.

if the Board agrees with our position that actuarial assumptions should be
selected by the actuary based on his professional experience and knowledge, we
do not believe it would be necessary to release another Exposure Draft. However,
if the Board feels that the approach proposed in the 2/14/79 draft should be
followed, we feel strongly that an Exposure Draft should be issued so as to g:ve
individual members of the Academy an opportunity topresent their views.

Mr. Boynton, Mr. Biggs and | appreciate the opportunity to have met with you
and your associates and to present these comments, which are intended to be
constructive.

Please get in touch with us if we can be of further assistance in this difficult
area. Should it be appropriate, we will be pleased to meet with the Board to
present the Academy's views persocnally.

Very truly yours,

a,c o

Doug as C. Borton

Chairman

Committee on Pension Actuarial Principles and Practlices
American Academy of Actuaries

DCB:EC

Enc

cc Mr. Dale R. Gustafson Mr. E. F, Friend
Mr. Stephen G. Kellison Mr. P. A, Gerwitz
Mr. Edwin F. Boynten Mr. A. F, Rohifs

Mr. James F. Biggs Committee Members
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EXHIBIT A

March &, 1979

Mr. Jules M. Cassel

Project Director

Rusearch and Technical Activitias
Financlal Accounting Standards Board
High Ridgs Park

Stamford, Connecticut 06305

Caar Jules:

As we discussed, | am sending you my Informal notes on the staff's draft
of 2-14-79 of the statement on accounting and reporting by deflned beaefit
penslon placs, wirlch reflect the discusslon at a meeting of my Cormittee
and other Academy representatives last Wednesday. These notas, which have
not been edited, can form the basis for discussion on Friday. The Acadeny
will then submlt formal comments later.

Although we have comented on a number of toples, | believe you will aaree
that they reflect mainly sujsestions to achleve greater clarlty for both
accountants and actuariss, rather than basfc Jdifferences In philosophy.
Ferhaps expllicit references to the Academy guldellnes could elinlnata sore
cunfusion in the technical actuarial areas.

dest regards.

Sincerely,

bouglas €. dorton

Chairman

Coanlttee on Penslon Actuarial Principles and Practices
Amerlcan Academy of Actuarias

DCs:£C
Enc

cc tr. Date R. Gustafson
Mr. Stephen G, Kalllson
Mr. Eawln F. Boynton
Mr. James F. Blggs
#r. E. F. Friend
Mr. P. A. Gewlrtz
Mr. A, F. Rohifs
Cormictee Members
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NOTES ON 2-14-79 DRAFT OF FASB STATEMLNT

OF FINANCIAL ACCOUNTING STANDARDS ON
ACCOUNTING AMD REPORTING BY DEFINED
BENEFIT PENSION PLANS

STATEMENT

Notes

In reference to "'a trade or other employee association'
what is intended? Are unfunded plans audited?

It is not clear that the plan sponsor (in consultation with
the actuary) selects the benefit valuation date. |If
actuarial valuations are not prepared annually as permitted
by ER15A, can the present values be reported as of the last
valuation date?

It would be preferable to refer to'Form 5500 and interpretive

regulations."”

“Contract value'' is not a commonly used term.

At the start of the 10th line it would be clearer to insert
the words "form of" before the word 'benefit'' and to make a
similar change later in the sentence. Also in the 10th line,
the words ""post retirement' should be inserted hefore the
words ''death benefit.!

't would be better to replace '"shall" by "nead."

It would be better to track Interpretation 2 more closely.
In two places "should" would be batter than ''shali."

The wording should be clarified, possibly by tracking
Interpretation 2.

The lead in doesn't specify that the actuary picks the assumptions.
A general reference to the ERISA language could replace all of
item 22,

This is in conflict with the acceptable approach for Schedule B
as described in the Federal Register and could necessitate
multiple calculations for a plan, Alsc it ignores the long

range nature of the investments and a possible need for conserva-
tism, Interpretation 2 language would be better.

It would be preferable to refer to "assumed rates of investment
return'' rather than interest rates. The combination of explicit
interest rate assumptions and the use of market value would lead
to the use of different rates sach yvear and would not produce
year to year consistency. Moreover, this approach is not
appropriate for a continuing plan. fn a plan with trust and
fnsurance company non-allocated assets, it 15 not possible to
datermine which benefits will be paid by the trust and the
Tnsurer. In particular, the first sentence implies the use of
graded interest rates. The second sentence ignores rollover of
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investments and new contributions. The third sentence is
not consistent with "contract value."

This is redundant as it is covered by a.

This overemphasizes one minor assumption. JIn most cases these
expenses are paid outside of the plan. A separate allowance
for investment expenses is usually not explicitly stated in
describing the interest rate.

It is not possible to purchase an insurance contract which will
guarantee rates of retirement or turnover. Therefore, this
approach is not feasible for a continuing plan. [t may have
limited application where benefits have been frozen and fully
vested under a continuing plan.

The second sentence could refer to the ERISA rules.
The last two sentences are redundant.

it {s not clear that the plan sponser {in consultaticn with
the actuary) decides on whether or not to report a reconciliation.

The reference to "inflation rates' should be deleted since it
is not a separate assumption but is a basis for the actuarial
assumptions, ''for example'' might better be "including.'

If 20e is changed, this will have to be modified. This seems
to conflict with the second sentence of i.

This should be very general, because of the complexity of the
PBGC guarantees (which are incorrectly described in the sample
notes).

It should be made clear that reference to the SPD is the preferred
approach.

It would be better to replace "extent to which'' by the ''nature
of !

The employee contribution rates belong in a.

Concerning the last sentence, the effects may not be quantified
simply because there has not been sufficient time to do the
calculations. Perhaps the next to last sentence should be
limited to events which occurred before the "as of'' date of the
accounting statement,

It may be necessary to use projections tc get beginning-of-
plan-year benefit information if actuarial valuations are not
prepared annualiy.
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GLOSSARY
Notes
Insert ''or bepeficiaries" after participants.

It would be better to replace ''there is a promise
te participants of a determinable pension benefit'
with '"benefits are basad on a formula which is."

The words "'employees, and any other sources (for
example, state subsidies or Federal grants)" should
be deleted. It would be clearer to refer to
contribution policy, since funding policy is defined
differently in ERISA,

The words !"made only by the employer(s)" should be
replaced by ''not made by employees.'

It is suggested that the end of the sentence be
changed tc "upon retirement at or after normal
retirement age."

ILLUSTRAT ION OF FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

I tem

A2

Al

B2

Notes

It might be better tc show an example where the
approach is to use the SPD by reference.

The description does not indicate how early
retirement benefits are determined, The word
"forfeit" in the 4th sentance is unfortunate,

The rates of employee contribution should be
included in the plan summary,

The description of what happens upon plan
termination is much longer and detailed than what
happens if the plan is continued, which seems to be
misplaced emphasis.

The method of determining the actuarial value of
assets and the amount of this value are not stated.
The language appears to assume that the same
assumptions would be used for funding purposes as for
determining the present valuc of vested and nonvested
accrued benefits, which freguently may not be the case.

As previously noted, a separate interest rate
assumption would not be used for the insurance
company contract. Also most actuaries would not
believe it appropriate to use an 8% interest rate,
when according to £ a lower rate may apply to
deposits made after 1982.
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Notes

The actuarial cost method is not specified,

The status of the funding standard account at the
beginning and end of the plan year would seem to
be significant,

It i5s not clear how the increase or decrease in fair
value for securities purchased or sold during the
year is handled.

There ordinarily would be no individual annuity
contracts under a group annuity contract., The
$5,000 dividend does not seem to appear an the
financial statements.
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EXHIBIT ‘B
tew Money Maturity Value Market Value Actuarial Value of
Interest Rate of Assets of Assets Accrued Benefits {a) - (b)
(a) (b)
7% $ 1,000,000 $ 1,000,000 $ 1,000,000 $ 0
6 1,000,000 1,097,000 1,228,000 ~131,000
8 1,600,000 914,000 818,000 96,000

Assumptions:
(1} A1l assets are invested in 7% bonds which will mature in 15 years.

(2) The accrued benefits, which are valued at the new money interest rate,
will become payable in 15 years and will be paid for 15 years certain.
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EXHIBIT C

Determination of Actuarial Value of Accrued Benefits

[Tlustration of Effect of Varying Actuarial Investment
Return Assumption Directly with Changes in Market Yields

The purpose of this is to demonstrate the effects of changing the assumed rate
of investment return to reflect year-to-year variations in the market yield of
the invested assets, as proposed by the FASB draft. From the actuary's view-
point, the actuarial value of accrued benefits does not change every time the
market yield of the investments held by the plan changes. Rather, the actuary
assumes a long term yield based on past experience and projected future
experience and only makes changes in this when it appears to him that the

long term yields have truly changed. Thus, the actuarial values of accrued
benefits should be a much more stable value and not reflect every up and down
variation in the market value of the assets. B

The example given below is oversimplified to illustrate the effect of adjusting
the actuarial value of accrued benefits to reflect market yields on a given
valuation date. |t is based on the same assumptions used to develop Exhibit B
and shows the effect of a 1% change in the market yield between plan anniversaries
for a plan that is 50% funded {ratio of market value to present value of accrued
benefits) at the beginning of the period.

The pertinent values as of 1/1/79 are as follows:

A. Valuation as of 1/1/79:

T. Valution rate of interest: 7%
2. Present Value of Accrued Benefits s $10,000,000
3. Market Value of Assets 5,000,000
4. Unfunded Value of Accrued Benefits 5,000,000
5. Value of benefits Accruing in 1979

(as of 1/1/79) 1,000,000
6. 1979 Contribution to Plan {as of 12/31/79) 1,500,000

B. Valuation as of 1/1/80 Assuming Market
Yield of Fund = 7% as of 1/1/80

1. Present Value of Accrued Benefits {(7%) $11,770,000
2. Market Value of Assets 6,850,000
3. Unfunded VYalue of Accrued Benefits

(7%} (B.1. - B.2.) 4,920,000

C. Valuation as of 1/1/80 Assuming Market
Yield of Fund = 6% as of 1/1/80 and
Actuarial Value of Accrued Benefits
based on 6% Interest

1. Present Value of Accrued Benafits (6%) $14,450,000
2. Market Value of Assets 7,370,000
3. Unfunded Value of Accrued Benefits

(6%) (C.1. - C.2.) 7,080,000
4. Unfunded Value of Benefits if

Valuation Rate Remains 7% {B.l. - €.2) 4 400,000



STATEMENT 1979-8 169

D. Valuation as of 1/1/80 Assuming Market Yield
of Fund = 8% and Actuarial Value of Accrued
Benefits based on 8% Interest

I B —

Present Value of Accrued Benefits (8%) $ 9,630,000
Market Value of Assets 6,390,000
Unfunded Value of Accrued Benefits (8%) 3,240,000
Unfunded Value of Accrued 8enefits If

Valuation Rate Remains 73 (B.1 - 0.2.) 5,380,000

E. Summary of Unfunded Liabilities Based on
Actuary's Approach (AAA) and FASB Recommendaticn
(FAsB) (000 omitted)

Market Market Value Unfunded Liability

Yield of Assets AdA FASB
7% $6,850M $4,920H $4,920M
6% 7,370 4,400 7,080
By 6,390 5,380 3,240

2,

Conclusions

When the market yield remains unchanged, the AAA and FASB approaches
will produce the same result.

When there is unrealized appreciation in the fund (due to a

reduction in market yield Trom 72 te 6%), the AAA approach shows

this as an actuvarial gain resulting in a reduction in the unfunded
Viability of the plan by a like amount. Howaver, following the

FASB approach, a ''gain' in the market value of $520,000 (%7,370,000
minus $6,850,000) results in a $2,160,000 (%7,080,000 minus $%,920,000)

increase in the unfunded liability. How i5 a $2,160,000 loss in the

unfunded liability due to a $520,000 gain in the assets explained to
plan participants? )

Conversely, when. there is an unrealized capital loss in the assets {due

to an increase in the market yield from 7% to 8%}, this results in a
comparable increase in the unfunded liability of the plan under the AAA
approach. Under the FASB approach, a $460,000 loss (56,850,000 minus
$6,390,000) in the market value of assets results in a gain {reduction) in
the unfunded liability of $1,680,000 (34,920,000 minus 5$3,240,000). Again,
this 1s an ancmalous result to explain to plan participants.

Although the example is oversimplified to make the point, the type of

swings illustrated above would be common. Since most plans have a
significant portion of their assets in equities, the swings could be

even wider in many plans because of the higher volatiiity of common stock
values. Similarly, for plans that are thinly funded (such as new plans),
there is a high degree of leverage involved so that the affect of relatively
small dollar changes in unrealized gains and losses of a fund would be
magnified many times - and in the opposite direction,

Much attention has been focused on unfunded corperate pension liabilities,
and unusual changes therein, by the press and legislators in recent years.
The wide fluctuations created by the FASB proposal would undoubtedly cause
even more adverse and unwarranted publicity.
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comments on
FASB EXPOSURE DRAFT on CAPITALIZATION OF INTEREST COST

from Jack E, Wood, Chairman, American

Academy of Actuaries Committee on Life

Insurance Financial Reporting Principles
As stated in our response to the FASB Discussion Memorandum on Accounting
For Interest Costs, actuaries are accustomed to thinking of interest as a
cost which accrues as a result of holding amn asset, regardless of the source
of the funds used to acquire the asset, and regardless of whether the asset

has been put into productive use.

For that reason, we view with regret the positions taken in the exposure

draft, that interest may be capitalized only on certain limited categories

of agsets, and then only during certain limited periods of time, and that
{paragraph 10a) the amount of interest cost allocated during a time period

may not exceed the interest cost incurred by the enterprise during that period.
It is our feeling that such limitations result in inconsistencies and are not

in accord with economic reality.

For example, it seems to us clearly inconsistent that an asset should have
one historical cost if acquired over a period of time with borrowed funds,
and a diffarent historical cost 1f acquired over the same period of time wich
internally generated funds. (Also, we question the relevance of interest
rates applicable to older borrowings as a measure of the value of the funds

employed in the current production of an asset.)
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We feel that, if a new qualifying asset is acquired without concurrent borrow-
ing, such new qualifying asset is acquired from curreant equity fumds, and

that there is neither less nor more reason to capltalize interest in such
instance (regardless of the existence of any old borrowings) than in the

case where there has been concurrent borrowing.

As other respondents have nc doubt noted, an enterprise with no debt or with
only debt incurred in prior years at lower rates can presently incur interest
costs at high rates by the simple expedient of borrowing sufficient money and
reinvesting the proceeds in short=term securities covering the period during
which interest 1s permitted tc be capitalized on a qualifying asset., At the
end of the period during which capitalization of interest cost is permitted,

the securities could be sold and the debt repaid.

This would produce the sort of result recommended by actuaries, namely, the
capitalization of interest at current rates, regardless of the source of the
funds. But we feel ir would be much more desirzble to make this (to us)
eminently proper result directly obtainable, by revising the proposed séate-
ment to provide that interest cost be included in any cage, so that the value

of an asset is independent of the source of funds used to acquire that asser,

Paragraphs 35-37 gtate very ably the case for recognizing that the time
value of money (resulting in the charging of interest costs for its use} is of

significance in defining the acquisition cost of an asset. And paragraph 41
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states that a majority of the Board recognizes the validity of the conceptual
argument which would, for this purpose, recognize both interest paid on
borrowed funds and interest imputed on equity capiltal. However, the concept
is rejected because it does not conform to the present accounting model. We

respectfully suggest that the problem area is the model, not the concept.

Paragraphs 43-45 begin''Given the interest-on-borrowings limitation,” and
then ga on to explore various methods for determining the amount of interest
to be capitalized. As has been said earlier in other words, we feel that no

method subject to that limitation can be appropriate.

Although in theory we feel that the category should be defined far more
broadly, we have no strong objection to the definition of a qualifying asset
(although many actuaries feel that expensive computer software which is
developed over an extended period of time should be specifically designated
as a qualifying asset). We have nco strong objection to the capitalization
period, although there is a belief among actuaries that a longer period
would be appropriate. We concux with the view that the accounting disposi-
tion of capitalized interest should be the same as for other components

of cost.

We anticipate that other respondents will comment on the inconsistencies
that result when the financial figures for several companies, some with debt
and some without, are comsolidated in a parent company financial statement.
Also, we note that the exposure draft does not deal with the treatment to
be accorded capitalized interest of an uncousolidated subsidiary which is

accounted for by the equity method.
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Actuaries have long felt that fallure to recognize the time value of money
constitutes a very substantial weakness in existing accounting principles.
It may be that the conceptual framework project is a better arena for deal-
ing with the implications of this bagic concept. In any case, we respect-
fully recommend either that the interest-on-borrowings limitation be removed
or that this exposure draft be withdrawn and reissued after the conceptual
framework project is completed, We would hope that a method for capitaliza-
tion of interest can then be developed which will conform more closely to

economic reality as we perceive it.
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RESPONSE
by
AMERTICAN ACADEMY OF ACTUARIES COMMITTEE ON

LIFE INSURANCE FINANCIAL REPORTING PRINCIPLES
to

PRELIMINARY REPORT OF THE INSURANCE TASK GROUP
ON THE FASB EXPOSURE DRAFTS,
"FINANCIAL REPORTING AND CHANGING PRICES"

and "CONSTANT DOLLAR ACCOUNTING"

1. The Academy's Committee on Life Insurance Financial Reporting Priaciples
agrees that current value accounting is not approprizte for current con-
sideration for the life insurance industry for the reasons stated in the

Tentative Conclusion section of the Task Group's Preliminary Report.

The Committee also agrees that there 1s not gufficient time to develop

the techniques necessary to derive discounted cash flow (DCF) data within
the time frame specified by the FASB. The Committee has not yet reached

a conseusus as to whether such accounting information, which generally
implies market valuation of assets and gross premium valuation of reserves,
would be of more value to users than the other alternatives. We believe
that the concept of DCF has sufficient merit to warrant further study and
that this concept could be developed for the life insurance industry, since
life insurance company statements are already based upon many items that

represent present values of future cash flows.
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2. The Committee has no comment on the form of presentation of supplemental

information at this time.

3. The Commictee is in general agreement with the Task Group's conclusions
on the classification as monetary or nonmonetary of life insuragce in-
dugtry balance sheet accounts and with the arguments presented in support

of those conclusions.

We offer comments on the following specific items:

a. Reserves for Future Policy Obligations.

This 15 by far the most significant item on most life insurance
companies’ balance sheets., When these obligacions become due, they
will be payable in fixed dollars regardless of changes in prices.
This item should clearly be treated as monetary.

b. Deferred Acquisition Costs.

This item differs from prepaid expenses in that it is not a2 claim to
future services but, rather, it represents past services paid for in
the expectation of receiving future fixed-dollar premium income. The
item is reduced as the related premiums are received, and those prem—
iums are measured in terms of fixed dollars unaffected by price level

changes,

Further, most actuaries consider thé deferred acquisition cost as part
of the reserve for policy obligaticns. A typical life insurance con-
tract is looked on as a program under which a company collects premiums
uniformly over time and makes cash outlays which are not level with

time, with sales and administrative expenses tending to concentrate
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at time of issue and claim payments increasing for the 1life of the
contract. The reserve for policy obligations and the deferred
acquisition cost are constructed to apportion these outlays to the
accounting periods in which the related premiums are taken into
income. The same assumptions and techniques which are used te cal-
culate the reserve for policy obligations are used to determine the
deferred acquisition cost. Since the policyholder benefit reserve

is to be considered a monetary item, any other trzatment of the
deferred acgquisition cost would render the resulting financlal state-
ment inconsistent.

Deferred Premium Asset.

We assume that the deferred premium asset would not appear in a stock
life insurance statement prepared in accordance with Generally Accepted
Accounting Principles, since that form of presentation deoes not conform
to Rule 7A=-03=-04 of SEC Regulaticn S-X, as revised February 14, 1974.

Defarred Income Taxes.,

The March 2, 1979 Exposure Draft of the FASB on Constant Dollar
Accounting treats this item as monetary, but only as a practical solu-
tion, stating that nonmometary treatment wouldbe technically prefer-—
able. The Committee believes that monetary treatment of most life
insurance company deferred taxes is theoretically as well as practically
correct. Most deferred taxzes in life insurance company statements
result from timing differences between changes in statement policy
reserves and changes in policy reserves required or allowed fer income
tax reporting. Since these reserves are to be treated as monetary

items, the related deferred income taxes should be treated consistently.
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Health Insurance Loss Reserves.

The Committee agrees that reserves for health insurance policies
where the benefits provided are fixed in dollars, such as reserves
for long term disability benefits, are similar to life insurance

reserves and should be considered monetary.

The Committee believes, however, that claim reserves fer disability
policies and other health insurance reserves for benefits which are
not expressed in fixed dollars are nonmonetary. But, because these
reserves are established as a comnservatively realistic estimate of
amounts which will be paid, incorporating assumptions for future
inflation where appropriate, treatment different from that for other
nonmonetary items is required. The Committee believes that under
constant dollar accounting these items should carry the same values
as though they were monetary, since the impact of future inflaticm
has already been reflected in their calculations.

Property and Casualty Deferred Policy Acquisition Costs, Unearned
Premiums, and Logs and Loss Adjustment Reserves.

We believe that these property-casualty balance sheet accounts should

be treated as monetary.
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May 17, 1979

Mr. Jay Constantine

Senate Finance Committee

2227 Dirkson Senate O0ffice Building
Washington, D.C. 20510

RE: S.760
Dear Mr. Constantine:

John Kern suggested that | put in writing the concerns of the American Academy
of Actuaries concerning the proposed addition of section 2105 to the Social
Security Act, contained in section 101 of §.760.

Section 2105 would create an Actuarial Committee. |t states qualifications
for the members of that Committee. 1t would require a member of the Committee
to be enrclled as an enrolled actuary by the Joint Board for the Enrollment

of Actuaries.

The Actuarial Committee would deal with health insurance and similar benefits
provided by insurance companies, Blue Cross-Blue Shield, HMOs, etc. The
Commi ttee should consist of actuaries who are experts in these areas.

Enrollment by the Joint Board for the Enrollment of Actuaries shows qualifi-
cation as an actuary dealing with pensions. | was the first Chariman of the
Joint Board for the Enroliment of Actuarifes. The large majority of enrolled
actuaries are not experts in health insurance. Most of the best health insur-
ance actuaries are not enrolled actuaries, because they donot work with pensions.
Thus, the requirement for enrolled actuaries is inappropriate, and would

exclude most of the best gualified actuaries in the field of health insurance.

The American Academy of Actuaries has no present position on what the best
alternative requirement would be.

The large majority of the best qualified actuaries Tn this field are either
Fellows of the Soclety of Actuaries or Fellows of the Casualty Actuarial
Society. Either status shows that this Individual has passed rigorous exami-
nations in the actuarial aspects of health insurance as well as other actuarial
subjects. If it were not advisable to specify these particular statuses in

the bill, it might be better to state general criteria such as, ""has a broad
knowledge of actuarial science in the area of health benefits." It wouid

also be possible to include Associates of the Society of Actuaries and Associates
of the Casualty Actuarial Society; Associates have completed part of the
examinations required to be a Fellow. Most qualified actuaries, in addition

to their affiliation with the Society of Actuarles or Casualty Actuarial
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Mr, Jay Constantine
May 17, 1979

Society, are Members of the American Academy of Actuaries. Many of these

are also affiliated with the Conference of Actuaries in Public Practice or

the Fraternal Actuarial Society. Reference to these three latter organizations
might also be considered. A close retation exists between the five organi-
zations.

I enclose '""The Actuarial Profession', which gives a very brief suwmary of the
profession and of the professional organizations which serve it.

We believe it may be useful for a few actuaries to meet with you or other
appropriate persons working with the Finance Committee. If you concur, we

shall be pleased to make appropriate arrangements for a meeting at your
convenience.

Yours sincerely,

/v%’&‘) / /1:2/ # / |

Donald S. Grubbs, Jr.
Chairman, Committee on Federal Relations

and Accrediatation American Academy of Actuaries
DSG/mep

Enclosure

cc: Stephen G. Kellison
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AMERICAN ACADEMY OF ACTUARIES

B335 K STREET, N.W. - SUTTE 515 . WASHINGTON, D.C. 20008 . (202) 223-3196

May 22, 1979

Mr. A, Clarence Sampson

Chief Accountant

Securities and Exchange Commission
500 No. Capitol Street

Washington, D.C. 20549

Dear Mr. Sampson:

As you may know, the American Academy of Actuaries, of which I
am President, has been following very closely the discussfon in various
forums concerning the scope of services offered by C.P.A. firms, particularly
as regards the furnishing of actuarial services. We have previcusly sub-
mitted comments to the Commission with respect to this issue, fnitially
on December 16, 1977, in response to the invitation for comments made in
Release No. 33-5869, and then on April 11, 1978, following the submission of
comments by others that we believed warranted a rejoinder.

We have been advised by the Academy's Tegal counsel that in dis-
cussions last week with Ms. Gretta Powers, Chief Counsel to your office,
Ms. Powers indicated that you would weicome a statement of our views concern-
ing the recently issued recommendations of the Public Qversight Board
regarding this fssue. We anticipate that the Academy will soon be filing a
formal request for an interpretation by your office of the statutory and
requiatory requirements relating to the independence of an auditing firm in
certain designated situations. In the interim, however, the enclosed analysis
of the Public Oversight Board's discussion of the provision of actuarial
services by C.P.A. firms to their audit clients should be helpful to you.
While this analysis was prepared largely by the Academy's legal counsel,
1t has been reviewed by certain of the Academy’s officers and generally
reflects the views of the Academy on this important issue.

The Academy hopes to submit its raquest for a formal interpretation

from your office in the near future. In the interim, if the Academy can be
of assistance to you, pleasa do not hesitate to call upon us.

Sincerely yours,

Dale R. Gustafson
President

ORG:Tes

Enclosure
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SHEA & GARDNER

The Public Oversight Board Report
on_the Scope of Services by C.P.A, Firms

The Public Oversight Beard of the American Institute of Certified
Public Accountants has recently issued its report on the scope of services
offered by C.P.A. firms. Despite the extensive submission of the American
Academy of Actuaries to the Board, the Board's report, particularly as it
relates to the furnishing of actuarial services by C.P.A. firms to their
audit clients, fails to properly analyze and resolve the important issues.

The Academy expects that it will soon file with the Chief Account-
ant of the Securities and Exchange Commission a formal request for an inter-
pretation of the statutofy and regulatory requirements that relate to the
independence of an auditing firm when it offers actuarfal services. Teo
assist in the preparation of this request, we have in this memorandum sought
to analyze the Public Oversight Board’s treatment of this issue. While we
have restricted the discussfon in this memorandum to the Public Oversight
Board report, much of the fuller treatment of this issue contained in the
Academy's December 16, 1977 response to SEC Release No. 33-586% is of con-
tinued relevance. We note in particular the discussion an p. 9-18 expressing
skepticism about managements' ability to make the kind of informed judgments
on actuarial matters that the AICPA argues would permit an accounting firm to
audit companies to whom it had provided actuarial services.

I. The Board's Treatment of the Furnishing
of Actuarial Services by C.P.A. Firms

While the Board's discussion of the considerations that affect the
furnishing of management advisory services generally is applicable to the
provision of actuarial services, the discussion of this specific area is
found primerily at pp. 48-53 of the Board's report. There, the Board first
identified three situations in which a problem of independence might arise:

{1} An accounting firm audits the financial statements of an
insurance company for which it has furnished actuarial services;

(2) An accounting firm audits the financial statements of a
client for which it acted as the enrolled actuary of the client's employee
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benefit plan; and

(3) An accounting firm audits the financial statements of an
employee benefit plan for which it also acted as the enrolled actuary.

We believe that the description of the first and third of these
problem situations s accurate. The second situation, we think,
could be rephrased so as to frame more precisely the issue that is posed
when an audit is made of the financial statements of a corporation that has
a retirement plan. The financial statements of such an employer will fnclude
items, often of considerable significance to the financial condition of the company,
concerning liabilities arising in connection with the funding of the employee
benefit plans which rest upon actuarial determinations. Those items, and
the actuarial determinations upon which they are based, will most often have
been prepared by the persons who prepared related items included in the re-
ports of the employee benefit plans themselves, but the actuary who made the
determinations will have done so not in his function as enrolled actuary for
the plan but as consulting actuary to the employer, The issue is whether a
C.P.A. firm can audit the financial statements of the employer where these
items were prepared by or with the significant participation by an actuary
employed by the accounting firm. We believe that the Public Oversight Board's
discussion is inadequate because it fails to address this issue.

After identifying these three situations, the Board goes on to explain
that there are two separate but related arguments advanced to support the
assertion that an accounting firm would not be independent if it performed
both the actuarial and auditing functions in those situations. These arguments
are (1) that the dual services will result in “self-review" to a degree that
might fmpair the necessary objectivity with which the audit should be per-
formed; and (2) that the actuary will be unable to limit his role to providing
advice and technical assistance but will in fact bear greater responsibility
than is appropriate for the relevant items in the financial statements. At
an eartier point in its report, the Board concludes that an accounting firm
could not properly audit financial statements where its role with respect
to the preparation of the significant items in the financial statements was
not limited to advice and technical assistance. Failure to observe this
role 1imitation would give rise at the very least to an appearance of the
C.P.A. firm being a "part of the management's team," which forecloses
acting as auditor for the company.

Although the Board carefully identified these three situations
and two arguments, its discussion of whether self-review to an unacceptable
degree might result was not directed explicitly to each of the three identi-
fied sityations., Instead, the Board undertook to establish that an account-
ing firm which undertakes to employ the procedures recommended in the Statement
of Auditing Standards No. 11 ("SAS 11"} would not be engaged in an unacceptable
self-review, We believe that the Board proceeded upon a fundamental mis-
conception of SAS 11 that vitiates the conclusions it reached.

With respect to whether as a practical matter it is possible for
actuarial services to be provided by an accounting firm without breaching the
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requirement that it 1imit its role to advice and assistance, the Board
reached what we believe to be inconsistent and conflicting conclusions.

1t concluded that when an accounting firm audits the financial statements

of an insurance company it should not furnish actuarial services unless they
are "suppiemental to primary actuarial advice furnished by another actuary
not associated with the accounting firm." The Board believed that an
accounting firm in this context would not adhere to the previously described
role 1imitation requirement that was considered to be essential. The Board
concluded, however, that this requirement would not be violated i an auditor,
either of an employee benefit plan or of the sponsoring employer, also served
as the enrolled actuary of the plan.

We believe that a more systematic analysis can be made of the three
areas identiffed by the Board and of the applicability to each of those areas
of the two circumstances that may result in a lack of independence. In the
remainder of this letter, we attempt such an analysis.

II. Audits of Financial Statements of Insurance Companies
to Which the Accountant Has Furnished Actuarial Services.

The Public Oversight Board concluded that accounting firms
should not be the primary source of actuarial services to those insurance
companies whose financial statements they audit. It took this position even
though it concluded that the furnishing of such services would not violate
the principle of "self-review," the first element of the independence require-
ment. The Board was of the view that an accounting firm could not generally
provide actuarial advice to insurance company audit clients and still be
deemed to be acting only in an advisory or "technical assistance" role rather
than as a participant in management decisions. As a consequence, the '
accounting firm would violate the "role limitation" that is a second and
independent element in the independence requirement.

The reasoning of the Board with respect to the role limitation re-
quirement is significant.

"Actuarial considerations for an insurance company are
integrally related to the role and responsibility of
management. Thus, if an accounting firm furnishes actu-
arial services to management of an insurance company

audit client, care must be taken to satisfy the role re-
quirements contained in the AICPA's MAS Professional
Standards. This means generally that the actuary must
only furnish advice to management and render assistance
and that management must make the final decision. To do
this, the accountant must be satisfied that the c¢lient has
the expertise to understand the significance of his recom-
mendations so that all of the significant matters of judg-
ment involved are determined or approved by the client and
the client is in a position to have an informed judgment
on the results. The Board does not believe that this
standard can reasonably be met if an auditing firm is
daing more than rendering suppiementary actuarial advice."

POB Report, p. 53.
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The conclusion of the Board was that an accounting firm could furnish actu-
arial services to insurance company audit clients only if such services were
supplemental to primary actuarial advice furnished by another actuary.

Basically, the Board found actuarial determinations to be so
central to the business of an insurance company that an accounting firm
could not participate in those determinations and still retain its inde-
pendence. [Determining potential future liabilities and the adequacy of
current reserves, while preeminently an actuarial matter, are also central
concerns of top management of any insurance company. Participation in these
determinations inevitably makes the accounting firm part of the "management
team" and compromises the appearance if not the substance of independence.l/
That it is this consideration which motivated the Board is sungested by the
Board's comment that "(fa]ctuarial considerations for an insurance company
are integrally related to the role and responsibility of management."

POB Report, p. 33.

wWhat the Board appears to have cerceived tur did not fully articulate
is that an auditing firm must 1imit its role when providing non-audit services
to audit clients in more than one way if it is to remain independent. If it
does not 1imit itself to advice and technical support, it begins to make
management decisions and becomes a part of management. a "member of the team."
Even if it does Timit itseif to giving advice and technical support, it can
still lose the required independence in two situations. First, if the advice
is given pervasively, on a coniinuing or on-going basis. the audit firm will
again have made itself part of management. Secondly, if the advice relates
to matters that are the essential and critical aspects of the client's business,
independence will aisoc have been compromised. It is for this latter reason
that the rendering of actuarial services to an audit client is inappropriate.2/

1/ “Another purpose for a role Timitation is to avoid appearing essentially as
part of management's team" PUB Report, p. 49.

2/ It is this same principle that bars an accounting firm that has performed
Tegal or brokerage services for a client from also auditing its financial
statements. These services are regarded as so intertwined with management
functions as to impair the independence of the accountant, even where the work
does not rslate to representations in the financial statements. The furnishing
of actuarial services to an insurance company involves an even greater involve-
ment in management functions.
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The Board congluded, however, that the rendering of "supplemental"
rather than "primary" actuarial services would be acceptable. We do not be-
lieve this to be a workable rule but will defer our suggestions until we have
discussed the other reason why, in our view, an accounting firm should not be
permitted to provide actuarial services to insurance company audit clients.

While the Board recognized in its analysis of the role limitation
issue the central role of actuarial determinations in the management of an
insurance company, it ignored that role when discussing the relationship
between self-review and the provision of actuarial services to insurance com-
pany audit clients. The Board's discussion of self-review was cast in general
terms, unrelated to the particular functions or pracedures performed by
accountants when auditing the statements of insurance companies.

A central feature of the "independence" of an audit is that the
audit be "objective" and that there be a "lack of bias and resistance to any
conscious or subconscious influence toward action, inaction, conclusions or
statements that are based on anything other than an impartial evaluation of
the best available evidence." POB Report, p. 26. The "role limitation" pro-
posed by the Board reflects the need to eliminate "bias" introduced by an
auditor whase ties to the reviewed entity are too close, who has toa great
& stake in the management decisions reflected in the financial statements, or
who has otherwise become part of the "management team." But objectivity is
also threatened where "self-review" is countenanced. "Resistance" to an "im-
partial evaluation" must be expected where the very person who has been involved
in the initial preparation of analysis reflected in certain entries on the fi-
nancial statement is conducting the audit review. If, in the case of actuarial
analysis, the methods or assumptions employed were, in part, unreasonable, one
would expect questions to be raised by the auditor. But it is unlikely that
this would occur in a review conducted by the very persons who prepared the
initial analysis. More broadly, where, as in the case of actuarial services
provided by accocunting firms, the reviewar is professionally associated with
the preparer of the original analysis, the reviewer will be unavoidably reluc-
tant to fdentify discrepancies in this analysis and subject his associates
(and their common business entity) to the professional embarrassment of having
to disclose mistakes and discrepancies to the client.

The Board sidesteps these objections by arghing that the principle
of "self-review" is not violated because, in the case of actuarial services
provided by an accounting firm, no meaningful "review" is being conducted in
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the first place. While admitting the presence of at least a theoretical self-
raview, the Board asserts:

"This does not mean, however, that the limited self-review
involved impairs the auditor's independence or otherwise
is harmful to the public or investors. First of all, it
must be remembered that the review is quite limited and

is not duplicative of the work performed by an actuary.”
POB Report, pp. 50-51,

The Board comes to this conclusion by what we believe is a misinter-
pretation of Statement of Auditing Standards No. 11 ("SAS 11"), one of a series
of interpretations of generally accepted auditing standards jssued by the
American Institute of Certified Public Accountants (AICPA). This standard pro-
vides guidance to an auditor who must audit financial statements that contain
representations the review of which requires knowledge or expertise that the
auditor does not himself possess and that, in the auditor's judgment, reguires
the use of a specialist. SAS 11 is explicitly made inapplicable to using the
work of a specialist who is a member of the auditor's staff. An accounting
firm that has actuaries on its own staff already has the expertise necessary
to perform whatever procedures are appropriate with respect to the representa-
tions or items in question, and accordingly the guidance offered by the state-
ment simply is inapplicable.3/

The POB report suggests that self-review is not a serious problem
in the case of an insurance company because the review of actuarial work is a
Timited one which "is not duplicative of the work performed" by the originating
actuary. SAS 11 plainly contemplates that the auditor who does not have
actuarial expertise will retain the services of a consulting actuary to review
and test the original actuarial work just as thoroughly as the accountant re-
views non-actuarial items on the insurance company's financial statement (i.e.,
not a limited, circumscribed review). The auditor must first satisfy himself
concerning the professional qualifications and reputation of the specialist.
An understanding must be developed among the auditor, the client, and the
specialist as to the nature of the work to be performed by the sepcialist. The
auditor myst make appropriate tests of the accounting data provided by the client
to the specialist. Finally, while the appropriateness and reasonableness of
the methods and assumptions used and their application are still the responsibility
of the specialist, the auditor is required to obtain an understanding of those
methods and assumptions so as to enable him to determine whether the specialists'
findings corroborate and support the related representations in the financial
statement.

SAS 11 goes on, moreover, to say that in unusual cases the auditor
may use the services of a specialist employed by the client. Significantly,
the statement does not speak to whether or not this specialist can be the same
person responsible for the original determination and representations. . We think

3/ This exclusion is contained in the first footnote in SAS 11. The Board
apparentTy failed to make note of this exclusion, for on page 50 of its report
it explicitly applies the guidelines set out in SAS 11 to the case where an
auditor's "specialist" is an actuary employed by the auditing firm. What is
more significant, the footnote merely confirms what is implicit in the entire
statement, namely that it applies only when an "outside" specialist must be
used. This is one, but not the only, respect in which the Board failed to
consider adequately the meaning and function of SAS 11.
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the specialist cannot be the originator of the actuarial work and that if he
were, the auditor would not be using a "specialist" at all within the meaning
of SAS 11 but would in fact be making his own judgments based directly on the
original work. '

SAS 11 does, however, unarguably contemplate the use of a specialist
employed by the client who is not the author of the original analysis. In this
event, the auditor's responsibilities under SAS 11 are increased. He must con-
sider performing additional procedures with respect to some or all of the
assumptions, methods, or findings to determine that the findings are not un-
reasonable (or to engage an outside specialist for this purpose).

The Board misconceived, in important respects, the applicability of
SAS 11 and what it says about the obligations of an auditor when items re-
quiring specialized knowledge are being reviewed. This mistaken analysis
caused the Board to come to the wrong conclusion regarding the “self-review”
issue.

The Board begins its analysis by assuming that where the audit of
a financial statement entails the review of representations based on analysis
prepared by an actuary, the guidelines contained in SAS 11 are to be applied
by the auditor in reviewing that actuvarial analysis. First, the Board asserts
that the actuary who prepared the analysis is to he treated as a
"specialist" for purposes of SAS 11. Second, while the Board admits that
self-review is involved in the audit of a financial statement which reflects
in part analytical work provided by actuaries employed by the auditor, it says
that the auditor's independence is not impaired because the review itself is
so limited as to be considered trivial. Even where the initial preparer of
the actuarial analysis is an employee of the insurance company, and so subject
to the higher standard of review required by SAS 1] where a specialist is
"related" to the client, the review is still said to be limited because the
auditor "would not be required to dupiicate the actuarial work performed."

POB Report, p. 51.

In this situation, the Board contends, "[plerhaps more important
from the public's standpoint is not the potential for self-review but the
objectivity of the person performing actuarial services in the first place.”
POB Report, p. 51. This leads the Board to argue that, on balance, it is
Jess objectionable to have an auditor reviewing financial statements reflect-
ing actuarial work performed by an actuary emnloyed by the auditor than it is
where the work has been performed by an actuary who is an employee of the
client -- a practice which the Board correctly notes is very commen in the
insurance industry.

The Board's analysis is i{naccurate at each crucial juncture
precisely because of the Board's misconceptions concerning SAg 11. e
Board's analysis applies the SAS 17 guidelines to an auditor's review of
original actuarial work by viewing the initial preparer of the analysis as a
“specialist® within the meaning of SAS 11. But the "specialist" envisioned
by the drafters of SAS 11 is an expert {in this case an actuary) brought in
by the auditor to take a "second look" at the actuarial analysis underlying
the specific entries of the financial statement. Thus the Standard envisions
two experts, the actuary who initially prepared the analysis underlying cer-
tain financial statement representations, and the expert called in to review
this analysis. Only the latter expert is a "specialist” within the intent

of SAS 11, and its provisions provide guidance to the auditor only in review-
ing the work of this second expert.
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Should the auditor seek to examine the original actuarial work
directly, the situation is analogous not to the use of a "specialist" under
SAS 11 but to an auditor who has decided that he is able to conduct an adequate
review without the assistance of any outside actuarial expert. SAS 11 pravides
no guidance in this situation. In that case the auditor must conduct his review
of the relevant representations in the same manner as he would the evidentiary
matter underlying any ather representation contained in the financial statement.
The auditor should satisfy himself as to the reasonableness of the assumptions
and methods used, and the findings reached, in the actuarial work underlying
representations in the financial statement. This will be particularly important
to the auditor because several of the most important entries aen insurance company
financial statements are heavily dependent upon actuarial analysis.

While the Board thus relied upon SAS 11 in a situation to which it is
not applicable, even its reading of the statement is in our view mistaken. The
review required by SAS 11 of the work of a specialist is in fact much more exten-
sive and significant than the Board suggests. In the accounting industry's
own audit guide entitled Audits of Stock Life Insurance Companies, prepared by
a committee of the AICPA, the review required by the auditor is clearly a
significant one even where an actuarial specialist is an “outside expert"
presumably unrelated to either the client or the auditing firm,

"Actuaries are not practicing auditors; they are not specifically
trained in auditing procedures, nor are they gaverned by gener-
ally accepted auditing standards. Therefore, there is no justi-
fication for the auditor to omit all audit precedures or to per-
form only token procedures as to the reserves reviewed by the
consulting agency unless the terms of the engagement contemplate
a qualification or denial of opinion by the auditor." Audits

of Stock Life Insurance Companies, at p. 99.

"Where the specialist is ralated to the client, SAS 11 provides, as noted

above, that the auditor should consider performing additional procedures "to
determine that the [specialist's] findings are not unreasonable.” Finally,
the industry audit guide quoted above provides that the auditor must satisfy
himself as to the "propriety of the actuarial factors"” used in computing the
insurance company's reserves and in making similar determinations.

The Board supperts its case for the "limited" nature of the review
required by SAS 11 by noting that the auditor is not required "to duplicate
the actuarial work performed.” But such duplication is not required of the
auditor in reviewing any representation contained in the financial statement.
A11 that 1is required of the auditor is that he satisfy himself that the
representations are reasonable and fairly presented in accordance with
generally accepted accounting principles.

Finally, the Board contends that the admitted "self-review" neces-
sarily entailed in the audit of work performed by an actuary who is an emp loyee
of the auditor should be of less concern to the public than allowing the initial
determinations to be made by an employse of the company. The various govern-
ment authorities having jurisdiction over these relationships, however, have
taken a different view. The state commissioners who regulate the insurance
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industry have decliped to require that the actuary relied upon by an insur-
ance company be unrelated to and independent from the company. On the other
hand, the Congress and the SEC have required that where an audit is conducted
pursuant to statutory requirement, the auditor must be independent of the
insurance company whose financial statements 1t audits. The very presence of
an audit requirement assumes that the initial work, whether involving support-
ing actuarial analysis or the preparation of the financial statement ftself,
will be performed by someone wha is not independent of the entity being
audited. What the Board is reduced to contending is that an independence
requirement imposed on the preparer of the financial statement would be more
effective than the requirement of an independent audit. Congress, however,
has already resolved this issue in a different fashion.

The Board did, of course, conclude that accounting firms should not
as a general matter furnish actuarial services to insurance companies whose
financial statements they audit. The Board found that the provision of these
services causes the accounting firm to step outside its limited advisory role
and become part of the management team -- raising the potential for the kind
of bias that is inconsistent with the objectivity required of an independent
auditor. What the Board failed to recognize is that the provision of these
services to audit clients introduces an element of “"self-review" which also
threatens the kind of impartial evaluation required of the independent auditor.

The Board does permit an exception to its ban on the provision of
actuarial services to insurance company audit clients in those instances where
such services are "supplemental to primary actuarial advice furnished by
another actuary not associated with the accounting firm." PCB Regort, p. 53.
This rule suffers from considerable vagueness. When are actuarial services
merely. "supplemental?" I[s it determined by timfng considerations (i.e., after
other actuarial services have been provided) or by the relative magnitude of
the services (i.e., when compared to the total volume of actuarial services
consumed by the audit elfent}? Greater precision is needed to provide guidance
not only to accounting firms but also to the actuaries they employ, many of
whom are members of the American Academy of Actuaries.

More importantly, however, the rule would not be sufficient to
prevent "self-review." The actuarial services provided by the auditor might
¢learly be suppiemental in character yet stfll find their way onto the finan-
cial statement of the insurance company, presenting a self-review problem.

A better approach would be tc ban actuaries emplioyed by an accounting firm

from any work for an insurance company audit client where the work might involve

participating in any way in the valuation of reserves or in the determination
of any other representation as regards assets and liabilities on the financial
statement. [t will be difficult to know in advance, however, what the results
and the use made of the actuarial work will be. Actuarial analysis is so
central to the operation of an insurance company that there is always the
1ikelihoed that it will in some way be reflected in the representations on the
financial statement. For this reason, accounting firms should estabiish a
prophylactic rule barring the provision by its actuaries of any actuarial
services to insurance company audit clients.
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Accounting firms would, of course, be free to provide actuarial
services to non-audit clients without restriction or to use their own actuaries
in auditing statements reflecting actuarial work done by others. This should
meet the Board's concern that the actuarial services provided by accounting
firms not be so restricted as to render the firms unable to attract qualified
actuarial personnel. In any event, actuarial activity within accounting firms
cannot be bought at the price of the independence and absence of self-review
required of the auditor.

III. The Furnishing of Actuarial Services to
Employee Benafit Plans and to Their
Sponsoring Employers by Accounting Firms
Which also Act as Auditors

As indicated at the cutset of this letter, it is helpful to distin-
guish carefully between the work performed by actuaries and auditers for
empioyee benefit plans and the work done by them for employers who have estab-
lished such plans. Its failure to do so, we believe, was an important contri-
buting cause to the erronecus analysis made by the Public Oversight Board.

Section 103(a}{1)(A) of the Employee Retirement Income Security
Act of 1974 (“ERISA") requires an annual report to be published with respect
to every employee benefit plan to which the Act applies. That report is the
responsibility of the "Plan Administrator,” who will usually be an officer of
the employer, a committee of such officers or the employer itself. The report
must inciude a financial statement and an opinion by an independent quatified
public accountant that the statements are presented fairly, in conformity with
generally accepted accounting principles. The report must also include an
actuarial statement, the preparation of which, pursuant to Section 103{a){4)(A),
is the responsibility of a qualified enrclled actuary engaged by the plan admin-
istrator. The actuarial statement must include an opinion by the actuary that
the contents of the actuarial statement "are in the aggregate reasonably re-
lated to the experience of the plan and to reasonable expectations” and "repre-
sent his best estimate of anticipated experience under the plan." The actuary
must also state that to the best of his knowledge the report is complete and
accurate and that the requirements of Section 302{c)(3) (relating to reasonable
actuarial assumpticns and methods) have been complied with. Included among
the items that make up the actuarial statement required by ERISA, which is
reported on Schedule B of Form 5500, are: the current value and actuarial value
of the assets, the present value of benefits for retired employees, the present
value of vested benefits, the present value of non-vested accrued benefits, the
accrued liabilities and normal cost used to determine the minimum contribution,
the determination of the minimum contribution requirement, and the funding
standard account balance (including the alternative minimum funding standard
account entries if applicable), and a description of the funding method and
principal actuarial assumptions.

Section 103(a)(3)(B) provides that the independent accountant, in
offering the opinion concerning the plan's financial statements required by
the Act, "may rely on the correctness of any actuarial matter certified to
by an enrolled actuary, if he so states his reliance." In practice, most of
the accounting firms have been unwilling to. accept the option provided by
this section. They have taken the position that their responsibilities extend
to all the representations in the financial statements, including those that
depend upon the estimates and calculations made by the actuary, and they have
therefore undertaken to employ whatever audit procedures are considered neces-
sary and appropriate with respect to these matters in connection with their
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report on the plan's financial statements.

While the Tiabilities of a retirement plan that are based upon
actuarial determinations constitute the principal items of the statement, this
is not the case, except for insurance companies, with respect to the financial
statements of the sponsoring employer. While the items are material and impor-
tant, there are ysually only two which are based upon actuarial determinations.
The determination of the amounts of these items, in virtually every instance
with which we are familiar, will be made by the same actuary who is the en-
rolled actuary for the plan, but in making these determinations he will be
acting as a consulting actuary to the employer rather than as the enrolied
actuary to the plan.

The first item is found in the income statement that is part of the
financial statements of the emplover. A significant deduction from gross in-
come is the amount of the accrued pension cost of the plan for the year. In
many instances this may not be separately stated as a line item on the income
statement, but a footnote will usually describe the basis used in arriving at
the amount. It should be noted that this amount will often be different from
the minimum contribution requirement which is one of the items included in the
actuarial statement of the plan, and it will sometimes be different from the
annual contribution actually made for the year which will also be shown in the
actuarial statement. The actuarial statement, however, will not show the
accrued pension cost for the year.

The second item is the amount of the unfunded, vested liability of
the plan. This also appears in a footnote, but to the statement of assets
and 1iabilities rather than to the income statement. While not a part of
the balance sheet proper, it is an ftem whose significance to the financial
condition of a company is increasingly being recognized in the financial
community. In most cases this amount can be calculated readily from the
actuarial statement by taking the value of the accumulated benefits, stated
separately for retired employees, active employees whose benefits are
vested, and active employees whose benefits are not yet vested, as well as
the current value of the plan assets.

As stated above, the issue of whether an accounting firm can provide
an independent audit of the financial statements of a plan for which the firm
also serves as enrolled actuary must be examined separately from the issue of
whether an accounting firm can provide an independent audit of a corporation's
financial statements where an actuary employed by the accounting firm has made
determinations concerning the corporation's pension plan upon which represen-
tations in the financial statements are based.
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A. Auditing the Financial Statements
of a Pension Plan

With this background we can now turn to an examination of the
validity of the Board's conclusion that an accountant may properly audit the
financial statement of a pension plan where the firm or a subsidiary of the
firm or an actuary employed by the firm serves as enrolled actuary to the plan.

First we note that, if the auditor elects to exercise the option
provided by Section 103(a)(1}(B) of ERISA and relies explicitly upon the
correctness of the matters certified to by the enrclied actuary, then no
issue of self-review will arise. If thesauditor is not required to evaluate
the actuary's assumptions and methods, then no question is raised for this
reason concerning a possible lack of objectivity. In that event the actual
audit work performed by the accounting firm will relate entirely to matters that
were the initial responsibility of persons not related to the accounting firm.
On the other hand, if the accounting firm prefers not to rely on the actuary's
statement or feels that it cannot so rely and still adequately meet its
obligations in connection with its report upon the plan's financial statements,
then the self-review issue is squarely presented.

As we have already shown in our discussion of the auditing of in-
surance company financial statements, when an auditor must review representa-
tions in a financial statement that rest upon the work of an actuary, the
accountant must do more than simply verify the professional qualifications and
status of the actuary. Even under SAS 11, the auditor as an absolute minimum
must satisfy himself that the financial statement representations are supported
by the findings of the actuary. In fact, in almost every case the auditor will
satisfy himself that the findings themselves are not unreasonable. This means
that there is a meaningful review of the work of the actuary, and we can only
repeat the point that we have made s0 often that a review of one's own work,
whatever the competency and inteqrity of the individual may be, and however
reliable the report may be in the great majority of instances, s not what
the public and the Commission understand to be an independent audit. An
audit is grounded in the concept of a second lock, and if an audit is a statu-
tory requirement, it can be satisfied only if the review is made by a second
person, not by the perseon or entity who did the original work.

Even if an accounting firm were to elect to rely upon the correct-
ness of the matters certified to by the enrolled actuary, so that no self-
raeview would be involved, there is still grave doubt whether an accounting
firm that served directly or indirectly as the enrolled actuary for the plan
could satisfy the role limitation requirement that the Public Oversight Board
regards as an independent and necessary element of independence. The matters
certified to by the enrclled actuary are no less "integrally related" to the
operation and financial soundness of the pension plan than the issues of
potential Tiability and reserve adequacy are to the operation of an insurance
company. In each case the actuary is providing actuarial services which, even
if characterized as only advice and technical support, relate to matters so
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essential and critical to the management of the entity invelved as to make

the actuary providing the "advice" part of the management team, thereby com-
promising his independence. Indeed, an even stronger case can be made as to
pension plans, where 1iabilities are equal to many times the value of assets.

For this reason, it would seem that the Board's own analysis would
have obliged it to apply at least the rule it adopted with respect to insurance
companies to the audit of employee benefit plans, thereby barring the pravision
of actuarial services by the auditor uniess "supplemental to primary actuarial
advice furnished by another actuary” to the plan. But the Board did not go
even this far and instead found no objection to an accounting firm serving as
both enrolled actuary and auditor to an employee benefit plan,

The Board readily acknowledged that the person who servés as an
enrolled actuary to a pension plan and files the actuarial statement described
in Section 103(a)(4)(B) is doing more than simply giving advice. But the
Board concluded that this did not vioTate the role limitation requirement.

"On the ather hand, it is equally difficult to conclude that

the actuary has usurped management's role and is making man-

agement decisions. Rather, it appears to the Board that, in

the context of an employee benefit plan, the enrolled actuary
is simply performing an independent professional service out-
side of management's traditional area of operation and exper-
tise. It is not, therefore, making management decisions and

should not be viewed as being part of management's team."

This analysis suffers from a failure to identify the persons respons-
ble for the conduct of the operations of a retirement plan. In the case of a
corporation, the "management” is plainly the directors and officers. In the
case of an ERISA plan, the "management" is the plan administrator. While the
plan administrator may be an officer of the sponsoring corporation, he relies
heavily on two other persons who exercise specific management functions with
respect to the plan. Custody of assets and selection of investments are per-
formed by & trustee or an insurance company. Preparation of the actuarial
statement is the responsibility of the enrolled actuary. Just as the manage-
ment of an industrial corperation is responsible for the corporation‘s financial
statements -- which are then subject to audit by an independent public
accountant -- so, too, the plan administrator is responsible for the financial
statements of the plan, including the representations that are based upon
actuarial determinations =-- which must similarly be examined and reported
upon by an independent accountant. '

The Board's statement about "the enrolled actuary . . . simply
performing an independent service outside of management's traditional area
of operation and expertise" is, simply, wholly erroneous. The enrolled actuary
is, in fact, performing a significant management function on behalf of the plan.
If the Board's conclusion is sound that participating in management functions
and decisions is inconsistent with independence, then an accounting firm cannot
audit the financial statements of a plan for which it or an actuary employed
by it acts as the enralled actuary.
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We note that the Department of Labor may have taken a different view
in Interpretive Bulletin ERISA IB RD 75-1 (now IB RD 75-39} published November
20, 1975 (29 CFR § 2509-75-9), which provides examples of situations in which
an accountant will not be considered independent for purpases of the audit
requirement of ERISA. After listing three such examples,4/ the Interpretive
Bulletin provides:

"However, an independent qualified public accountant
may permissably [sic] engage in or have members of his or her
firm engage in certain activities which will not have the
effect of removing recognition of his or her independence.
For example . . . the rendering of services by an actuary
associated with an accountant or accounting firm shall not
impair the accountant's or accounting firm's independence."

It is not apparent whether the Labor Department intended only to say
that some actuarial services could be rendered by an accountant to an audit
¢lient without impairing its independence or whether it was suggesting that
under no circumstances would the provision of actuarial services affect an
accountant's independence. [t does not state, one way or another, whether
an actuary employed by the auditor may be the enrclled actuary for the plan.
This interpretation was not promulgated under the notice and comment provi-
sions of the Administrative Procedure Act (5 U.5.C. § 533) and, accordingly,
the Qepartment never had the benefit of any public comment. We think that
the Bulletin does not reflect an adequate understanding or analysis
of the issue. We intend to seek clarification. In our view, even where the
accounting firm has elected to rely on the correctness of the matters certified
to by the enrolled actuary so as to avoid the self-review problem, it cannot
act as both auditor and enrolled actuary for the pension plan and still comply
with the role limitation requirement of independence.

B. Auditing the Financial Statements of
the Corporation Sponsoring the Plan

As noted earlier, the financial statement of an employer that has
adopted a pension plan will include at Teast two items -~ the pension cost
accrual and the unfunded actuarially computed vaiue of vested benefits. A
self-review problem will thus be presented if actuaries employed by the
accounting firm are responsible for the computation of these items and then
the same accounting firm is asked to audit the sponsoring employer's financial
statement. In the Academy's comment in response to Release No. 33-5869G,
dated December 16, 1977, we pointed out why the principle behind the Commission's

4/ The bulletin provides that independence will be deemed lacking if (1) the
accountant or his or her firm or a member thereof had a direct financial inter-
ast or a material indirect financial interest in the pension plan or the plan‘s
sponsor, or if (2) the accountant, his or her firm, or a member thereof was
connected as a promoter, underwriter, investment adviser, votina trustee,
director, officer, or employee of the plan or the plan sponsaor, or if (3) the
accountant or a member of the firm maintains financial records for the plan.
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ruling on "EDP and Bookkeeping Services" was fully applicable here, and

there is no reason to repeat that discussion here. These important

financial statement representations cannat properly be audited by a firm

that has made the initia)l determinations. The AICPA positicn that "all of

the significant matters of judgment involved" can satisfactorily be “"determined
or approved by the client" is simply not credible. If there is anything that
would create an appearance of lack of independence this would be it. Indeed,
more than an appearance is involved. The performance of both functions c¢reates
exactly the kind of impediment to the achievement of objectivity that the
independence requirement was designed to prevent.

Since the disability arising from self-review seems to us so clear,
there is no need to consider whether participation in the determination of
these items violates the role limitation that the Board regarded as essential.
The issue is not comparable to that of an insurance company or pension plan
where actuarial considerations are central to the operation of these entities.
Whether significant involvement in one out of a great many significant manage-
ment decisions that affect the financial statements creates a lack of inde-
pendence for reasons unrelated to self-review is a matter that is within the
special province of the Commission, as to which we therefore express no view.

Respectfully submitted,
SHEA & GARDNER

Lawrence J. Latto
Stephen J. Hadley
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May 25, 1879

Mr. James M. Hanson, Supervisor, Financial Amalysis
State of Illinois, Department of Insurance

320 West Washington Street

Springfield, Illinois 62767

Dear Mr. Hanson:
NAIC Life and Health Accounting Manual

Thank you for sending me the copy of the current draft of the manual and the
related materials.

In view of the imminence of the (A6) subcommittee meeting, I have not attempted
to distribute copies of the material to the other members of the American
Academy of Actuaries Committee on Life Insurance Financial Reporting Principles
and golicit their reactions.

However, I have read it through, and 1 commend those people who have been work-
ing on it. 1In my opiniom, as respects those chapters which touch on actuarial
concerns, the current draft is a decided improvement over its predecessor.

I know that the other members of the committee will be as pleased as I was to
learn that a large percentage of the recommendations and suggestions in our memo
of November 10 have been incorporated in the current draft,

You and I have already discussed several typegraphical errors and other minor
items which I had noted. However, as I told you, there are & few things on
which I wanted to comment In greater detail. These comments are strictly my
own, and do not represent the views of the Committee,

One topic is page 40, which is for the most part made up of material extracted
from chapter 11 of the earlier draft. I have several comments about if,

For one, the text just prior to the three numbered sections reads "Examples of
these benefits include,"” but section one begins "The most common additional
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death benefit is , . ." Simply as a matter of style, it would be better if the
opening words were "Accidental death benefits," as in the earlier draft. This
would be consistent with the opening of sections two and three.

However, the sections are described as being examples of benefits, but section
two is disability--active lives and section three is disability-~disabled lives.
These are not really two separate benefits, they are two types of reserves
related to the same bhenefit. So I would suggest either (a) sections 2 and 3

be combined, or (b) the introductory wording be changed to "Examples of these
reserves include.”

Language stating that the cost of the supplemental benefit may be quoted as a
separate premium or may be incorporated in the basic premium appears both in
the introductory paragraph and in the first paragraph of sectiom two. The
latter could be deleted, since the statement 1s true of both benefits.

In the second paragraph of section 3, the last two sentences seem to be to be
ambiguous and could therefore be quite misleading. A possible alternative’
wording, which says what I think was intended, would be "The same reserve method
may be employed for group certificates as for ordinary policies. However, in
the case of group term, the more common procedure is to combine the active life
unearned premium reserve (if any) for the disability benefit with that for the
underlying life coverage. A disabled life reserve (if the liability exists) is
carried separately.

The final sentence on the page says "Disabled life reserves must include 2
provision for incurred but not reported disability benefits." The statement
is certainly correct. I simply raise the question as to whether it might be
appropriate in this context to address the lssue of when a disability claim
is incurred and should be recognized for this purpose. One view is that the
claim is incurred (and the reserve should be established) if the insured is
disabled on the valuation date. Another view {to which I happen to subscribe)
is that the claim is not incurred until the disability has persisted through
the waiting period, since not until then have all of the events taken place to
fix the liability.

On another subject, one of the comments in our Committee's November 10 memo
had to do with the reference, in the sixth paragraph on page 47, to disabled
life reserves for waiver of premium benefits provided with loss-of-time
policies. OQur points were that (1) waiver of premium benefits are sometimes
sold with other health coverages, and thus these reserves may be needed for
them also, (2) active life reserves for the waiver benefit may be indicated,
and (3) if the reference on page 47 1s to be retained, parallel references

to these other needs should also be included, somewhere in the chapter, for
consistency. So far as I could determine, that suggestion was not heeded. I
continue to believe that it is desirable.
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One other comment (which was also in our earlier memo) has to do with the
sections, on pages 61 and 62, on Premiums Received in Advance and on Premium
and Other Deposit Funds. It seems to me that the distinction between these
two items, which is not made clear by the text, is that, if the sum involved
was credited to Premium Income when it was received, it should be included
in Premiums Received in Advance, and not otherwise. T would hope that the
language will be expanded to make that clear.

Thank you very much for the opportunity to review and comment on this draft,

Sincerely,

£ Werdk

Chairman,

Conmitree on Life Insurance
Financial Reporting Principles

American Academy of Actuaries
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May 29, 1979
To: Erma Edwards, Chairman, Life Insurance (C3) Cost Disclosure
Task Force
FROM: John H. Barding, Chairman,; American Academy of Actuaries Committee

on Dividend Principles and Practices

SUBJECT: Update on Committee Activity

This Committee met in Kansas City on May 23 and 24, to explore in detail
the nature of the problem we are trylng to solve and to agree on a course
of action.

The problem can be stated as follows:

The scope of practices with regard to dividend allocatiom and illustration
has Yeen expanding significantly in the past decade. This expansion has
occurred as a result of two primary factors. First, consumer and regulatory
interest in cost disclosure has made companies more concerned with the
#1lustration of low-cost products. Second, advances in computer technoleogy
have made it possible for companies of all sizes to adopt far more elaborate
methods to allocate and illustrate dividends.

The Society of Actuaries Committee on Dividend Philosophy is defining appro-
priate standards of practice for dividend allocation and defining the
relationship between dividend allocation and dividend illustratiom. These
standards of practice will necessarily and properly give the actuaries and
companies broad scope in the allocation process, but at the same time, they
will force consistency between allocation and illustration.

While these standards of practice will limit the range of permissible dividend
$1lustrations, there will still exist dividend #lluatrations which are not
truly comparable. The pattern of the solution to this problem is expected

tq be the following nature:

This Academy Committee will use the work of the Society Committee as the basis
for establishment of a proper framework to:

A. Provide full disclosure to company management with regard to the
method of dividend allocation and its consistency with actuarial
standards of practice and the relationship between allocation and
illustration; and
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Inform and disclose to the insurance cormissicners and the informed
public that the standards for allocation and illustration have

been met, with full disclosure of any exceptions. This will
include a certification by the respensible actuary in the annual
statement. It may also include a revision of Schedule M to

provide more information relevant to the company's practices

of allocation and illustration; and

Inform the prospective buyer of the nature of the dividend illustra-
tion presented and its impact upon cost comparisons.

Drafrs of items B and C are being prepared and distributed within the Committee.
It is expected that substantial progress cam be made with these drafts through

the use of telephone and mzil. The date of the next meeting will depend upon
the rate of this progress.

JHH :mw
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American Academy of Actuaries
Committee on Risk Classification

Statement to the

. NAIC (D3) Subcommittee

June 4, 1979
Chicago, Illinois
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The Committee cn Risk Classification of the American Academy of
Actuaries believes that it is important to make a public statement on
rigk classification since actuaries have been engaged in the study,
development and evaluation of this subject beginning with the assessment
of life insurance risks in the early 1700's.

In the development of private passenger automobile classification
plans, actuaries have a consistent standard against which their final
product will be measured, i.e., that classifications should be based on
differences in losses or expenses. Thils standard, that differences in
prices should reflect differences in costs, is fundamental to pricing in
all economic activity and is embedied in the NAIC model rate regulatory bills,
in language such as ... "Such standards may measure any differences among
risks that can be demonstrated to have a probable effect upon losses or
expenses,"

We believe that the benefits to society in a private competitive market
are compelling reasons to endorse a system inm which prices are based on costs.
The benefits are:

(1) Overall costs to society are reduced because
uneconomic activities are discouraged by
agsociating the costs of such activities with
the decision to engage in such activities. It
is well recognized that the insurance mechanism
does not create high risk drivers but does serve
to identify, through higher premiums, those who
have the greater expectation of loss. The deeision
to participate in that activity, i.e,, driving a car,

can be made with the full knowledge of the cost of




(2)
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that activity. If the costs of driving are not
associated with the dec¢ision to drive, and how

much to drive and what kind of vehicle to drive,

etc., overall costs to society will increase

because the subsidy to high risk activities will
encourage an increase in utilization of high risk
activities.

If one departs from objective standards not all

parties are equally protected and equity cannot be
agsured. Those who render the subjective judgments
will 1likely be guided by the more vocal group of
drivers with little protection afforded to the silent
ones., The result is that coats are unfalrly shifted
from one group to another, Equity can only be achieved
by the consistent application of an objective cost-based
standard.

Cost effectiveness is maximized. With insurance,
unlike most other products, ultimste costs are unknown
at the time the product is scld. The incentives of the
competitive environment act to produce the most cost
effective system -- balancing the costs of obtaining
informati&n sbout a risk's cost potential against the

value of that information. The results may not be perfect.

203
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Although competition, like democracy, is also imperfect,
our goclety continues to support it because it is
better than its alternatives for the reasons summarized
above. In addition, independent studies such as those
conducted by the Stanford Research Institute have
indicated that any departure from objective, cost-based
pricing systems is likely to be more costly and involve
greater governmental intervention.

The American Academy of Actuaries Committee on Risk Classification
recognizes that the sex and marital status of drivers do correlate with
automobile accident involvement. Unless other variables, not yet identified,
can be found which measure these differences as well or better, sex and marital
status should continue as valid classification considerations.

We believe that a competitive system offers positive economic rewards
toe improve the risk classificaticn process and provides no incentive to
misclassify.

In conclusion we would urge caution in rejecting any effective rating
variables unless it can be demonstrated that they do not differentiate among
classes based on expected costs. The absence of a demonstrated cause and
effect relationship is not sufficient to reject a rating varidable which has a
significant correlation with automobile accident involvement.

Finally, the Academy Committee on Risk Classification is also concerned
with the deliberations on this subject at other forums -- such as the Accident
and Health (Cl) Subcommittee and with the many discussions affecting employee
benefit programs such as pensions. Our Committee urges the NAIC not to adopt
a course of action in one area, for ome line of insurance, without careful

consideration of the impact of such a decision in other insurance areas.
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July 13th, 1979

Mr. Lawrence Thompson

Executive Director

Rdvisory Council, Social Security
Room 530, Altmeyer Building

6401 Security Blvd.

Baltimore, Maryland 21235

Dear Mr. Thompson:

This letter is in reference to the statement that I presented to
the Advisory Council on January 5, representing the American Academy of
Actuaries.

In commentary on the Advisery Council's Question 9 dealing with
possible Social Security coverage for public emplcyees, the statement
alluded to the disproportionate benefits that public employees get when
they have some covered employment in addition to their non-covered government
employment. We said, "If universal covBrage is not enacted, this anomaly
should be fixed. We'd be glad to offer suggestions in this connection if
desired." Such suggesticns are provided in the material accompanying this
letter.

As you know, this is one of the issues being considered by the
HEW Universal Coverage Study Group. It appears that this group will develop
specific suggestions in this area. Perhaps the Advisory Council would there-
fore want to direct its main attention to the policy guestion raised in the
enclosed submission rather than the details of particular solutions.

We hope that the Advisory Council will find this submission useful.

Sincerely,
RFL:3b '
enclosure
cc: Messrs. J. L. Cowen

H. J. Levin
R. J. Myers
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WAYS TO AVOID EXCESSIVE TOTAL RETIREMENT BENEFITS FOR PERSONS WITH BOTH SOCIAL
SECURITY COVERED EMPLOYMENT AND NON-COVERED GOVERNMENT EMPLOYMENT

An individual can earn a full pension in government employment that
is not covered by Social Security. He or she can then obtain Sccial Security
benefits (in many cases either by moonlighting or by a period of covered
employment after retirement from non-covered employment}.

Whereas such marginal employment for a person in the private sector
would yield only marginal additional Social Security benefits, the same amount
of marginal covered employment for a formerly non-covered government employee
yields very generous benefits. Many observers consider this to be a serious
inequity.

One oversimplified case c¢an illustxate the ineguity. Suppose an
individual worked in covered employment long enough to attain the amount of
service necessary for a maximum benefit at his oxr her rate of pay. Assume
that the monthly rate of pay is $1,200 in all years, that the service all
occurs after 1979, and that there is no increase in average rates of pay in
nationwide employment artex 1872. (The last assumption is of course totally
unrealistic, but the unrealism fortunately does not affect the relative mag-
nitudes of the numbers.) The Primary Insurance Amcunt for such an individual
is §469. If on the other hand, the individual had covered employment for
three-quarters of the time necessary to attain the full Social Security bene-
fit based on the $1,200 rate of monthly pay, the Primary Insurance Amount would
be $392. Adding that last 25% of covered employment gets the person the
difference between the two amounts, only an incremental $77.

Now, consider a comparable individual who attains pension coverage
from a career in non-covered employment with the government, and who then

retires and works one-quarter of the years necessary to get a full Social
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Security benefit. The covered service will bring a PIA of $200, over 24 times
the $77 that the first employee gets. This large difference exists because

the first individual's additicnal benefit is figured at marginal (low-percentage)
rates, whereas the second individual's benefit is figured at bottom-dollar
(high-percentage} rates.

This difference is widely recognized as a serious inequity as between
non-covered public employees and employees in the private sector. Some
suggestions of possible solutions have been set down by Robert J. Myers, former
Chief Actuary of the Social Security Administration,in a paper that is socn
to be published in the Transactiocns of the Society of Actuaries. A preliminary
copy of Mr. Myers' paper is attached. The paper presents twe approaches to
correction: (i) "an alternative apprcach” (referred to herein as Approach A},
and (ii) "a simplified alternative approach“ (Approach B). Extensive illustra-
tions of both approaches are given.

Approach A treats covered Social Security employment as marginal, so
that, in the example given above, such employment would produce a benefit of
only $77, as the same employment would for a private sector employee. Approach
B provides a Social Security benefit in the proportion that the coverea employ-
ment bears to all employment, producing in our example a Social Security benefit
of Sll?’(one-quarter of the full term benefit of $469%9).

What are the arquments as between these two general approaches? For
Appreoach A, it is argued that the government employee should not be put in any
favored position relative to employees in the private sector. The opportunity
to earn even a proportional benefit for incremental additional service con-—
stitutes a favored position, and such discrimination should be eliminated. For

Approach B, it is argued that, while the government employee should not get
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favored treatment under Social Security, his Sacial Security benefit should be

equitable in comparison with the treatment of cother persons under Social Security,

without regard to his non-covered employment and any benefits gained therefrom.
In other words, Approach A aims for equity in the combination of Social security
and employer pensions (public and private}. Approach B aims for a more limited
equity within the Social Security system itself. 1In addition to the foregoing,
Mr. Myers' paper brings out the point that, under certain conditions, Approach
A can produce benefits so small that FICA tax refunds might be called for.

The corrective methods set forth in Mr. Myers' paper require recogni-
tion of earnings in non-covered employment as one factor in the determination
of the benefit from covered employment. We are not aware of any disabling
administrative problem in this connection. However, we did spend some time
looking at an Approach C, intended to produce results analogons to Mr. Myers'
Approach B, that could be administered on the basis of Social Security records
only. Approach C had possible promise, but we have not ironed out the bugs

and are not certain that they could be ironed cut. If there is concern with

the need to use a record of non-covered employment to get a Social Security bene-

fit, we would give further thought to Approach C.

The design of such approaches can be perfected by technicians if we
reach that point. The key policy question is, do we want to eliminate the
favored treatment of government employees under Social Security, and if so is
something like Approach B {marginal) or Approach B (proportional) to be
preferred?

In conclusion, we emphasize our belief that, if universal coverage is
not enacted, something should definitely be done to eliminate the inequitable

favored treatment of government employees who are not under Social Security.
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AMERICAN ACADEMY OF ACTUARIES

1835 K STREET,N.W. . SUITESIS .  WASHINGTON,D.C. 20006 .«  {202) 223-8196

July 18, 1979

Mr. Donald €. Lubick, Esq.

Agsistant Secretary (Tax Policy)

Department of the Treaaury

Fifteenth and Pennsylvania Avenue N.W., Room 3112
Washington, D.C. 20220

Dear Mr. Lubick:

The Internal Revenue Service intends to publish propesed regulations under
ERISA which are of concern to the American Academy of Actuaries, which
includes in its membership more than B80% of the Enrolled Actuaries under
ERISA, and the actuerial profession generally. This concern arises because
the regulations would put the Department of the Treasury and the Internal
Revenue Service in the position of imposing rules upon all pension plans and
their Enrolled Actuaries which in some cases are in direct conflict with the
collective actuarial judgment of the actuarial proiession, as represented by
the published Opinions, Interpretations and Recommendations of the Academy.

The point at issue here is not a question of the proper interpretation of a law
but, rather, the question of whether or not a government agency should overrule
a standard established by a profeseion in the absence of a need to do so because
of Congressional intent or national concern. In this instance, we do not beliesve
that justificacion exists.

We are directing this matter to your attention in advance of the publication of
the proposed regulations because we conslder the mere publication, even on a
proposed basis, as implied recognition of the Intermal Revenue Service's right
to establish professional guidelines for actuariea beyond the justifiable
requirements of ERISA.

The fact that the government has the authority to establish the proposed
regulations is not questioned. It concerns the expanded definition of "acceptable
actuarlal cost methods” for the purposes of the minimm funding requirements of
defined benefit (pension) plans, as established by ERISA under section 412 of the
Internal Revenue Code. Section 3{31) of Title I of ERISA defines "actuarlal cost
method” and the last sentence thereof reads: "The Secretary of the Treasury shall
1ssue regulations to further define acceptable actuarial cost methods.™

Under ERISA, Congress imposed the responsibility for the determinatiom and
certification of a plan's minimm funding requirement upon the plan's Enrolled
Actuary; and created a governmentally administered procedure to identify those
persons qualified to act as an Enrolled Actuary. In section 412 of the Code,
Congresa also specified in substantial detail, certain rules for the determination
of a plan's minimm funding requirement.
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But, because pension plan costs also involve judgments regarding long-term
future events and circumstances for which there is no certainty, we believe
that Congress rightfully intended that a plan's minimm funding requirement
be determined by the plan's Enrolled Actuary, acting in accordance with his
personal judgment within the guidelines established by his profession. Such
intent is clearly expressed in gection 412{c){3) of the Code, which reads:
"Por the purposeg of this section, all costs, liabilities, rates of interest
and other factors under the plan shall be determined on the basis of actuarial
assumptions and methods which, in the aggregate, are reasonable (taking into
account the experience of the plan and reasonable expectations) and which,
in combination, offer the actuary's best estimate of anticipated experience
under the plan.™

We believe that professional guidelines as to what is and is not reascnable

should be established collectively by a profession and not by a govermment

agency which administers a law affecting the profession, so long as the
profession's guidelines are not in conflict with Congressional intent nor matioanal
concern.

As previously noted, a large percentage of Enrolled Actuaries are members of the
American Academy of Actuaries. Guidelines for the Academy's members regarding
the determination of pension plan coats have been established in the form of
Recomyendations and Interpretations from the Academy's Committee on Pension
Actuarial Principles and Practices. The Committee is broadly representative of
actuarial practitioners generally; and the Committee's Recommendatious and
Interpretations are issued only after long periods of analysis and discussion,
ifncluding the evaluation of comments received from other Academy Members through
the wide circulation of draft copies. Accordingly, the Academy's guidelines
represent a consengus of opinion within the actuarial profession.

A specific conflict in the proposed regulations concerns the use of the actuarial
cost method identified as the "accrued benefit codt method (unit credit method)"
in gection 3{31) of Title I of ERISA, as such method is applied to certain types
of pension plans, primarily final average pay plans, Under such a plan and method,
the actuary determines a participant's projected benefit at retirement and then
allocates a portion of the benefit to each year of the participant's entire
employment career (past and future) in order to compute the plan's cost in respect
of that particular year of employment.

Under one application of the method, the same dollar portion of the benefit is
allocated to each year of employment; and such application is sowmetimes referred
to as "proration by service." Under another application of the method, the
portion of the bemefit allocated to each year of employment is in proportion to
the participant's compensation for that year relative to compensation for all
years; and it i3 sometimes referred to as "proration by pay."

We do not think that a lengthy analysis of the pros and cons of the two types of
application would be appropriate in this letter. Some actuaries have a strong
preference for one or the other; and other actuaries use both, depending upon
the particular plan and 1ts circumstances,
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The main issue 1s that the actuarial profession, as represented through the
Academy's published guidelines, has concluded that both types of application
are acceptable. In contrast, the Internal Revenue Service appears to have
concluded that only the "proration by service" application is acceptable and
that the "proration by pay" application is not acceptable.

We urge the Department of the Treasury not to publish this proposal, which we
sincerely believe represents an unjustifiable usurpation of the right of the
actuarial profession to establish 1ts own standards. If the Internal Revenue
Service feels that the Opinions, Interpretations or Recommendations of the
Academy conflict with the requirements of ERISA, or are incomplete; we would
be pleased to discuss this subject with representatives of the Department

and the Service.

Dot B. Ghucts fed

Dale R. Gustafson
Presideat
DRG:cal

cc: Jerome Kurtz, Commissioner, Internal Revenue Service
Daniel I, Halperin, Deputy Assistant Secretary (Tax Legislation)
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July 27th, 1379

Mr. Lawrence Thompson

Executive Director

Advisory Council on Social Security
Room 530, Altmeyer Building

6401 Security Blwvd.

Baltimore, Maryland 21235

Dear Mr. Thompscon:

On July 13 of this year I wrote you a letter in reference to the
statement that I presented to the Advisory Council on Jangaxy 5, representing
the American Academy of Actuaries. This present letter also refers to that
statement.

In commentary on the Advisory Council's Question 3 dealing with the
Social Security earnings test, the statement alluded to the widespread adverse
reactions to the present test. we said, "If the test is to be preserved, soms
redesign or repackaging may be needed to overcome these reactions. If the
Advisory Council wishes, the Academy'’s Committee on Social Insurance would be
happy to develop some suggestions along thess lines for your consideratien.”
such suggestions are provided in the memorandum accompanying this letter.

In this cornection, we wish to underline several points. First, no
endorsement is implied by the submission of these suggestions. They represent
a collection of ideas for consideration, but neither the American Academy of
Actuaries nor its Committee on Social Insurarnce takes any position at this tine
for or against any of them. Second, the suggestions are ideas for exploration,
rather than fully developed proposals that could be implemented. If theze is
interest in any of them, significant develcpmental work would be reguired
hefore any progosal to implement. Third, most of the suggestions have cost
implications, in some cases significant. We have not 2xplored these but would
consider it essential to do so as a part of any further study.

We hope that the Advisory Council will find this submission useful.

—

RFL:jb
attachment
bece: Messrs, J, L, Cowen
R. J. Myers
J, Nesbitt

C
A. E. Robertson
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Memorandum to the Advisory Council on Social Security
from
The American Academy of Actuaries Committee on Social Insurance
Suggestions for Possible Modifications of the Social Security Zarnings Test

Introdﬁcticn

The Committee on Social Security Insurance is pleased to offer suggestions to the
Advisory Council for possible modification of the Secial Security earnings test.

In this memorandum, two basic approaches to modification or redesign are outlined:
the first deals with various means of restructuring the test, while the second
notes ways of modifying the overzll context within which the test is applied. Both
approaches offer "solutions" that may be controversial; therefore, because of the
political context of the issue, the Committee offers the following qualitative
observations:

o First, to the extent that a suggestion may have "advantages" and
"disadvantages" of a social or political natures, the Committee has
no special expertise to offer, and does not take an advocacy position.
However, since the Advisory Council has accepted the Committee's
offer of suggestions with regard tc making the test "more palatable”
to those affected while still retaining it in scme form, the sugges-
tions do not include the option of outright elimination of the test.

<] second, it should be noted that several of the suggesticns have the
primary thrust of liberalizing the test. These suggestions are noted
in the interest of completeness, since they clearly might make the
test more palatable by reducing its impact on those affactad.
However, the Committee is concerned about the added firnancial strain
on thne system that such liberalizing steps would cause, and belisves
that the Council should consider the need for thorough actuarial
analvsis in weighing the overall merit of any particular suggestion
-- liberalizing or ctherwise.

Restructuring the Earnings Test

The first appreoach to redesign of the earnings test would involve restructuring its
provisions or its application. Several palliative changes that might £all under
this heading are as follows:

{i) Apply a set of "bands" over the exempt amcount so that a series of
progressive reductions would apply; that is, a $1 reduction for sach
$5 of initial non-exempt earnings, followed by a $1 for $4 band, a
$1 for $3 band, and finally, a 51 for $2 band. This measure would
ease into the reductions less abruptly than at present.
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(ii)

(iii)

{iv)
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azply a more strict earnings test only to the one-half of the Sccial
Security benefit than can be construed to be provided by employer
taxes. The "employee-paid" portion of benefits wculd then be exempt
from the earnings test. (Anotner approach, invelwving packaging rather
than redesign, would say that the test applies first to employer-paid
benefits and cnly thereafter to employee-paid benefits, witn no
necessary change in the substance of the results.)

Restructure the test to compare earnings after retirement with earnings
before retirement, rather than -=- as is now the case -~ offsetting or
comparing earnings after retirement with benefits after retirement.

The test might apply in practice as follows: For each year of benefit,
an eligibility fraction, 0% £€ 1, would be detsrmined by the relation

Excess earnings |
£=1~ —/—— but net less than C.
Base earnings |

Excess earnings would be those in excess of some exempt amount (to be
indexed forward from year to year). Base earnings might be the AIME
at time of ¢laim, and would also be indexed forward. For example, if
base earnings were $12,000, actual earnings for a year were $9,0C0,
and the exsmpt amcunt were $4,000, then

£ . 5.000 _ 7

12,000 2

1

and tne beneficiary would be eligible for 12 of the Social Security
kenefit. For the first and last years of claim, earnings would be
relative to the fractional vear of entitlement. The system would have
to he applisd on a current basis, and might reguire the beneficiary
to submit earnings estimates twice a years, say, in March and September.
Sorme adjustment process would e needed to take account of the effect
of any difference between actual and estimated earnings.

mestructurs the test so that it becomes more severe rather than less
severe with advancing age. At present, the retirement test 1s most
severe for entitled persons who are below age sixty-five, somewhat
less severe after age sixty-five, and inapplicable after age seventy-
wo {age seventy starting in 1982)., The implied objective of tails
design would appear to be to push people ocut of the labor force and
then cut back over time the impediments to their returaing o it.
The suggested redesign would aim to increase, rather than ds=crease
tne pressurs for sntitled persons to leaves the labor f{orce as age
advances. ’




In this section we identify changes that would make the earnings test more palatable
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Modifying the Context of the Earnings Test

by modifying its overall context, or changing its surrounding circumstances. Some
changes that fall in this category include:

{1}

(i)

(iv)

Eliminate employeee-paid FICA contributions on wages paid to any
person entitled to Social Security benefits. It is irritating to
entitled persons that, in addition to income reduction due to the
retirement test itself, the FICA taxes on earned income further reduce
its value. The elimination of FICA taxes could be accomplished
directly through each emplover’s pavreoll and reporting system, or
indirectly, by claiming FICA withholding as a tax credit or refund on
an individual's tax return. The latter approach would be analeogous

to the tax credit currently available For excess FICA withholding by
two or more employers.

Make Sccizl Security benefits subject to inceome tax. Similarly to

the above, those whose marginal amounts of esarned income are partially
offset by the retirement test {(and the FICA taxes) are further dis-
tressed because their earned income is subject to income tax at their
marginal income tax rate, whereas the replaced Social Security benefit
is not. We doubt that many people would suggest that Social Security
benefits should be made taxahle for the sole purpose of making the
earnings test more palatable. However, the suggestion has been made
for other reasons - basically that the suggesters belisve the present
exemption of Social Security benefits from inccme tax is not appro-
priate. 1If Social Security benefits became taxable, fully or in part,
the percepticns of inequity on the part of those affected by the
retirement test might be reduced.

Increase the age at which full retirement benefits first become avail-
able under Social Security. Under this approach, it would not be
unnatural for the earlier age at which benefits first become available
also to be increased., This would lead to the elimination of some
years of age during which the retirement test might otherwise have
operated, deferring the applicaticn of the test to higher ages at
which significant earned income is less prevalent. (As part of a
"solution" of the retirement test "problem," this suggestion suffers
from the usual accompanying thought that any increase in the retirement
age under Social Security should be put in gradually, starting a good
number of years hence.)

Incorporate the intent of the test in a fundamental change of the
Social Security system itself. This f£inal suggestion stems from ideas
recently raised by several cbservors, including A. Haeworth Rebertson,
former Chief Actuary of the Social Security Administration. These
proposals envision the modification of Social Security benefits to
have a flat (non-earnings-related) tenefit coupled with a variable
{contribution-dependent} bhenefit. If this restructured approach were
adopted, the new "retirement test” might be applied oniy to the flat
benefit portion. The individual worker's earnings-relaced benefis
could be exempted from the retirement test adjustment -- presumably
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with greater public acceptance of the test that rsmained.

(Cne member of our Committee would mcdify the foregoing. He suggests
instead that the flat benefit sortion should ve exempted from the
earnings test, while the earnings related porticn should continue

to be subject to the test, since it is an earnings test.)

It should be noted, of course, that this or any other such approach
to modifying the earnings test should be consistent with changes to
other provisions of the law that would occur in such Zar-reaching
restructuring. In this instance, redesign of the sarnings test would
not be accomplished uniquely; rather, it would be part of the overall.
redesign of the benefit system.
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STATEMENT
OF
MR. DALE R. GUSTAFSON
PRESIDENT OF THE AMERICAN ACADEMY OF ACTUARIES
TO THE
SUBCOMMITTEE ON GOVERNMENTAL EFFICIENCY
AND THE DISTRICT OF COLUMBIA
OF THE
SENATE COMMITTEE ON GOVERNMENTAL AFFAIRS
August 1, 1979

The American Academy of Actuaries is pleased to submit this written
statement in support of the oral testimony given by Dele R. Gustafsanm,
President of the American Academy of Actuaries, on August 1, 1979, to

the Subcommittee on Governmental Efficiency and the District of Columbia.

I. Introduction

We understand the purpose of these two days of hearinge to be to
review the self-regulatory activity of the accounting profession and its fmple-
mentation of the independence requirement. It has been, after all, nearly
two yvears since the Subcommittee on Reperts, Accounting and Management concluded
its inquiry into this area, and several events of considerable significance
have occurred in the interinm.

Since that time, both the accounting profession and the Securities
and Exchange Commission have taken actions of sigunificance to one particular
igsue raised in this earlier inquiry, namely, the provision of Management

Advisory Services (MAS) by accounting firms to their audit clients. It
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ig on this issue that the Academy would like to focus its comments today,
and particularly upon the provision of actuarial services by accounting

firms to their audit clients.

II. The Interest of the Academy

The American Academy of Actuaries was formed as an umbrella
organization for the four existing national actuarial organizations —-
the Society of Actuaries, the Casualty Actuarial Society, the Conference
of Actuaries in Public Practice, and the Fraternal Actuarial Association.
As such, the Academy and its sponsoring organizations functionm as a
professional assoclation for over 7,000 actuaries. While most of these
professionals are employed by insurance companies, independent consulting
actuarial organizations, government departments and agencies, or in
institutions of higher lear.ing, a significant number are employed by
accounting firms (and a smaller number by management consulting firms or
industrial corporatioms).

The Academy's interest in the provision of actuarial services
by accounting firms is not simply that actuaries are involved per se. It
was the intention of the four existing national actuarial organizations
when they formed the Academy that one of its major responsibilities would
be to "establish, promote, and maintain high standards of counduct and competence
within the actuarial prnfession."—— What has caused the Academy to become
concerned with the provision of actuarial services by accounting firms to
their audit clients is that all too frequently thils practice has placed
actuaries in a2 difficult professional position, caught between the competing

demands of their employer and the professicnal standards of thelr professicm.

_/ Articles of Incorporation of the American Academy of Actuaries.
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III. The Requirement of an Independent Audit
and the Avoidance of "Self~Review"

The Securities and Exchange Commission has employed the
authority granted to it by statute to require that the significant financial
reports submitted to it be certified by an independent accountant. Through
a2 serles of releases the Commission has been gradually defining for
the public what it means by an "independent" accountant. Much of the
Commission's emphasis hag been upon prohibiting certain financial or
organizational relationships between the auditor and the entities
whoge statements are being audited, in order to avoid any possible introduction
of bias or partiality on the part of the auditor. The Commission has sought
to avald not only the actual lack of independence but also the appearance of
non-iadependence. The critical need for public confidence in the reports of
accoyntants upon financial statements has led the Commission to conclude
that, even where it 1s plain that the requisite objectivity exists, certain
relationships should nonetheless be barred simply because they suggest a
lack of independence. In effect the Commi;sion has been leaning over a
little backward in this area in order to ensure that it will never be less
than upright.

Another crucial element of independence has been that the accountant
not participate in "self-review,” or be placed in the position of reviewing
his own work. This is not because accountants cannot be relied upon ta
carry out professional aseignments with consclentiousnees and integrity.
Quite the contrary. What the Commission had in mind, however, when it
mandated an "independent audit" was quite literally an objective "second
look" at a financlal statement by someone who had not been invelved in

any way in its preparation.
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Perhaps the best example of this concern was the Commission's
decision on bookkeeping or accounting services. There the Commission
concluded that an accounting f£irm could not be deemed "independent™
in auditing the financial statements of a client 1f it had participated
in the maintenance of the client's basic accounting records or in the
preparation of its financial statements. The Commission concluded:

"A major value of an audit of financial statements by
an independent accountant is derived from the fact that
the accounting records and financial statements of
management are reviewed and examined from an independent
or outside viewpoint by knowledgeable professional
accountants who are not connected with management.

The application of an independent viewpoint 1s
particularly important with respect to judgments
exercised in the determination of apptopriate
principles and methods applicable to the recording,
classification and presentation of financial data.

By their nature such judgments cannot subsequently

be evaluated on an impartial and objective basis by

the same accountant who made them."_/

Even if the preparer of the accounting records and the auditor
of the financlal statements are two differemt persons, "self-review" is not
avolded {and the "independence" requirement is not satisfied) if those
persons are members of the same accounting firm. For it can be expected
that the auditor will be sorely tempted to rely heavily upon his professional

associate, a person with whom he has worked and in whom he undoubtedly

[/ SEC Release No. AS-234 (December 13, 1977), 6 Fed. Sec. L. Rep. (CCH)
{ 72,256 at p. 62,650. See also SEC Release No. AS-126 (July 5, 1972),
6 Fed. Sec. L. Rep. (CCH) 1 72 148 at 62,307:

"The Commission is of the opinion that an accountant
cannot objectively audit books and records which he

has maintained for a client. The performance of these
services, whether accomplished manually or by means

of computers and other mechanized instruments, ultimately
places the accountant in the position of evaluating and
attesting to his own recordkeeping."”
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has & high degree of confidence. The mere fact of & common employer

could create the kind of appearance of conflict of interest that the
independence requirement seeks to avoid. The Commission has clearly indicated
that review by an guditor that has a professional or orgaenizational relationmship
with the preparer of the financlal statemeants would not comstitute the kind

of impartial and objective "second look™ that is at the basis of the requirement
for an independent audit.

IV. The "Self-Review" Problem Where Actuarial
Services are Involved

The provision of actuarial services by an accqunting firm to its
audit clients poses a problem very amalogous to the situation where the
auditing firm has rendered accounting or bookkeeping services to an audit
client (or participated directly in the preparation of the financial state—
ments themselves)., The problem posed by these two kinds of services dis-—
tinguishes them from most of the services that generally fall under the
label of Management Advisory Services. The accounting profession has, for
example, included such services as executive recruitment, marketing analysis,
data processing, plant layout and product design.

A. Actuvarial Services Are Distinguishable from Most Other MAS

While these other services do, in some sense, affect the fimancial
statements by influencing, for example, costs incurred or annual expenses,

tﬁey do not result in representations about expenses or liabillities

__/ The Commissior found that independence would be adversely affected
where an accounting firm proposee, by use of its computer, to perform
certain data processing activities in connection with the client's
stockholder ledger notwithstanding that programming, keypunching,
and computer processing would be performed by personnel of the data
processing department who were separate from the audit staff. SEC
Release No. AS-126 (July 5, 1972), 6 Fed. Sec. L. Rep. (CCH) { 72,148
at 62,308.
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that will have to be reviewed in the course of an audit. The issue of
4

"self-review”" simply does not arise with respect to these non-actuarial |
MAS services.

By contrast, in the case of or actuarial services, the service that
is provided will as a general rule involve either the computation of the very
figures and representations that appear on the financial statements or the
preparation of analysis and data from which those representations are directly
derived. 1In auditing the financial statements, the accounting firm will be
reviewing its own work in a literal sense, namely, the work of its own actuaries.
The "gelf-review" is direct and immediate.

In the area of actuarial services, the potential for "self-review'
arises with respect to the financial statements of three kinds of entities:

(1) Insurance companies. Actuarlal analysis is significant with

respect to many of the entries on insurance company financial statements. For
example, the two most important entries on the liability side of the company's
balance sheet are the "aggregate reserve" representing the provision for
future claims and the "policy and contract claims" that are accrued but unpaid
(including both reported and unreported claims). Both are heavily dependent
upon actuarial analysis.

(2) Employee benefit plans. In similar fashion, the most signi-

ficant entries on the liability side of the balance sheet of an employee
benefit plan are dependent upon actuarial calculations. Actuarial calcu-
lations are so important in these determinations that the annual financial
statement required by Section 103(a)(1l)(A) of the Employee Retirement
Income Security Act of 1974 ("ERISA") must be accompanied by an actuarial

statement prepared by a qualified enrolled actuary.
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(3) Corporate sponsors of employee benefit plans. The financial

statement of a corporation that sponsors an employee benefit plan will usually
have two items that are based upom actuarial determinations, the deduc-
tion from gross income for the amount of the accrued pension cost and the
unfunded vested liability of the plan. The unfunded vested liability
figure can reflect a substantial portion of the total liabilities of the
corporation, and the annual pension cost typically represents a significant
factor in relation to the net income of the company.

An audit of any of these financial statements by anyone organiza-
tionally affiliated with an actuary who prepared actuarial determinations
that underlie these specific representations would involve the sudit in "self-
review" inconsistent with independence.

B. The Academy Has Sought To Deal with the "Self-RBeview" Problem.

In response to some of the same considerations that motivated
the Commission to require that the statutory audit be "independent,™
the Academy and its sponsoring organizations established some years ago a
Joint Committee on Independence of the Actuary. The Joint Committee pub—
lished two exposure drafts, which received extensive comment throughout the
profession, and in November, 1976, submitted its final report. Ome of the
central conclusions of the Joint Committee, which has been adopted by
the Academy Board of Directors and is in the process of being incorporated

into the Academy's Guides to Professional Conduct, is that:

"If an actuary makes an actuarial review of an
actuarial determination, and such review is

intended for public use, then under no circumstances
should he have any organizational or material
financial relationship with the preparer of the
actuarial determination or with the entity to

which the determination relates." \
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While this "independence" requirement would seem to closely
parallel the requirement imposed upon the accounting profession, it
presents a difficult problem for an Academy member employed by an
accounting fitrm. The problem is presented most acutely when an accountant
is auditing a finaneial statement containing representations that are based
on or directly derived from actuarial analysis. Im order to assist him
in forming his own opinion as to whether these particular representations
are fairly stated in accordance with generally accepted accounting prin-
ciples, the individual auditor may ask another actuary employed by his
accounting firm to make an "actuarial review" of the original actuarial
work. 1If the original actuarial work (the "actuarial determination") has
bean prepared by an actuary already employed by or affiliated with the
accounting firm, the reviewing actuary will have an "erganizatiomal
relationship'" with the preparer of the actuarial determination (being
members of the same or related organizations) in viclation of the prineiple
of independence adopted by the Academy.

C. Actuaries Employed by Accounting Firms Face a Dilemma as to
""Self-Review"

It i3 the Academy's view that for an actuary employed by an
accounting firm to participate in the audit review in these circumstances
would violate not only the Academy's "independence' requirement, imposed
upon him by virtue of his status as a member of the actuarial profession,
but would also presumably violate the "independence' requirement to which
his accounting firm employer is subject. The accounting profession, however,
has not adopted this view. Nor has it shown any willingness to accommodate
the actuarial profession either by eschewing as a general matter the
provision of actuarial services to audit clients or by making clear to

its actuary employees that they need not participate in any audit involving
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the review of actuarial determinations prepared by an actuary employed by
or affiliasted with the accounting firm.

In this situaticn, the actuary is left with the choice of either
violating the standards of his profession or disobeying the instructlons
of his employer. The Academy has sought for some time to bring to the
attention of the Commission and the accounting profession the dilemma facing
actuaries employed by accounting firms. We have hoped th&t both could be\
convinced that it would wiolate the independence requirement imposed upon
the accounting profession for an accounting firm to provide SEC reporting
companies with actuarial services that become reflected in representations
on financial statements and then to audit those statements. Adoption
of this view by the accounting profession or the Commission would remove
from actuaries employed by accounting firme the dilemma that is posed in
really two ways: first, how to respond if asked to conduct am actuarial
review when the underlying actuarial work was prepared by an actuary employed
by the same firm, and, second, what is his responsibility if he becomes
aware that his own work is being audited by a member of the same accounting

firm.

V. The Accounting Profession's Response

The first consideration by the accounting profession of the dilemma
posed for actuaries employed by accounting firms that engage in "self-review"
is reflected in an interpretation of the Executive Committee of the Ethics

Division of the AICPA:

"Member Providing Actuarial Services

Question—If a member's firm renders actuarial services
to a client, may the member also express an opinion on
the client’s financial statements?
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Answer—-Even though the member's firm provides actuarlal
services {the results of which are incorporated in the
client's financial statements), if all of the significant
matters of judgment involved are determined or approved
by the client and the client is in 2 position to have

an informed judgment on the tesults, the member's inde-
pendence would not be impaired by such activities." _

A. "Adoption" by the Client Does Not Solve the "Self-Review"
Problem

From the beginning, the Academy has argued that this approach is
inconsistent with accepted principles of independence. Under a literal reading
of this Ethics Division interpretation, once the determination of the reserve
1iabilities of an insurance company or the actuarial valuation of a pension
plan had been completed by an actuary employed by the accounting firm,
and the results "adopted" by the client relying on its own "informed judgment,"
the auditor could bring back that same actuary to "audit" the accuracy
and reasonableness of his own work. But even if the Ethics Division inter—
pretation be "clarified" to require that a different actuary participate
in the audit, this would not eliminate the unacceptable self-review.

The AICPA's argument as applied to actuarial services has already
been rejected by the Commission with respect to the provision of bookkeeping
or accounting services.  The reason, of course, is that the AICPA's
"adoption" argument could be made with respect to an entire financial

statement and permit an accounting firm to prepare the statement, obtain

| AICPA Professional Standards, v. 2, ET Section 191.107-08.

__/ This approach fs contained in Rule 101-3 of the Rules of Conduct of
the AICPA, which may be found in AICPA Professional Standards, v. 2,
ET Section 101.04. The AICPA acknowledges the Commission's rejection
of this approach by including a statement that "[w]hen a client's
securities become subject to regulation by the Securities and Exchange
Coumission or other federal or state regulatory body, responsibility
for maintenance of the accounting records * * * must be assumed by
accounting personnel employed by the client."
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the client's "approval" by the ezercise of its "informed judgment," and then
audit the statement. Thié approach would read the "avoidance of self-review”
element of "independence" right out of existance.

Further, as a practical matter, it is fairly unlikely that client
manaegement will have sufficient expertise to make an "informed judgment"
on the actuary's work and be able to accept responslbility for the results.
While corporate officers often have acquired a reasonably satisfactory
knowledge and understanding of accounting practices and principles,

it is extremely unlikely that they will have acquired commensurate knowledge

of the more specialized actuarial services. Even in the case of actuarial work

performed for insurance companies, where the business is highly dependent
upon actuarial theory, many of the top induatiy executives have a legal

or marketing rather than an actuarial background. Especially i1f the client
does not have an in-house actuarial staff, it will of necessity have to
rely almost totally on the work 6f the accounting firm's actuary. The

case of a pension or other employee benefit plan 1s even more difficult,
since many corporate officers without any background in actuarial science
or any in-house actuarial staff have found themselves named administrators
of corporate-sponsored plans.

B. Since the Auditor’s Role With Respect to Actuarial Work is
Significant, the "Self-Review" Problem is Significant

More recently, the accounting profession has adopted a somewhat
different response to the Academy's concern. The Public QOversight Board
of the SEC Practice Section for CPA firms issued a report on the Scope

of Services by CPA Firms on March 9, 1979. In its section om actuarial

services, the Board's report acknowledged that the provision to audit clients
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of actuarial services (where those services are reflected in representations
on financial statements) presents at least a theoretical problem of
"self-review.” But the Board asserted:

"This does not mean, however, that the limited self-

review involved impairs the auditor's independence

or otherwise is harmful to the public or investors.

First of all, it muat be remembered that the review is

quite limited and is not duplicative of the work per-

formed by an actuary." POB Report, p. 50-51.

The Board argues that actuarial analysis is the work of
a “specialist" and as such is subjected to only "limited" review by the
auditor. But by the standards of the profession itself, the auditor is to
avold express rellance on the work of a specialist in issuing an unqualified
opinion. As a coansequence, he remains responsible for the work performed
by the actuary on some very important items of the financial statemeats.

As an example, the accounting industry's cwn audit guide entitled Audits of

Stock Life Insurance Cempanies, prepared by a committee of the AICPA, provides

that in auditing the "aggregate reserve" the auditor is required, in order to
gatisfy himself that the reserve is fairly presented, to examine "the propriety
of the actuarial factors used in computing the reserves." While the gulde notes
that the auditor will need to utilize the services of a qualified actuary for
certain of the audit procedures, the guidelines suggest an active auditor
role.

"Although an actuary has been involved in these

determinations, perhaps even to the exteat of

testing clerical accuracy, it ia incumbent upon

the auditor to be satisfied that reserves are

fairly stated oo a consistent basis.

* & %

Actuaries are not practicing auditors; they are

not specifically trained in auditing procedures,

nor are they governed by generally accepted auditing
standards. Therefore, there is no justification
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for the auditor to omit all audit procedures or

to perform only tokem procedures as to the reserves

reviewed by the consuiting actuary unless the

terms of the engagement contemplate a qualification

or denial of opinion by the auditor." Audit Guide,

p. 98-99.

Further, the industry's guide on the use of a specialist, Statement
of Auditing Standards No. 11 (8AS 11), nné of a series of laterpretations
of generally accepted auditing standards issued by the AICPA, provides that
"[allithough the approptiateneas and reasonableness of methods or assump~
tions used and thelr application are the responsibility of the epecialist,
the auditor should obtain an understanding of the methods or assumptions
used by the specialist to determine whether the findings are suitable for
corroborating the representations in the financial statements." Where the
auditor uses a specialist related to the client, the auditor’'s regponsibilities
under SAS 11 are increased. He should consider performing additional procedures
with respect to some or all of the assumptions, metheds, or findings of the
speciaiist to determine that the findings are not unreasonable. (Altermatively,
he may engage an outside specialist for this purpose.)

These materials seem to¢ suggast that the auditor remains reepensible
for the substantive work performed by‘the actuary and that the review con-
ducted by the auditor of that work 1s not the trivial onme suggested by the
Public Oversight Board. Admittedly, the audit is not "duplicative" of the
work of the actuaty, but duplication is not required of the auditor with
respect to the representations contained in the financial statements. All

that 1s required is that the auditor satisfy himself that the representatiouns

are fairly presented in accordance with generally accepted accounting principles.

VII. The Commission’s Response

The Securities and Exchange Commission has recently issued

another release on the independence of accountants, Accounting Series
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Release No. 264, dated June 14, 1979. That release identifies four basic
elements that accountants must consider when declding whether acceptance
of a partlcular engagement to provide management advisory services

will impair their independence:

~- Dependence on MAS (the relationship between the audit

fee and the MAS fee, both for a particular client and for aggregate
revenues generally).

—— Avoldance of supplanting management's role (requiring

the accountant in providing MAS to 1imit himself strictly to an
advisory capacity),

-~ Avoidance of self-review (insuring a dispassionate

"second look" by an outside auditor).

=— Impact on audit quality (whether enhanced audit quality will

result from the performance of the nonaudit service imvolved).

A. The Commigsion's Test for Impairment o¢f Independence.

The Commission has combined these four factors Iinto a test which
accounting firms should apply when considering whether to undertake a
nonaudit engagement for a public audit client:

"[T]est the services in question against each of these
factors and proceed when satisfied that the total balance
of considerations favors proceeding with the engage-

ment and that none of the factors tilts strongly against
performance of the nonaudit work involved." (Emphasis
added.)

The Academy is of the view that this general test is sound and
that the four factors denominated by the Commission as elements of
independence are appropriate. We agree especially that any significant impair—
ment of any one of these four factors is sufficient to violate the independence

requirement. However, the Academy 1s concernmed with what appears to be the
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Commission's adoption of a case by case approach to the independence issue.
The Commission expressly avolded any proscriptive rules in Release No. 264

and instead encouraged accountants to "exercise self-restraint and judgment

in determining which nonandit services are appropriate in specific cases." The
Commi ssion pledged that its staff would "continue to examine particular

cases in which questions arise concerning the independence of accountants.”

B. The Commission Has Not Adequately Applied Its Test.

Under the Commission's own test, there are at least two categories v
of services which we believe are inappropriate for treatment on a case by
case basis. In the case of these two kinds of services, namely, accounting
or bookkeeping services and actuarial services, the provision by an accounting
firm of such services to its audit clients would in almost every case have
to be judged inconsistent with the requirement of independence under the
Commission's own test. As a consequence, a broader proscription of these
kinds of services is clearly warranted. The Commission has recognized
this fact with respect to accounting or bookkeeping services. The
Academy has urged that a similar position should be adopted with respect to
actuarial services.

C. The Academy's Proposal for the Treatment of Actuarial Services.

The approach which the Academy would recommend is somewhat different
depending upon whether actuarial services are being provided to an insurance
company, an employee benefit plan, or a corporate spomsor of such a plan,

and as a consequence we will discuss each of these separately.

1. Insurance company financial statements. A4s we have noted earlier,

several key representations on the financial statements of an insurance company

directly reflect actuwarial work. For an accounting firm to involve its employees

in the preparation of these representations or of analysis and data from which
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these representations are directly derived mugt be deemed to render that firm
ineligible to conduct an "independent™ audit of the resulting financial state—
ments. This conclusion would seem to follow directly from the Commission's

own test, which would require that "nome of the factors [dependence on MAS,
avoidance of supplanting management's role, avoidance of self-review, and impact
on audit quality] tilts strongly against performance of the nomaudit work
involved." (Emphasis added.)

Where direct "self-review" 1s involved, as would be the case with
actuarial services directly reflected on the balance sheet, it is hard to
conceive of a gituation where the fact of "self-review" could tilt more
strongly against the performance of the non-audit work involved. If that
portion of the Commission's test (suggesting that seriously offending any
one of the four criteria will defeat independence) 1s to mean anything, it
must mean that the independence requirement cannot be satisfied where such
direct "self-review" 1s involved. For one could not conceilve of a situation
where that criteria could be more seriously offended, particularly since the
representations reflecting actuarial work are such important elements of the
balance sheet of an insurance company.

The same argument can be made with respect to a second of the four
elements of independence cutlined by the Commiseion, namely, avoidance of
supplantiﬁg management's role. Even the Public Oversight Board found that
an accounting firm could not generally provide actuarial services to an
insurance company audit clieant and still be deemed to be "independent."

A limitation on the provision of actuarial services to insurance company

audit clients was required, the Board concluded, in order to avoid
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stepping out from a strictly advisory role and becoming viewed as a part
of management._

Basically, the Board found actuarial determinations to be so central
to the business of an insurance company that an accounting firm could not
participate in those determinations and still retain its independence. Deter-
mining potential future liabilities and the adequacy of current reserves,
while preeminently actuarial matters, are also central concerns of top
management of any insurance company. Participation in these determinations

inevitably makes the accounting firm part of the "management team" and com—

/

promises both the substance and the appearance of independence.
The Public Overaight Board concluded that because of the danger

of being perceived as part of management, an accounting firm could not be

the primary source of actuarial services to an insurance company audit client.

However, the Board concluded that the firm could still provide such gervices

to the client so long as they were supplemental to primary actuarial advice

/ TMActuerial consideraticns for an insurance company are integrally related
to the role and responsibility of management. Thus, if an accounting

firm furnishes actuarial services to management of an insurance company
audit client, care must be taken to satisfy the role requirements contained
in the AICPA's MAS Professional Standarda. This means generally that the
actuary must only furnish advice to management and render assistance and
that management must make the final decision. To do this, the accountant
must be satisfied that the client has the expertise to understand the
significance of his recommendations so that all of the significant matters
of judgment involved are determined or approved by the client and the
client 18 in a position to have an informed judgment on the results.

The Board does not believe that this standard can reasonably be met if an
auditing firm is doing more than rendering supplementary actuarial advice."

POB Report, p. 53.

/ It is this same principle that bars an accounting firm that has performed
legal or bdrokerage services for a client from also auditing its financial
statements. These services are regarded as so intertwined with management
functions as to impair the independence of the accountant, even where the
work does not relate to representaticns im the financial statements. The
furnishing of actuarial services to an insurance company involves an even
greater involvement in management functions.
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furnished by another actuary. The Commission gemerally adopts this position
in Accounting Series Release No. 264.

What this position fails to recognize, however, is that provision
of actuarial services to insurance company audit clients poses a problem
not only because the accounting firm is participating in s management function
but also because a problem of direct "self-review" is involved. The actuarial
gervicesg provided by an accounting firm might clearly be supplemnetal in
character and still find their way onto the financial statement of en
insurance company, resulting in direct “self-review."

The approach which the Academy would recommend would
be to rule that it is inconsistent with the independence requirement for
an accounting firm to provide actuarial services to an insurance company
audit client where that work might involve the accounting firm's actuaries
in any way in the valuation of reserves or in the determination of‘any
other representation on the finmancial statements. However, it will often be
difficult to know in advance what use will be made of actuerial work.
Actuarial analysis is so central toc the operation of zn insurance company
that there is always the likelihood that it will in some way be reflected
in the representations on the financial statements. As a consequence,
accounting firms might will be advised as a general matter to avoid altogether

the provision of actuarial services to insurance company audit clients.

2. Employee benefit plans. We have already seen that important
entries and representations on the financial statements of an employee
benefit plan directly reflect actuarial computations and analysis. A4s a
consequence, it is the Academy's view that the case of an accounting firm

providing both actuarial and audit services to an employee benefit plan
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presents the same self-review problem as where an insurance company's
financial statements are inveclved. Hence the rule suggested with respect to

insurance company firvancial statements should apply here too.

Additionally, it must be noted that Section 103(a)(3)(B) of ERISA provides

that the independent accountant, in offering an opinion concerning the plan's
financial statements, "may rely on the correctness of any actuarlal matter
certified to by an enrolled actuary, if he so states his reliance.” Where the
auditor elects to exercise this option, then no "self-review" issue arises.
In practicg, however, most accounting firms have been unwilling to accept the
option provided by this section. They have taken the position that their
responasibilities extend to all the representations in the financial statements.

The financial statement required by ERISA specifically does not
include any actuarial values. In determining generally accepted accounting
principles for pension plam financial statements, however, the Financlal
Accounting Standards Board, with the support of the AICPA, has taken the
position that such financial statements are to include certain actuarial
liabilities., Thus the accountingrprofession has decided, first, to include
actuarial values in pension plan financial statements even though not required
by ERISA, and, second, to reject the permission provided by ERISA to express
reliance on the actuary. They have therefore undertaken to employ whatever
audit procedures are considered necessary and appropriate with respect to
these matters in comnection with their report on the plac’s financial
statements. In most cases, therefore, the issue of self-review is squarely
presented.

Even if an accounting firm were to elect to rely upon the correct=-
ness of the matters certified to by the enrolled actuary, so that no self-

review would be involved, there is still grave doubt whether an accounting
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firm that served as the enrolled actuary for a plan could satisfy the
requirements of independence. The matters certified to by the enrolled

actuary are no less Integrally related to the operation and financial

soundness of the pension plan than the issues of potential 1liability and reserve
adequacy are to the operation of en insurance company. In each case the
actuary is providing actuarial services which, even if characterized as only
advice and technical support, relate to matters so essential and critiecal

to the management of the entity involved as to make the actuary providing

the "advice" part of the management team, thereby compromising his independence.
Indeed, the significance of the liabilities of a pemsion plan and the need

for an understanding of how they are arrived at may be even greater than is

the case with insurance company liabilities, since a pension plan's actuarial
liabilities will often be many times the value of the plan’s assets {without
suggesting in any way that the plarn is inadequately funded).

The Public Oversight Board rejected this argument, and the Commis-
sion seems to agree in Relesase No. 264. The Bosrd coacluded that:

"[Tlhe enrolled actuary is simply performing an

independent professional service outside of manage-

ment's traditional area of operation and expertise.

It 1is not, therefore, making management decisions

and should not be viewed as being part of management's

team.”

The Academy respectfully disagrees with this analysis and contends
that it suffers from a failure to appreciate the nature of the relationships
involved and what the work of the actuary entails. First, the Board's
approach seems to assume that the "management" of the plan is identical
with the "management" of the sponsoring employer, namely its Board of Directors.
That is not the case. The management of the plan 1s the plan administrator.

To be sure the administrator may be, And often is, an officer of the sponsoring

corporation, but he acts in a different and independent capacity when he acts
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as plan administretor. His duties and obligations run to the
beneficiaries, not to the Board of Directors or stockholders of the
sponsoring corperation.

Second, as the accounting profession has repeatedly made
clear, the responsibility for the plan's financial statements is that
of the "management" and not that of the auditor or of any consultant that
prepares the representations on the financial statements. Thus when a
plan administrator uses an enrolled actuary -- as the law requires him
to do ~= to arrive at amounts that appear on the liability side of the
balance sheet, the plan administrator must agsume responsibility for
those items. The Public Oversight Board's statement that an enrolled
actuary is "simply performing an independent professional service"
and is "not, therefore, making management decisions and should not
be viewed as being part of management's team" can as easlly be said of
a consulting actuary hired by an insurance company to determine
ita aggregate reserves, yet the Public Oversight Board ccacluded
that such an actuary would be so involved with management functiocns as
to disqualify any accountants associated with him from auditing the
insurance company's financial statements. Delegating management
functions does not convert them into non—management functioaus.
What it does do is to make the person who actually does the work part
of the management team. In the casé of an employee benefit plan, the
enrolled actnary {8 in fact ﬁerforming & significant management function
on behalf of the plan. If the Board's conclusion is sound that participat~

ing in management functions and decieions 1s inconsistent with independence,
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then an accounting firm cannot, consistent with the independence
requirement, audit the financial statements of a plan for which it or
an actuary employed by it acts as the enrolled actuary.—~

3. Corporate sponsors of employee benefit plans. The financial

statement of an employer that has adopted, for example, a pension plan,
will include at least two items —— the pension cost accrual and the
unfunded actuarially—-computed value of vested benefits ~- dependent upon
actuarial analysis. A self-review problem will be presented if actuaries
employed by the accounting firm are respomnsible for the computation of
these iteme and then the same accounting firm is asked to audit the
sponsoring employer's financial statements. It should also be noted that
Section 103(a){3){B) permitting the auditor to rely on an actuary's
determinations does not appear to apply where the audit is of the finmancial

statement not of the employee benefit plan but its corporate sponsor.

__{/ We must note that the Department of Labor may have taken a different
view in Interpretive Bulletin ERISA IB RD 75-1 (mow IB RD 75-%)
published November 20, 1975 (29 CFR § 2509-75-9) which provides that:

"“"However, an independent qualified public accountant
may permissably [sic] engage in or have members of his
or her firm engage in certain activities which will nmot
have the effect of removing recognition of his or her
independence. For example . . . the rendering of
services by an actuary assoclated with an accountant or
accounting firm shall not impair the accountant's or
accountipng firm's independeace.”

Tt is not apparent whether the Labor Department intended only to say
that some actuarial services could be rendered by an accountant to an
audit client without impairing its independence or whether it was
guggesting that actuarial services that appeared on the financial
statement would not affect an accountant's independence. This
interpretation was not promulgated under the nmotice and comment pro-
visions of the Administrative Procedure Act (5 U.8.C. § 533) and,
accordingly, the Department never had the benefit of any public
comment. We think that the Bulletin does not reflect an adequate
understanding or analysis of the issue.
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Thus there ie not, as in the case of an employee benefit plan financial
statement, an avenuve for avolding the self-review problem.

The problem of identification with management appears to be,
admittedly, less severe with respect to financial statements of corporate
sponsors than it is with reapect to employee benefit plans or insurance
companies, in part because of the relative significance of the amounts
involved. In contrast to insurance companies and employee benefit plans,
where actuarially-related issues form the core of the matters to which
management must give its attention, the administration of the corporate
pension plan is only one of many important issues facing corporate
management. But its importance must not be underestimated. There is
indeed increasing recognition of the significance of the two pension plan—~
related items reflected in the financial statements -~ and the fact that
unfunded vested liability is often a substantial percentage of net worth
and that pension expense often reflects a similarly large portion of total
pre~tax earnings. For example, a sampling of data for twelve large U.S.
corporations reveals that in 1978 pension expense typically ran between
20 and 25 percent of pre-tax earnings, while unfunded vested liability
ran in some instances as high as 30 percent of nmet worth.

For reasons of avoiding both self-review and supplanting
management 's role, the Commission should rule that'it is inconsistent with
the independence requirement for am accounting firm to provide both audit
and actuarial services to a corporate sponsor of an ?mployee benefit plan
where the results of the actuarial services will be reflected in the

financial statements of the corporate sponsor.
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vili. The Need for Further Commission Action

The Academy's concern is that the Commission has not gome far
enough in applying the test enmunciated in its most recent release and that
its case by case approach will prove lnadequate to protect scme members
of the actuarial profession from the competing demands of the accounting
firms for which they work and the profession to which they belong. Instead
the Commission should recognize that where actuarial services are involved,
as in the case of accounting or bookkeeping services, the case by
case approach should be abandoned in favor of a ruling of general applic-
ability.

Where actuarial services are involved, an accounting firm should
be deemed to be acting inconsistent with the independence requirement
if it provides an audit client, through its own or affiliated actuariles,
with actuarial services that directly result in representations ou a financial
statement. In the case of insurance companies and employee benefit plans,
such a rule ought generally to result in accounting firms refusing to provide
actuarial services to insurance company or employee benefit planm audit
clients.

The Academy intends to request a formal ruling from the Commission
in the near term. The Academy would request that this subcommittee, in
the exercise of its oversight role, encourage the Commission to apply the
sound principles it has aanounced and enunciate rules of more general
applicabiiity where, as with actuarial services, the case by case approach
is not required. This would provide the guidance that is needed now rather

than several years from now.
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The result which the Academy seeks is fully consistent with the
position taken with respect to actuarial services by the Subcommittee on
Reports, Accounting and Management in its November, 1977, report on Improving

the Accountability of Publicly Owned Corporations and their Auditors. That

report in fact went considerably further than the course of action supgested
here. The subcommittee there concluded that:

“The best policy in this area~—and the policy which is pre-
sently followaed by most accounting firms—-is to require that
independent auditors of publicly owned corporations perform
only services directly related to accounting. Nomaccounting
management services such as executive recruitment, marketing
analysis, plant layout, product apalysis, and actuarial
gervices are incompatible with the public responsibilities
of independent auditors, and should be discontinued. Manage-
ment services related to accounting are confined to the
limited area of providing certain computer and systems
analyses that are necessary for improving internal coatrol
procedures of comporations."” (Emphasis added). _ /

The Academy iIs not seeking the broad proscription called for in
the subcommittee report. The Academy has not objected to an accouating firm
using actuaries in the audit process, so long as the original actuarial work
has not itself been performed by the accounting £irm, or to the furnishing
of actuarial services to nonaudit clients. Our concern is limited to the
provision of both audit and actuarial services where the actuarial work
will be reflected ia financial statements and invélve the accounting firm
and ite actuarj employees in self-review.

We would hope for this subcommittee's support in our efforts.

'_j Improving the Accountability of Publicly Owned Corporatioms and their
Auditors, p- 17
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COMMENTS OF STEPHEN G. KELLISON, EXECUTIVE DIRECTOR
AMERICAN ACADEMY OF ACTUARIES
NAIC (AS5) TASK FORCE ON LOSS RESERVES
SALT LAKE CITY, UTAH
AUGUST 13, 1979
The American Academy of Actuaries appreciates this opportunity to comment on the
recent proposal concerning statements of opinion on casualty loss and loss expense
reserves contained in Mr. Schacht's letter of July 26, 1979. The Academy has a

great luterest in the proposals which have emerged to date and wishes to reiterate

our pledge to work with the NAIC as the development of a loss reserve program proceed

By way of background, the Board of Directors of the Academy ou March 12, 1979
endorsed the general concept of statements of opinlon ou casualty loss reserves.
The Board action recommended that instructions be adopted for the Fire and Casualty
annual statement that would essentially be the same as the current instructions for
the Life and Accident and Health annual statement. The Life and Accident and

Health program has worked well and produced meaningful assurances on that blank.

Subsequently, on May 22, 1979, the American Insurance Assoclation recommended
adoption of such a statement of opinion for casualty loss reserves and a uniform
procedure for CPA audits. Both the Academy and the AICPA endorsed the AIA

recommendations.

The Academy believes that the loss reserve proposal on your agenda today is a great
improvement over previous proposals and is compatible with these past
recommendations of our Board of Directors. Thus, if the NAIC decides to adopt a
program of loss reserve statements of opinion, we support adoption of the proposal

before you.
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However, we would urge one significant modification. The proposal before you
requires everyone rendering a statement of opinion after January 1, 1982, whe

i not a Member of the Academy, to pass Part 7 of the Casualty Actuarial Soclety
examinations. Although the Part 7 requirement may be appropriate for new
individuals qualifying to sign after January 1, 1982, we feel it is too harsh
for individuals who are currently responsible for loss reserve determinations
and have been for many years. It is a great Iimposition to require loss reserve
specialists with substantial experience, who have done this work successfully
for many years, to face the rigors, anxieties, and uncertainties of an examination.
Many such specialists may not have writtenm examinations since their college days
or shortly thereafter. For such specialists we would recommend permanent

grandfathering.

This modification would have significant advantages as follows:

1. It would create no problems of supply, since existing loss
reserve specialists would remain qualified indefinitely,
assuming their future performance is competent.

2. It would lead to higher standards of education and experience
for loss reserve specialists in the future.

3. It nevertheless would avoid the problem of regulatory officials
taking a position in advence on the competency of specific

individuals to sign.

Mr. Snader of the Casualty Actuarial Society is here today and is available to

discuss the Casualty Actuarial Society examination program in more detail.
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In order to shed more light on the effect various proposals might have, the
Board of Directors of the Academy at its meeting on June 14, 1979 directed the
staff to conduct a survey of the larger property-liability insurers. We have
just completed tabulating the results of this survey in order to have it

available at this meeting. Attached are the results of the survey for your review.
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AMERICAN ACADEMY OF ACTUARIES

1835 K STREET, N.W. » SUITESLS o  WASHINGTON, D.C. 20006 »  (202) 223-8196

STEPHEN G. KELLISON, M.A. A A,

EXECUTIVE DIRECTOR
August 13, 1979

MEMORANDUM
TO: Interested Parties on Casualty Loss Reserve Survey

In order to shed more light on the effect various proposals involving statements
of opinion on loss and loss expense reserves of property-liability insurance
companies might have, the American Academy of Actuaries has conducted a survey
of all property-liability insurers with $50 million or more of premium volume.
There are 154 such companies, of which 123 responded to the survey.

Attached are seven pages containing the results of the survey:
| p. 1 - Tabulation for all respondents

p. 2 - Tabulation for all companies with $250 million
or more of premium volume

p. 3 - The survey form
ppP- 4,5,6 - The list of 123 respondents
P- 7 - The list of 31 non-respondents
In interpreting these results please note the following:

1. Each multiple~company structure (group, fleet, holding
company, etc.) was tabulated as only one response in the
survey.

2, The attached p. 2 is a tabulation for companies with
$250 million or more of premium volume. There are 48

such companies, or 39% of the respondents. However,
these companies have 86,1% of the total premium volume.
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In comparing the answers to the first part of

question 4 with question 6, it is apparent that

some companies have actuaries on staff that do not
currently assume responsibility for the determinatien

of loss reserves. However, in a number of these
situations the actuaries in these companies are directly
involved in the process of reserve development.

The ansgwers to question 4 are based on in-house company
employees. A number of companies use outside consulting
actuaries for reserve work, but this is not reflected in
the survey results.
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TABULATION TOR ALl RESPONDENTS
(123 Companies}

Question 4., Pleazse provide the following information about the individual
who assumes responsibility for the determination (mot the audit)
of loss and loss expense reserves:

Is this individual a Member of the American Academy of Actuaries?

Yes 50
No 73

Is this individual 2 certified public accountant?

Yes 22
No 101

Question 5. Would the individual in #4 above sign the professional statement of
opinion concerning the adequacy of loss and loss expense reserves,
if the NAIC adopts such a requirement?

Yes _67
Ro_ 18
Unsure 34

Question 6. Does your company have 2 member of the American Academy of Actuaries
on its staff? -

Yes 72
No el

Question 7. Does your company have an annual CPA audit of its financial
statements?

Yes 118

-2
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Question 4.

Question 5.

Question 6.

Question 7.

Note:

STATEMENT 1979-20

TABULATION FOR ALL COMPANIES
WITH $250 MILLION OR MORE OF PREMIUM VOLUME
(48 Companies --- 39% of respondents)

Please provide the following information about the individual ‘
who assumes responsibility for the determination (not the audit)
of loss and loss expense reserves:

Is this individual a Member of the American Academy of Actuaries?

Yes 27

No 21
Is this individual a certified public accountant?

Yes _ 6
No 42

Would the individual in #4 above sign the professional statement of
opinion concerning the adequacy of loss and loss expense reserves,
if the NAIC adopts such a requirement?

Yes
No
Unsure

BN

Does your company have a member of the Amerdican Academy of Actuaries
on its staff?

Yes 39
No 9

Does your company have an annual CPA audit of its finamcial
statements?

Yes 46
Fo = _2
Premium volume all 123 companies —————-- $56,079 million

Premium volume of 48 largest companies -- $48,284 million

(86.1% of total)
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SURVEY ON CASUALTY L0SS RESERVES

Name of company

Premium volume (line 31, col. 4, part 2¢, p.8 of 12/31/78 annual statement)

Amount of loss.and loss expense reserves (lines 1 & 2, p.3 of 12/31/78
statement)

Please provide the following information about the individual who assumes
regponsibllity for the determination (not the audit) of loss and loss
expense reserves:

Title

Years of experience with the determination
of loss reserves

Is this individual a Member of the American
Academy of Actuaries?

Yes No
Is this individual a certified public accountant?
Yes No
Would the individual in #4 above sign the professional statement of opinion
concerning the adequacy of loss and loss expense reserves, if the NAIC adopts
such a requirement?

Yes No Unsure

Does your company have a member of the American Academy of Actunaries on its
staff?

Yes No

Does your company have an annual CPA agudit of its financial statements?
Yes No

Additional commemts

PLEASE MAIL NO LATER THAN JULY 31 TO:

Casualty Loss Reserves Survey
¢/o American Academy of Actuaries
1835 K Street, N.W., Suite 515
Washington, D.C. 20006

(202) 223-8196
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RESPONDENTS TO CASUALTY LOSS RESERVES SURVEY

Aetna Life & Casualty

Aid Insurance Co.

Alabama Farm Bureau Ins. Cos.

American Agricultural Ins. Co.

American Bankers Ins. Co., of Fla.
American Family Mutual Ins. Co.
American Hardware Mutual Ins. Co.
American Indemnity Group

American Internatiomal Group

American Mutual

American Re-lnsurance

American Security Group

American States Ins. Cos.

American Universal Ins. Group

Andover Cos. (Merrimack Mutual)
Argonaut Ias. Co.

Arkwright-Boston Ins. Group

Auto-Owners Insurance Croup

Balboa Ins. Co.

Bituminous Ins. Co.

California State Automobile Association
Calvert Fire Ins. Co.

Celina Insurance Group

Central Mutual of Ohio Group

Central National Ins. Co. of Omaha
Colonial Penn Life Ins. Co.

Commercial Union Ins. Co.

Continental Casualty Co.

Continental Ins. Co. & Affiliates
Cotton States Mutual Group

Country Companies Group

Crum and Forster Group

John Deere Ins. Co. (Rock River)
Detroit Automobile Inter-Insurance Exchange
Dodson Ins. Group (Casualty Recip. Group)
Empire Mutual Ins. Group

Employee Benefits Ims. Co.

Employers Insurance of Texas

Employers Ins. of Wausau (Wausau Ins. Cos.)
Employers Mutual of Iowa Group
Employers Reinsurance Corp.

Erie Ins. Exchange and Erie Ins. Co.
Equitable General Ins. Group

Farm Bureau Ins. Group of Michigan
Farm Bureau Mutual Ians. Co., Inc. -~ Manhattan, Kansas
Federal Ins. Co. Group

Federated Mutual Ins. Co.

Fireman's Fund

Foremost Ins. Co.

Fremont Indemnity Co,



51.
52.
53.
54,
35.
56.
57.
58.
59.
60,
61.
62.
63.
64.
85.
66.
67.
68.
69.
70.
1.
72,
73.
Th.
73.
76.
77.
78.
79.
80.
81.
82.
83.
84.
85.
86.
a7.
a8.
89.
90.
91.
92.
93.
94.
95.
9.
97.
98,
99.
100.
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RESPONDENTS TO CASUALTY LOSS RESERVES SURVEY

General Accident Group

General Reinsurance Corp.

Government Employees Ins. Co,

Grain Dealers Mutual Ins.

Great American Ins. Cos.

Hanover Ins. Cos.

Hartford Ins. Group
Hawkeye-Security/United Security Ins. Cos.
Highlands Ins. Co.

Home Group

Indiana Ins. Co.

Insurance Company cof North America
Interinsurance Exchange of the Automobile Club of Southern California
Iowa National Mutual Ins. Co.

Kemper Ins. Group

Kentucky Farm Bureau Mutual Ins. Co.
Keystone Insurance Co.

Liberty Mutual Ins. Cos.

Lumbermens Mutual Ins. Co.

Lumbermen's Underwriting Alliance

Medical Protective Co.

Merchants Ins. Group

Mercury Casualty Co.

Meridian Ins. Group

Metropolitan Property & Liability Ins. Co.
Michigan Millers Mutual Ins. Co.

Michigan Mutual Ins. Group

Michigan State Accident Fund

Midland Ins. Group

Milbank Mutual Ins. Co.

Mortgage Guaranty Group

Motors Ins. Corp.

Munich American Reinsurance Co.

Mutuzl Service Casualty Ins. Co.

National American Ins. Group

National Farwers Union Property & Casualty
Nationwide Insurance

North American Reinsurance Corp.

North Carolina Farm Bur2au Mutual Ins. Co.
Northwestern National Ins. Group

Ohio Casualry Group

01d Republic Ins. Co.

Peerless Ins. Group

Pekin Ins. Group (Farmers Auto Gzp.)
Progressive

Providence Washington Ins. Group
Prudential Property & Casualty

Ranger Ins. Co. Group

Reliance Ins. Co.

Royal-Globe
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122,
123,
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RESPONDENTS TO CASUALTY LOSS RESERVES

SURVEY

Safeco Ins. Cos.

St. Paul Fire and Marine Ins. Co.

Security Ins. Group
Sentry Ins.

State Compensation Ins. Fund of California

The Statesman Group

South Carolina Ins. Co. Group

Southern Farm Bureau Casualty Ins. Co.

Transamerica Ins. Co.
Transport Indemmity Co.
Travelers Ins. Cos.
Unigard Ins. Group

United States Fidelity amd Guaranty Group
Universal Underwriters Ins. Co.

USAA Consolidated Group
Utica Mutual Ins. Co.

The Western Casualty and Surety Co.
U.S. Brauch of "Winterthur" Swiss Ins. Co.

Zenith. Ins. Co.
Zurich-American Group

California Casualty Group
Mutual Medical Ins., Inc.
Public Service Mutual Ins.

Co.
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31.
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NON-RESPONDENTS TO CASUALTY LOSS RESERVES SURVEY

Allendale Mutual Group

Allstate Ins. Co. Group

American General Group

Atlantic Mutual Group

Bellefonte Ins. Group

Cincinnati Tna. Group
Constellation Reinsurance Co.
Dailey Underwriters of America
Electric Mutual of Mass. Group
Farmers Ins. Group

Greater New York Group

Hartford Steam Bollers Group
Medical Liability Mutual

MFA Mutual Ins. Group

Milwaukee Mutual Group

Mission Ins. Co. Group

Mutual Hospital Ins. Inc.

National Grange Group

National Ind. Ins. Group

Ohio Farmers Ins. Group

Oklahoma Property & Casualty Ins. Co.
Peninsular Fire Group Co. of America
Protection Mutual Ims. Co.

Public Employers Mutual Ins. Group
Republic Vanguard Group

Selected Risks Group

Skandia American Reinsurance Group
State Autc Mutual Group

State Farm Mutual Group

State Workmens Ins. Fund

W.R. Berkley Corp. Group
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AMERICAN ACADEMY OF ACTUARIES
208 South La Salle Street ¢ Chicago, lllinocis 60604

312/782-4204

August 17, 1979

Director of Research and Technical Activities
Financial Accounting Standards Board

High Ridge Park

Stamford, Connecticut 06905

Dear Sir:

The enclosed comments on the Interim Report of the Insurance Task
Group on the FASB Exposure Drafts "Finaucial Reporting and Changing
Prices" and Constant Dollar Accounting'' have been prepared by the
American Academy of Actuaries Committee on Life Tnsurance Financial
Reporting Principles.

We hope that these comments will be helpful,

Sincerely,

[ Z Uk

Jack E, Wood, Chairman

American Academy of Actuaries
Committee on Life Insurance
Financial Reporting Principles.
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COMMENTS
of
AMERICAN ACADEMY OF ACTUARIES COMMITTEE ON

LIFE INSURANCE FINANCIAL REPORTING PRINCIPLES

on
INTERIM REPORT OF THE INSURANCE TASK GRDU%
ON THE FASB EXPOSURE DRAFTS
"FINANCIAL REPORTING AND CHANGING PRICES"

and ""CONSTANT DOLLAR ACCOUNTING"

The Academy's Committee on Life Insurance Financial Reporting Principles
supports the specific recommendations of the Imsurance Task Group as stated

in the "Summary" of the May 31, 1979 Interim Report of that Task Group.

The Committee alsc supports the approach described in the "Basis For
Recommendations" section of the Interim Report which entails the use of a
gingle index (the Consumer Price Index--Urban) for comverting key financial

data to a constant dollar result.

We concur with the use of the assumption that all insurance company assets

and liabilities are monetary.

We recommend that the Task Group's approach be prescribed until further
regsearch and study produces a more informarive means of disclosing the effects

of changing prices in the insurance industry,
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AMERICAN ACADEMY OF ACTUARIES

1835 K STREET, N.W. . SUITE 515 . WASHINGTON, D.C. 20006 . (202) 223-819%6

STEPHEN G. KELLISON, M.A.AA.
EXECUTIVE DIRECTOR

August 20, 1979

Chairman, Tax Forms Coordinating
Committee

Internal Revenue Service

1111 Constitution Avenue, N.W.

Room 5577

Washington, D.C. 20224

Attention: ERISA Annual Reporting Revisions
Dear S5ir:

This letter presents comments of the ERISA Subcommittee of the
American Academy of Actuaries conecerning the preposed revision
of forms appearing in the June 26, 1979 Federal Register. The
Academy is aware that a number of actuaries and actuarial firms
have extensive comments on these proposed forms which will be
communicated to vou., Accordingly, we will restrict our comments
in this letter to strictly actuarial matters; namely, item 6(d)
of propesed Form 5500-R.

Item 6(d) asks the plan administrator of a defined benefit plan
to state whether the plan has experienced a funding deficiency.
The plan administrator is not independently qualified to answer
the question, and would be able to answer it only if the enrolled
actuary has determined the information. Thus, question 6(d),
without Schedule B, raises the possibility of erroneous answers
and of inadequately funded plans.

The enrolled actuary can make the determination only by doing
the underlying work to complete Schedule B. If the actuary has
done this underlying work, there is very little additional work
neaded to complete Schedule B itself, so that the eliminaticn

of Schedule B makes no substantial reduction in the work required
to complete the annual report form. Submission of Schedule B,
signed by an enrolled actuary, would assure that the funding
requirements are satisfied.
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TO: Chairman, Tax Forms Coordinating August 20, 1979
Committee

Therefore, we recommend that Schedule B be required to be attached
for defined benefit plana. One appropriate way to accomplish this
would be to use item 20 from the 1978 Form 5500-C in place of item 6{d).

Respectfully submitted,

ij(z;&h. N /N
Stephen G. Kellison

SGK:cs

2587
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AMERICAN ACADEMY OF ACTUARIES

1835 K STREET, N.W. . SUITE 515 .+  WASHINGTON, D.C. 20006  » (202) 223-81%

September 21, 1879

Director of Research and Technical Activities
File Reference 1025-019%

Financial Accounting Standards Board

High Ridge Park

Stamford, Connecticut 06905

Dear Sir:

I am pleased to enclose a copy of the comments of a Task Force of the American
Academy of Actuaries appointed to review the Revised Exposure Draft on
"Accounting and Reporting By Defined Benefit Pension Plans" issued by the
Board on July 9, 1979.

Representatives of the Academy have worked closely with the Board and staff

over the past few years to render assistance in the developwent of this
statement. The Academy appreclstes the cooperative effort of the Board and

its staff and the attention given to our comments as reflected in the Revised
Draft. In general, the Task Force believes the Reviged Exposure Draft to be

a significant improvement over the original draft issued in April, 1977.
However, there still remain a few issues which will be troublesome for actuaries
in attempting to carry out theilr professional responsibilities, and these are
discussed at some length in the enclosed report of the Task Force.

The Task Force, as well as other resources of the Academy, stand ready to assist
the Board in any way it can to resolve the remaining issues so as to produce

a statement of accounting principles which will be consistent with the pro-
fessional responsibilities of both the accounting and actuarial professions.

Sincerely,

Dale K. Gustafson g

President

DRG:cal

Enclosure
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AMERICAN ACADEMY OF ACTUARIES

Task Force on Review of Revised FASB Exposure Draft
on Accounting and Reporting by Defined Benefit Pension Plans

Comments and Recommendations on Exposure Draft

The American Academy of Actuaries appointed a Task Force to
review the Revised Exposure Draft relating to pension plans issued by
the Financial Accounting Standards Board on July 9, 1979, and our comments
thereon follow., We appreciate the consideration given by the Board to
the sxtensive comments and suggestions made by the Academy on the original
Exposure Draft, as well as subsequent suggestions made on other proposed
changes, many of which are recognized by changes made in the Revised
Exposure Draft,

The Revised Exposure Draft represents a substantial improvement
over the original draft. In particular, we are pleased that beginning-
of-year presént values will now be acceptable and that a full reconciliation
of these values will not be required generally, We are also pleased
that the determination of the amount of the accrued benefit will follow
the Academy's Interpretation 2. We recognize the difficulty which the
Board faced in dealing with the complex questions regarding the use of
salary projection factors in such determinations, and endorse the Board's,
decision, consistent with Interpretation 2, that for this purpose the
use of salary projection factors is not appropriate.

However, there remain three significant issues which pose particu-
lar problems for actuaries. These are: (1) the implication that the in-
vestment yield which the actuary uses to calculate the present value of

accrued (accumulared) benefits may have to be adjusted from year to year
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to reflect short term fluctuations in the market value of the assets, at
least to the extent that such fluctuations are deemed to affect longer

term yields, (2) the lack of a stipulated format which permits identi-
fication of, and submission of additional pertinent information by, the
actuary who carries out the actuarial valuation of the accrued plan bene-
fits, and (3) the absence of a stable basis to use in comparing plan assets
and actuarial present values from year to year. There are a number of other
technical comments and specific suggestions of less significance which are
summarized in Exhibit A attached hereto. The remainder of this commentary
will focus on the two major issues mentioned above,

Selection of Yields to Determine Actuarial Present Value of
Accrued Plan Benefits

This problem was addressed at some length in our letter to the
Board of March 27, 1579. For completeness of response to the Exposure
Draft, however, our position will be restated here, since we feel it is
an extremely important issue.

Paragraph 20a. requires the use of an assumed rate of return on
investments based on the '"fair value'" of plan assets and Paragraph 24 men-
tions that such assumed rate may change "periodically" due to changes in
the expected yields on (the fair value of) plan investments., Paragraph
186 states that '"changes in rates of return on existing assets as a result

of changes in fair value will affect the interest rates at which benefits

are discounted.” It further states that the Board has rejected the view
that assumed rates of return should be changed only when it is apparent
that "long temm" interest rates have changed (i.e., which seems to say
that the Board believes that the assumed rates of return should reflect
short term fluctuations in asset values). There also is the example

used in the illustrative "Notes to Financial Statements" wherein interest




STATEMENT 1979-23 261

rates of 6.75%, 6.25% and 7% are used in three consescutive years (page

123). The illustrative change of l0.75'% in the assumed rate of return in

just one year is further evidence of the Board's apparent desire to re-

flect rather directly short term fluctuations in the yield on market values.
All of these would seem to imply that the assumed rate of return

should be (1) based essentially on current yield projections related to market

value, and (2) adjusted to some extent at each valuation date to reflect

short term fluctuations in the market value of assets. Although discussions

with the Board staff indicate that it was not intended to imply that changes

would be required each year to reflect short term fluctuations in market

value yields on the assets, the above citations from the Exposure Draft

could lead one to conclude that annual revisions in the assumed yield

1 were contemplated. If this was not intended, the final statement should
be clarified in this regard, bearing in mind that this document will be

the principal source of authority in this area for thousands of practiticn-
ers in the accounting and actuarial professions.

The actuary for a pension plan must select the assumed rate of
investment for the valuation of the plan bearing in mind the very long
nature of pension promises. Benefits accruing for the youngest employees
in the plan may be deferred 60, 70 or even 80 years from the valuation
date, and even for the average employee, benefits may be deferred for
40 or 50 years; Current yields on even long term fixed income securities
cover only a small fraction of this period, and the actuary must recognize
that the rates at which the income from current investments is reinvested and

that future contributions are invested may be lower than current market vield.
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For example, just considering the reinvestment of future income on cur-
rent investments, the actual rate of return on a newly issued 30-year

9% bond whose income is reinvested at 6% and which is held to maturity

is only about 7.2%. Accordingly, in selecting the assumed rate of re-
turn to determine actuarial present values, the actuary must look to

the long term and not overly react to periodic fluctuations in the market
value.

The footnote example on page 123 suggests that significant
fluctuations (i.e., decreasing by 0.50% one year and increasing by 0.75%
the next year) from year to year in the assumed rate of return might be
expected. In order to demonstrate the sensitivity of actuarial present
values to changes in the assumed rate of return, we have prepared the
attached Exhibit B which develops a simplified example of the type of
swings that could cccur in the unfunded present value. The example is
simple but not exaggerated; in many situations the relative changes in
unfunded present value would be even larger. A brief summary of the
pertinent results from Exhibit B follows below.

If the "actuarial" approach of keeping the assumed investment
yield relatively stable is followed (changing it only when it appears
long range yields have changed}, then the following illustrates the po-
tential unfunded present value in the second year of the analysis, depend-

ing on the market yield (dollar figures in thousands]:

Fund
Market Market Investment Unfunded Actuarial
Yield Value Gain (Loss) Present Value Gain (Loss)
7% $6,850 $ 0 $4,920 $ o}
6% 7,370 520 4,400 520

8% 6,390 (460) 5,380 (460)
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Thus, ignoring gains and losses from other sources, the invest-
ment gain or loss flows directly through to a change in the unfunded
liability of the plan.

' On the other hand, if the assumed actuarial rate of return is

adjusted each year as implied, the following develops:

Market Market Investment Unfunded Actuarial
Yield Value Gain {Loss) Present Value Gain (Loss)
7% $6,850 § 0 $4,920 $ [}
6% 7,370 520 7,080 (2,160)
8% 6,390 (460) 3,240 1,680

This approach produces the anomalous result that a $520,000 gain
in the assets results in a net actuarial loss in the unfunded present value
of about four times such gain., Similarly, a $460,000 loss in the assets
becomes a2 $1,680,000 gain in the unfunded present value of the plan, a
somewhat illogical result.

Additionally, the proposed instructions are not consistent with
the requirements of the Department of Labor with respect to the entriss on
Schedule B of Form 5500, which require the use of assumptions representing
the actuary's best estimate of future experience on an ongeing plan basis.
Participants and other interested parties would be confused if different
present value amounts were reported om Schedule B and in the financial
statements. In addition, the preparation of the additional calculations,
which we believe are unnecessary and misleading, would expose the plan
sponsor to additional actuarial fees. Considering the estimates involved
in appraising these long range pension obligations, the confusion created
by having different amounts to represent the same values and the additional
expense incurred by duplicate valuations, it would be unfortunate if the
final statement of GAAP for pension plan financial statements established
criteria for the selection of the assumed rate of investment return which
often resulted in different actuarial present values appearing in the finan-

cial statement presentation and in Schedule B,
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In short, the nature of these actuarial present values is such
that they do not change with short term fluctuations in the market value
of assets, but rather should be viewed as long term values, the actuarial
basis of which should not change to reflect short term trends in yields
o market values., If the objective, as expressed by the Exposure Draft,
is to present the actuarial present values on a ''going plan" basis, it is
inappropriate to require that such present values be determined on a basis
that would result in wide fluctuations over short time periods,

It has been pointed out that paragraph 8,4 of Recommendation A
issued by the Academy Committee on Pension Actuarial Principles and
Practices provides that: "If the actuarial present value is to be compared
with the market value of the plan'‘s current assets, and the plan’s actuar-
jial basis uses another method of measure of such assets for actuarial
purposes, the actuary should either: (a)..... , or {b) redetermine the pre-
sent value using an investment return assumption consistent with the market
value of the assets."

While some might interpret that this statement offers support for
the Exposure Draft, it only becomes applicable in the situation where
the market value of assets is relevant to the actuarial determination
involved, such as a plan termination. It was not intended that this
statement be made applicable to the determination of plan present values
on a "going plan" basis, such that the valuation rate of interest would
be adjusted to reflect every short term fluctuation in the market value
of assets.

The FASB proposals relative to the selection of the appropriate
assumed rate of investment return pose a serious problem for an Enrclled
Actuary who is a Member of the Academy in Brder to adhere to legal and pro-

fessional responsibilities. ERISA clearly assigns the responsibility for
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the determination of agtuarial values to the Enrolled Actuary for the plan,
and the calculation and reporting of these values must be in accordance with
the appropriate guidelines to professional conduct of the actuarial profes-
sion. We appreciate the fact that the Revised Exposure Draft is consistent
with the Academy's guidelines in most respects., However, we would like to
point out that the Academy does require its members to meet certain conditions
in comnection with pension plan computations. These include identification
of the actuary responsible for the calculations and a requirement that the
actuary have an opportunity to ensure that the information he prepares is
presented in a manner which is complete, including any limitations on the
applicability of information.

In order to comply with the guidelines of the Exposure Draft,
the actuary might be required, at certain times, to prepare actuarial values
and information for inclusion in the financial statement of the plan which,
{1) do not represent his best estimate of the future experience, ete.
under the plan, as required by BERISA, (2) in his opinion, are prepared or
presented in a manner inconsistent with the guides and cpinions to conduct
of his profession, and/or {3) are inconsistent with the Schedule B prepared
by the actuary for the actuarial statement filed for the plan. ‘

If faced with this problem of supplying information that he
believes is inappropriate, Enrolled Actuaries and/or Members of the Academy
preparing such information would seem to have two choices:

{1} Refuse to prepare the actuarial information on the basis re-
quested, or

{(2) supply the requested information on the basis requested,
but with.sn accompanying statement which states that the
values are inappropriate for the purpose.
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Obviously neither of these alternatives is satisfactory.

What is the professional responsibility of the actuary, if requested
to provide actuarial values for a pension plan financial statement which
he believes are inappropriate? The Academy has not yet had to address
specifically this issue, but some action by the Academy would seem to be
required if the FASB present proposal is adopted. While we recognize that
the FASB has the responsibility for establishing GAAP for pension plan
financial statements (most of which are prepared under ERISA requirements),
it should be recognized that: (1) the inclusion of actuarial present values
in the financial statement is completely a voluntary action on the part of
the FASB, not required or even implied by ERISA, and (2), for ERISA plans
at least, the selection of actuarial assumptions is clearly the responsi-
bility of the actuary, not the accountant preparing the financial statement.

Form of Presentation of Actuarial Present Value of Accumulated
Plan Benefits

The Exposure Draft (paragraph 8) allows flexibility in the manner
of presentation of the actuarial present value of accumulated plan benefits
and the year-to-year changes therein. It suggests that such information
may be presented either directly in the financial statements or in notes
thereto. While we generally applaud the concept of flexibility in this
regard, it may create a preblem for the actuary supplying the requested
information if the actuarial values are blended into the financial state-
ment directly.

The Guides to Professional Conduct of the Academy state that
"When it is not feasible for the actuary to render his opinions or find-
ings directly to the person or organization (i.e. one influenced by his

actuarial cpinions or findings), he will act in such a manner as to leave
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no doubt that he is the sources of the opinions of findings...". Addition-
ally, if the actuary has qualifications regarding the actuarial values
prepared for the financial statement, he should be able to assure himself
that such qualifications and comments will be presented to the users of
the informaticn.

This problem could be resclved if the Board established a method
of presentation utilizing a separate statement by the actuary to be in-
cluded as part of the financial statement which would provide the information
for which the actuary is responsible by law, including any explanatory ma-
terial which the actuary feels to be important. This would, for example,
pemit the actuary to include the actuarial value of assets within his state-
ment (see discussion beslow). To avoid additional expense, Schedule B or infor-
mation extracted therefrom coculd be utilized for ERISA plans, while a
similar statement could be used for other plans. For ERISA plans this
appreach would have the further advantage of insuring consistency in
reporting for statutory and accounting purposes and would eliminate
unnecessary duplication of work.

We recognize that this problem may raise certain problems in
connection with the nommal audit procedures and principles established
by the accounting profession,'but it would seem likely that a procedure
could be established which would allow actuaries to fulfill their professional
responsibilities without violating the audit responsibilities of the ac-
counting profession.

Comparison of Actuarial Present Values and Assets

As to the nature of information prepared by the actuary and pre-

sented in the financial statement, we believe that participants and other
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users of the financial statement will be better informed about the funded
position of accrued plan benefits by observing the year-to-year relation-
ships between the present value of accrued benefits and the assets rather
than from the relationship which exists at a single point in time. We
also believe that the information will be more meaningful if the actuarial
present value amounts and the assets with which they are being compared
are both determined on a stable and consistent basis which minimizes
short term fluctuations. For this purpose, the actuarial value of

assets affords a more appropriate and more stable basis for comparison
with the present value of accumulated benefits than does the market

value of assets. Although actuaries use various formulas to determine
actuarial asset values, the purpose of these formulas is to avoid giving
undue recognition to short term market fluctuations. Thus we recommend
that, where appropriate, the actuarial value of assets be included as
part of the statement which presents the actuarial present value of

accrued benefits.

The Task Force will be pleased to provide any further information
needed by the Board or its staff to clarify these comments. It may be
that some of the problems we have raised have resulted from misinterpreting
the Board's intention, in which case we would be pleased to offer sug-

gestions for language that would clear up these possible misconceptions.
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Despite these extensive comments, we would like to emphasize
again our appreciation of the efforts of the Board to reflect the view-

points of the Academy in the Revised Exposure Draft.

Respectively Submitted,

Task Force on Review of Revised FASB
Exposure Draft on Accounting and Reporting
by Defined Benefit Pension Plans

Douglas C. Borton, Co-Chairman
Edwin F. Boynton, Co-Chairman
James F. A, Biggs

Paul A, Gewirtz

Harry M. Leister, Jr.

Leonard Mactas

Barry L. Shemin
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TECHNICAL COMMENTS ON
REVISED EXPOSURE DRAFT

Comments

We would expect plans covering
employees of the Federal govermment
also to be included.

We do not believe that an accep-
table benefit valuation date should
be restricted to the beginning or
end of the plan year. The use of
any date within the year should be
permissable, provided that the same
day is used consistently from year-
to-year. Adjusting present value
amounts to either the beginning or
end of the plan year would be of no
additional value to participants and
hence the additional expense would
not be warranted.

We believe it is intended that the
words '"benefit valuation date'
should be "participant's retirement."

We understand that benefits which are
scheduled to take effect after the
calculation date do not have to be
taken into account in the calcula-
tion of the present value of accrued
benefits, but that the existence of
these benefits must be disclosed, if
significant.

This item, relating to administra-
tive expenses paid by the plan, em-
phasizes an assumption which usually
is not significant in relation to
the other assumptions. The last

-sentence implies a precision

in the selection of an interest rate
which is impossible to achieve. There-
fore, we recommend it be deleted.

We feel that this paragraph should
be deleted. Since the exposure
draft propeses criteria for se-
lecting the assumed rate of

return based on current investments
of the plan and the plan's stated
investment policy for the future,
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Exhibit A
Page 2

use of insurance company actuarial
assumptions for this purpose would
be inconsistent with such criteria
unless the plan's investments and
policy matched those of the insurance
company, an unlikely event., Further
since the assumptions underlying

the insurance company rates, not

the rates themselves, would be used,
there would be no significant cost
savings from using this alternative,
In addition, we understand that many
insurance companies would consider
these assumpticns to be proprietary
information which they would be un-
willing to disclose.

We suggest that this paragraph be
deleted, since it is concerned with
only one aspect of selecting an
appropriate interest rate.

Footnote 11 differentiates between
situations where insurance company
values are used and where they are
not. We do not see the rationale
behind this distinction.

We suggest replacing the last two
sentences with one sentence reading
"If the effects of such events on
transactions have been determined,
they should be disclosed."

We do not believe that the expense
of restating financial statements
for prior years, including the com-
putation of the present value of
accumulated benefits, can be justi-
fied in terms of the value of this
additional data.
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Exhibit A
Page 3

Appendix C. Glossary

"Accumulated Plan Benefits™ We strongly urge that this be

redefined as "Accrued Plan Benefits' or just simply "Accrued Bene-
fits". While recognizing that the word "accrued' has certain account-
ing/legal connotations when used in other contexts, the term ™accrued
benefit'" under a pension plan has been so precisely defined by

ERISA and implementing regulations and so widely accepted by all

other interested parties involved in pensicns, that we believe the
accounting profession should accept it also. "Accrued benefit!" is
defined (or clearly implied by the plan's provisions) in at least
every pension plan covered by ERISA, (as well as in most others).

For the accounting profession to ignore the facts as they exist in the
pension world would simply add more inconsistency to the already con-
fusing pension temminology. The term "accrued benefit" is at least
one term that is relatively well understood in the language of pen-
sicns, and the invention of a new term to mean the same thing

scarcely contributes to an understanding of pensions by participants
and others

"Benefit Information" is defined as '"the actuarial present value of
accumulated plan benefits,” which itself is a defined term. We see
nothing to be gained by using two different terms to mean precisely
the same thing, particularly when one of them {Benefit Information)
generally carries a much broader comnotation in the absence of a
definition. We suggest "Benefit Information,' as well as "Nonvested
Benefit Information" and 'Vested Benefit Information' which also are
defined as other defined terms, be deleted.

General

Since the Department of Labor does not require a calculation of the
present value of accrued benefits for plans covering less than 100
participants, it would seem appropriate for the FASB to adopt the
same rule. It should be noted that the bulk of the total present
value amount for a small plan frequently would be concentrated on
one or two individuals. Since, the use of actuarial assumptions,
which rely on the law of large mumbers, is of limited value in these
situations, the expense of developing these amounts generally could
not be justified.
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EXHIBIT B

Determination of Actuarial Value of Accrued Benefits

Illustration of Effect of Varying Actuarial Investment
Return Assumption Directly with Changes in Market Yields

The purpose of this is to demonstrate the effects of changing the assumed
rate of investment return to reflect year-to-year variations in the market

yield of the invested assets, as proposed by the FASB draft,

From the

actuary's view point, the actuarial value of accrued benefits of an
ongoing plan does not automatically change every time the market yield

of the investments held by the plan changes. Rather, the actuary assumes
a long term yield based on past experience and projected future experience
and only makes changes in this when it appears to him that the long term
yields have truly changed. Thus, the actuarial values of accrued benefits

should be & much more stable value and not reflect every up and down

variation in the market value of the assets.

The example given below is oversimplified to illustrate the effect of
adjusting the actuarial value of accrued benefits to reflect market
yields on a given valuation date, It shows the effect of a 1% change in
the market yield between plan anniversaries for a plan that is 50%
funded (ratio of market value to present value of accrued benefits) at

the beginning of the period.
The pertinent values as of 1/1/79 are as follows:
A. Valuation as of 1/1/79:

1. Valuation rate of interest:
2. Present Value of Accrued Benefits
3. Market Value of Assets
4. Unfunded Value of Accrued Benefits
5 Value of benefits Accruing in 1979
(as of 1/1/79)
6, 1979 Contribution to Plan (as of 12/31/79)

B. Valuation as of 1/1/80 Assuming Market
Yield of Fund = 7% as of 1/1/80

1. Present Value of Accrued Benefits (7%)

2. Market Value of Assets

3. Unfunded Value of Accruied Benefits
(7%) (B.1. - B.2.)

C. Valuation as of 1/1/80 Assuming Market
Yield of Fund = 6% as of 1/1/80 and
Actuarial Value of Accrued Benefits
based on 6% Interest

1. Present Value of Accrued Benefits (6%)

2. Market Value of Assets

3. Unfunded Value of Accrued Benefits
(6%) (C.1. - C.2.)

4. Unfunded Value of Accrued Benefits if
Valuation Rate Remains 7% {(B.1. C.2.)

7%

$10, 000,000
5,000,000
5,000,000

1,000,000
1,50G,000

$11,770,000
6,850,000

4,920,000

$14,450,000
7,370,000

7,080,000

4,400,000

273
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D. Valuation as of 1/1/80 Assuming Market Yield
of Fund = 8% and Actuarial Value of Accrued
Benefits based on 8% Interest

1.
2.
3.
4

Present Value of Accrued Benefits (8%) $ 9,630,000
Market Value of Assets 6,390,000
Unfunded Value of Accrued Benefits (8%) 3,240,000
Unfunded Value of Accrued Benefits if

valuation Rate Remains 7% (B.l1. - D.2.) 5,380,000

E. Summary of Unfunded Present Values Based on
Actuary's Approach (AAA) and FASB Recommendation
(FASB) (000 omitted)

Market Market Value Unfunded Present Value
Yield of Assets AAA FASB

7%
6%
8%

$6,850M $4,920M $4,920M
7,370 4,400 7,080
6,390 5,380 3,240

Conclusions

1.

When the market yield remains unchanged, the AAA and FASB approaches
will produce the same result,

When there is unrealized appreciation in the fund (due to a reduction
in market vield'from 7% to 6%), the AAA approach shows this as an
actuarial gain resulting in a reduction in the unfunded liability

of the plan by a like amount. However, following the FASB approach,
a '"'gain" in the market value of $520,000 {$7,370,000 minus $6,850,000)
results in a $2,160,000 ($7,080,000 minus $4,920,000) increase in the
unfunded liability.

Conversely, when there is an unrealized capital loss in the assets
(due to an increase in the market yield from 7% to 8%), this results
in a comparable increase in the unfunded liability of the plan under
the AAA approach. Under the FASB approach, a $460,000 loss
($6,850,000 minus $6,390,000) in the market value of assets results
in a gain (reduction) in the unfunded liability of $1,680,000
($4,920,000 winus §3,240,000).

Although the example is oversimplified to make the point, the type
of swings illustrated above would be common. Since most plans have
a significant portion of their assets in equities, the swings could
be even wider in many plans because of the higher volatility of
common stock values. Similarly, for plans that are thinly funded
(such as new plans), there is a high degree of leverage involved so
that the effect of relatively small dollar changes in unrealized
gains and losses ¢f a fund would be even larger than indicated above.

Much attention has been focused on unfunded corporate pensicon liabil-
ties, and unusual changes therein, by the press and legislators in
recent years. The wide fluctuations created by the FASB proposal
would undoubtedly cause even more adverse unwarranted publicity.
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AMERICAN ACADEMY OF ACTUARIES

1835 X STREET, N.W. s« SBUITE 515 s  WASHINGTON, D.C. 20006 (202) 223-8196

September 24, 1979

Pension Benefit Guaranty Corporation

2020 K Street, N.W.

Washington, D.C. 20006

Gentlemen: ' ‘

This letter presents our comments on the PBGC draft report om
single-employer pension plan Contingent Employer Liability
Insurance issued in early 1978. 1In general, our reaction to the

PBGC report was favorable. We do wish to make the feollowing

specific comments:

1. The CELI risk is not insurable, and development of a
CELI program is impractical. The PBGC program
(Alternative C) is actuarially sound.

2. Allocation of plan assets at termination under éection
4044 ig indeed burdensome and expensive. We agree that
it is desirable to avoid this expense in cases where it
may not be completely necessary. Furthermore, the PBGC
should consider simplifying Section 4044 and making it
internally consistent.

3. It is desirable to have the sponsoring employer continue
to absorb experience gains and losses arising from
experience after the plan is terminated but before it has
fully funded benefits.
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The provision for spreading the funding of terminated
plans over a 10-year period is preferable to a single-
sum payment at the time of terminationm.

While not directly addressed in the PBGC report, some
comments on possible changes in accounting rules for
pension plans that might result from the PBGC proposal
are in order. It would not be desirable to have employers
carry the unfunded present value of vested benefits as a
liability. Under the PBGC proposal, the emplayer's

legal responsibilities for funding would continue to be
determined by the minimum funding standard after term-
ination, so continuation of current accounting principles
for these plans would appear to be appropriate.

The present value of unfunded vested benefits should be

reflected in the rating structure for PBGC premiums.

Respectfully submitted

CELI Task Force

American Academy of Actuaries
Bruce D. Moore, Chairman
Preston C. Bassett
Lynd Blatchford
Harrison Givens, Jr.
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AMERICAN ACADEMY OF ACTUARIES

1835 K STREET.N.W. o+ SUITESIS o+  WASHINGTON, D.C. 20006  »  (202) 223-8196

YONALD L. BORNHUETTER, M.A.AA., President
¢/6 GENERAL REINSURANGE CORP.

November 7, 1979

Mr. A. Clarence Sampson

Chief Accountant

Securities and Exchange Commission
500 No. Capitol Street

Washington, D.C. 2054%

Dear Mr. Sampson:

Enclosed with this letter is a formal request for a ruling by
your office as to whether an accounting firm is independent if it provides
actuarial services to an audit client in three specific situations.

The request 1s being submitted by the American Academy of Actuaries,
which as you know has been am active participant in the continuing debate on
the scope of services provided by C.P.A. firms. The Academy has previously
submitted comments on this 1ssue tc the Commission, first on December 16, 1977,
in response to the invitation for comments made in Release No. 33-53869, and
then on April 11, 1978, responding to comments by other parties on our v
December 16 submission. Our current submission also reflects a more considered
view of the report of the AICPA's Public Oversight Board, which the Academy
commented upon in a May 22, 1979, letter to you.

The enclosed submission sets out the Academy's position on the
provision of actuarial services by C.P.A. firms to their audit clients, and
formally requests a ruling that we hope will resclve this 1ssue, ' The analysis
was prepared by the Academy's legal counmsel, with active participation from
knowledgeable members of the Academy, and has been approved by the Academy's
Executive Committee.

If the Academy can be of any assistance iIn your consideration of
this request, please do not hesitate te call upon us.

Sincerely yours,

! G5

Ronald L. Bornhuetter
President

Enclosure
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REQUEST FOR RULINGS WITH RESPECT TO WHETHER
AN ACCOUNTING FIRM IS INDEPENDENT IF LT
PROVIDES CERTAIN KINDS OF ACTUARIAL SERVICES TO AN AUDIT CLIENT
The American Academy of Actuaries hereby requests the Chief

Accountant to pass upon the specific question of whether an accounting firm is
acting in a manner inconsistent with the statutory and regulatory requirement
of independence if, in the circumstances described below, 1t audits the
financial statements of a client to which it has previously provided actuarial
gservices, where the results of that actuarial work are reflected in

representations om the client's financial statements.

I. Background

The Commission has been concerned for some time with the problems
presented when accounting firms furnish nonaudit services to publicly-held
corporations. These so—called "management advisory services” or "MAS" include
such things as executive recrulitment, marketing analysis, data processing,
plant layout, and profit planning. Over the last several years accounting
firms have also begun to provide actuarial services to their audit clients.

The problem for the Commission has been to determine the impact of
the provision of these anonaudit services on the ability of an accounting firm
to carry out what from the Commission's standpoint is the firm's primary
responsibility—auditing the financial statements that are a part of the
registration statements and periodic reports that are filed with the
Commission by publicly=-held corporations. The Commission requires that the
accountant who audits these financial statements and issues an opinion on them
be "independent” of the entity being audited. The 1ssue for the Commission

has been whether an accounting firm can provide both audit and management
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advisory services tec a client and still be deemed to satisfy this "indepen=
dence” requirement.

Bule 2-01 of Regulation S-X sets forth in broad terms what kinds of
financial and organizational relationships will cause an accountant to be
deemed not independent of his audit client. TUatil recently, further
clarification has come largely on a case by case basis, with the Commission
responding to individuasl requests for guldance in particular fact situations
and, periodically, summarizing and publishing these responses in an accounting
series release.

The Commisgion's latest release on this subject, Accounting Series
Release No. 264, dated June 14, 1979, begins by adopting a somewhat broader
approach. It identifies four factors which accountants, audit committees,
boards of directors, and management are advised to take into account when
considering the provision by an aceoﬁnting firm of a nonaudit service to one
of its public audit clients, and provides specifically that such an engagement
should be undertaken only if “none of the (four] factors tilts stromgly
against performance of the nonaudit work involved.” The Commission has for
many years consistently taken the position that the provisicn of ome kind of
nonaudit service to audit clients-—bookkeeping and accounting services—is
inconsistent with independence (see pp. 6-7 below). The Commission has also
ruled that legal services and brokerage services could not be provided by
accounting firms to audit clients. It seemed logical that the Commission
might follow these examples in ASR 264 and apply its four criteria to
proscribe specific categories of nonaudit services. The Commission did not
follow this approach, however, and instead indicated that it would considgr
the appropriateness of the provision of nonaudit services on a case by case

basig,
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It may be that as a general matter it is wholly appropriate for the
Commission to adopt a case by case approach. However, it 1s the Academy's
view that actuarial services are distinguishable from most other types of
nonaudit services and lend themselves to the same kind of ruling of genmeral
applicability that the Commission has adopted with respect to bookkeeping and
accounting sarvices. The Academy believes that an accounting firm is acting
in 4 manner inconsistent with the independence requirement if it audits the
financial statements of a client to which it has previously provided actuarial
services (whether by means of its own actuary employees or actuaries otherwise
affiliated with the accounting firm) where the results of that actﬁarial work

are reflected in representations on the client's finmancial statements,

II. The Interest of the Academy

The American Academy of Actuaries was formed as an umbrella
organization for the four existing national actuarial organizations—the
Casualty Actuarial Society, the Confarence of Actuaries in Public Practice,
the Fraternal Actuarial Association, and the Sccilety of Actuaries. As such,
the Academy and its sponsoring organizationa function as a professiomal
assoclation for 7,000 actuaries. While most of these professionals are
aemployed by Insurance companies, independent actuarial comsulting
organizations, govermment departments and agenciles, or institutions of higher
learning, a significant mumber are employed by accounting firms {and a smaller
ntumber by management consulting firms or industrial corporations).

As we have earlier advised the Commission, the Academy does not
object to the provision of actuarial services by accounting firms. The

Academy regards as a desirable development the addition of persons qualified
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as actuaries to the staffs of accounting firms particularly to assist in the
audit of actuarial items on financial statements. The Academy recognizes that
while actuarial expertise can be obtained through the use of consulting
actuaries, many firms will prefer to acquire this expertise directly by
employing actuaries as part of their professional staffs.

Notwithatanding, the practice does present certain difficulgies for
the actuarial profession in a fairly narrow but nonethelesa important aresa.

As a general matter, no problem is presented when an accounting firm uses
actuaries o asgist in audf{ting financial statements. Nor does the provision
of actuarial services by am accounting firm to a2 client for whom the '
gecounting firm does not act as auditor {nonaudit clienta)} pose any problem.
Some actuarizl services may also be furnished to audit clients, But a problem
does arise when an accounting firm perferms actuarial work for a cliemt and
then audits its financfal statements where entries on those financial
statements reflect the earlier actuarial work.

The accounting profession has taken the view that it is not
inconsistent with independence for the accouating firm to audit the financial
statements in this situation, so long as all siéuificant matters of judgment
can be and in fact are determined or approved by the cliemt., The actuarial
profession views such a practice as inconsistent with broadly accepted
concepts of independence. Thus the two professions disagree on what
independence requires. This issue is of relavance o actuaries because the
professicn has adopted its own independence requirement., Moreover, even where
the independence requirement is one appliceble te the accounting profession,
by virtue of Commigsion regulation, actuaries may be involved in the audit
process and can legitimately be concerned that an appropriate interpretationm

ia given te the concept of independence.
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. The American Academy of Actuaries takes an interest in this issue
because it was founded in part to "establish, promote and maintain high
standards of conduct and competence within the actuarial profession.ﬁlf At
the same time it is with some reluctance that the Academy has decided to seek
Commission intervention. The Academy strongly agrees with the general
approach of the Commission in supporting and encouraging the efforts of the
accounting profession to regulate itself. We feel that industry self-
regulation continues to be altogether appropriate and in the best interest of
both the accounting profession and the public. However, on this particular
lissue, we feel that the accounting profession has failed to adopt the kind of
minimal standard of conduct that is really a prerequisite to a successfully
functioning self-regulatory system. Guidance from the Commission could

correct this lapse and effectively restore a healthy self-regulatory regime,

I1I. The Independent Auditor Must Avoid "Self-Review"

The guidance provided by the Commission on the meaning of
independence has focused primarily on the relationship between the auditor and
the entity whose financial statements are being audited. The Commission has
sought to identify certain financial or organizational relationships hetween
the two that might possibly result in bias or partiality on the part of the
auditor.

The Commission has sought not only to promcte independence, but also
to avoid the appearance of non—independence. The critical need for public

confidence in the reports of accountants upon financial statements has led the

1/ Articles of Incorporation of the American Academy of Actuaries.
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Commission tc conclude that, even where it 1s likely that the requisite
objectivity can be achieved, certain relationships should nonetheless be
barred simply because they give the appearance of a lack of independence.

In addition to its examination of the relationship between the
auditor and the entity whose financial statements are being reviewed, the
Commission has also focused on the relationship between the auditor and those
persons who have participated in some way in the preparation of the entity’s
financial statements. The Commission has been concerned that the accounting
firm conducting the audit not participate in "self-review"——that it refrain
from putting itself in the position of reviewing its own work. This is not
because the accounting firm could not as a general rule be expected to garry
oﬁt such an audit with conmscientiousness and integrity, despite its earlier
involvement in the preparation of the financial statements. And it is not
because of a desire toc eliminate pressures that might exist, comsciously or
unconsciouslf, from the existence of financial or organizational relationships
that carry the potential for impairing objectivity. It is rather because what
the Congress and the Commission had in mind when they mandated an "irdependent
audit” was quite literally a "second look"™ at the financial statements by
someone who had not been involved in any way in their preparation.

Perhaps the best example of this concern is the Commission's
dacision on bookkeeping or accounting services. There the Commission
concluded that an accounting firm could not be deemed independent in auditing
a financial statement if it had participated im the maintenance of the basic
accounting books and records underlying that statement, or had otherwise

participated in its preparation. The Commission concluded:
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"A major value of an audit of financlal statements by an
independent accountant is derived from the fact that the
accounting records and financial gtatements of management
are reviewed and examined from an independent or outside
viewpoint by knowledgeable profegsional accountants who
are not connected with management. The application of an
independent viewpoint 1s particularly dimportant with
respect to judgments exercised in the determination of
approprizte principles and methods applicable to the
recording, classification and presentation of financial
data. By their nature such judgments cannot subsequently
be evaluated on an impartial and objective basis by the
same accountant who made them."2/

As the Commission said in Interstate Hosiery Mills, Inc., 4 SEC 706, 717

(1939):

"{L]f an accountant is permitted ro do original work, the
whole purpose of the audit is lost.”

Even if the preparer of the accounting records and the auditor of
the financial statements are two different persons, "self-review” 1s not
avolded (and the "independence” requirement is not satisfied) if those persons
are members of the sama accounting firm. For it can be expected that the
auditor will have difficulty maintaining a completely critical and detached
view of the work of hia assocciate, a person with whom he has worked, in whom
he undoubtedly has a high degree of confidence, and who participates with him

in a common business venturs. Moreover, the mers fact of their affiliation in

2/ SEC Release No. AS=234 (December 13, 1977), 6 Fed. Sec. L. Rep. (CCH)
1 72,256 at p. 62,650. See also SEC Release No. AS-126 (July 5,
1972), 5 Fed. Sec. L. Rep. (CCH) ¢ 72,148 at 62,307:

"The Commission is of the opinion that an accountant cannot
objectively audit books and records which he has maintained for
a client, The performance of these services, whether
accomplished manually or by means of computers and other
mechanized instruments, ultimstely places the accountant in the
position of evaluating and attesting to his own recordkeeping.”
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the same accounting firm could create the kind of appearance of a conflict of
interest that the independence requirement seeks to avoid. The Commigsion has
clearly indicated that review by an auditor who has a financial or
organizational relationship with the preparer of a financlal statement would
not constitute the kind of impartial and objective “"sacond look” that is at
the basis of the requirement for an independent audit.g! Where a close
question arises as to whether a significant item in a financial statement is
based upon an appropriate and generally accepted accounting principle, the
likelihood that the auditor will conclude that the principle employed was
inappropriate 1s necessarily far lower than it would otherwise be {f the firm

has participated actively in the origihal determination of which of two

alternative principles should be applied.

IV. The "Self=-Review"” Problem Where Actuarial Services are Involved

The provision of actuarial services by an accounting firm to its
audit clients presents a "selfwreview” problem closely analogous to that
presented where the auditing f£irm has rendered accounting or bookkeeping
services to an audit client. The problem posed in these two situatioms is
wholly distinguishable from the “self-review” problem presented with respect

to the other nonaudit services that are offered by accounting firms.

2/ The Commission found that independence would be adversely affected where
an accounting firm proposes, by use of its computer, to perform certain
data processing activities in connection with the client's stockholder
ledger notwithstanding that programming, keypunching, and computer
processing would be performed by persomnel of the data processing
department who ware separate from the audit staff. BSEC Release No, AS-
126 (July 5, 1972), 5 Fed. Sec., L. Rep. (CCH) ¢ 72,148 at 62,308,
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Aa Actuarial Services are Distinguishable from Other
Nonaudit Services

These other services include such things as executive recruitment,
marketing analysis, plant layout, and profit planning. They may, in one
sense, affect the representations on financial statements by influencing, for
example, the magnitude of costs incurred or of annual expenses. However, none
of the nonaudit services referred to above involves a determination of what
amounts may properly-—of, more accurately, what amounts may in accordance with
generally accepted accounting principles--be accrued as an expense for the
fiscal year, or be included as an asset or as a llability on the balance
sheet. These other nomaudit services do not i{avolve derivation of the
representations themselves or call for the accounting judgments that must be
made in determining what amounts should be get forth in the financial
statements. It 1is these judgments that will be reviewed in the course of an
audit. Thus, the issue of "self-review” with respect to these non-actuarial
services simply is not as a general matter a serious problem.

By contrast, where actuarial gervices are invelved, the actuary is
retained in many although not in all situations to develop the very
representaticns that appear on the finaneial statements or to prepare thosa
analyses which when applied to the appropriate data directly yield those
representations. Assumptions will be made and accounting principles will be
applied (e.g., APB 8, in the case of expenses related to the maintenance of
pension plans) which the accounting firm, in auditing the financial
statements, will in some instances have to find to be reascomable or at least

not unreasonable, and in other instances will have to find to be generally

accepted and correctly applied. If the actuary who did this work 1s an
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employee of the accounting firm, then it is the “firm" that has done and
assumed the responsibility for the work, and In a literal sense the firm, as
auditor, will be reviewing its own wark.ﬁ/ The "self-review” will be direct
and lmmediate.

This fact becomes clearer, in the case of actuarial services, after
a brief review of certain of the items that appear on the financial statements
of those SEC reporting entities which are the most common consumers of
actuarial services. These entitles are of three kinds.

(1) Insurance companies. Actuarial analysis is significant with

respect to many of the entries on insurance company financial statements.

In the life area, for example, two of the most important emtries on
the liability side of a life {nsurance company's balance sheet involve the
policy reserve (the amount that is represented to be necessary to provide for
the future psyment of benefits that are guaranteed under existing policies and
contracts) and the entry for policy and contract claims that are accrued but
unpaid as of the date of the balance sheet (including both reported and
unreported claims). On the asset side of the balance sheet, actuarial
congiderations are involved particularly in computing the amount of deferred
and uncollected premiums and the deferred acquisition expense. Sophisticated
mathematical techniques which are uniquely within the province of the actuary
are so important in the computation of these items that the varicus state
insurance commissioners have established a2 common requirement that the annual

statament filed by insurance companies in the life, accident, and health areas

4/ The AICPA's response to this assertion 1is discussed at pages 16~19 below.
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must include a statement signed by a qualified actuary. In that statement,
the actuary expresses his oplnion as to whether the actuarial items on the
financial statement (including but not limited to the aggregate reserve, the
net deferred and uncollected premiums, and the policy and contract claims
entries) are, among other things, "fairly stated” and “"computed in accordance
with commonly accepted actuarial standards cousistently applied,” and make
"gocd and sufficient provision for all unmatured cbligations of the company
guaranteed under the terms of its policies.”

In the property/casualty area, of central importance ta the
financial statements are the determination of the reserves for accrued but
unpaid losses (including both reported and unreported claims) and for the
ad justment expenses likely to be incurred in settling those losses. Again,
actuarial analysis is so important in the computation of these figures that
the National Asscciation of Insurance Commissioners (NAIC) is now considering
whether to add te the annual statement filed by fire and casualty companies a
requirement for a separate actuarial statement similar to that already
required in the life, accident, and health areas. Specifically, a loss
reserve speclalist {who in most instances would be a qualified actuary) would
have to express an opinion on the actuarial items in the statement, including
the "reserve for unpaid losses” and the "reserve for unpald loss adjustment
expenses.” The specialist would verify that the amounts carried in the
balance sheet on account of these actuarial {items are, among other things,
fairly stated and make good and sufficient provision for all unpaid loss and
loss expense obligations of the company.

(2) Employee benefit plans. Actuarial calculations are so

important in the determination of the liability side of the balance sheet of
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an employee benefit plan that the annual financial statement required by
Section 103(a)(1)(A) of the Employee Retirement Income Security Act of 1974
{"ERISA") must be accompanied by an actuarial statement prepared by a
qualified enrolled actuary. This statement must include an opinion by the
actuary that the contents of the actuarial statement are in the aggregate
reasonably related to the experience of the plan, represent his best estimate
of anticipated experience under the plan, and reflect reasonable actuarial
asaumptions and mathodsréj The principal balance sheet 1liability item for the
plan, the "actuarial present value of accrued plan benefits,” is prepared

using the information contained in the actuvarial statement.

(3) Corporate sponsors of emplovee benefit plans. The financial

statements of a corporation that sponsors arn employee benefit plan will
usually have two f{tems that are based vpon actuarlal determinatiocns. In the
case of a corporate sponaor of a Egnsion plan, the first item will be the
amount of the accrued pension cost for the plan for the year. In most
instances this item will not appear separately as a line item on the income
statement but rather in a footnote that breaks out this amount and describes

the basis used in computing it. The second item is the unfunded vested

5/ 1Included among the items that make up the actuarial statement required by

ERISA (as reported on Schedule B of Form 53500) are: the current value and
actuarial value of the assets, the present value of benefits for retired
employvees, the present value of vested benefits, the present value of
nonvested accrued benefits, the accrued liabilities and normal cost used
to determine the minimm contribution, the determirnation of the minimum
contribution requirement, and the funding standard account balance
(including the alternative mianimum funding standard account entries if
applicable), and a description of the funding method and principal
actuarial assumptions.
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liability of the plan, appearing in a footnote to the balance sheet.éf In
both cases, these amounts, if not appearing directly on the actuarial
statement for the plan, are usually derived from the same actuarial valuation
as, and consistent with the actuwarial caleulations contained in, the actuarial
statement required for the plan by ERISA. In both cases the items are
significant with respect to the sponsoring corporation's financial

statements. The annual pension cost is typically a sizeable expense item for
the corporation, and the unfunded vested 1iability can reflect a substantial
portion of its net worth. (See Appendix A.)

Thus with respect to each of these three consymers of actuarial
services, the actuarial work will almost certainly be the basis for highly
significant representatlons appearing on the financial statements of the
client. 1If these financial statements are then audited by the same accounting
firm that provided the actuarial services, the accounting firm will be
engaging in "self-review" inconsistent with the indapendence requirement.

B. The Academy's Pogsition on "Self-Review”

The Academy and its sponsoring organizations established some years
ago a Joint Committee on the Independence of the Actuary. The Joint Committee

published two exposure drafts, which received extensive comment throughout the

&/ The Financial Accounting Standards Board has issued an exposure draft of

a proposed statement on Disclosure of Pension and Other Post-Retirement
Benefit Information. The proposed draft would require a corporate
sponsor of a defined benefit plan to disclose the actuarial present value
of accumulated plan benefits, the actuarial present value of vested plan
benefits, the plan's net assets avallable for benefits, and a description
of significant actuarizl assumptions and asset valuation methods
employed.
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profession, and in November, 1976, submitted its final report. Ome of the
central coanclusions of the Joint Committee report, which has been adopted by
the Academy Board of Directors and is in the process of being incorporatad

into the Academy's Guides to Professional Conduct, is that:

"If an actuary wmakes an actuarial review of an actuarial
determination, and such review is iantended for public
use, then under no circumstances should he have any
organizational or material financial relationship with
the preparer of the actuarial determination or with the
entity to which the determination relates.” (Emphasis
added.)

This provision means that if an actuary is asked to review certain actuarial
determinations to ascertain whether they were arrived at in accordance with
reasonable agtuariazl assumptions and methods, and his opinion is intended for
public use and reliance, then the actuary must have no organizational or
material financial relationship with, among other persons, the preparer of the
original actuarial work.

It is the Academy's view that the foregoing represents a sound
concept of independence that reflects appropriate concern for avolding "self=-
review.” 1If this concept were adopted by the accounting profession in
interpreting its own indepeﬁdence raquirement, it would be clear that an
accounting firm could not audit financial statements that included
representations reflecting actuarial work performed by actuaries employed by
or affiliated with the accounting firm (since, being members of the same or an
affiliated organization, the parties would have an "organizatiocnal
relationghip” to each other).

The Academy believes that the Commigsion has already adopted this
concept of independence in its ruling on the provision of bookkeeping and

accounting services to audit clients and that the accounting profession has
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simply failed to acknowledge the clear applicability of this concept in the
area of actuarial services. Our concern with this situation is heightened by
the fact that members of the Academy are being asked to participate in
procedures that the Acadeuy regards as improgper.

The Academy has sought for some time to bring this problem to the
7/

attention of the Commission and the accounting profession.’ e believe that
this is an area—-like that of bookkeeping and accounting services—which can
be identified as one where, in all cases, the existence of self-review "tilts
strongly against”™ the provislon of these services. A statement to this effect
by the Commissién is necessary because, as we show below, the accounting

profession has persisted in advancing and relying upon an unsouad

7/ To this end the Academy testified befors and submitted written comments
to the Commission on Auditors' Responsibilities (the "Cohen Commission”),
an independent commission formed by the American Institute of Certified
Public Accountants (AICPA) in 1974 to study several aspects of the
accounting profession including MAS, The Academy responded with written
comments to the Commission's issuance of Securities Act Relesase No. 5869,
which requested information concerning the nonaudit services being
offered by accounting firms and sought advice as to which, if any, were
inappropriate. The Academy's initial comment was dated December 16,
1977, and was followed by a supplementary comment on April 11, 1978. The
Academy pursued the independence issue with the Public Oversight Board
(POB} of the SEC Practice Section of the AICPA after the SEC suspended
its activities pending issuance of the POB report on the scope of
services being provided by CPA firms. An extensive comment was filed
with the POB on August 11, 1978, and the Academy later commented on that
portion of the final PCB report dealing with the provision of actuarial
services in a letter to the Chief Accountant of the Commission dated May
22, 1979.

The Academy has also pursued this issue in the Congress, making a
submission on February 18, 1978, to the Subcommittee an Oversight and
Investigations of the House Committee on Interstate and Foreign Commerce
(the Moss Subcommittee). Most recently, the Academy testified on August
1, 1979, before the Subcommittee on Govermmental Efficiency and the
District of Columbia of the Senate Committee on Governmental Affairs.
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Justification for continuing to provide actuarial services to audit clients,
This justification was not directly addressed in ASR-264, noxr, so far as we

can determine, in any other Commission pronouncement.

V. The Accounting Profession'’s Positionm

The accounting profession formally considered the "self-review”
problem presented whem actuarial services are provided to audit cliemts in an
interpretation of the Executive Committee of the Ethics Division of the AICPA:

"Member Providing Actuarial Services

Question—If a member’s firm renders actuarial services to a
client, may the member also express an opinion on the
client's financial statements?

Answer—Even though the member's firm provides actuarial
services (the results of which are incorporated in the
client's financial atatements), 1if all of the significant
matters of Jjudgment involved are determined or approved by
the client and the client is in a peaition to have an
informed judgment on the results, the member's independence
would not de impaired by such activiries."8/

A. “"Adoption™ by the Client Does Not Solve the “Self-Review”
Problem

From the beginning, the Academy has argued that this approach is
inconsistent with any reasomable interpretation of accepted concepts of
independence. Under a literal reading of the Ethice Divison interpratation,
once the determination of the reserve liabilitles of a life insurance company
or the actuvarial valvation of the annual pension cost and accrued unfunded
liability of thé sponsor of a pension plan had been completed by an actuary

employed by an accounting firm, and the rasults "adopted” by the clieat

8/ AICPA Professionmal Standards, v. 2, ET Section 191.107-08.
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relying ou its own "informed judgment,” the firm could bring back that very
same actuary to assist in the “audit" of the accuracy and reascnableness of
his own work. But even if the Ethics Division interpretation is clarified to
require that a different actuary participate in the audit, this would not, as
we have seen, eliminate the unacceptable “self-review” so long as the two
actuaries involved are employed by the same accounting firm.

The AICPA's argument with respect to actuarial services has already
been rejected by the Commission in ruling on the provision of bookkeeping or
accounting servicesfgf The reason, of course, 1s that the AICPA's "adoptiom”
argument could be made with respect to the entire financial statement and
would permit an accounting firm to prepare the statement, obtain the client's
“approval® by the exercise of its "informed judgment,"” and then audit the
statement. This approach would read the alement of independence requiring the
avoidance of "self-review,” an element which the Commission has just
reaffirmed, right out of existence.

Even assuming, for the moment, that corporate executives for the
most part do have the requisite ability to understand broadly the actuarial
and accounting principles that are applied in reaching financial statement
representations, and do adopt and assume responsibility for them, there will

still be no acceptable audit of these representations. 1In the ordinary course

g/ The AICPA's approach to accounting services is containmed in Rule 101-3
of the Rules of Conduct of the AICPA, which may be found in AICPA
pProfessional Standards, v. 2, ET Section 101.04. The AICPA acknowledges
the Commission's rejection of its approach by including the statement
that “{w]hen a client's securities become subject to regulation by the
Securities and Exchange Coumission or other federal or state regulatory
body, responsibility for maintenance of the accounting records * * *
must be assumed by accounting personnel employed by the client.”
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the actuary will make a report to the client, which will include his
recommendations. Where there are reasonable cptions open as tc the methods
and assumptions adopted——as there often are——~they will be discussed with the
client and, on the bagls of those discussions, sometimes will be modified.

The point is that, even where the end result is adopted by the client, the
actuary will have been satisfied that the methods and assumptions used and the
principles followed were sound and appropriate. It might well be concluded
that 2 formal opinion from the actuary would provide adequate assurance of the
acceptability of these determinations and dispense with the need for an audit
of these itema. But so long as there is a requirement that there be an audit,
the “"second look™ that am audit contemplates will not be provided if the
preparer of the actuarially-tased representations then audits the financial
statement., The auditor will necessarily be predisposed to conclude that the
representations adopted by the client were properly arrived at by the
application of generally accepted accounting principles.

However, even if one were to set aside this conclusion for purposes
of analyzing the "informed judgment rule,” it i3 evident that in the great run
of cases, it is most unlikely that clients will have sufficient expertise to
make an "informed judgment” about the actusry's work. It is not enough under
the AICPA's argument for the client merely to accept actuarial determinations
in reliance on the actuary's judgment, The client must rather be in a
position to form a judgment of its own on the actuarial work. While corporate
officers often have acquired a reasonably satisfactory knowledge and
understanding of aceounting practices and principles, it i3 extremely unlikely
that they will have acquired commensurate knowledge of the more spacialized

actuarial principlea. As a consequence, in the case of corporate spomsors of
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emplovee benefit plans, the responsible corporate officlals are unlikely tao be
able to form their own judgment about the acceptability of the amount accrued
for pension cost or the accuracy of their pension plan's unfunded vested
l1iability. Even in the case of actuarial work performed for inmsurance
companies, while many industry executives have actuarial backgrounds, by far
the largest number have legal or marketing rather than actuarial experienca.
Especially if the client does not have an in—house actuarial staff, it will of
necessity have to rely almost totally on the work of the accounting firm’s
actuary. The problem in the case of a pension or other employee benefit plan
may be even worse since many corporate officers without any background in
actuarial science or any in—house actuarial staff have been named the
administrators of a corporate—sponsored plam, and in that capacity have become
responsible for the plan's financial statements. Only in the exceptional case
where a very large corporation is involved would the corporation have someone
on its staff with an actuarial bnckground,ig/

In any event, the argument as to whether or not certain individuals
can make an Informed judgment on the results of actuarial determivations is
really irrelevant because of the fact that one cannot engage in a review of
his own work (or that of an associate) and claim it to be an "independent”
review even if the client is in a position to adopt the results.

B. Since the Auditor's Role With Respect to Actuarial Work Is
Significant, the “Self-Review" Problem is Significant.

More recently, a very different response has been made to the

problem of "self-review” inherent in am audit of ariginal actuarial work done

;Q/ It is even more unusual for a multiemploysr plan to have am actuary omn its
staff or a plan administrator with aven a financial background, much less
actuarial experienca.
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by the auditing firm. The report of the Public Oversight Board of the AICPA's

SEC Practice Section on the Scope of Services by CPA Firms, dated March 9,

1979, acknowledged that the provision to audit clients of actuarial services
(where those services are directly reflacted in representaticns on financial
statements) presents at least a theoretical problem of "self-review."” But the
Board asserted:

"This does not mean, however, that the 1limited self-

review involved impairs the auditor's independence or

otharwise is harmful to the public or {nvestors. First

of all, it must be remembered that the review is quite

limited and is not duplicative of the work performed by

an actuary.”11/

The Board argues that actuarial analysis is the work of a
“specialist™ and as such i{s subjected to only "limited” review by the
auditor. The standards of the profession require the auditor to avoid express
reliance on the work of the actuary and to issue a latter expressing the
auditor's own opinion on the entire financial statement. As a consequence, he
remains responsible for expressing his opinion on the work performed by the
actuary. Nonmetheless, 1f the Board is vight and the audit review {3 only a
iimited one, then it might be argued that the third of the Commissicn's four
elements of independence (avoidance of “self-review”) does not "tilt strongly
against performance of the {actuarial] work involved” and that the provision
of actuarial sarvices to audit clients i{s not f{mproper. But while this is a
very ambiguous area, the Academy believes that the Board is wrong. The
auditor's review of actuarial work is mot a “limited” one.

Taking the audit of a life ingurance company's financial statements

as an example, the accounting induatry's own audit guide encitled Audits of

11/ Report of the Public Oversight Board on the Scope of Services of CPA
Firms, pp. 50-5l.
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Stock Life Insurance Companies, prepared by a committee of the AICPA, provides

that in order for an auditor to satisfy himself that the reserves are fairly
presented:

“The Teasonableness of assumptions and propriety of the

actuarial factors used in reserve calculations should be

reviewved and tested."12/

Specific guidelines are provided to assist the auditor in his review
of rhe "reasonableness” of the assumptions as to interest rate, mortality,
expenses, and withdrawals—assumptions that are fundamental to the calculation
of the reserve factors.

As to interest rate, for example, the guide provides that for am
established company the audiror should conduct tests using such things as the
company's current and historical portfolio vield, tremds in such yield, new
money rates, the experience on long—term U.S. government bonds or similar
high-yield investments, and cash flow projections.

"While it is noc possible to establish a precise

limitation or a guldeline that will apply in =all
circumstanceg, the auditor should be satisfied that the
rate used is reasomable and comservative."13/

As to the reascnableness of withdrawal assumptions, the auditor is
instructed to review both “historical lapse rates” and recent data on the
company's “termination rate experience,” and to ascertain whether there have

been significant changes in underwriting practices that might affect the

validity of these data. Also,

12/ Audirs of Stock Life Insurance Companies, p. 96. While compliance 1s not
mandatory, AICPA members are served notice inm the audit guide that they
may be called upon to justify departures from its recommendations.

13/ 1d, at 99-100.
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"[Clonsideration should be given to the mix of business
and the mode of premium payments in determining the
reasonableneas of withdrawal assumptions. 1In all cases,
the auditor should request adequate documentation to
support conclusions on the part of a company."l14/

The guide does note that the auditor will need to utilize the

299

services of a qualified actuary (or "specfalist”) for certain of the audit

procedures.

the a2uditor who must take responsibility for the failrness with which the

Nonetheless, it insists upon an active auditor role since it is

overall financial position and operating results of the company are presented.

“"Although an actuary has been involved in these
determinations, perhaps even tc the extent of testing
clerical accuracy, it is incumbent upon the auditor to be
satisfied that reserves are fairly stated on a consistent
basgis.

* * #

Actuaries are not practicing auditers; they are unot
specifically trained in auditing procedures, nor are they
governed by generally accepted auditing standards.
Therefore, there is no justification for the auditor to
omit all audit procedures or to perform only token
procedures as to the reserves reviewed by the comsulting
actuary unless the terms of the engagement contemplate a
qualification or denial of opinion by the auditor.”l5/

————————————

14/

15/

F'nt|Cont,

Id. at 98-99,

I1d. at 101,

This responsibility expressly reaches the assumptions
used by the actuary in making his calculations.

“The choice of actuarial assumptions and the disciplining of that

choice are primary responsibilities of the actuarial professiozn.

The

related responsibility of the auditor is to form a judgment as to
whether the actuary has been guided in his work by consideraticns
which are consistent with genarally accepted accounting principles.

d & %

However, the actuary's choice of assumptions to be used in conmection
s ry

with general purpose financial statements is disciplined by the

principles of his profession. His rtesponsibility to use assumptions

which are 'adequate and appropriate’ is comsistent with the concept,




300 STATEMENT 1979-23

The AICPA subsequently issued a separate guide on the use of a
"gpecialist” (in this case, an actuary) designated Statement of Auditing
Standards No. 11 (SAS 11), ome of a series of interpretations of generally
accepted auditing standards. In uging a "specialist,” SAS 11 instructs the
auditor to satisfy himself concerning the professional qualifications and
reputation of the specialisr. 3But the auditor's responsibilities do not stop
here. The Statement goes on to provide that:

"Although the appropriateness and reasonableness of metheds

or assumptions wused and their application are the

responsibility of the specialist, the auditoer should obtain

an understanding of the methods or assumptions used by the

specialist to determine whether the findings are suitable

for corroborating cthe representations in the financial

statements. * * #* QOrdinarily, the auditor would use the

work of the gpecialist unless his procedures lead him to

believe that the findings are unreasonable in the

circumstances.”
When the auditor uses a specialist related to the client, the auditor's
responsibilities under SAS 1l are increased. He must consider performing
additional procedures with respect to some or all of the assumptions, methods,
or findings of the specialist to determine that the findings are not
unreasonable, It i3 even suggested that he might engage an cutside specialist
to perform these additicmal procedures.

The foregoing materials, all issued by the accounting profession

itself, make it clear that the auditor remains respongible for expressing an

under generally accepted accounting principles, that actuarial
assumptions be characterized by conservatism which is 'reasonable and
realistic.’ The auditor should expect the actuary to be zhle to
demonstrate that assumptions used Iin determining actuarial items in a
general purpose financial statement meet such standards.” Id. at 64
(emphasis added),
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opinion on the substantive work performed by the actuary amd that the review
conducted by the auditor of that work is not the trivial one suggested by the
Public Oversight Board.l$/ Admittedly, the audit is not "duplicative® of the
work of the actuary, but duplication is anot what is required of the auditor
with respect to any of the representations contained on the financial
statements. What is required is that the auditor satisfy himself that the
representatives are fairly presented in accordance with generally accepted
accounting principles.

VI. The Commission's Respomse

The Commission's most recent release on the independence of
accountants, Accounting Series Release No. 264, dated June 14, 1979,
identifies four factors which bear on whether the provision of nonaudit
services to public audit clients {mpairs independence:

— Dependence on MAS (the relatiouship between the audit fee and the

MAS fee, both for a particular client and for aggregate revenues).

-- Avoldance of supplanting management's role (requiring the

accountant to limit himself in providing MAS to strictly aa advisory
capacity).

- Avoidance of self-review (insuring that the auditor's review is a2

dispassionate "second look” at the glient's financfal statements.)

16/ The Public Oversight Board's conclusion that an auditor’s review of
representations that are based upon actuarial determinations is a limited
one rests heavily upon its reading of SAS 11, The Academy finds
conslderable ambiguity in the text of SAS 11, first with respect to its
applicability and particularly whether it applies at all where the
actuarial expert 1s employed by the auditor (gee SAS 11, fn. 1), and,
second, with respect to precisely what it requires of the auditing
accouatant.
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~—= Impact on audit quality (whether enhanced audit quality will

result from the performance of the nonaudit service involved).

The Commission has combined these four factors into a test which
accounting firms are instructed to apply when considering whether to undertake
a nonaudit engagement for a public audit client:

“{Tlest the services in gquestion against each of these
factors and proceed when satisfied that the total balauce
of considerations favors proceeding with the engagement
and that none of the factors tilts strongly against
performance of the nonaudit work involved.” (Emphasis
added )17/

A. The Commission Should Apply Its own Test Where
Actuyarial Services Are Being Provided to Public Auditr
Clients.

Under the Commission's own test, there are at least two categories
of services which we believe are inappropriate for treatment on a czse by case
basis and where a broader proscription is required. For these two kinds of
services, namely, accounting or bookkeeping services and actuarial services
that are reflected in the client's financial statements, Che provision by am
accounting firm of such services to {ts public audit clients would in almost
every case have to be judged under the Commission’s own test to be
inconsistent with the requirement of independence. As a consequence,
accounting firms should generally be barred from providing these services to
audit clients. The Commission has recognized this fact with respect to

accounting or bookkeeping services. The Academy urges that a similar position

17/ The release is set out in 6 Fed. Sec. L. Rep. (CCH) 1 72,286 at pp.
62,749=-60 through 62,749~68. The material quoted above appears at
62, 749-66.
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be adopted with respect to actuarial services that are reflectad in the

client's financial statementa.l§!

B. The Academy's Proposal for the Treatment of Actuarial Services.

The approach which the Academy would recommend is bdest explained by
creaﬁing separately tha provision of actuarial services to insurance
companies, employae benefit plans, and corporate sponsors of such plans,

1. Ingurance company financial statements. As we have noted
earlier, pp. 10=11, Eey representations on the financial statements of an
insurance company directly reflect actuarial work. It is the Academy’s
contention that for an accounting firm to involve its employees or affilfated
actuaries in the preparation of these representations or of the analysis from

. which they are derived renders that firm unable to. conduct an "independent”
audit of the resulting financial statements. This conclusion would seem o
follow directly from the Commission's own test, which would require that "nome
of the factors [dependence on MAS, avoidance of supplanting management's role,
avoifdance of "self-review,” and impact on audit quality] tilts strongly
against performance of the nonaudit work involved.” (Emphasis added.}

Where "self-review™ 1s involved, as would be the case, for example,
with actuarial services reflected in the policy reserve entry on the balance
sheet, it is hard to conceive of a situation where the fact of "self-review"

could tilt more “strongly against the performance of the nonaudit work

involved.,” If that pertion of the Commission's test (suggesting that

18/ While refusing to impose an ocutright ban on any MAS activities, the
Commigsion has listed certain MAS gervices that "may, in many cases,
prove difficult to justify on the basis of the tests set forth above.”
Actuarial services and employee compensation and benefit comsulting were
included on this list. Id. at 62, 749-66, n. 29.
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seriously offending any one of the four criteria will defeat independence) 1is
to mean anything, it must mean that the independence requirement caanot be
satisfied where such "self-review” is involved. For ome could not concelve of
a situation where that criteria could be more seriously offended, particularly
since the representations that reflect actuarial work are perhape the most
important entries on the financial statements of an insurance company. For
example, the AICPA has indicated that for the reserve item alaone, if the
auditor is unable to satiafy himself as to the fairmess of that item, then
"because of the materiality of reserves, the auditor should disclaim any
opinion as to the fairmess of the financial statements taken as a whole.igj

A similar argument can be made with respect to the sacond of the
four elements of independence outlined by the Commission, namely, "avoidance
of supplanting wanagement's role.” The Public Oversight Board found that an
accounting firm could not provide primary actuarial services to an insurance

company audit client and still be deemed to be independent. A Iimitation was

19/ Audit of Stock Life Insurance Companies, p. 122.
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required, the Board concluded, {n order to aveid stepping out from a strictly
advisory role and being viewed as a part of management.ggf

Bagically, the Board found actuarial determinatfons to be so central
to the business of an insurance company that an accounting firm could not
participate in those determinations and still retain its independence.
Determining potential future liabilities and the adequacy of current reserves,
while preeminently actuarial matters, are also central concerns of the
management of any insurance company. Participation in these determinations

inevitably makes the accounting firm part of the “managgment team” and

compromises both the substance and the appearance of independence.zif

20/ “Actuarial considerations for an insursnce company are integrally related

to the role and responsibility of management. Thus, if an accounting
firm furnishes actuarial services to management of an insurance company
audit cliemt, care must be taken to satisfy the role requirements
contained in the AICPA's MAS Professional Standards. This means
generally that the actuary must only furnish advice to management and
render assistance and that management must make the final decision. To
do this, the accountant must be satisfied that the client has the
expertise to understand the significance of his recommendations so that
all of the significant matters of judgment involved are determined or
approved by the client and the client is in a position to have an
informed judgment on the results. The Board does not believe that this
standard can reasonably be met if an auditing firm is doing more tham
rendering supplementary actuarial advice.” Report of the Publie
Oversight Board on the Scope of Services by CPA Firms, p. 53.

21/ 1t is this same principle that bars an accounting firm that has performed

legal or brokerage services for a client from also auditing its financial
statements. These services are regarded as so intertwined with
management functions as to impair the independence of the accountaat,
even where the work does not relate to representations on the fimancial
statements. The furnishing of actuarial services to an insurance company
involves an aven greater involvement in management functions,
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The Public Oversight Board concluded that because of the danger of
being perceived as part of management, an accounting firm could not be the
primary source of actuarial services to an Insurance company audit client.
However, the Board concluded that the firm could still provide actuarial
services to its audit client so long as they were supplemental to primary
actuarial advice furnished by another actuary. The Commission generally
adopted this position in Accounting Series Release No. 266.22!

The Academy does not disagree with the Board's conclusion that the
furnishing of primary actuarial services by an accounting fim to an insurance
company audit client is inconsistent with independence. But this restriction
fails to go far enough.

The most obvious problem with this standard is its vagueness. When
are actuarial services merely “supplemental™? Is it determined by timing
congiderations (i.e., supplemental services are those furnished after other
actuarial services have been provided) or by the relarive magnitude of the
gervices (i.e., services are supplemental vhen constiruting only a small
portion of the total volume of actuarial gservices consumed by the audit
client)? Or did the Board view “"supplemental™ actuarial services as being
thoge actuarial services unrelated to financial statement items?

But there is a more fundamental problem with this approach: 1t
fails to recognize that provision of actuarial services by an accounting firm
to insurance company audit ¢lients poses a problem not only because the fimm

would be participating in a2 management functien but also because "self-review”

22/ 6 Fed. Sec. L. Rep. (CCH) 1 72,286 at p. 62,749-64, n. 10.
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’

is iavolved. The actuarial services provided by an accounting firm might be
considered "supplemental” under the Board's test and still find their way onto
the financial statements of the insurance company, resulting, should the firm
then audit these statements, in "self-review.”

The Academy believes that the SEC should rule that it is
inconsistent with the independence requirement for am accounting firm to audit
the financial statements of an insurance company where actuaries employed by
or affiliated with that accounting firm have participated in the valuation of
reserves or in any other actuarial determination that is reflectad in the
representations on those financial gstatements.

Admittedly, there may be actuarial services provided to an insurance
company which wili not be reflected in {ts financial statements., However, it
will often be difficult to know in advance what use will be made of actuarial
work. Actuarial analysis is so central to the operation of an insurance
company that there is always the likelihood that it will end up being
reflected in some way in the representatiomns on its financial statements.

For example, pricing of insurance coverage is a major actuarial
activity that may not appear to jmpact directly upon finaﬁcial statements.
However, if it is subsequently discovered in reviewing existing premium levels
that these levels are insufficient to meet expected future policy obligations,
the valué of the deficlency would have to be immediately reflected on the
financial statements of the insurance company. This should disqualify any
accountant affilfiated with the actuary who assisted in the original pricing
from conducting an audit of those statements since such an audit would have to
determine whether the addirional reserve 1s adequate., The natural inclination

of the originating actuary to defend the original pricing decision would not
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be helpful in this sitvation and could not be squared with the independence
requirement.

Thus while it might appear initially that actuarial werk for an
insurance company would not be reflected in its financial statements, there is
often a significant likelihood that it will end up appearing on those
atatements and disqualifying the accounting firm from auditing them. As a
congsequence, while the Commission may not want to require it, accounting firms
night well be advised 23 a general matter to avoid altogether the provision of
actuarial sexvices to insurance company audit clients.

2. Employee benefit plans. As with insurance ccmpanies, important

entries and representations on the financial statements of employee benefit
plans will reflect actuarial computations and analysis. As a consequence, it
1s the Academy's view that an accounting firm providing both actuarial and
audit services to an employee benefit plan will face a "self-review”
problem. Hence the rule suggested with respect to insurance companies should
apply here too.zéf

Although setting forth extremely detailed requirements for the
statement of fund balances and cash receipts and disbursements, the financial
statements as required by ERISA specifically do not include any actuarial

values. Rather, ERISA requires a separate statement of actuarial

liabilities. However, in its inirial attempt to set out generally accepted

23/ The independence issue with respect to employee benefit plans is also
within the jurisdiction of the Department of Labor. The action which the
Department has already taken in this area is discussed later. The
application of the independence requirement to employee benefit plans
should not be without some interest to the Commission, however, since in
some instances these plans are required to file a financial statement
with the Commission. Further, the Commission's long experience with the
independence requirement would be a useful guide to the Department In the
benefit plan area.
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accounting principles for pension plan financial statements,.the Flnanecial
Accounting Standards Board (FASB), with the support of the AICPA, has taken
the position that these financial statements should include certainm actuarial
1isbilities, notwithstanding that this information already appears on the
actuarial statement required by ERISA. Even if the FASE finally concludes
that actuarial liabilicies should be included in these financial statements,
gccountants could, {f they chose, avoid reviewing these actuarial

liabilities. Section 103(a)(3)(B) of ERISA provides that the independent
accountant may, in offering an opinion coucerning the plan's financial
statement, "rely on the sorrectness of any actuarial matter certified to by an
enrolled actuary, if he so states his reliance.” If the auditor were to elect
to exercise this option, then no "self-review”™ problem would arise.

In practice, however, most accounting firms, in the absence of a
specific audit guide, have been unwilling to accept the option provided by the
statute. They have taken the position that their responsibilities extend to
all the representations on the financial statements. Thus the accounting
profession has decided, first, to include actuarial values in pension plan
finanecial sia:ements even though not required by ERISA, and, second, to raject
the peimission provided by ERISA to express rellance on the actuary. They
have therefore placed upon themselves the turden of performing whatever audit
procedures are considered necessary and appropriate with respect to these
matters in preparing their épinion on finsncial statements. This means that,
in most cases, the issue of "gself-raview"™ is squarely presented if the
accounting firm seeks to audit the financial statement of a plan to which it
has provided actuarial services.

While no audit gulde has been issued with respect to employee

benefit plans, the Financial Accounting Standards Beoard has recently issued a
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revised exposure draft of a proposed statement on Accounting and Reporting by
Defined Benmefit Pension Plans (“FASB" draft). The FASB draft sets out what
will constitute generally accepted accounting principles with respect to such
plans. It includes a rather detailed discussion of the variety of assumptions
that go into the determination of the actuarial present value of "accumulated”
plan benefits (the principal 1lfability item on a pension plan's financial
statement as defined by the FASB draft). For example, the FASB draft
discusses the preopriety of making an assumption as ta future salary increases,
of recognizing automatic cost-of-living adjustments, and of providing for the
future withdrawal of persons currently in the plan, The draft requires that
for financial statement purposes every assumption is te “reflect the best
estimate of the plan's future experience.”

"Asasumed rates of return shall reflect the expected rates

of return on plan investments during the pericds for

which payment of benefits is deferred and shall be

consistent with the returns realistically achievable on

the types of assets held by the plan and the plan's
investment policy.” (Emphasis added).24/

Inflation rates assumed in estimating autowatic cost-of-living adjustments are
to be consistent with this assumed rate of investment return, and guidelines
are provided with respect to the administrative expenses expected to be
incurred by the plan.

A review of the FASB draft makes clear that as in the case of
insurance company financial statements, key items on the financial statement

of an employee pension plan will refleet actuarial work and the accounting

Eﬁ/ Proposed Statement of Financilal Accounting Standards on Accounting and
Repcrting by Defined Benefit Pension Plans, Y 20 (Revised Exposure Draft
dated July 9, 1979).
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firm that is auditing the statement will be reviewing that work in expressing
its opinion on the flnancial statement as a whole. If the FASE proposal is
vltimately accepted, there will be constraints on the assumptions underlying
the actuarial present value of accumulated plan benefits as it appears on the
financial statement and thege copstraints will have to be reapected if a plan
financial statement is to be deemed to be in accordance with gemerally
accepted accounting principles. Since an zuditor must satisfy himself that
the statement is fairly presented in accordance with these principles, he will
have to satisfy himself that the enrolled actuary's assumptions are reasomable
and appropriate=-that, for example, the rates of return assumed by the actuary
are “realistically achievable™ and that remaining assumprions are acceptable
"hegt estimates” of future experience. Indeed, we can envision a situation
arising under the FASB draft where the auditor may want to insist upom using
in financial statements different actuarial assumptions than those used by the
enrolled actuary in determining ccwparable items on the actuarial statement of

the plan.zéj The responsibility of the auditor can hardly be deemed to be a

25/ For example, 1 20(a) of the FASB draft, quoted in part in the text,
provides that:

"Assumed rtates of return shall reflect the expected rates of return
on plan investments during the perlods for which payment of benefits
is deferred and shall be consistent with the returns realistically
achievable ou the types of assets held by the plan and the plan's
investment policy. To the exteant the assumed vates of return are
based on the values of exigring plan assets, the values used in
determining assumed rates of return shall be the values presented ia
the plan's financial statements pursuant to the requirements of this
Statement.”

This could be interpretad (see also 1 l36) to provide that the assumed
rate of return is to fluctuate directly in response to the market value
of asgets. The yield used by the enrolled actuary, on the other hand,
would generally reflect long term expected rates of return and not
fluectuate over the short term due to changes in market conditioms.
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trivial one. As in the case of insurance company financial statements, a
significant "gelf-review” will be involved 1if an accounting firm serves as
both enrolled actuary and auditor to an employee benefit plan.

Even if an accounting firm, in i{ts rocle as auditor, were to elect to
rely upon the correctness of the matters certified to in its role as enrolled
actudry, do that no "self-review” would be involved, there is still grave
doubt whether the accounting firm could be deemed independent faor purposes of
conducting an audit of the plan. The matters it would certify to as eanrolled
actuary are no less integrally related to the operation and financilal
soundness of the plan than the 1ssues of potential liability and reserve
adequacy are to the operation of an insurance company. In both cases, the
actuary 1s providing actuarial services which, even if charactarized as only
advice and technical support, relate to matters so esgential and critical to
the management of the entlty involved as to make the actuary part of the
management team, thereby compremising his independence. Indeed, the
significance of the liabilities of a pension plan zud the need for an
undergstanding of how they are arrived at may be even greater than is the case
with insurance company liabilities, since a pension plan's actuarial
liabiliries will often be many times the value of the plan’s assets {without
suggesting in any way that the plan is inadequately funded).

The Public Oversight Board rejected this argument, however,

"[The] enrolled actuary * * * i3 simply performing an
independent professional service cutside of management's
traditional area of operation and expertise. It is not,

therefore, making management decisions and should not be
viewed as being part of management's team."26/

26/  Accounring Series Release Wo. 264, supra, at 62,749-64, n. 20,
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The Academy reapectfully disagrees with this anslysis. As the
accounting profession has repeatedly made clear, the responsibility for the
plan's financial statements is that of plan “management” and not that of the
auditor or of any comsultant that prepares representations on the financlal
statement8. Thus when a plan administrator uses an enrolled actuary=—as the
law requires him to do-~to arrive at amounts that appear on the liability side
of the balance sheet, the plan administrator must assume responsibility for
those items, for their preparation i3 a management function, Delegating
management functions does not convert them into non-management functions.

What it does do is to make the person who actually does the work part of the
management tesm. In the case of an employee benefit plan, the enrolled
actuary is in fact performing a signficant management functiom on behalf of
the plan.

Further, the Public Qverasight Board's statement that an enrolled
actuary is "simply performing an independent professional service” and 1is
"not, therefore, making management decisions and ghould not be viewed as being
part of management's team”™ is a non—sequitur, There 18 no dichotomy between
"independent professional services™ on the one hand and "management decisions”
on the other. In this case the independent professional service happens to
relate to the most significant management decisioms of the plan.zll The

statement of the Public Oversight Board quoted above could just as eagily have

27/ It might be noted that the "plan” is an entity separate and distinct
from the employer that gpongors the plan. Management of the plan is not
the Board of Directors of the corporate sponsor but the plan
administrator {who, of course, will have been designated by tha
sponsor). Thus while the work performed by the anrolled actuary may not
involve a significant part of the corporate spomsor's business, it
relates to the principal "business™ of the plan—=the entity for which
the audit is being performed,
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been said of a comsulting actuary hired by an insurance company to determine
its policy reserve. Yet the Public Oversight Board concluded that such an
actuary would be so invelved with management functions as te disqualify any
accountants associated with him from auditing the insurance company's
financlal statements. If the Board's conclusion is sound with respect to
insurance company financial statements, as the Commission thinks it {s, then
by parity of reasoning an accounting firm cannot, consistent with the
independence requirement, audit the financial statements of an employee

28/

benefit plan for which it acts as the enrolled actuary,=—

3. Corporate sponsgors of employee benefit plans. The financial

gstatements of an employer that has sponsored an employee benefit plan will
include at least two items that are dependent upon actuarial analysis. In the

cagse of a pension plan, these items are the pension cost accrual and the

28/  The Department of Labor may have taken a different view in Interpretive
Bulletin ERISA IB RD 75-1 (now IB RD 75-9), published November 20, 1975
(29 CFR § 2509-75~9), which provides that:

"However, an independent qualified public accountant may permissably
[sic] engage 1n or have members of his or her firm engage in certain
activities which will net have the effect of removing recognition of
his or her independence. For example * * * the rendering of services
by an actuary assoclated with an accountant or accounting firm shall
not impair the accountant's or accounting firm's independence.”

It i1s not apparent whether the Labor Department intended only to say
that scme actuarial services could be renderad by an accountant tc an
audit client without impairing its independence or whether it wags
suggesting the more extreme view that providing actuarial services that
are later reflected in financial statements weuld not affect anm
accountant's independence. This interpretation was not promulgated
under the notice and comment provisions of the Administrative Procedure
Act (5 U.S.C. § 553) and, accordingly, the Department never had the
benefit of any public comment, We think that the Bulletin does not
reflect an adequate understanding or amalysis of the issue.
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unfunded actuarially-computed valye of vested benefitsaggf A "gelf-review”
problem will be presented if actuaries employed by an accounting firm are
responsible for the computation of these two items and the same accounting
firm f{s then asked to audit the sponsoring employer's financlal statements.
It should also be noted that the authority provided by Section 103(a)(3)(B)
whereby the auditor canm rely on an actuarvy's determinations is limited to the
financial statement of the employee henefit plan and does not extend to the
statement of its corporate sponsor. Thus chere is not, as in the case of
employee benefit plan financial statements, an avenue for avoiding the "self-
review” problem without modification of the current AICPA rules with respect
to expression of reliance.

The problem of identification with management appears, at first
glance, to be less severe with respect to the corporate sponser than it is
with respect to the employee pension plan itself or an insurance company. In
contrast to insurance companies and employee benefit plans, where actuarially-
related issues form the core of the matters to which management must give its
attention, the maintenance of its retirement programs is only one of many
important issues facing the management of the sponsoring corporation. But its
importance must not be underestimated. There is indeed increasing recognition
of the significance of the two pension plan-related items reflected on the
gspanscar's financial gtatements—=that unfunded vested liability i3 often a

substantial percentage of net worth and that pension expense often reflects a

29/ The proposed statement of the Finanecial Accounting Standards Board onm
Disclosure of Pension and Other Post=-Retirement Benefit Informatiom
would alter and expand this disclesure somewhat. The argument as
presented here would thus apply, a fortiori.
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similarly large portion of total pre-tax earnings. For example, a recent
article in Business Week reveals that fifteen major U.S. corporations incurred
pension expense in fiscal 1978 or 1979 that ran between 21.7 and 165.3 percent
of pre-tax profits while unfunded vested 1liability ran between 20,1 and 157.0
percent of net worth. See Appendix A.

The Commission should rule that it is inconsisteat with the
independence requirement for an accounting fimm to provide both audit and
actuarial services to a corporate sponsor of an employee benefit plan where
results of the actuarial work will be reflected in the financlal statements of
the corpofa:e sponsorvzgf We recognize that some actuarilal services provided
to the corporate sponsor will in most instances not be reflected on fimancial
statements. These might include, for example, actuarial work in connection
with changes in the benefit formula or other provisions of the plan, or where
the employer uses actuarial services in connection with its collective
bargaining effort so as to estimate the cost of changes in the level of
benefits. As to these services, we recommend only that the principles of ASR
264 should apply. Where, however, the wotrk of the actuary ends up being
reflected on financial statements, no “"second look"™ is present and the

independence requirement is violated.

V1I. The Need for Further Commission Action

The Academy's concern is that the Commission has falled to provide

the necessary and approprlate guidance in a significant area where that

30/ In fact, because the same actuary will generally provide actuarial
gervices to both the plan and its corporata sponsor, precluding the
provision of both audit and actuarial services to the plan may well
generally eliminate the independence problem with respect to the
corporate Sponsor.
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guildance is needed. The case by case approach enunciated in its most recent
release 13 inadequate where actuarial services are involved, The Commission
should recognize that in this narrowly defined area a ruling of general
applicability 1s both feasible and appropriate,

An accounting firm should be deemed to be acting in a manner
inconsistent with the independence requirement if it provides an audit client,
through its own or affillated actuaries, with actuarial services that are
reflected in representations on the client's financial statements. In the
case of insurance companies and employee benefit plans, such a rule will
probably cause accounting fimms to cease providing any actuarial services to
insurance company or employee bemefit plan audit clients, since it will be
difficult to insure i{n advence that those services will not become reflacted
in the client's financial statements. In the case of a corporate sponsor of
an employee benefit plam, an accounting firm should simply avoid serving as an
énrolled actuary for an employee benefit plan where it already serves as
auditor for the plan's corporate sponsor.

The Academy recognizes the considerable amount of time and effort
that went into the preparation and issuance of Accounting Series Release No.
264 and it is not asking the Commission to reconsider that release. On the
contrary, we think that it puts the independence requiremeﬁt for the first
time on a firm conceptual basis. We are asking only thgt the Commission apply
the principles emunciated in that release to a fairly narrow area where both
the actuarial and accounting professions are in need of guidance.

Nothing in the AICPA's response to ASR 264 dated July 26, 1979,
changes in any way the Academy’s positive assessment of that release or our

conviction that further guidance is needad in the area of actuarial
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services. Quite the contrary. While we have some reservations about other
sections of the AICPA response, the discussion of "self-review™ on pages 7 and
8 is particularly troublesome. With all due respect to the seriousness with
which the accounting profession has treated the independence issue, we think
that those pages miss the point so far as "gelf-review” is concerned. We
agree that an "essential element of an audit is that the auditor be outside
the control of management.” But an even more "essential element” is that the
audit be an audit——a “second look" at the representations on the financial
statements. Where the auditor has assisted in preparing those
representations, this function is lost, '

The “self-raview” element of independence is not simply an extension
of the element calling for the "avoidance of supplanting maznagement's role.”
It is a separate element of Independence to insure that the audit is truly a
"second lock." The AICPA response does not deal with this fact. It avoids it
by assuming that the Commission is concerned only with the auditor avoiding a
management role and that the avoidance of "self-review” 1s only an aspect of
that concern. But ASR 264 makes it clear that the Coumission regards the
avoidance of "self-review”™ as a wholly separate requirement.

We should also note that cur argument is unchanged by the disclosure
requirements of Accounting Series Release No. 250. Disclosure may be an
adequate remedy where the threat Iis to the appearance of independence and is a
function of degree~=an MAS fee, for example, which at some point will beccme
too large in relation to the audit fee and begin to Impair at least the
appearance of independence. But with the provision of actuarial services to
audit clients, the problem is not, as we have seen, one of degree—the "self-

review” is of the most obvious and direct sort. To argue that disclosure

would provide an adequate remedy 1s really to argue that ne proscripticns
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whatsoever are needed to insure accountant independence. The Commission has
not adopted this view. In the same way that the Commission found maintenance
of basic accounting records and preparation of financial statements for an
audit clfent to be inconsistent with independence, it should find that the
provision of actuarial sarvices which become reflected in the financial
statements of audit clients is inconsistent with independence.

The Academy recognizes that the Commission has not adopted this
position with respect to tax advisory gervices. We think the case of tax
gservices is distinguishable, as the Coumigsion must itself have found in
igsuing its opinion on bookkeeping or accounting services. The differeace 1s
Dot that no “gself~review” is involved, for tax advice can readily be reflected
in representations on financial statemencs and present a clear case of "self-
review"” where the gsame firm provides both tax and audit services. It is
rather that the Commission has chosen to tolerate this "self-review™ rather
than distupt a long and well-established pattern, particularly among smaller
companiaes, of looking to accounting firme for tax advice and for assistance in
preparing tax returns. It is highly significant, also, that the rendering of
tax advice results In the sharpening of audft skills and thus the Commission's
fourth element of independence tilts stromgly in faver gf permicting this
long=standing practice to continue.

By contrast, the furnishing of actuarial services by accounting
firms is a relatively limited phenomencn, with only two major firms engaging
extensively in the davelopment of origiral actuarial determinations. That an
arguably questipnable practice that cannot easily be changed because of
his:érical precadent has developed in cme area is no resson to extend it into
another. This is perticularly true since although the skills of the

accountant properly prepare him to provide tax advisory services, actuarial
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analyais requires a range of skills that are outside the training or
experience of most accountants. Moreover, in the tax area, the prospect of an
IRS audit provides an external incentive for the accounting firm to be fair
and accurate in its audit of any tax work reflected in the financial
gtatements. Where accounting or actuarial services are involved, it is the
audit by the "independent”™ accountant which is itself the vehicle for insuring
that the financial statements are fairly stated.

The ruling sought by the Academy is a narrow ome, to clarify for the
two profesgions a closely defined area of disagreement in what has otherwise
bean a rather effective pattern of self-regulation and mutual cooperation by
the two professions.éij

The Academy requests, accordingly, that the Chief Accountant respond
to the following questions:

1. If an actuary employed by or affiliated with an accounting firm
has performed services for an insurance company that involved participation in

actuarial determinations that are reflected in the financial statements of

31/ The Academy has not, for example, called for the broad prohibition of
nonaccounting management services to audit clients that was recommended
by the Senate Subcommittee on Reports, Accounting and Management in its
1977 report on Improving the Accountability of Publicly Qwned
Corporationg and their Auditors, The subcommittee there concluded that:

“The best policy in this area=-—a2nd the policy which is presently
followed by most accounting firms——is to require that independent
auditors of publicly owned corporatioms perform only serviceg
directly related to accounting. Nonaccounting management services
such as executive recruitment, marketing analysis, plant layout,
product analysis, and actuarial services are incompatible with the
public responsibilities of independent auditors, and should be
discontinued. Management services related to accounting are confined
to the limited area of providing certain computer and systems
analyses that are necessary for improving internal control procedures
of corporations.” Id, at 16-17.
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that company, will the accounting firm be considered to be independent within
the meaning of Rule 201(}®) of Regulation 8-X, 17 CFR § 210,2-01(b), for the
purpoge of auditing and reporting upon the financilal statements of the
company?

2. 1If an actuary employed by or aff{liated with an accounting firm
has performed services for a corporate sponsor of an employee benefit plan
that included participation in determining the amount accrued for pension
cost, the amount reported as the aggregate unfunded vested 1liability of the
plan, or other actuarial items appearing in the sponsor's financial statement,
will the accounting firm be congidered to be independent within the meaning of
Rule 201({b) of Regulation 5-X, 17 CFR § 210.2-01(b), for the purpose of
auditing and reporting upon the financial statements of the company?

3. If an actuary employed by or affiliated with an accounting firm
acts as the enrolled actuary of an employee benefit plan pursuant to Section
103(a)(4)(A) of the Employee Retirement Income Security Act of 1974 (ERISA),
will the accounting firm be considered to be independent within the meaning of
Rule 201(b) of Regulation S-X, 17 CFR § 210.2-01(b), for the purpose of
auditing and reporting upon the financial statements of the plan?

1f the staff considers it to be desirable, reprasentatives of the
Academy will be glad to furnish any further information or to meet with the
staff for the purpose of clarifying any of the matters ser forth inm this
memorandum,

Lawrence J. Latto
Stephen J. Hadley
Cf Counsel:
Shea & Gardmer :

1800 Massachusetts Avenue, N.W.
Washington, D.C. 20036



APPENDIX A

Of 100 Major U.S. Corporations in a Business Week Survey:
The Top 15 as to Unfunded Vested Benefita as a Percent of Net Worth

Unfunded Prior Unfunded Vested FY 78 or 79 Pension
Service Costs Benefits and Retirement Expense
Z of 3-yr. % of 3-yr.
Avg. Pre- % of Avg. Pre-
§ Million Tax Profit $ Million Net Worth $ Million Tax Profit
Lockheed 869.0 839.9 440.0 157.0 116.0 112.1
LTV 860.0 NM 557.0 100.7 101.0 NR
Trans World 314.1 396.8 308.0 57.1 61.9 78.2
Bethlehem Steel 1101.0 NEG 1247.0 52.8 273.9 NA
National Steel NR NR 596.0 44.4 90.2 NA
Republic Steel 895.0 1119.8 565.0 40.1 96.9 121.3
Chrysler 1810.0 1140.8 1100.0 37.6 262.3 165.3
Bendix 570.3 263.0 346.2 37.2 80.5 37.1
Westinghouse 770.0 183.8 740.0 30.3 136.3 32.5
Eaton 369.0 165.4 229.0 27.6 55.0 24.7
Alcoa 847.0 250.8 536.0 25.4 135.3 40.1
Reynolds Metals 620.0 408.2 273.0 25.3 64.9 42.7
Rockwell Intrl, 483.7 157.4 320.0 23.6 199.7 65.0
General Motors 8000.0 130.9 3900.0 22.2 1326.7 21.7
Goodyear 703.6 199.5 423.0 20.1 127.3 36.1
Source: "Unfunded Pension Liabilities: A Rein on Theilr Growth —- For Now" appearing in Business Week,

August 13, 1979 (pages 84-85), [Data in columns 1 through 5 is contained in the Businesa Week
article. Data in column 6 18 derived therefrom. ]

legend:

NA - Not Available
NM - Not Meaningful
NR - Not Reported
NEG - Earnings Deficit

(A4
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FOREWORD

The Task Force was originally formed in 1978 in response to a
letter of request from the Pension Benefit Guaranty Corporation to
the Academy for input and recommendations from the actuarial pro-
fession to assist the PBGC in narrowing the range of alternatives
presented to Congress in its Multiemployer Study dated July 1,
1978. To fulfill that request, the Task Force met several times
and formulated two reports {dated October 2, 1978 and October 20,
1978) on the PBGC Multiemployer Study to Congress.

This report from the Task Force focuses specifically on actuarial
issues in proposed legislation (H.R. 3094 and S. 1076) designed to
amend the Multiemployer Termination Insurance Program.

The Task Force sincerely hopes that this report will be of value to
the Congress in designing ERISA amendments that will result in more
efficient and effective provisions pertaining to Multiemployer

Plans.
Respectfully submitted,
Academy Task Force Membars

Lawrence N. Bader, M.A.A.A.
Thomas G. Bierley, M.A.A.A.
Charles E. Farr, M.A.A.A.

Joseph A. Lo Cicero, M.A.A.A.
Claude Poulin, M.A.A.A.

Mary Brauer, Attorney (Ex Officio)

Fenton R. Isaacson, M.A.A.A. Chairman

7‘
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Comments On Actuarial Issues In
Propcased Federal Legislation On The
Multiemployer Termination Insurance Program

Definition of Multiemployer Plan

As stated in our earlier report, we agreed with the proposed
change.

Mergers

Our earlier report endorsed PBGC's proposed replacement of the

ERISA requirements with a plan continuation test and business
purpose test. . The proposed legislation would instead permit a
merger only if the merged plan's reorganization index is not
greater than the index of either separate plan. Assuming that
benefit/contribution structures are not changed as part of the
merger, this would permit mergers if the merged plan is not in
reorganization and prohibit them otherwise. For example, a
merger of two plans in reorganization would produce a plan with
reorganization index egual to the total of the indexes of the
two separate plans: this merger would be prohibited, although
under some circumstances, the merged plan might have a better
chance of survival than the two separate plans. For example, a
plan with sound long-term prospects but current cash flow prob-
lems might profitably merge with a smaller plan with substan-
tial assets but poor long-term prospectis.

We agree that mergers should be permitted if they satisfy the
proposed legislative test. Other mergers, however, should not
be prohibited automatically but should be subject to advance
approval by PBGC, based an whether they help the participants
without increasing risks to the PBGC.



326

STATEMENT 1979-26

Premiums

We agree with the continuation of a flat per capita premium, as
suggested in our earlier report for premium levels not signifi-
cantly greater than the single employer premium. We are not
able to comment on the adequacy of the proposed premium.

Minimum Funding Standards

As in our earlier report, we strongly endorse the strengthening
of multiemployer funding standards to the level of single em-~
ployer standards, with the transition allowed in the bill. We
also agree with the minimum contribution requirement. We re-~
peat our suggestion of tightening the shortfall rules,'cur—
rently set by regulation rather than statute.

Plan Reorganization

The bill introduces the concept of the "vested liabilities
charge” as a funding requirement and reorganization threshold
test. We ask that the bill be clarified to avoid disturbing
the agreements on actuarial methodology being developed among
the Department of Labkor, Financial Accounting Standards Eoard,
and the actuarial profession. The bill uses such terms as
vested obligations, vested liabilities, and value of assets
without adequate definition, or with definition left te regula-
tion. To preserve uniformity, we ask that the bill define
vested liabilities for retirees and other participants to be
the numbers reported on Schedule B (Form 5500) Line 6(d). The
value of assets used in determining the vested liabilities
charge should be the value used by the actuary in maintaining
the funding standard account. This is not i.scessarily the fair
market value, but it must take fair market wvalue into account,

under IRS regulations.
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This basis is more appropriate than other possibilities such as
PBGC assumptions and market value of assets, since the vested
liabilities charge is a supplementary funding test and should
be consistent with the funding standard account. On the other
hand, the cash-flow amount in Section 4243(b)(2) must be based
on the immediate liguidation value of plan assets, since the
cash-flow amount relates to the plan's ability to pay the cur-

rent year's benefits.

Withdrawal Liability

We asked that this section be clarified to provide that the
total unfunded vested liability of the plan be based on PBGC
assumptions for valuing all vested benefits and on the market

value of assets.

While we are reluctant to deviate from the Schedule B numbers.
we have concluded that they are inappropriate for determining
withdrawal liability. Use of a PBGC assumption has several ad-

vantages.

. The assumptions used for funding may include margins for
congervatism, future benefit increases, or anticipated
changes in plan experience. This makes them inappropri-
ate for a withdrawal, which is akin to partial plan term-
ination. The relationship of withdrawal to termination
is reflected in the current statute, which determines

liability under PBGC assumptions.

. The PBGC assumptions give the same results as permittiing
the withdrawing employer to partition and terminate his
share of the plan (with :esponsibility for vested rather
than guaranteed benefits).
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The timing and effect of assumption changes for funding
purposes will not have unintended effects on withdrawing

employers.

hd The PBGC assumptions preserve better equity between
withdrawing and remaining employers, if the plan termi-~
nates soon after withdrawal.

The manner of allocating the total unfunded wvested liability to
individual employers is not strictly an actuarial matter except
in the details of calculation. Some members of the Task Force
have worked as individuals with the drafters of the legisla-
tion, but the Task Force has developed no view favoring a
specific method. We do feel that the law should permit a plan
to select a method which avoids assigning to any new employers
a share of the liability which predates their participation in
the plan - an objective noct met by the method in the bill.

The bill charges "prevailing market rates" of interest on in-
stallment payments of withdrawal liability. Apart from a risk
charge to cover default possibilities, it is incorrect to use
rates other than those used in calculating the unfunded vested
liability. For a payment period of 15 years, the average of
the PBGC's K} and Ky rates would be reasonable.
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INALD L. BORNHUETTER, MAAA., Prasident

¢/a GENERAL AEINSURANCE CORP. i'lmrember 27 s 1979

STEAMBQAT RD.

GREENWICH, CT 05830
203/622-4000

Honorable Wesley J. Kinder
Commissioner of Insurance

State of California

600 S. Commonwealth 1l4th Floor
Los Angeles, California 90005

Dear Wes:

I am certain that you are keenly aware of the major report of the General
Accounting Office (GAO) concerning state regulation of the insurance industry
dated October 9, 1979. There are a number of items discussed in the report
which, I am sure, are of great interest to the NAIC and to state regulators
in general.

One matter dealt with at some length in Chapter 3 of the report is the role
of actuaries in the state regulatory mechanism. The report indicates that
“actuarial sclence 1s perhaps the most relevant professional background for
an insurance department” but goes on to discuss a shortage of professicnals
with specialized training relevant to the insurance business and notes that
"in particular, there are few certified actuaries”.

As President of the American Academy of Actuaries, I have a professional inter-
est in these GAO conclusions. The American Academy of Actuaries is committed
to the festering of a strong, objective and high quality actuarial role in

the regulation of inasurance.

The Academy 1s concerned about the references in the GAQ report and is inter-
ested in doing what it can 2s a professional actuarial organization to strengthen
the actuarial role in imsurance regulation. We would be happy to offer our
services to the NAIC to explore various avenues of addressing the points raised
in the GAO report. I would welcome your thoughts about this portion of the

GAQ report.

Academy representatives will be present at the upcoming meeting of the NAIC

next week and would be available to discuss the matter with you at your
convenience. Thank you for your consideration.

Yours truly,

e

Ronald L. /Sornhuetter
President
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AMERICAN ACADEMY OF ACTUARIES

1835 K STREET, N.W. . SUITE 515 «  WASHINGTON, D.C. 20006 {202) 223-8196

STEPHEN G. KELLISON, M.A_A.A.
EXECUTIVE DIRECTOR

December 3, 1979

Commissioner of Internal Revenue
Attention CC: LR: T
Washington, D.C. 20224

Attention: Proposed IRS Regulations on Reasonable Funding Methods under ERISA
Dear Sir:

This presents comments prepared by a task force of the American Academy of
Actuaries concerning the proposed regulations con reasonable funding methods
inder ERISA which appeared in the Federal Register on QOctober 5, 1979.

We believe that, consistent with his responsibility for overseeing sound funding
on behalf of planm participants, the enrolled actuary should be permitted maximum
discretion in selecting appropriate funding methods and assumptions to assure

the sound funding of pension benefits. We also recognize the need to minimize.
the cost of actuarial services, particularly for small plans, without sacrificing
sound funding. Flexibility in regulation, particularly to avoild costly submissio
for requests of a change in funding method, further this goal.

We enclose comments on specific paragraphs in the proposed regulatioms. If a

public hearing on the proposed regulations is held, we request the opportunicy
to appear.

Respectfully submitted,

Stephen G. Kelliscn
Executive Director

SGK:cal

Enclosure
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Comment

"The funding method includes...also each specific method
of computation used in applying the overall method."

This statement on the funding method of a plan is so broad
that it could be interpreted by IRS personnel to allow them to
check funding calculations down to the last detail and last
decimal point. This would introduce unnecessary complexity and
detail into regulatory functions. ERISA makes clear that the
six methods listed in section 3(31) are each funding metheds,
and that it is changes from cne to another which require IRS
approval under IRC section 412(c)(5), not merely a chauge in
some detail of computation,

In addition it should be clarified that funding method does
not include the actuarial method of valuation of assets, since
the legislative intent is clear on this matter.

A de minimis exception should grant automatic approval
without submission to IRS if the total net charges to the fund-
ing standard account are changed by less than 10%. This would
reduce the costs of actuarial work involved with submissions
that are not really needed. The use of the "de minimis" rule
could be disclosed by the enrolled actuary as an attachment to
Schedule B,

The basic funding formula should be clarified to cover a
contributory pension plan by rewording (i) as follows:
™(i) The present value of employer normal costs over the future

working lifetime of participants, plus the present value of

future employee contributions (if applicable).”
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Paragraph

of Section

1.412(c)(3)-1 Comment

() (L)1) Other reasonable bases are in use. Add, ", or a multiple
of employee contributions, or any other reasonable basis approved
by the Commissioner."

(e) (1) (dii) Add, ", reduced by the present value of any employee contri-
butions payable for such year, and expressed as a flat dellar
amount, a percentage of pay, multiple of employee contributions
or any other reasonable basis approved by the Commissioner."

(e)(3)(1) This section deals with actuarial assumptions and is not

. appropriate to a regulation on funding methods. This section
(c)(3) (1) should be deleted in its entirety.
(c)(4) It should be made clear that the actuary is not prohibited

from using the traditional accrued benefit cost method for a
plan with benefits unrelated to pay (flat dollar unit benefits)
based upon the plan's accrued benefit rather than proratiom.
After "career average pay plan” add, "or & plan with benefits
not related to pay.”

This paragraph requires the proration to past years in pro-
portion to credited years (“credited' not defined) of service at

normal retirement age. Many actuatrieg assume rates of retirement -

or an assumed retirement age before the normal retirement age |
as well as assuming races of death, disablement and terminarion i
to value ancillary benefits. In such cases the proration may be I
made to each age the event could occur rather than to normal
retirement age. These methods should be permitted. Afrer
"normal retirement age" add, "or other age of benefit entitlement
Finally, this section provides that an allocaticn (to past

years) based on compensation is not permitted. We would




Paragraph
of Section

1.412(c)(3)-1

(@) (1)
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Comment
like to point cut that actuarial opinion as to the acceptability
of this practice is divided. It is to be noted that, in
Paragraph 4.4 of the Academy's Pension Plan Recommendation A,
it is stated the method may be used "if appropriate”, without
specific reference to situations which may be appropriate
(public employees systems, corporate planning, basic funding,
etc.). The Academy's Board of Directors has directed the
Committee on Pension Actuarial Principles and Praciices to
prepare an Interpretation as to the circumstances under which
this method is appropriate, and pending that Committee's report
we feel the method should not be condemned cn a blanker basis.

As an owverall comment, we believe that no actuarial cost i
method recognized by the profession (e.g. use of allocations |
based on comﬁensation, a8 described above, or use of an open
group method) should be excluded, if it can be demomstrated that
for funding standard account purposes ghe resulting contributions
exceed those which would be obtained under a method generally
accepted under the regulations. If the method used does not meet
this criterion, it should be examined on a case by case basis to
determine its propriety inm each particular instance. (A comparable
test under a generally accepted method would appear appropriate
with respect to maximum deductible contributions.)

Sound funding ordimarily requires the actuary tco anticipate
changes in plan benefits which are scheduled to become effective
in the future. Section 412(e¢)}(3)} requires the actuary to use
metﬁods which offer his '"best estimate of anticipated experience".

An actuary who knows that the plan is required to pay higher



i

Paragraph
of Section

1.412(c} (3)-1

(d)(2) (1)
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Comment
benefits next year and who ignores the fact would appear to be

in violation of the statute. The purpose of the minimum funding
requirements is to assure sound funding: the proposed regulation
would tend to defeat this purpose.

On the other hand, to require the actuary to recognize future
increases, while theoretically sound, would not be practical.

Such a requirement could be avoided by deferring the adoption of
benefit increases until their effective date.

Therefore the regulation should allow, but not require,
anticipation of changes in plan benefits based upon plan provis-
ions or amendments which have already been adopted.

Regardless of the above, it should be clarified that "changes
in plan benefits" does not refer to post-retirement increases
under plans which provide such increases auntomatically, based on
a consumer price index, a wage index, or a constant percent of
increase. TFailure to recognize such post-retirement increases
would be comntrary to standard actuarial practice and would result
in'serious underfunding for such plans.

Actuaries often appropriately include i the valuation
current employees who may be expected to become participants
upon completion of the age and service requirements. Cpinion
8 of the Accounting Principles Board states, "all employees who
may reasonably be expected to receive benefits under a pension
plan should be included in the cost calculations, giving approp— I

riate recognition to anticipated turnover." Opinion 8 allows

the exclusion of such employees only if the effect is not material
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Comment

It is common practice, bur not universal practice, to exclude
employees who are not yet participants} since the cost is usually
not material in light of the high turnover of such short service
employees. Therefore the regulations, which do not appear to
have any authority from ERISA, should allow both alternatives,
rather than force plans to adopt a wezker funding approach.

This paragraph should also be clarified not to exclude bene-
ficfaries with a contingent right to future benefits, e.g. the
spouse of an active participant who may eventually become
entitled to a pre-retirement survivor annuity. Perhaps, wording
such as "and all other individuals curreatly or contingently
entitled to benefits under the plan” would be appropriate.

This exception should be clarified Eor the use of whole 1life
policies (or similar policies) plus a side fund in funding pension
benefits as apposed te term insurance for a death benefit. Expand
the exception as follows "......, the cost of a pre-retirement
anclllary benefit may equal the term insurance premium paid for
that benefit under a term insurance contract or reflect the costs
implicit in the premiums paid for whole life or similar policies.”

It should be clarified whether the 5% safe harbor applies
to all or each ancillary benefit fﬁnded. A somewhat higher
percentage might be appropriate, particularly if it applies
to all. Also the regulations should make clear that the total
plan costs should be on a "no assets" basis. There could be
excessive computational expense to determine safe harbor limirs
if it is not clarified that approximaticms are suitable for

testing purposes.
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General Comments
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Comment

Changes 4in method made in order to £irst comply with the
regulation should not require advance approval by IRS. Applica-
bility of final regulations should be related to plan years
rather than to when a valuation is performed.

It is suggested that the regulations contain a transition
rule covering plan sponsors who may suffer hardship in switching
from a no longer approved method to an approved method. A trans
ition period of, say, five years may be suitable with the
graduation up to the approved method on a straight line basis
with respect to normal costs, past service contributions, ot

both.




